#### **SECRETARIAT GENERAL**

DIRECTORATE GENERAL I - HUMAN RIGHTS AND RULE OF LAW / DIRECTION GÉNÉRALE I - DROITS DE L'HOMME ET ETAT DE DROIT

DIRECTORATE OF HUMAN RIGHTS / DIRECTION DES DROITS DE L'HOMME

DEPARTMENT OF THE EUROPEAN SOCIAL CHARTER SERVICE DE LA CHARTE SOCIALE EUROPÉENNE

Strasbourg, 6 July 2022 GC(2022)15rev



# EUROPEAN SOCIAL CHARTER GOVERNMENTAL COMMITTEE

# REPORT CONCERNING CONCLUSIONS 2020 OF THE EUROPEAN SOCIAL CHARTER (revised)

(Albania, Andorra, Armenia, Austria, Azerbaijan, Belgium, Bosnia and Herzegovina, Cyprus, Estonia, Finland, France, Georgia, Greece, Hungary, Ireland, Italy, Latvia, Lithuania, Malta, the Republic of Moldova, Montenegro, the Netherlands Maarten, the Republic of North Macedonia, Norway, Portugal, Romania, the Russian Federation, Serbia, the Slovak Republic, Slovenia, Sweden, Türkiye, Ukraine)

Detailed report of the Governmental Committee established by Article 27, paragraph 3, of the European Social Charter<sup>1</sup>

Written information submitted by States on Conclusions of non-conformity is the responsibility of the States concerned. This information remains either in English or French, as provided by the States.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The detailed report and the abridged report are available on <a href="www.coe.int/socialcharter">www.coe.int/socialcharter</a>.

# **CONTENTS**

I.	INTRODUCTION	3
II.	EXAMINATION OF CONCLUSIONS 2020 OF THE EUROPEAN	
	COMMITTEE OF SOCIAL RIGHTS	4
III.	EXAMINATION BY ARTICLE	7
	APPENDIX I	126
	List of participants	126
	APPENDIX II	_
	Table of signatures and ratifications	
	APPENDIX III	
	List of Conclusions of non-conformity examined orally following to	
	proposal of the European Committee of Social Rights (RESC + I	
	APPENDIX IV	
	List of deferred Conclusions (RESC + ESC)	
	Conclusions 2020: examples of progress in the application of the	
	European Social Charter relating to Employment, training and ed	
	opportunities":	
	APPENDIX VI	
	Recommendations proposed and warnings adopted	
	APPENDIX VII	
	Statement included upon the request of the Russian Federation	
	regards the procedure for adoption of recommendations	
	APPENDIX VIII	
	Reply by the Bureau of the Governmental Committee to the state	ement
	made by the Russian Federation	159

## I. INTRODUCTION

- 1. This report is submitted by the Governmental Committee of the European Social Charter and the European Code of Social Security (hereafter, the Governmental Committee) made up of delegates of each of the forty-three states bound by the 1961 European Social Charter or the European Social Charter (Revised). A representative of the European Trade Union Confederation (ETUC) attended the meetings of the Governmental Committee in a consultative capacity.
- 2. Since a decision of the Ministers' Deputies in December 1998, the other signatory states were also invited to attend the meetings of the Governmental Committee (Liechtenstein, Monaco, San Marino and Switzerland).
- 3. The supervision of the application of the European Social Charter is based on an examination of the national reports submitted at regular intervals by the states parties. According to Article 23 of the 1961 Charter as amended by the 1991 Protocol, the party "shall forward copies of its reports [...] to such of its national organisations as are members of the international organisations of employers and trade unions". Reports are made public on www.coe.int/socialcharter.
- 4. Responsibility for the examination of state compliance with the Charter lies with the European Committee of Social Rights (Article 25 of the 1961 Charter as amended by the 1991 Protocol), whose decisions are set out in a volume of "Conclusions". On the basis of these conclusions and its oral examination, during the meetings, of the follow-up given by the States, the Governmental Committee (Article 27 of the 1961 Charter as amended by the 1991 Protocol) draws up a report to the Committee of Ministers which may "make to each Contracting Party any necessary recommendations" (Article 29 of the 1961 Charter as amended by the 1991 Protocol).
- 5. In accordance with Article 21 of the 1961 Charter as amended by the 1991 Protocol, the national reports on the articles of the Charter relating to employment, training and equal opportunities submitted in application of the 1961 European Social Charter and the revised European Social Charter concerned Albania, Andorra, Armenia, Austria, Azerbaijan, Belgium, Bosnia and Herzegovina, Croatia, Cyprus, Denmark, Estonia, Finland, France, Georgia, Germany, Greece, Hungary, Iceland, Ireland, Italy, Latvia, Lithuania, Luxembourg, Malta, the Republic of Moldova, Montenegro, the Netherlands (including Curaçao and Sint Maarten), the Republic of North Macedonia, Norway, Poland, Portugal, Romania, the Russian Federation, Serbia, the Slovak Republic, Slovenia, Spain, Sweden, Türkiye, United Kingdom and Ukraine. The reports covered the reference period 1 January 2015 31 December 2018 and were due by 31 December 2019. The Governmental Committee recalls that it attaches a great importance to the respect of the deadline by the States Parties.
- 6. Conclusions 2020 of the European Committee of Social Rights (hereafter, ECSR) were adopted in March 2021 with respect to Albania, Andorra, Armenia, Austria, Azerbaijan, Bosnia-Herzegovina, Cyprus, Estonia, Georgia, Hungary, Iceland, Latvia, Lithuania, Luxembourg, Malta, Montenegro, the Netherlands, Republic of North Macedonia, Romania, Russian Federation, Serbia, Slovak Republic, Slovenia, Spain, Sweden, Türkiye and Ukraine. Norway and Republic of Moldova did not submit its report.
- 7. The Governmental Committee held two meetings in 2021 (142nd Meeting on 10-12 May 2021, 143rd Meeting on 13-17 December 2021) with Mr Joseph FABER (Luxembourg) in the Chair. In accordance with its Rules of Procedure, the Governmental

Committee at its autumn meeting elected for a two-year term (until 31 December 2023) its new members of the Bureau. Mr. Joseph FABER (Luxembourg) Chair, Mr. Aongus HORGAN (Ireland) 1st vice Chair, Ms. Julie GOMIS (France) Member, Mr. Edward BUTTIGIEG (Malta) Member, Ms. Yvette KALDEN (Netherlands), Member and Ms Velga LAZDINA-ZAKA (Latvia), Member.

- 8. The Governmental Committee took note that the revised Charter and the collective complaints procedure entered into force for Spain on 1 July 2021 and that the Revised Charter entered into force for Germany on 1 May 2021, one month after the instrument of ratification had been deposited.
- 9. The state of signatures and ratifications on 1 July 2021 appears in Appendix II to the present report.

# II. EXAMINATION OF CONCLUSIONS 2020 OF THE EUROPEAN COMMITTEE OF SOCIAL RIGHTS

- 10. The Governmental Committee applied the Rules of Procedure adopted at its 134th meeting (26-30 September 2016). According to the decision taken by the Committee of Ministers at its 1196th meeting on 2 April 2014, the Governmental Committee debated orally only the Conclusions of non-conformity as selected by the ECSR.
- 11. The Governmental Committee examined the situations of non-conformity with the European Social Charter listed in Appendix III to the present report.
- 12. The Governmental Committee could not examine the follow-up to conclusions under Article 15§1, 18§2, 18§3 and 18§4 against Ukraine, as the representative was not present.

## A. Proposed recommendations

- 13. In the 2021 supervisory cycle, the Governmental Committee proposed 19 recommendations concerning Article 20 of the Revised European Social Charter and Article 1.2 of the 1988 additional Protocol with respect to the following countries: Albania, Andorra, Armenia, Austria, Azerbaijan, Bosnia and Herzegovina, Denmark,<sup>2</sup> Estonia, Georgia, Hungary, Latvia, Lithuania, Malta, Netherlands with respect to Curaçao and Sint Maarten,<sup>3</sup> North Macedonia, Russian Federation, Türkiye and Ukraine.
- 14. The proposed recommendations concern equal pay and equal opportunities for women and men in employment a transversal topic which had recently been the object of a declaration of the Committee of Ministers (see Declaration on equal pay and equal opportunities for women and men in employment, adopted on 17 March 2021, CMDecl(17/03/2021)1), as well as of 14 individual Committee of Ministers (CM) recommendations on the right to equal pay adopted on 17 March 2021 following up on the decisions adopted by the ECSR, made public on 29 June 2020, in UWE v. Belgium, Bulgaria, Croatia, Cyprus, Czech Republic, Finland, France, Greece, Ireland, Italy, Norway, Portugal, Slovenia and the Netherlands. These recommendations of the Committee of Ministers were particularly relevant for the discussions of the Governmental Committee on the national

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> See Report GC(2022)4rev

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Ibid.

situations. They were presented during the 142nd meeting of the Governmental Committee in May 2021 by Ambassador Ivan Orliċ, Permanent Representative of Bosnia and Herzegovina to the Council of Europe, in his capacity as Chairperson of the Rapporteur Group of the Committee of Ministers on Social Questions (GR-SOC).

- 15. All member states agreed on the importance of addressing persistent gender gaps in employment and pay. The Chair recalled that the Committee of Ministers clearly considered that the provisions of the European Social Charter and the criteria developed by the ECSR for monitoring their application could assist member states in their efforts to address inequality revealed by the pay gap and by equal opportunity shortfalls for women in employment.
- 16. In its Conclusions 2020 (Conclusions XXII-1), the ECSR concluded that the situation in 27 State Parties was not in conformity with Article 20 (c) of the Revised Charter or Article 1 of the 1998 additional Protocol, either on the ground related to the "Obligations to guarantee the right to equal pay for equal work or work of equal value", which included 4 subsections: legal framework, effective remedies, pay transparency and job comparisons and enforcement, or on the second ground, concerning the "Obligations to promote the right to equal pay". Of these 27 states, 5 have already received the aforementioned CM recommendations on the matter (Croatia, Cyprus, Czech Republic, Slovenia and the Netherlands). The Governmental Committee discussed the selected conclusions at its 142nd meeting, namely 17 cases as regards the negative conclusion on the first ground and 21 cases as regards the second ground of non-conformity. The respondent states had the opportunity to present comprehensively the national situations and the measures taken by each of them in this particular field. The details of the discussion and the relevant submissions are included in the report of the 142nd meeting (GC(2020)18).
- 17. The Chair proposed to take a common approach on the follow-up to these conclusions and, similarly to GR-SOC, to propose recommendations to the Committee of Ministers in line with Article 16 of the Rules of Procedure. In the light of the discussions and consensus within the Governmental Committee, the Secretariat was asked to prepare draft recommendations for all negative conclusions related to Article 20 (c) of the Revised Charter and Article 1 of the Additional Protocol on equal pay to facilitate discussions on their adoption at the 143rd meeting of the Governmental Committee in December 2021. The draft recommendations, prepared as instructed, were based on the aforementioned declaration of the Committee of Ministers, quoted the conclusions of the ECSR and included the description of the national situations as presented by the respondent states, together with the possibility of either a detailed or a general recommendation for subsequent follow-up. The state parties were invited to present their comments and amendments. The representative of the Russian Federation requested a vote on a procedural matter to challenge the adoption of the recommendations. However, in accordance with Article 13 of the Rules of Procedure, the Governmental Committee accepted to proceed with the adoption of the recommendations by 21 votes in favour, 13 against and 1 abstention out of 34 votes cast. The representative of the Russian Federation expressed his disagreement and made a statement to be appended to this report (Appendix VIII).
- 18. Subsequently, recommendations were adopted by consensus with respect to Albania, Andorra, Armenia, Austria, Azerbaijan, Bosnia and Herzegovina, Denmark, Estonia, Georgia, Latvia, Lithuania, Malta, the Netherlands with respect to Curaçao, the Netherlands with respect to Sint Maarten and Ukraine.

- 19. In the following cases recommendations were adopted following a vote, which was requested by at least one delegation: Hungary (22 votes in favour, 5 against and 3 abstentions), North Macedonia (23 votes in favour, 10 against, 5 abstentions), Russian Federation (24 votes in favour, 9 against and 1 abstention) and Türkiye (25 votes in favour, 7 against, 7 abstentions). The qualified majority of 22 votes of 43 state parties was reached each time and the recommendations were therefore carried.
- 20. Following a vote, recommendations were not carried with respect to Serbia (19 votes in favour, 13 against and 6 abstentions) and the Slovak Republic (21 votes in favour, 10 against), as they did not reach the required qualified majority. A warning was voted on and not carried with respect to Serbia, as the majority of two thirds of votes cast was not met (20 votes in favour, 11 against, 7 abstentions). With respect to the Slovak Republic, a warning was carried (22 votes in favour, 10 against and 7 abstentions).
- 21. No voting on a recommendation took place in respect of Montenegro in view of the information provided on developments regarding the national situation.

# b. Examination of remaining conclusions of non-conformity and findings

- 22. The Governmental Committee also examined other situations not in conformity with provisions related to the thematic group "Labour rights" of the European Social Charter, as listed in Appendix II.
- 23. Furthermore, the Governmental Committee took note of the conclusions deferred for lack of information or because of questions asked for the first time, and invited the states concerned to supply the relevant information in their next report (see the list of conclusions in Appendix III).
- 24. During its examination, the Governmental Committee also took note of important positive developments in several state parties (see Appendix IV).
- 25. The total of the selected 60 national situations for oral discussion were to be discussed during the Governmental Committee's 142nd and 143rd meetings. However, five of these national situations could not be examined during the 143rd meeting due to lack of time. Therefore, these five national situations were exceptionally examined at the 144th meeting (30 May to 3 June 2022). The discussion and the decisions taken in respect of these situations have nevertheless been reflected in this detailed report.
- 26. The Governmental Committee proposed to the Committee of Ministers to adopt the following Resolutions:

Resolution on the implementation of the European Social Charter during the period 2015-2018 (Conclusions 2020), provisions related to the thematic group "Employment, training and equal opportunities"

(Adopted by the Committee of Ministers ... 2022 at the ... meeting of the Ministers' Deputies)

The Committee of Ministers,

Referring to the European Social Charter, in particular to the provisions of Article C of Part IV thereof:

Having regard to Article 28 of the 1961 Charter as amended by the 1991 Protocol;

Considering the reports on the European Social Charter submitted by the Governments of Albania, Andorra, Armenia, Austria, Azerbaijan, Belgium, Bosnia and Herzegovina, Croatia, Cyprus, Denmark, Estonia, Finland, France, Georgia, Germany, Greece, Hungary, Iceland, Ireland, Italy, Latvia, Lithuania, Luxembourg, Malta, Montenegro, Netherlands (including in respect of Curaçao and Sint Maarten), North Macedonia, Poland, Portugal, Romania, Russian Federation, Serbia, Slovak Republic, Slovenia, Spain, Sweden, Turkey, Ukraine and United Kingdom;

Having regard to the failure to submit a report by Norway and Republic of Moldova;

Considering Conclusions 2020 and Conclusions XXII-1 of the European Committee of Social Rights appointed under Article 25 of the 1961 Charter as amended by the 1991 Protocol;

Following the proposal made by the Governmental Committee established under Article 27 of the 1961 Charter as amended by the 1991 Protocol;

Noting that the Governmental Committee has decided to select, in the light of the conclusions of the European Committee of Social Rights and of the reports of the States Parties and on the basis of social, economic and other policy considerations, the situations which should, in its view, be the subject of recommendations to each State Party;

Draws the attention of the Governments concerned to the Recommendations adopted in respect of Conclusions 2020 and Conclusions XXII-1 of the European Committee of Social Rights, following proposals by the Governmental Committee.

#### III. EXAMINATION BY ARTICLE<sup>4</sup>

#### **REVISED EUROPEAN SOCIAL CHARTER**

Article 20 - Right to equal opportunities and equal treatment in matters of employment and occupation without discrimination on the grounds of sex

- 27. The Secretariat presented the main criteria used by the ECSR to assess compliance with Article 20 of the Charter.
- 28. With a view to ensuring the effective exercise of the right to equal opportunities and equal treatment in matters of employment and occupation without discrimination on grounds of sex, the parties undertake to recognise that right and to take appropriate measures to ensure or promote its application in the following fields:

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> State Parties in English alphabetic order.

- a. access to employment, protection against dismissal and occupational reintegration;
- b. vocational guidance, training, retraining and rehabilitation;
- c. terms of employment and working conditions, including remuneration;
- d. career development, including promotion.
- 29. The Secretariat recalled that provisions concerning the protection of women, particularly as regards pregnancy, confinement and the post-natal period, shall not be deemed to amount to discrimination within the meaning of this article and that it shall not prevent the adoption of specific measures aimed at removing *de facto* inequalities.
- 30. The Secretariat recalled that under Article 20, equal treatment between women and men includes the issue of equal pay for work of equal value. Usually, pay comparisons are made between persons within the same undertaking/company. However, there may be situations where, in order to be meaningful, this comparison must be made across companies/undertakings. Therefore, Article 20 requires that it be possible to make pay comparisons across companies. At the very least, legislation should require pay comparisons across companies in one or more of the following situations:
  - cases in which statutory rules apply to the working and pay conditions in more than one company;
  - cases in which several companies are covered by a collective works agreement or regulations governing the terms and conditions of employment;
  - cases in which the terms and conditions of employment are laid down centrally for more than one company within a holding [company] or conglomerate.
- 31. As regards the legal framework, the right of women and men to equality must be guaranteed by a law. The Charter requires "States not only to provide for equal treatment but also to protect women and men from discrimination in employment and training. This means that they are obliged to enact a sufficiently detailed legislation explicitly imposing equal treatment in all aspects." It is not sufficient merely to state the principle in the Constitution. Any legislation, regulation or other administrative measure that fails to comply with the equality principle must be repealed or revoked. The non-application of discriminatory legislation is not sufficient for a situation to be considered in conformity with the Charter.
- 32. Further, the Secretariat recalled that domestic law must provide for appropriate and effective remedies in the event of alleged discrimination. Employees who consider that they have suffered discrimination must be able to take their case to an independent body, before which the burden of proof must be shifted. The shift in the burden of proof consists in ensuring that where a person believes he or she has suffered discrimination on grounds of sex and establishes facts which make it reasonable to suppose that discrimination has occurred, the onus is on the defendant to prove that there has been no infringement of the principle of equal treatment. The purpose of this rule is to enable courts to deal with discrimination in the light of the effects produced by a rule, act, or practice, and the shift in the burden of proof is a key factor in the effective application of rules on protection against discrimination.
- 33. Finally, anyone who suffers discrimination on grounds of sex must be entitled to adequate compensation, i.e. compensation that is both proportionate to the loss suffered by the victim and sufficiently dissuasive for employers.

# 34. Adequate compensation means:

- reinstatement or retention of employment and compensation for any pecuniary damage suffered in the event of unlawful or unfair dismissal;
- compensation proportionate to the damage suffered, i.e. to cover pecuniary and non-pecuniary damage, where the dismissed employee does not wish to be reinstated or continuation of the employment relationship is impossible;
- in all other cases, bringing the discrimination to an end and awarding compensation proportionate to the pecuniary and non-pecuniary damage suffered.
- 35. Any ceiling on compensation that may preclude damages from making good the loss suffered and from being sufficiently dissuasive is proscribed.
- 36. Employees who try to enforce their right to equality must be legally protected against any form of reprisals from their employers, including not only dismissal, but also downgrading, changes to working conditions and so on. National legislation must provide for the same consequences where an employee is a victim of reprisal measures as those described above in the sections on appeal procedures and compensation.
- 37. Since "the aim and purpose of the Charter, being a human rights protection instrument, is to protect rights not merely theoretically, but also in fact" and conformity with the Charter cannot be ensured solely by the operation of legislation, States Parties must take practical steps to promote equal opportunities.

# 38. Appropriate measures include:

- adopting and implementing national equal opportunities action plans;
- requiring individual undertakings to draw up enterprise or company plans to secure greater equality between women and men;
- encouraging employers and workers to deal with equality issues in collective agreements;
- setting more store by equality between women and men in national action plans for employment.
- 39. The Secretariat also recalled that, in line with the ECSR's established case-law, action taken must be based on a comprehensive strategy for incorporating the gender perspective into all labour market policies. The Appendix to Article 20 (§3) makes it clear that specific measures designed to remove *de facto* inequalities are permitted.
- 40. With regard to the selection of situations for consideration by the Governmental Committee, the Secretariat pointed out that they only concerned findings of non-conformity (other than those for which conformity could not be established for lack of information) on the following grounds:
  - first ground: obligations to guarantee the right to equal pay for equal work or work of equal value (including legal framework, effective remedies, pay transparency and job comparisons and enforcement)
  - second ground: obligations to promote the right to equal pay.

# Albania (Article 20 RESC)

- 41. The ECSR concluded that the situation in Albania was not in conformity with Article 20 (c) of the Charter on the ground that the legislation explicitly covered only certain elements of pay for the purposes of equal pay principle.
- 42. The Governmental Committee adopted by consensus the following draft recommendation:

Draft Recommendation RecChS(2022)... on the application of the European Social Charter by Albania (period 1 January 2015 to 31 December 2018) (Conclusions 2020)

(Adopted by the Committee of Ministers on ... 2022 at the ... meeting of the Ministers' Deputies)

The Committee of Ministers,

Having regard to the European Social Charter, in particular Part IV thereof;

Whereas the Revised European Social Charter came into force on 1 January 2003 with respect to Albania;

Whereas the Government of Albania submitted in 2020 its 12th report on the application of the Charter, and whereas this report has been examined in accordance with Articles 24 to 27 of the Charter;

Having examined the Conclusions 2020 of the European Committee of Social Rights (ECSR), adopted in January 2021 and made public in March 2021 and available to all the parties, and the report of the Governmental Committee appointed under Article 27 of the Charter;

In the light of the fact that the ECSR concluded that the situation in Albania was not in conformity with Article 20 (c) of the Charter on the ground that the legislation explicitly covers only certain elements of pay for the purposes of the equal pay principle. The ECSR considered indeed that recognition of the right to equal pay in legislation was not ensured. National legislation establishes that remuneration covers basic salary and permanent allowances (Article 109(1) of the Labour Code). The ECSR pointed out in this respect that the concept of remuneration must cover all elements of pay, i.e. basic pay and all other benefits paid directly or indirectly in cash or kind by the employer to the worker by reason of the latter's employment.

In the light of the information submitted by Albania at the 142nd session of the Governmental Committee (10 to 12 May 2021), according to which the Labour Code, as amended by Law No. 136/2015, provides for the protection of employees from discrimination, including the principle of equality in remuneration for equal work or work of equal value. Salary or job remuneration is a fundamental condition of the employment contract referred to in Articles 12 and 21 of the Labour Code. It is determined by the will of the parties, in agreement between them, in the individual employment contract. Article 109 of the Labour Code defines that basic salary includes the basic salary and permanent additions for that job position. Regarding the allowances/additions of permanent character, it should be taken into account that they include allowances for seniority at work, qualification, working conditions, function, hard work, distance from the place of domicile etc. These allowances are determined in the

salary structure of the employer (defined in the collective labour agreement or in the internal regulations of the enterprise), Article 115 defines the general principle of equality in remuneration, the obligation of the employer to pay the employee equally for equal work or work of equal value, without directly discriminating or indirectly discriminating against him, not only on the basis of gender, but also due to considerations of race, age, religion, health status, social status, sexual orientation etc. Equal pay/remuneration, without discrimination, is the salary, which, for the same standard work, is calculated on the basis of the same unit of measure and same time. The Labour Code also refers to the protection against discrimination, as well as the special Law on protection against discrimination.

Following a proposal by the Governmental Committee,

Referring to the Declaration on equal pay and opportunities for women and men addressed to all the Council of Europe member States by the Committee of Ministers adopted on 17 March 2021 (CM/Del/Dec(2021)1399/4.2b)

#### Recommends that Albania:

- ensure explicit statutory protection of equal pay for women and men for equal work or work of equal value;
- consider amending its legislation to include all elements of pay for the purposes of the equal pay principle;
- consider adopting other measures including information and awareness raising to ensure compliance with the principle of equal pay;
- indicate the decisions and actions taken to comply with this Recommendation in the next report on the Charter provisions concerned.

# Andorra (Article 20 RESC)

- 43. The ECSR concluded that the situation in Andorra was not in conformity with Article 20 (c) of the Charter on the ground that there was insufficient measurable progress in respect of the obligation to promote the right to equal pay. The ECSR noted that, according to the data in the report, the pay gap between men and women was 22.17% in 2018, compared with 22.57% in 2017, 23.24% in 2016 and 22.4% in 2015. The ESCR found that there was a significant pay gap between men and women in Andorra that had not been greatly reduced during the reference period. While new legislation had recently been enacted (in particular, the Equal Treatment and Non-Discrimination Act, No. 13/2019 of 15 February 2019), the situation was not in conformity with Article 20 (c) of the Charter on the ground that the obligation to make measurable progress to reduce the gender pay gap has not been met.
- 44. The Andorran representative argued that section 13 of the Equal Treatment and Non-Discrimination Act, No. 13/2019 of 15 February 2019 laid down the principle of equal pay without discrimination based on sex. This principle entailed an obligation to provide the same remuneration, whatever the nature of this remuneration, for the same work, without any form of discrimination based on sex regarding the elements or conditions of the work in question. Section 57 of the Act introduced an obligation to draw up gender equality plans in companies as a form of assessment and application of measures designed to eliminate any discrimination based on sex in the workplace or the relevant occupation. The Act also required the government to draw up a public register on the recording of data and indicators on the gender pay gap. Lastly, according to the statistics available, the gender pay gap was

18.7% (approximately EUR 440) in 2020. He concluded that Andorra continued to make efforts and had undertaken to keep on working towards equal pay.

45. The Governmental Committee adopted by consensus the following draft recommendation:

Draft Recommendation RecChS(2022)... on the application of the European Social Charter by Andorra (period 1 January 2015 to 31 December 2018) (Conclusions 2020)

(Adopted by the Committee of Ministers on ... 2022 at the ... meeting of the Ministers' Deputies)

The Committee of Ministers,

Having regard to the European Social Charter, in particular Part IV thereof;

Whereas the Revised European Social Charter came into force on 1 January 2005 with respect to Andorra;

Whereas the Government of Andorra submitted in 2020 its 14th report on the application of the Charter, and whereas this report has been examined in accordance with Articles 24 to 27 of the Charter:

Having examined the Conclusions 2020 of the European Committee of Social Rights (ECSR), adopted in January 2021 and made public in March 2021 and available to all the parties, and the report of the Governmental Committee appointed under Article 27 of the Charter;

In the light of the fact that the ECSR concluded that the situation in Andorra was not in conformity with Article 20 (c) of the Charter on the ground that there was insufficient measurable progress in respect of the obligation to promote the right to equal pay. The ECSR noted that according to the data in the report, the pay gap between men and women was 22.17% in 2018, compared with 22.57% in 2017, 23.24% in 2016 and 22.4% in 2015. The ESCR found that there was a significant pay gap between men and women in Andorra that had not been greatly reduced during the reference period. While new legislation has recently been enacted (in particular, the Equal Treatment and Non-Discrimination Act, No. 13/2019 of 15 February 2019), the situation is not in conformity with Article 20 (c) of the Charter on the ground that the obligation to make measurable progress to reduce the gender pay gap has not been met.

In the light of the information submitted by Andorra at the 142nd session of the Governmental Committee, held from 10 to 12 May 2021, according to which Section 13 of the Equal Treatment and Non-Discrimination Act, No. 13/2019 of 15 February 2019, lays down the principle of equal pay without discrimination based on sex. This principle entails an obligation to provide the same remuneration, whatever the nature of this remuneration, for the same work, without any form of discrimination based on sex regarding the elements or conditions of the work in question. Section 57 of the bill introduces an obligation to draw up gender equality plans in companies as a form of assessment and application of measures designed to eliminate any discrimination based on sex in the workplace or the relevant occupation. The bill also requires the government to draw up a public register on the recording of data and indicators on the gender pay gap. Lastly, according to the statistics available, the gender pay gap was 18.7% (approximately €440) during 2020. Andorra is continuing to make efforts and has undertaken to keep on working towards equal pay.

Following a proposal by the Governmental Committee,

Referring to the Declaration on equal pay and opportunities for women and men addressed to all the Council of Europe member States by the Committee of Ministers adopted on 17 March 2021 (CM/Del/Dec(2021)1399/4.2b)

#### Recommends that Andorra:

- reinforce the existing legislative framework;
- address particularly the gender pay gap in the private sector and adopt measures which may include inter alia:
- o obligations for private enterprises to develop action plans and monitor closely the equal pay situation;
- o developing further specific national action plans or strategic orientation documents to target adjusted and unadjusted gender pay gap;
- o promoting a gender equality mainstreaming approach in the labour market to contribute actively to closing the gender pay gap.
- indicate the decisions and actions taken to comply with this Recommendation in the next report on the Charter provisions concerned.

# **Armenia (Article 20 RESC)**

- 46. The ECSR concluded that the situation in Armenia was not in conformity with Article 20 (c) of the Charter on the ground that there was no explicit statutory guarantee of equal pay for women and men for equal work or work of equal value, and that the limits imposed on compensatory awards in gender discrimination cases might prevent such violations from being adequately remedied and effectively prevented. In its conclusions concerning Article 4§3 (Conclusions 2018), the ECSR had also noted that the situation was not in conformity with the Charter on the ground that the upper limit on the amount of compensation that could be awarded in gender discrimination cases might preclude damages from making good the loss suffered and from being sufficiently dissuasive. There was no new information in the report on this issue. Therefore, the ECSR noted that the situation which it had previously found not to be in conformity with the Charter had not changed and reiterated its finding of non-conformity in this respect. The ECSR also concluded that it had not been established that legislation provided for a shift in the burden of proof in gender pay discrimination cases. Finally, the ECSR concluded that there had not been sufficient measurable progress in respect of the obligation to promote the right to equal pay.
- 47. The representative of Armenia explained recent developments, most importantly legislative changes under discussion with respect to the first ground of non-conformity and the inclusion of all aspects of equal pay in legislation.
- 48. The Governmental Committee adopted by consensus the following draft recommendation:

Draft Recommendation RecChS(2022)... on the application of the European Social Charter by Armenia (period 1 January 2015 to 31 December 2018) (Conclusions 2020)

(Adopted by the Committee of Ministers on ... 2022 at the ... meeting of the Ministers' Deputies)

The Committee of Ministers,

Having regard to the European Social Charter, in particular Part IV thereof;

Whereas the Revised European Social Charter came into force on 1 March 2004 with respect to Armenia;

Whereas the Government of Armenia submitted in 2020 its 15th report on the application of the Charter, and whereas this report has been examined in accordance with Articles 24 to 27 of the Charter;

Having examined the Conclusions 2020 of the European Committee of Social Rights (ECSR), adopted in January 2021 and made public in March 2021 and available to all the parties, and the report of the Governmental Committee appointed under Article 27 of the Charter:

In the light of the fact that the ECSR concluded that the situation in Armenia was not in conformity with Article 20 (c) of the Charter on the grounds:

- a. there is no explicit statutory guarantee of equal pay for women and men for equal work or work of equal value. The ECSR pointed out that the right of women and men to equal pay for work of equal value must be expressly provided for in legislation, but the Armenian law provides for equal pay for men and women for "equal work" and for "equivalent work" but not for "work of equal or comparable value." It took note that this wording is narrower than the principle set out in the Charter.
- b. the upper limit on the amount of compensation that may be awarded in gender discrimination cases may preclude damages from making good the loss suffered and from being sufficiently dissuasive. The ECSR considered that the limits imposed on compensatory awards in gender discrimination cases might prevent such violations from being adequately remedied and effectively prevented
- c. it was not established that legislation provides for a shift in the burden of proof in gender pay discrimination cases. The ECSR noted that a law on legal equality containing rules on sharing the burden of proof was being drafted by the Ministry of Justice, but courts may still decide in a case by case basis.
- d. there was not sufficient measurable progress in respect of the obligation to promote the right to equal pay. The ECSR noted that the gender pay gap in Armenia was 32.5% and remains manifestly high and as stated in the national report, between 2007 and 2017, the gender pay gap decreased by 8.3% (by 7.2% between 2006 and 2016). The ECSR considered indeed that the situation was not in conformity with Article 20 (c) of the Charter on the ground that the obligation to make measurable progress in reducing the gender pay gap and achieving equal pay was not fulfilled.

In the light of the information submitted by Armenia in the 142nd session of the Governmental Committee, held from 10 to 12 May 2021, according to which equal remuneration for equal work of women and men and exclusion of discrimination are enshrined in and guaranteed by the Constitution, the Labour Code, the Law "On Ensuring Equal Rights and Equal Opportunities for Women and Men", the Law "On Remuneration of Persons Holding Public Positions and Public Service Positions" as well as separate laws for employees of special sectors. The latest legislative development in this area is the

amendment made to the Labour Code (entered into force on 19 October 2019), which gives the definition of discrimination in labour relations and states that it is prohibited, including also on the grounds of sex. Armenia is considering in the framework of the forthcoming legislative reforms the issue of amending the provisions of the Labour Code on equal pay for equal or equivalent work. As regards the effective remedies and compensation issue, the Labour Code limits compensation paid for non-reinstatement of the employee tot more than twelve-fold of the average salary. With this particular restriction, the legislation aims to ensure also the interests of the employer to a certain extent. As regards the burden of proof, the Ministry of Justice has prepared a draft law "On Ensuring Legal Equality", which was submitted to the RA Prime Minister's Office and is currently being revised. Finally, the adjusted gender pay gap is 28.4%, instead of the previous 32.5% and measures such as the 2019-2023 "Decent Work" National Program" was adopted. Based on the fact that gender pay gap is a

problem, enlargement of employment opportunities of women and men is specified as a priority of the Decent Work National Program.

Following a proposal by the Governmental Committee,

Referring to the Declaration on equal pay and opportunities for women and men addressed to all the Council of Europe member States by the Committee of Ministers adopted on 17 March 2021 (CM/Del/Dec(2021)1399/4.2b)

#### Recommends that Armenia:

- reinforce existing adopted legislative framework to guarantee, in an appropriate manner, the right to equal pay for work of equal or comparable value;
- address the gender pay gap and adopts measures which may include inter alia:
- o developing further specific national action plans to target adjusted and unadjusted gender pay gap;
- o promoting a gender equality mainstreaming approach in the labour market.
- indicate the decisions and actions taken to comply with this Recommendation in the next report on the Charter provisions concerned.

## Austria (Article 20 RESC)

- 49. The ECSR concluded that the situation in Austria was not in conformity with Article 20 (c) of the Charter on the ground that there had not been sufficient measurable progress in respect of the obligation to promote the right to equal pay. The ECSR noted that the gender pay gap was 20.4% in 2018 (compared with 25.1% in 2008). It remained higher than the EU average, although it had decreased by 2.4% since 2010. In the light of the above, the ECSR considered that the situation was not in conformity with Article 20 (c) of the Charter on the ground that the obligation to make measurable progress in reducing the gender pay gap had not been fulfilled.
- 50. The Austrian representative explained that the implementation of the principle of "equal pay for work of equal value" were important goals of the Austrian Federal Government. While improvements had been achieved in recent years and the gender pay gap had been reduced as a result, the Austrian Government was aware that the gender pay gap still remained well above the EU average. However, the unadjusted gender pay gap was based on a general consideration of all employees and did not take into account all the

factors that influence the gender pay gap. The reasons for and factors influencing the high gender pay gap in Austria could be partially explained. According to a 2018 statistical working paper by Eurostat, the adjusted gender pay gap in Austria was 9.4%. In the public sector, wages were paid according to public sector salary schemes. Women and men still showed very different career choices and employment behaviour. Women worked more often in sectors and occupations with lower pay levels and on a part-time basis, had more frequent and longer family-related career breaks, and thus reached management positions less often than men. Austria continued to work towards a high employment rate for women and strived to reduce the gender pay gap. In order to achieve equal pay for equal work or work of equal value also in practice, a variety and a mix of measures to promote gender equality in the labour market have been taken. As part of its active labour market policy, the Federal Ministry of Labour continued its efforts to contribute to closing the gender pay gap. The planned funding budget for 2021 (excluding short-time work) was EUR 1,556 million. The goal was that almost 50% of these funds would be spent on women.

51. The Governmental Committee adopted by consensus the following draft recommendation:

# Draft Recommendation RecChS(2022)... on the application of the European Social Charter by Austria (period 1 January 2015 to 31 December 2018) (Conclusions 2020)

(Adopted by the Committee of Ministers on ... 2022 at the ... meeting of the Ministers' Deputies)

The Committee of Ministers,

Having regard to the European Social Charter, in particular Part IV thereof;

Whereas the Revised European Social Charter came into force on 1 July 2011 with respect to Austria;

Whereas the Government of Austria submitted in 2020 its 9th report on the application of the Charter, and whereas this report has been examined in accordance with Articles 24 to 27 of the Charter;

Having examined the Conclusions 2020 of the European Committee of Social Rights (ECSR), adopted in January 2021 and made public in March 2021 and available to all the parties, and the report of the Governmental Committee appointed under Article 27 of the Charter;

In the light of the fact that the ECSR concluded that the situation in Austria was not in conformity with Article 20 (c) of the Charter on the ground that there was not sufficient measurable progress in respect of the obligation to promote the right to equal pay. The ECSR noted that the gender pay gap was 20.4% in 2018 (compared with 25.1% in 2008). It was higher in Austria than the average of the European Union countries, and it has decreased by 2.4% since 2010. In the light of the above, the ECSR considered that the situation is not in conformity with Article 20 (c) of the Charter on the ground that the obligation to make measurable progress in reducing the gender pay gap has not been fulfilled.

In the light of the information submitted by Austria in the 142nd session of the Governmental Committee, held from 10 to 12 May 2021, according to which gender equality in the labour market and thus the implementation of the principle of "equal pay for work of equal value"

are important goals of the Austrian Federal Government. While improvements have been implemented in recent years and the gender pay gap has been reduced as a result, the Austrian Government is well aware that the gender pay gap in Austria is still well above the EU average. However, the unadjusted gender pay gap is based on a general consideration of all employees and does not take into account all of the factors that influence the gender pay gap. The reasons for and factors influencing the high gender pay gap in Austria can be partially explained. According to a 2018 statistical working paper by Eurostat, the adjusted gender pay gap in Austria is 9.4%. In the public sector, wages are paid according to public sector salary schemes. Women and men still show very different career choices and employment behaviour. Women work more often in sectors and occupations with lower pay levels and on a part-time basis, have more frequent and longer family-related career breaks, and thus reach management positions less often than men. Austria continues to work towards a high employment rate for women and strives to reduce the gender pay gap. In order to achieve equal pay for equal work or work of equal value also in practice, a variety and a mix of measures to promote gender equality in the labour market have been taken. As part of its active labour market policy, the Federal Ministry of Labour continues its efforts to contribute to closing the gender pay gap. The planned funding budget for 2021 (excluding short-time work) is EUR 1,556 million. The goal is that almost 50% of these funds will be spent on women.

Following a proposal by the Governmental Committee,

Referring to the Declaration on equal pay and opportunities for women and men addressed to all the Council of Europe member States by the Committee of Ministers adopted on 17 March 2021 (CM/Del/Dec(2021)1399/4.2b)

# Recommends that the Government of Austria

- reinforce existing adopted legislative framework and take account, in an appropriate manner, of the negative conclusion of the ECSR in order to develop it further;
- address the gender pay gap in the private sector and adopts measures which may include inter alia:
- o where appropriate, obligations for private enterprises to develop action plans and monitor closely equal pay situation;
- o developing further specific national measures to target adjusted and unadjusted gender pay gap;
- o promoting a gender equality mainstreaming approach in the labour market;
- provide information in its next report on the measures it has taken to this effect.

## Azerbaijan (Article 20 RESC)

52. The ECSR concluded in respect of Azerbaijan that the situation was not in conformity with Article 20 (c) of the Charter on the ground that: a. there was a lack of explicit statutory guarantee of equal pay for women and men for equal work or work of equal value; b. women were not permitted to work in all professions which constitutes discrimination based on sex; c. the legislation did not provide for a shift in the burden of proof in gender pay discrimination cases; and d. the obligation to make measurable progress in reducing the gender pay gap had not been fulfilled.

53. The Azerbaijan representative submitted that Article 25 of the Constitution established equality of rights and liberties of citizens regardless of sex and prohibited restriction of human and citizen rights and liberties on grounds of sex. According to Article 35 of the Constitution, everyone had the right to work in safe and healthy environment, to receive remuneration for his/her work without any discrimination, not less than a minimum salary established by the state. According to Article 16 of the Labour Code in labour relations, no discrimination among employees shall be permitted on the basis of citizenship, gender, race, religion, nationality, language, place of residence, economic standing, social origin, age, marital status, religion, political views, job performance or professional skills of the employees, nor shall it be permitted to establish privileges and benefits or directly or indirectly limit rights based on these factors. In order to expand women's employment opportunities in the country, to ensure gender equality and women's employment in higher paid fields, to protect women's rights in accordance with international labour standards, it was planned to abolish the list of about 700 occupations (positions) and jobs where female labour was prohibited, and instead to approve the lists of prohibited jobs and harmful substances and factors for pregnant women and women having children under the age of one and half. Apart from that, relevant amendments were being made in the Labour Code and normative legal acts arising from this Code in order to eliminate the substantial difference between the average monthly wage levels of women and men. Thus, in the existing legislation 674 occupations (positions) and jobs where female labour was prohibited was to be reduced to 204, while these prohibited occupations (positions) and jobs was not to apply to all women, but only to pregnant women or women having children under the age of one and half.

54. The Governmental Committee adopted by consensus the following draft recommendation:

# Draft Recommendation RecChS(2022)... on the application of the European Social Charter by Azerbaijan (period 1 January 2015 to 31 December 2018) (Conclusions 2020)

(Adopted by the Committee of Ministers on ... 2022 at the ... meeting of the Ministers' Deputies)

The Committee of Ministers,

Having regard to the European Social Charter, in particular Part IV thereof;

Whereas the Revised European Social Charter came into force on 1 November 2004 with respect to Azerbaijan;

Whereas the Government of Azerbaijan submitted in 2020 its 14th report on the application of the Charter, and whereas this report has been examined in accordance with Articles 24 to 27 of the Charter;

Having examined the Conclusions 2020 of the European Committee of Social Rights (ECSR), adopted in January 2021 and made public in March 2021 and available to all the parties, and the report of the Governmental Committee appointed under Article 27 of the Charter;

In the light of the fact that the ECSR concluded that the situation in Azerbaijan was not in conformity with Article 20 (c) of the Charter on the grounds that:

- a. there was no explicit statutory guarantee of equal pay for women and men for equal work or work of equal value. The ECSR noted previously that Article 16 of the Labour Code prohibited any discrimination in employment on grounds of gender. Under Article 154 of the Labour Code, discrimination in employment is unacceptable and employee wages may not be reduced in any way. Article 9 of the Law on Gender Equality (2006) provides for equal pay to men and women with the same qualifications, performing equal work of equal value, in equal working conditions, in the same company. The ECSR considered that this wording is narrower than the principle set out in the Charter.
- b. not all professions were open to women. Indeed, the ECSR noted that women are not permitted to work in all professions.
- c. the legislation does not provide for a shift in the burden of proof in gender pay discrimination cases.
- d. sufficient measurable progress in respect of the obligation to promote the right to equal pay. The ECSR noted that the gender pay gap women's average monthly earnings amounted to 50.5% of men's in 2017 (compared with 47.5% in 2014). It noted that the gender pay gap remained considerable. In the light of the above, the ECSR considered that the situation is not in conformity with Article 20 (c) of the Charter on the ground that the obligation to make measurable progress in reducing the gender pay gap has not been fulfilled.

In the light of the information submitted by Azerbaijan in the 142nd session of the Governmental Committee, held from 10 to 12 May 2021, according to which Article 25 of the Constitution establishes equality of rights and liberties of citizens regardless of sex and prohibits restriction of human and citizen rights and liberties on grounds of sex. A draft law was prepared on 19 March 2021 for consideration and approval in order to expand women's employment opportunities in the country, to ensure gender equality and women's employment in higher paid fields and to protect women's rights in accordance with international labour standards. It is planned to abolish the list of about 700 occupations (positions) and jobs where the female labour is prohibited and instead to approve the lists of prohibited jobs and harmful substances and factors for pregnant women and women having children under the age of one year and a half. If the draft law is adopted, the existing legislation 674 occupations prohibited will be reduced to 204. Besides, relevant amendments are being made in the Labour Code to eliminate the difference between the average monthly wage levels of women and men. There is a need to bring Articles 211, 240 and 241 of the Labour Code, as well as related Articles 243 and 244 in line with the requirements of Article 20 of the Charter. Finally, in 2018, the average salary of women constituted 54% of the average salary of men, while in 2019 it was 63%.

Following a proposal by the Governmental Committee,

Referring to the Declaration on equal pay and opportunities for women and men addressed to all the Council of Europe member States by the Committee of Ministers adopted on 17 March 2021 (CM/Del/Dec(2021)1399/4.2b

Recommends that Azerbaijan:

- reinforce the existing adopted legislative framework and take account, in an appropriate manner, of the guarantee of equal pay for women and men for equal work or work of equal value and that all elements of pay for the purposes of equal pay principle are included in the definition of pay;
- eliminate the prohibition for women to work in certain professions;
- monitor that private enterprises closely observe equal pay;
- establish obligations in the General Collective Agreement aimed to eliminate the gender pay gap;
- indicate the decisions and actions taken to comply with this Recommendation in the next report on the provisions concerned.

# **Bosnia and Herzegovina (Article 20 RESC)**

- 55. The ECSR concluded that the situation in Bosnia and Herzegovina was not in conformity with Article 20(c) of the Charter on the ground that: a. women were not permitted to work in all professions which constitutes discrimination based on sex; b. the obligation to ensure pay transparency had not been satisfied; c. sufficient measurable progress in respect of the obligation to promote the right to equal pay had not been achieved.
- 56. The Bosnia and Herzegovina representative apologised for not having sent in advance their contribution. The ECSR had been informed that the general prohibition of discrimination in any aspect of work and employment was guaranteed by the Constitution of Bosnia and Herzegovina as well as the constitutions of both entities. The Constitution of Bosnia and Herzegovina explicitly incorporated certain conventions relating to gender equality, including the 1979 UN Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Discrimination against Women. The Law on Gender Equality of Bosnia and Herzegovina, as the most important instrument for raising awareness on gender equality and introducing gender equality principle in public policies and regulations, prohibited gender discrimination in work, employment and access to resources. The Law follows, in all respects, the provisions of the UN Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Discrimination and provides a comprehensive list of practices that are considered discriminatory on the basis of gender in work and employment. Moreover, the Law provides equal wages and benefits for work of equal value, equal conditions for advancement at work, education, training and professional development, the same status regardless of gender or marital status when organising work, sharing tasks or otherwise determining working conditions and termination of employment. Trade unions and employers' associations had a special role in ensuring equal protection of the right to work and conditions of employment and ensuring that there was no gender discrimination. Entity labour laws were fully aligned with the principles of the Law on Gender Equality in Bosnia and Herzegovina (more details, page 23, Tenth Report of Bosnia and Herzegovina on implementation of the European Social Charter /revised/). In 2019, the Ministry of Civil Rights Affairs of Bosnia and Herzegovina initiated the procedure of denunciation of the Convention of the International Labour Organization (ILO) on Night Work (Women), No.89, from 1948 (Revised), which regulated the prohibition of night work for women. The International Committee of Experts on the Applications of Conventions and Recommendations referred to paragraph 93 of its 2001 General Review of Women's Night Work in Industry, which strongly encouraged governments to take concrete measures in line with gender equality and non-discrimination in employment. Following the implementation of all procedures provided by law, the completion of the process of denunciation of the aforementioned Convention was planned for the second half of 2021.

- 57. It was also put forward that, so far, no strategies or measures had been adopted in Bosnia and Herzegovina to ensure wage transparency in the labour market. However, the first activities in this direction had begun in 2019 when Sarajevo Canton published the first Register of Employees in the Public Sector, which contained data on the net salaries of all employees and appointees in the Canton. The register enabled citizens to access financial data on 20 000 employees and appointees to all public administrations and institutions. Public gained insight into the salaries of employees, appointees and the origin of their assets. At the same time, the Anti-corruption and Quality Control Office had been established, which was in charge of the Register and its updates.
- 58. During discussions, the Chair asked about the general prohibition of discrimination and the fact that women were not allowed to work in certain professions. The representative of France pointed out to the need of a draft individual recommendation. The representative of ETUC brought to attention the fact that the Governmental Committee had voted both a recommendation and a warning the last time the issue was examined but that neither had been carried.
- 59. The Governmental Committee adopted by consensus the following draft recommendation:

# Draft Recommendation RecChS(2022)... on the application of the European Social Charter by Bosnia and Herzegovina (period 1 January 2015 to 31 December 2018) (Conclusions 2020)

(Adopted by the Committee of Ministers on ... 2022 at the ... meeting of the Ministers' Deputies)

The Committee of Ministers,

Having regard to the European Social Charter, in particular Part IV thereof:

Whereas the Revised European Social Charter came into force on 1 December 2008 with respect to Bosnia and Herzegovina;

Whereas the Government of Bosnia and Herzegovina submitted in 2020 its 11th report on the application of the Charter, and whereas this report has been examined in accordance with Articles 24 to 27 of the Charter;

Having examined the Conclusions 2020 of the European Committee of Social Rights (ECSR), adopted in January 2021 and made public in March 2021 and available to all the parties, and the report of the Governmental Committee appointed under Article 27 of the Charter;

In the light of the fact that the ECSR concluded that the situation in Bosnia and Herzegovina was not in conformity with Article 20 (c) of the Charter on the grounds that:

a. women are not permitted to work in all professions, which constitutes discrimination based on sex. The ECSR noted that in the Federation of Bosnia and Herzegovina, it is prohibited for women to work in mines, except in administrative positions, as trainees or in posts not requiring physical work.

- b. the obligation to ensure pay transparency has not been satisfied. The ECSR noted that no strategies or measures were adopted to ensure pay transparency on the job market and there is no way for workers to obtain information on the levels of remuneration of other workers. Individual salaries are confidential and not transparent or accessible to the public. The report indicated that in 2019, in the Federation of Bosnia and Herzegovina, the Sarajevo canton published the Register of Public Sector Employees in the canton.
- c. sufficient measurable progress in respect of the obligation to promote the right to equal pay was not achieved. The ECSR noted that it is estimated that women earn 78% to 85% of a man's salary for the same position.

In the light of the information submitted by Bosnia and Herzegovina in the 142nd session of the Governmental Committee, held from 10 to 12 May 2021, according to which Constitution, entity constitutions and current legislation guarantee women work in all occupations, but women are generally reluctant to take active steps in entrepreneurship due to traditionally divided roles in society, limited support services for women such as child care shortage etc. Gender Action Plans of both entities deal with the creation of public policies that will help overcome obstacles to raise awareness about gender equality and women's empowerment. It should also be noted that in 2019 the Ministry of Civil Rights Affairs of Bosnia and Herzegovina initiated the procedure of denunciation of the Convention of the International Labour Organization (ILO) on Night Work (Women), No.89, from 1948 (Revised), which regulated the prohibition of night work for women. So far, no strategies or measures have been adopted in Bosnia and Herzegovina to ensure wage transparency in the labour market. However, in 2019 the Sarajevo Canton published the first Register of Employees in the Public Sector, which contains data on the net salaries of all employees and appointees in the Canton. It is planned to establish similar registers in other cantons in Federation of Bosnia and Herzegovina, but activities have been slowed down due to the COVID-19 pandemic.

Following a proposal by the Governmental Committee,

Referring to the Declaration on equal pay and opportunities for women and men addressed to all the Council of Europe member States by the Committee of Ministers adopted on 17 March 2021 (CM/Del/Dec(2021)1399/4.2b)

Recommends that Bosnia and Herzegovina:

- eliminate the prohibition for women to work in certain professions;
- pursue and finalise the adoption of measures to improve pay transparency, mainly by allowing job comparisons;
- address the gender pay gap and adopt measures which could include inter alia:
- o obligations for private enterprises to develop action plans and monitor closely equal pay situation:
- o developing further specific national action plans to target adjusted and unadjusted gender pay gap;
- o promoting a gender equality mainstreaming approach in the labour market;
- o reducing vertical segregation in the labour market;
- indicate the decisions and actions taken to comply with this Recommendation in the next report on the Charter provisions concerned.

# Estonia (Article 20 RESC)

- 60. The ECSR concluded that the situation in Estonia was not in conformity with Article 20 (c) of the Charter on the ground that sufficient measurable progress in respect of the obligation to promote the right to equal pay had not been achieved. The ECSR noted that, according to Eurostat data, the gender pay gap stood at 27.7% in 2010, at 26.7% in 2015, at 24.8% in 2016, 24.9% in 2017 and 21.8% in 2018. Gender segregation persists on the occupational level. While women are mostly professionals, service workers, shop and market sales assistants and technicians, and associate professionals, men are mostly craft and related trades workers, plant and machine operators and assemblers and legislators, senior officials and managers. Although the gender pay gap had decreased, it remained very high.
- 61. The Estonian representative submitted that progress could be seen in the decrease of the gender pay gap in Estonia (for example, compared to 2017, when the gender pay gap was 20,9%, it had decreased to 15,6% by 2020). The Estonian Government (in office from 26 January 2021) clearly recognised the need to decrease the gender pay gap in Estonia. It was confirmed both in the Coalition Agreement and in the Government's Action Plan for 2021-2023. The Action Plan also included a task for the Minister of Social Protection to present to the Government amendments to the Gender Equality Act aimed at reducing the gender pay gap by February 2022. These amendments were expected to pay special attention to further increasing pay transparency.
- 62. In the framework of another research project "Reducing Gender Wage Gap" (REGE) (2019-2021) aimed at clarifying further reasons behind the unexplained part of the gender pay gap and providing proposals for further action. In addition, a prototype digital tool for employers to support them in analysing and tackling organisational gender pay gap was to be developed and tested. Its development was still in its early stages, but the key rationale of the tool was to raise awareness on the gender pay gap among and in organisations, by offering employers in a systematic way easily accessible information about pay levels and pay gap in their organisation without any substantial additional administrative burden for them.
- 63. The Governmental Committee adopted by consensus the following draft recommendation:

Draft Recommendation RecChS(2022)... on the application of the European Social Charter by Estonia (period 1 January 2015 to 31 December 2018) (Conclusions 2020)

(Adopted by the Committee of Ministers on ... 2022 at the ... meeting of the Ministers' Deputies)

The Committee of Ministers,

Having regard to the European Social Charter, in particular Part IV thereof;

Whereas the Revised European Social Charter came into force on 1 November 2000 with respect to Estonia;

Whereas the Government of Estonia submitted in 2020 its 18th report on the application of the Charter of 1961, and whereas this report has been examined in accordance with Articles 24 to 27 of the Charter;

Having examined the Conclusions 2020 of the European Committee of Social Rights (ECSR), adopted in January 2021 and made public in March 2021 and available to all the parties, and the report of the Governmental Committee appointed under Article 27 of the Charter;

In the light of the fact that the ECSR concluded that the situation in Estonia was not in conformity with Article 20 (c) of the Charter on the ground that sufficient measurable progress in respect of the obligation to promote the right to equal pay was not achieved. The ECSR noted that, according to Eurostat data, the gender pay gap stood at 27.7% in 2010, at 26.7% in 2015, at 24.8% in 2016, 24.9% in 2017 and 21.8% in 2018. Gender segregation persists on occupational level. While women are mostly professionals, service workers and shop and market sales assistants and technicians and associate professionals, men are mostly craft and related trades workers, plant and machine operators and assemblers and legislators, senior officials and managers. Although the gender pay gap decreased, it still remained very high.

In the light of the information submitted by Estonia in the 142nd session of the Governmental Committee, held from 10 to 12 May 2021, according to which a constant progress can be seen in the decrease of the gender pay gap in Estonia (for example, compared to 2017, when the gender pay gap was 20,9%, it had decreased to 15,6% by 2020). The Government (in office from 26th of January 2021) clearly recognises the need to decrease gender pay gap in Estonia. It is confirmed both in the Coalition Agreement and in the Government's Action Plan for 2021-2023. The Action Plan includes also a task for the Minister of Social Protection to present to the Government by February 2022 amendments to the Gender Equality Act aimed at reducing the gender pay gap. The amendments are expected to pay a special attention on further increasing of pay transparency.

In the framework of another three-year (2019-2021) research project "Reducing Gender Wage Gap" (REGE) aimed at clearing up further reasons behind the unexplained part of the gender pay gap and providing proposals for further action, also a prototype of a digital tool for employers to support analysing and tackling organisational gender pay gap will be developed and tested. The development is still in the early stages, but the key rationale of the tool is to raise awareness on the gender pay gap among and in organisations, by offering employers in a systematic way easily accessible information about pay levels and pay gap in their organisation without a remarkable additional administrative burden for them.

Following a proposal by the Governmental Committee,

Referring to the Declaration on equal pay and opportunities for women and men addressed to all the Council of Europe member States by the Committee of Ministers adopted on 17 March 2021 (CM/Del/Dec(2021)1399/4.2b)

## Recommends that Estonia:

- address the gender pay gap and adopt measures which could include inter alia:
- o obligations for private enterprises to monitor closely equal pay situation and take measures to reduce gender pay gap;
- o developing further gender mainstreaming and strategic approach to target adjusted and unadjusted gender pay gap;
- o promoting a gender equality mainstreaming approach in the labour market;
- o reducing horizontal and vertical segregation in the labour market;

- o combatting stereotypes in the labour market;
- indicate the decisions and actions taken to comply with this Recommendation in the next report on the Charter provisions concerned.

# Georgia (Article 20 RESC)

- 64. The ECSR concluded that the situation in Georgia was not in conformity with Article 20 (c) of the Charter on the ground that there was no explicit statutory guarantee of equal pay for women and men for equal work or work of equal value and that sufficient measurable progress in respect of the obligation to promote the right to equal pay had not been achieved. The ECSR noted that it was estimated that women earn 37.7% less than a man's salary for the same position.
- 65. The representative of Georgia explained the national situation and referred to the fact that some changes to the Labour Code had been introduced in 2019 to strengthen the legal framework and to include the obligation for the employer to monitor equal remuneration.
- 66. The Governmental Committee adopted by consensus the following draft recommendation:

# Draft Recommendation RecChS(2022)... on the application of the European Social Charter by Georgia (period 1 January 2015 to 31 December 2018) (Conclusions 2020)

(Adopted by the Committee of Ministers on ... 2022 at the ... meeting of the Ministers' Deputies)

The Committee of Ministers,

Having regard to the European Social Charter, in particular Part IV thereof;

Whereas the Revised European Social Charter came into force on 1 October 2005 with respect to Georgia.

Whereas the Government of Georgia submitted in 2020 its 14th report on the application of the Charter, and whereas this report has been examined in accordance with Articles 24 to 27 of the Charter;

Having examined the Conclusions 2020 of the European Committee of Social Rights (ECSR), adopted in January 2021 and made public in March 2021 and available to all the parties, and the report of the Governmental Committee appointed under Article 27 of the Charter;

In the light of the fact that the ECSR concluded that the situation in Georgia was not in conformity with Article 20 (c) of the Charter on the grounds that:

a. there was no explicit statutory guarantee of equal pay for women and men for equal work or work of equal value. The ECSR noted that the new Law on Remuneration in the Public Service provides for equal pay for women and men for "equal work", not for "work of equal or comparable value". It noted that this wording is narrower than the principle in the Charter.

b. sufficient measurable progress in respect of the obligation to promote the right to equal pay was not achieved. The ECSR noted that it is estimated that women earn 37.7% less than a man's salary for the same position.

In the light of the information submitted by Georgia in the 142nd session of the Governmental Committee, held from 10 to 12 May 2021, according to which a number of amendments were made to the Georgian Labour legislation. On 29 September 2020, the Parliament of Georgia voted for amendments to the Organic Law of Georgia "Georgian Labour Code" and adoption of the new Law of Georgia on "Labour Inspection". The amendments include prohibition of direct and indirect discrimination, the list of grounds for discrimination was extended and a provision on equal pay for equal work was introduced. Recent amendments to the Labour Code of Georgia determine the obligation of the employer to provide equal remuneration for men and women for equal work. In addition, the Code defines that discrimination is prohibited, including in relation to remuneration.

Following a proposal by the Governmental Committee,

Referring to the Declaration on equal pay and opportunities for women and men addressed to all the Council of Europe member States by the Committee of Ministers adopted on 17 March 2021 (CM/Del/Dec(2021)1399/4.2b)

## Recommends that Georgia:

- take steps to finalise the adoption of legislation to ensure the explicit statutory guarantee of equal pay for women and men for equal work or work of equal value;
- reinforce existing measures aimed at reducing and eliminating the gender pay gap and consider adopting new measures which could include inter alia:
- o encouraging private enterprises to develop action plans and promote equal pay;
- o promoting a gender equality mainstreaming approach in the labour market;
- o reducing vertical segregation in the labour market;
- indicate the decisions and actions taken to comply with this Recommendation in the next report on the Charter provisions concerned.

## **Hungary (Article 20 RESC)**

- 67. The ECSR concluded that the situation in Hungary was not in conformity with Article 20 of the Charter on the ground that there was no explicit statutory guarantee of equal pay for women and men for equal work or work of equal value.
- 68. The Hungarian representative referred to its own domestic legislation, which protects against discrimination and to the fact that the EU had regulations and directives on this issue that were directly applicable in Hungary. The Hungarian representative stated that Hungary complied with the Article 20 of the Charter and disagreed with the conclusion.
- 69. The Governmental Committee proceeded to vote and adopted the following draft recommendation (22 votes in favour, 5 against and 3 abstentions):

Draft Recommendation RecChS(2022)... on the application of the European Social Charter by Hungary (period 1 January 2015 to 31 December 2018) (Conclusions 2020)

(Adopted by the Committee of Ministers on ... 2022 at the ... meeting of the Ministers' Deputies)

The Committee of Ministers,

Having regard to the European Social Charter, in particular Part IV thereof;

Whereas the Revised European Social Charter came into force on 1 June 2009 with respect to Hungary;

Whereas the Government of Hungary submitted in 2020 its17th report on the application of the Charter, and whereas this report has been examined in accordance with Articles 24 to 27 of the Charter;

Having examined the Conclusions 2020 of the European Committee of Social Rights (ECSR), adopted in January 2021 and made public in March 2021 and available to all the parties, and the report of the Governmental Committee appointed under Article 27 of the Charter;

In the light of the fact that the ECSR concluded that the situation in Hungary was not in conformity with Article 20 (c) of the Charter on the ground that there was no explicit statutory guarantee of equal pay for women and men for equal work or work of equal value. The ECSR noted that the Constitution, which was adopted on 25 April 2011 and entered into force on 1 January 2012) provides for a general prohibition of discrimination and the promotion of equal opportunities. The Equal Treatment Act (Act CXXV on Equal Treatment and Promotion of Equal Opportunities of 2003) prohibits direct and indirect pay discrimination and refers to the Labour Code. The Labour Code stipulates that regarding employment relationships, particularly pay, the principle of equal treatment must be strictly observed. However, the legislation does not explicitly provide for equal pay for men and women for "equal work" or for "work of equal value".

In the light of the information submitted by Hungary in the 142nd session of the Governmental Committee, held from 10 to 12 May 2021, according to which Hungary has fully transposed EU law into its national law, mainly through the constitutional framework, the laws on equal treatment and the Labour Code. In addition to the rules mentioned there, Paragraph 1 of Article 5 of the Labour Code states that the provisions shall be interpreted in accordance with the legal order of Hungary and the European Union. This framework provision specifically ensures the practical implementation of EU principles in line with the Charter. The Labour Code lays down, as a general principle, the requirement of equal treatment in relation to pay for work. In addition, the detailed conditions for the application of the requirement of equal treatment are laid down in the Act (125 of 2003) on Equal Treatment and Promotion of Equal Opportunities, which clearly sets out the obligation to respect this requirement between men and women. The legislation in force in Hungary, including the EU legal norms, provides for the requirement of the equal treatment regarding the labour remuneration for men and women.

Following a proposal by the Governmental Committee,

Referring to the Declaration on equal pay and opportunities for women and men addressed to all the Council of Europe member States by the Committee of Ministers adopted on 17 March 2021 (CM/Del/Dec(2021)1399/4.2b)

# Recommends that Hungary:

- strengthen the statutory guarantee of equal pay for women and men for equal work or work of equal value and introduce amendments in relevant laws as necessary:
- indicate the decisions and actions taken to comply with this Recommendation in the next report on the Charter provisions concerned.

# Montenegro (Article 20 RESC)

- 70. The ECSR concluded that the situation in Montenegro was not in conformity with Article 20 of the Charter on the ground that women were not permitted to work in all professions which constituted discrimination based on sex.
- 71. The representative of Montenegro explained that the new Labour Code that came into force on January 2020 eliminated this discrimination.
- 72. A discussion followed, establishing that the situation appeared to have been remedied and that no recommendation with respect to Montenegro was necessary.

# Latvia (Article 20 RESC)

- 73. The ECSR concluded that the situation in Latvia was not in conformity with Article 20 (c) of the Charter on the ground that sufficient measurable progress in respect of the obligation to promote the right to equal pay had not been achieved. The ECSR noted that, according to Eurostat data, the gender pay gap stood at 15.5% in 2010, at 18.4% in 2015, 19.7% in 2016, 19.8% in 2017 and 19.6% in 2018. The EU average in 2018 was 15% (data published on 29 October 2020). The overall earnings gap in 2014 was 22.8%. Although lower that the EU average, the gender pay gap had increased in recent years and remained very high.
- The Latvian representative submitted that there were sectors where noticeable 74. dominance of one gender existed, like in construction, transport, storage, information and communication services, and agriculture, forestry, fishery, industrial and energy sectors. According to the provisions of the Labour Law, an employer had the obligation to specify equal remuneration for men and women for the same kind of work or work of equal value. In case of violation of this obligation, the State Labour Inspectorate imposed an administrative penalty (a fine) on the employer and requested to stop such violations. In addition, according to the Labour Law, the employee had the right to request a remuneration corresponding to what the employer normally paid for the same work or for work of equal value. Since 1 June 2019, three sectoral general agreements (construction; fiberglass; hospitality) had been concluded, which envisaged setting minimum monthly wages or hourly tariff rates within the said sectors. In this way, the establishment of equal pay was promoted in collective agreements, providing for a minimum wage threshold to be ensured for employees. At the national level there were proposals on reducing the gender pay gap, on ensuring work-life balance, on promoting women in decision-making positions, etc. Gender equality issues had been implemented in many of policy priorities since 2016. A plan to promote equal rights and opportunities for women and men for 2021-2023 had been developed. The aim of the plan was to promote an integrated, targeted and effective policy ensuring equal rights and opportunities for women and men. The plan set out four directions of action: tackling gender-based violence; promoting gender equality in the labour market;

tackling gender stereotypes; and strengthening gender mainstreaming in sectoral policies. A training programme for managers and specialists at different levels was made available from year 2018 until 2022 to promote knowledge and understanding of diversity management and its importance for employers.

75. The Governmental Committee adopted by consensus the following draft recommendation:

Draft Recommendation RecChS(2022)... on the application of the European Social Charter by Latvia (period 1 January 2015 to 31 December 2018) (Conclusions 2020)

(Adopted by the Committee of Ministers on ... 2022 at the ... meeting of the Ministers' Deputies)

The Committee of Ministers,

Having regard to the European Social Charter, in particular Part IV thereof;

Whereas the Revised European Social Charter came into force on 1 May 2013 with respect to Latvia:

Whereas the Government of Latvia submitted in 2020 its 7th report on the application of the Charter, and whereas this report has been examined in accordance with Articles 24 to 27 of the Charter;

Having examined the Conclusions 2020 of the European Committee of Social Rights (ECSR), adopted in January 2021 and made public in March 2021 and available to all the parties, and the report of the Governmental Committee appointed under Article 27 of the Charter:

In the light of the fact that the ECSR concluded that the situation in Latvia was not in conformity with Article 20 (c) of the Charter on the ground that sufficient measurable progress in respect of the obligation to promote the right to equal pay was not achieved. The ECSR noted that, according to Eurostat data, the gender pay gap stood at 15.5% in 2010, at 18.4% in 2015, 19.7% in 2016, 19.8% in 2017 and 19.6% in 2018. The EU 28 average in 2018 was 15% (data published on 29 October 2020). The overall earnings gap in 2014 was 22.8%. The gender pay gap increased and remained very high.

In the light of the information submitted by Latvia in the 142nd session of the Governmental Committee, held from 10 to 12 May 2021, according to which there are sectors where noticeable dominance of one gender exists, like in construction, transport, storage, information and communication services, and agriculture, forestry, fishery, industrial and energy sectors. The issue of equal pay is important not only in Latvia. According to the provisions of the Labour Law, an employer has the obligation to specify equal remuneration for men and women for the same kind of work or work of equal value. In case of violation of this obligation, the State Labour Inspectorate imposes an administrative penalty (a fine) on employer and requests to prevent the violation. In addition, according to the Labour Law the employee has the right to request the remuneration that the employer normally pays for the same work or for work of equal value. Since 1 June 2019, three sectoral general agreements (construction; fiberglass; hospitality) have been concluded, which envisage setting minimum monthly wages or hourly tariff rates within the sectors. In this way, the establishment of equal pay in collective agreements is promoted, providing for a minimum wage threshold to be

ensured for employees. At the national level there are proposals on reducing gender pay, work-life balance, on women in decision-making, etc. Gender equality issues have been implemented in many of policy priorities since 2016. A plan to promote equal rights and opportunities for women and men for 2021-2023 was developed. The aim of the plan is to promote an integrated, targeted and effective policy ensuring equal rights and opportunities for women and men. The plan sets out four directions of action: tackling gender-based violence; promoting gender equality in the labour market; tackling gender stereotypes; strengthening gender mainstreaming in sectoral policies. A training programme for managers and specialists at different levels was made available from year 2018-2022 to promote knowledge and understanding of diversity management and its importance to employers.

Following a proposal by the Governmental Committee,

Referring to the Declaration on equal pay and opportunities for women and men addressed to all the Council of Europe member States by the Committee of Ministers adopted on 17 March 2021 (CM/Del/Dec(2021)1399/4.2b)

#### Recommends that Latvia:

- address the gender pay gap and adopt measures which could include inter alia:
- o encouraging social partners and entreprises to monitor equal pay situation;
- o developing further national action plans to target gender pay gap;
- o promoting a gender equality mainstreaming approach in the labour market;
- indicate the decisions and actions taken to comply with this Recommendation in the next report on the Charter provisions concerned.

# Lithuania (Article 20 RESC)

- 76. The ECSR concluded that the situation in Lithuania was not in conformity with Article 20 (c) of the Charter on the ground that sufficient measurable progress in respect of the obligation to promote the right to equal pay had not been achieved. It was noted that the government had made efforts to reduce the gender pay gap and had taken measures to raise awareness through gender mainstreaming. Nevertheless, the ECSR observed that the gender pay gap, as an indicator of the effectiveness of these measures, had not changed in a significant manner in the years covered by the current cycle and had even gone up. The gender pay gap persisted and, although slightly below the EU average, remained high.
- 77. The Lithuanian representative presented recent progress and indicated that they continued to work on the matter.
- 78. The Governmental Committee adopted by consensus the following draft recommendation:

Draft Recommendation RecChS(2022)... on the application of the European Social Charter by Lithuania (period 1 January 2015 to 31 December 2018) (Conclusions 2020)

(Adopted by the Committee of Ministers on ... 2022 at the ... meeting of the Ministers' Deputies)

The Committee of Ministers,

Having regard to the European Social Charter, in particular Part IV thereof;

Whereas the Revised European Social Charter came into force on 1 August 2001 with respect to Lithuania;

Whereas the Government of Lithuania submitted in 2020 its 18th report on the application of the Charter, and whereas this report has been examined in accordance with Articles 24 to 27 of the Charter;

Having examined the Conclusions 2020 of the European Committee of Social Rights (ECSR), adopted in January 2021 and made public in March 2021 and available to all the parties, and the report of the Governmental Committee appointed under Article 27 of the Charter;

In the light of the fact that the ECSR concluded that the situation in Lithuania was not in conformity with Article 20 (c) of the Charter on the ground that sufficient measurable progress in respect of the obligation to promote the right to equal pay was not achieved. The ECSR noted that, according to Eurostat data, the unadjusted gender pay gap was 14.2% in 2015 and 14.4% in 2016. In 2018, the gender pay gap stood at 14% (data published on 29th October 2020). The gender overall earnings gap in Lithuania was 19.2% in 2014, which is the most recent available figure (the average overall earnings gap in the EU was 39.8%). The ECSR noted that the Government made efforts to reduce the gender pay gap but it has not changed in a significant manner and has even come up. The gender pay gap is persistent and, although slightly below the EU average, it remained high.

In the light of the information submitted by Lithuania in the 142nd session of the Governmental Committee, held from 10 to 12 May 2021, according to which in 2019, the gender pay gap decreased in all age groups. The State Labour Inspectorate is taking certain measures to reduce the gender pay gap and conducts inspections in institutions to determine the causes of the pay gap between men and women. In February 2020, the State Labour Inspectorate inspected twenty financial and insurance institutions in order to determine the reasons for the large pay gap between men and women. During the unscheduled inspections, the thematic report "To determine the causes of the large pay gap between men and women in financial and insurance institutions" was completed. Inspections showed that the remuneration systems approved by the institutions do not allow for direct discrimination on the grounds of sex. However, although no direct discrimination on grounds of sex has been identified, it should be noted that some pay systems have sufficiently high pay rates between the minimum and maximum pay (pay slots) for the same category of workers and the practice that all pay decisions determination adopted by the immediate supervisor may give rise to discrimination on the basis of sex and / or other grounds. In 2019, the gender pay gap stood at 12.4%. It is influenced by social and economic rather than legal factors - number of men and women in particular economic activity, their occupation, education, age, length of service and other reasons.

Following a proposal by the Governmental Committee,

Referring to the Declaration on equal pay and opportunities for women and men addressed to all the Council of Europe member States by the Committee of Ministers adopted on 17 March 2021 (CM/Del/Dec(2021)1399/4.2b)

Recommends that Lithuania:

- reinforce existing measures aimed at reducing and eliminating the gender pay gap and consider adopting any new measures that may bring about measurable progress within reasonable time in this respect;
- pursue and finalise the adoption of measures to combat stereotypes
- reduce vertical segregation in the labour market;
- indicate the decisions and actions taken to comply with this Recommendation in the next report on the Charter provisions concerned.

# Malta (Article 20 RESC)

- 79. The ECSR concluded that the situation in situation in Malta was not in conformity with Article 20 (c) of the Charter on the ground that sufficient measurable progress in respect of the obligation to promote the right to equal pay had not been achieved. The ECSR noted that, according to Eurostat data, the gender pay gap stood at 10.7% in 2015, 11.6% in 2016, 13.2% in 2017 and 13% in 2018 (compared to 9.2% in 2008). It noted that this gap was less than the EU average, i.e., 15% in 2018 (data as of 29 October 2020), but that it showed an upward trend.
- 80. The representative of Malta was not present at the meetings of the Governmental Committee.
- 81. The Governmental Committee adopted by consensus the following draft recommendation:

Recommendation RecChS(2022)... on the application of the European Social Charter by Malta (period 1 January 2015 to 31 December 2018) (Conclusions 2020)

(Adopted by the Committee of Ministers on ... 2022 at the ... meeting of the Ministers' Deputies)

The Committee of Ministers,

Having regard to the European Social Charter, in particular Part IV thereof;

Whereas the Revised European Social Charter came into force on 1 September 2005 with respect to Malta;

Whereas the Government of Malta submitted in 2020 its 14th report on the application of the Charter, and whereas this report has been examined in accordance with Articles 24 to 27 of the Charter:

Having examined the Conclusions 2020 of the European Committee of Social Rights (ECSR), adopted in January 2021 and made public in March 2021 and available to all the parties, and the report of the Governmental Committee appointed under Article 27 of the Charter;

In the light of the fact that the ECSR concluded that the situation in Malta was not in conformity with Article 20 (c) of the Charter on the ground that sufficient measurable progress in respect of the obligation to promote the right to equal pay was not achieved. The ECSR noted that, according to Eurostat data, the gender pay gap stood at 10.7% in 2015.

11.6% in 2016, 13.2% in 2017 and 13% in 2018 (compared to 9.2% in 2008). It noted that this gap was less than the average for the European Union countries, i.e., 15% in 2018 (data as of 29 October 2020). However, it showed an upward trend.

No information was submitted by Malta in the 142nd session of the Governmental Committee.

Following a proposal by the Governmental Committee,

Referring to the Declaration on equal pay and opportunities for women and men addressed to all the Council of Europe member States by the Committee of Ministers adopted on 17 March 2021 (CM/Del/Dec(2021)1399/4.2b)

#### Recommends that Malta:

- collect updated information on statistical data on the remuneration of men and women in the public and private sectors, disaggregated by economic activity and profession;
- address the gender pay gap and adopt measures which could include inter alia:
- o obligations for private enterprises to develop action plans and monitor closely equal pay situation;
- o developing further specific national action plans to target adjusted and unadjusted gender pay gap
- promoting a gender equality mainstreaming approach in the labour market;
- o reducing vertical segregation in the labour market;
- o combatting stereotypes in the labour market;
- indicate the decisions and actions taken to comply with this Recommendation in the next report on the Charter provisions concerned.

## The Netherlands (Article 20 RESC)

- 82. The ECSR concluded that the situation in the Netherlands was not in conformity with Article 20(c) of the Charter on the ground that pay transparency was not guaranteed. The report took into account the fact that a bill had been introduced in Parliament in March 2019.
- 83. The representative of the Netherlands explained that the bill had been modified and was not yet into force. Nevertheless, the Netherlands had received a specific CM recommendation on this particular point.
- 84. The Governmental Committee considered that it was not necessary to vote on a recommendation.

## **North Macedonia (Article 20 RESC)**

- 85. The ECSR concluded that the situation in North Macedonia was not in conformity with Article 20 (c) of the Charter on the ground that the obligation to make measurable progress in reducing the gender pay gap had not been fulfilled.
- 86. The ECSR noted the information published in the European Commission staff working document (SWD(2019) 218 final of 25 May 2019), according to which the private-sector gender pay gap in 2018 was 39.2%. However, according to the same source, there

was no difference in salaries between women and men in the public sector. The ECSR also noted from the National Employment Strategy established by the Ministry of Labour and Social Policy for the period 2016-2020 that the gender pay gap (between women and men working in the same sector with the same education, professional experience, etc.) was 17.5% in 2013. Lastly, the ECSR noted that in its "Concluding Observations on the sixth periodic report of the former Yugoslav Republic of Macedonia" (CEDAW/C/MKD/CO/6, 2018, paragraph 35), the Committee on the Elimination of Discrimination against Women had expressed concern about the wide gender pay gap and its prevalence in sectors such as the garment industry.

- 87. The representative of North Macedonia referred to new developments and indicators, which showed, in the opinion of the Macedonian authorities, sufficient measurable progress.
- 88. A debate followed and the Governmental Committee proceeded to a vote on the following draft recommendation which was adopted (23 votes in favour, 10 against, 5 abstentions):

Draft Recommendation RecChS(2022)... on the application of the European Social Charter by North Macedonia (period 1 January 2015 to 31 December 2018) (Conclusions 2020)

(Adopted by the Committee of Ministers on ... 2022 at the ... meeting of the Ministers' Deputies)

The Committee of Ministers,

Having regard to the European Social Charter, in particular Part IV thereof;

Whereas the Revised European Social Charter came into force on 1 March 2012 with respect to North Macedonia;

Whereas the Government of North Macedonia submitted in 2020 its 8th report on the application of the Charter, and whereas this report has been examined in accordance with Articles 24 to 27 of the Charter;

Having examined the Conclusions 2020 of the European Committee of Social Rights (ECSR), adopted in January 2021 and made public in March 2021 and available to all the parties, and the report of the Governmental Committee appointed under Article 27 of the Charter;

In the light of the fact that the ECSR concluded that the situation in North Macedonia was not in conformity with Article 20 (c) of the Charter on the ground that sufficient measurable progress in respect of the obligation to promote the right to equal pay was not achieved. The Committee took note that the report referred to the existing gender pay gap, which was the object of targeted strategies and was, according to the Ministry of Labour and Social Policy, of 17%.5 in 2013 and during the rest of the reference period.

In the light of the information submitted by North Macedonia in the 142nd session of the Governmental Committee, held from 10 to 12 May 2021, according to which the existence of the wide gap between the employment rate of men and women is a very long-lasting issue and a challenge. It is related, for example to the traditional role of the woman in society and her responsibilities in the household, providing care for the family, children, the elderly etc.

There are a lot of efforts aiming to tackle this specific challenge, through implementation of specific policies, programmes and measures. In this respect one of the several main objectives related to the labour market and included in the national ESRP (Employment and Social Reform Programme) 2022 is the "Promotion of integration of women in the labour market and reducing the gender gap", accompanied with specific measured and programmes. Although the issue of existing gender differences, represents still a significant and very important challenge for the country and its labour market, there are certain improvements in the situation. The Ministry of Labour and Social Policy is working intensively with social partners and other stakeholders on the preparation of the brand-new Law on Labour Relations. The new law will bring particular attention to improving the provisions which will continue to ensure equality between women and men in all segments, and particularly the principle of equal pay for work of equal value. And that will be different from the existing one, i.e. equal pay for equal work. Policy measures are also taken. The gender pay gap in the Republic of North Macedonia was about 18-19% with no significant shift detected between 2011 and 2014, but it has been drastically reduced, as the latest estimation for the gender pay gap is of 8.8% (as of 2019).

Following a proposal by the Governmental Committee,

Referring to the Declaration on equal pay and opportunities for women and men addressed to all the Council of Europe member States by the Committee of Ministers adopted on 17 March 2021 (CM/Del/Dec(2021)1399/4.2b)

#### Recommends that North Macedonia:

- reinforce existing effective measures to reduce further and eliminate the gender pay gap and consider adopting any new measures that may bring about measurable progress within reasonable time in this respect;
- collect updated information on statistical data on the remuneration of men and women in the public and private sectors, disaggregated by economic activity and profession;
- pursue and finalise the adoption of measures to reduce stereotypes in the labour market
- reduce vertical segregation in the labour market;
- indicate the decisions and actions taken to comply with this Recommendation in the next report on the provisions concerned.

## Russian Federation (Article 20 RESC)

89. The ECSR concluded that the situation in the Russian Federation was not in conformity with Article 20 (c) of the Charter on the grounds that: a. women were not permitted to work in all professions, which constitutes discrimination based on sex. The ECSR noted that a list of 456 jobs were restricted for women; b. the legislation did not provide for a shift in the burden of proof in gender pay discrimination cases; c. sufficient measurable progress in respect of the obligation to promote the right to equal pay had not been achieved. The ECSR noted that, according to data from Rosstat, the ratio of women's wages to men's wages was 71.7% in October 2017 (compared with 72.6% in October 2015 and 74.2% in October 2013). The pay gap between women and men was explained by the higher proportion of women in the sectors of the economy in which pay was lower. The report indicated that in 2017, depending on the occupational group, the gender pay gap varied: for executives (32.2%); for specialists with the highest level of qualification (29.4%); for specialists with a medium level of qualification (41.4%).

- 90. The Russian representative submitted that under the Ministry of Labour Order No. 512 of 18 July 2019, a list of production processes, jobs and occupations with harmful and/or hazardous working conditions in which the use of women's labour was restricted had been approved with a view to replacing the existing list of physically demanding jobs and jobs with harmful or hazardous working conditions in which the use of women's labour is prohibited, which had been approved pursuant to Government Decision No. 162 of 25 February 2000. The new list contained 100 approved prohibited jobs instead of 456 in the previous one. The said Order entered into force on 1 January 2021.
- 91. The representative of the Russian Federation opposed in general the adoption of recommendations as done here and questioned the procedure followed (see also para. 17). He requested postponing the examination of the proposals for recommendations, arguing that the relevant documents and draft recommendations had been submitted too late. This position was supported by the representatives of North Macedonia and Serbia.
- 92. The Chair recalled that it had been unanimously agreed at the 142nd meeting to prepare draft texts and that this was to be seen as a way to facilitate the Governmental Committee's work, given that it had decided on the adoption of recommendations without relying on a draft text. He suggested to follow Article 13§2 of the Rules of Procedure regarding procedural questions and to vote accordingly. As a result, 21 representatives voted in favour of considering the distributed draft texts and proceeding to voting on the proposals for recommendations, and 13 representatives voted against. Since procedural questions were decided by a simple majority of votes cast (only votes "for" or "against" are regarded as "cast", see Article 13§3 of the Rules of Procedure), the Governmental Committee therefore decided to proceed with the vote on the proposals for recommendations.
- 93. The ETUC representative regretted that discussions had not dealt with the substance. He added that the Governmental Committee had followed its rules in the sense that no document had been submitted in advance ever since the beginning of the Charter system. He stressed that it was significant that the Governmental Committee was discussing 27 cases on a crucial aspect of Article 20 (c) of the Charter. All representatives discussed and agreed by consensus that recommendations were to be prepared and instructed the Secretariat to draft them, which had never been done before. While he regretted that the drafts were not submitted sufficiently ahead of the meeting, he considered that the real question was how this development was going to be valued. Discussions could continue after this meeting at a bilateral level.
- 94. The Governmental Committee subsequently voted on the following draft recommendation with respect to the Russian Federation which was adopted with 24 votes in favour, 9 against and 1 abstention:

Draft Recommendation RecChS(2022)... on the application of the European Social Charter by the Russian Federation (period 1 January 2015 to 31 December 2018) (Conclusions 2020)

(Adopted by the Committee of Ministers on ... 2022 at the ... meeting of the Ministers' Deputies)

The Committee of Ministers,

Having regard to the European Social Charter, in particular Part IV thereof;

Whereas the Revised European Social Charter came into force on 1 December 2009 with respect to the Russian Federation;

Whereas the Government of the Russian Federation submitted in 2020 its 10th report on the application of the Charter, and whereas this report has been examined in accordance with Articles 24 to 27 of the Charter:

Having examined the Conclusions 2020 of the European Committee of Social Rights (ECSR), adopted in January 2021 and made public in March 2021 and available to all the parties, and the report of the Governmental Committee appointed under Article 27 of the Charter;

In the light of the fact that the ECSR concluded that the situation in the Russian Federation was not in conformity with Article 20 (c) of the Charter on the grounds that:

- a. women are not permitted to work in all professions, which constitutes discrimination based on sex. The ECSR noted that a list of 456 jobs were restricted for women.
- b. the legislation does not provide for a shift in the burden of proof in gender pay discrimination cases.
- c. sufficient measurable progress in respect of the obligation to promote the right to equal pay was not achieved. The ECSR noted that, according to data from Rosstat, the ratio of women's wages to men's wages was 71.7% in October 2017 (compared with 72.6% in October 2015 and 74.2% in October 2013). The wage gap between women and men is explained by the higher proportion of women in the sectors of the economy in which pay is lower. The report indicated that, depending on the occupational group, in 2017 the gender pay gap varied: for executives (32.2%); for specialists with the highest level of qualification (29.4%); for specialists with a medium level of qualification (41.4%).

In the light of the information submitted by Russian Federation in the 142nd session of the Governmental Committee, held from 10 to 12 May 2021, according to which under the Ministry of Labour Order No. 512 of 18 July 2019, a list of production processes, jobs and occupations with harmful and/or hazardous working conditions in which the use of women's labour is restricted was approved to replace the existing list of physically demanding jobs and jobs with harmful or hazardous working conditions in which the use of women's labour is prohibited, which was approved pursuant to Government Decision No. 162 of 25 February 2000. The new list contains 100 approved prohibited jobs instead of 456 in the previous one. The Order entered into force on 1 January 2021.

Following a proposal by the Governmental Committee,

Referring to the Declaration on equal pay and opportunities for women and men addressed to all the Council of Europe member States by the Committee of Ministers adopted on 17 March 2021 (CM/Del/Dec(2021)1399/4.2b)

Recommends that the Russian Federation:

- pursue and finalise the adoption of measures to eliminate all prohibition for women to work in certain professions;
- provide for a shift in the burden of proof in gender pay discrimination cases;
- address the gender pay gap and adopt measures which could include inter alia:

- o obligations for private enterprises to develop action plans and monitor closely equal pay situation;
- o developing further specific national action plans to target adjusted and unadjusted gender pay gap
- o promoting a gender equality mainstreaming approach in the labour market to contribute actively to closing the gender pay gap
- reducing vertical segregation in the labour market;
- indicate the decisions and actions taken to comply with this Recommendation in the next report on the Charter provisions concerned.

## Serbia (Article 20 RESC)

- 95. The ECSR concluded that the situation in Serbia was not in conformity with Article 20 (c) of the Charter on the ground that it had not been established that the right to compensation was provided for in gender pay discrimination cases.
- 96. The representative of Serbia argued that the right to adequate compensation was provided for and presented the following information:

"By the first instance verdict of the High Court in Belgrade P1 356/14 of 5/11/2015, under the first paragraph of the sentence, it is allowed to reverse the action. Under the second paragraph of the ruling it is established that the defendant acted in a discriminatory manner towards the plaintiffs, by not paying them a one-time financial assistance for socially endangered persons, former employees of HK "Vojin Popović" ad Novi Pazar. According to the third paragraph of the ruling, the defendant is obliged to pay the plaintiffs the amount of 464,000.00 dinars in the name of material damage, with the legal default interest from March 18, 2011 until payment. Under the fourth paragraph of the ruling the costs of the litigation in the amount of 455,620.00 dinars are awarded to the plaintiffs.

Under the judgment of the Court of Appeals in Belgrade Gž1 678/16 of 12/5/2017in the first paragraph of the dictum, the appeal of the defendant was rejected as unfounded and the judgment of the High Court in Belgrade P1 356/14 of 5/11/2015 was confirmed. In the second paragraph of the ruling, the defendant's request for reimbursement of the costs of the second-instance procedure was rejected.

The defendant declared a timely and allowed revision against the final judgment rendered in the second instance, due to the wrong application of the substantive law.

The Supreme Court of Cassation examined the challenged judgment after the revision of the defendant in terms of Article 399 of the Law on Civil Procedure ("Official Gazette of RS", No. 125/04 and 111/09), so it found that it was not founded..

In the conducted procedure, no significant violation of the provision of civil procedure from Article 361, paragraph 2, item 9 of the Law on Civil Procedure was committed, which the Supreme Court of Cassation monitors ex officio.

According to the established facts, the plaintiffs were employed in HK "Vojin Popović" a.d. Novi Pazar until 30/11/2005, when bankruptcy was opened against the employer. By the conclusion of the Government of RS from 21/1/2011. The allocation of one-time financial assistance for socially endangered persons, former employees of the said company, was approved, and the realization of that conclusion was entrusted to the Ministry of Labor and Social Policy and the Ministry of Economy and Regional Development, which determined the circle of persons covered by that conclusion. The funds for the payment of financial aid were transferred to the City of Novi Pazar, which made the payment to the end users. The payment was made in favor of 257 former employees in the amount

of 465,000.00 dinars each, on March 18, 2011. year, according to the list compiled by the union Nezavisnost Holding Vojin Popovic, which was submitted to the designated ministries. From the contents of the list from 13.01.2011. It follows that the plaintiffs are not included as beneficiaries of one-time assistance, but as persons who do not need to be paid compensation, because they are former managers who are responsible for the bankruptcy of HK "Vojin Popović" a.d. Novi Pazar and that in case of payment in their favor that would have caused dissatisfaction and further complications. According to the testimony of the heard witnesses, the union submitted a list without the names of the plaintiffs to the ministry at the initiative of the employees, because they allegedly brought the company into bankruptcy. From the contents of the minutes from the meeting held on February 28, 2011. in the Ministry of Economy and Regional Development, it follows that the Privatization Agency was asked to submit a list of employees at HK "Vojin Popović" a.d. Novi Pazar on the day of the opening of the bankruptcy, and that it was answered that the agency does not have that information, so at the same meeting of the representatives of the ministries it was agreed to accept the list submitted by the Strike Committee of the trade union Nezavisnost.

Based on the previously established factual situation, the lower courts conclude that the defendant discriminated against the plaintiffs, by denying the plaintiffs the payment of one-time financial social assistance due to his personal characteristics, according to the Conclusion of the RS Government of January 21, 2011. The defendant is obliged to compensate the plaintiffs for material damage.

According to the assessment of the Supreme Court of Cassation, the revision of the defendant was not founded.

The lower courts correctly applied the substantive law from Article 2 of the Law on Prohibition of Discrimination, when they determined that the conduct of the defendant had the character of discrimination against the plaintiffs. By denying the right to a one-time financial compensation according to the Conclusion of the Government of the RS from 21/1/2011, the defendant, as a public authority, violated the principle of equal rights and obligations, which is one of the legally prescribed forms of discrimination under Article 8 of the Law on Prohibition of Discrimination.

Namely, with the mentioned conclusion, the Government of the RS undertook to give former employees in HK "Vojin Popović" a.d. Novi Pazar pays a one-time financial aid, which is paid to all other employees, except the plaintiffs. The stated exclusion of plaintiffs in exercising the right to financial assistance is based on their personal characteristics - the position of former managers of the designated company. The defendant accepted this status of plaintiffs, as a relevant criterion when denying the right to payment, by acting according to the list submitted to him by the Strike Committee of the trade union Nezavisnost, which lists all recipients of assistance. The plaintiffs were not included in this list due to their personal characteristics, which the heard witnesses confirmed in court, stating that there was animosity between the union representatives and the management staff. It follows that in the actions of the defendant (which accepts the principle of restrictions in obtaining financial assistance from the union) there are signs of discrimination, since personal characteristics were the reason for unjustified distinction between plaintiffs and other persons in the same position.

Contrary to the allegations of the revision, the position of the lower courts is correct that the disputed conclusion did not prescribe the payment of benefits exclusively to socially disadvantaged workers (and not all workers), since this provision does not contain such a provision, nor does it contain criteria for determining, according to their social status, are entitled to a one-time financial assistance. In that sense, there was no place for the application of Article 14 of the Law on Prohibition of Discrimination, which prescribes in which cases it is possible to apply unequal treatment with regard to personal characteristics through the determination of special measures (so-called positive discrimination).

The position of the lower courts that the plaintiff is entitled to compensation for the material damage he suffered in connection with the committed discrimination is also correct. The right to

compensation is recognized by Article 43, paragraph 1, item 4 of the Law on Prohibition of Discrimination, and is exercised according to the general rules of causing damage from the Law on Obligations, in order to eliminate harmful consequences in the property of plaintiffs caused by discrimination, and to bring plaintiffs on an equal footing with the persons against whom they have been discriminated against.

For the stated reasons and by applying Article 405, paragraph 1 of the Law on Civil Procedure, it was decided as in the operative part of the judgment under paragraph one.

The decision in paragraph two of the operative part of this judgment was made by the Supreme Court of Cassation by applying Article 401, paragraph 1 of the Law on Civil Procedure. This is stated for the reason that Article 355, paragraph 1 and Article 385, paragraph 1 of the Law on Civil Procedure prescribe that an appeal may be filed against the decision made in the first instance. As the decision on the inadmissibility of the revision was made by the appellate court, as a court of second instance, it follows that an appeal against this decision, as a regular legal remedy, is not allowed."

97. Discussions followed the presentation made by the Serbian representative, and the Governmental Committee proceeded to vote on a recommendation. With 19 votes in favour, 13 against and 6 abstentions, it was not adopted as the required qualified majority of 22 of 43 State Parties had not been reached. A warning was subsequently voted upon and not carried, as the majority of two thirds of votes cast had not been reached (20 votes in favour, 11 against, 7 abstentions).

# Slovak Republic (Article 20 RESC)

- 98. The ECSR concluded that the situation in the Slovak Republic was not in conformity with Article 20 (c) of the Charter on the ground that: a. the legislation explicitly included only certain elements of pay under the principle of equal pay; b. the obligation to make measurable progress in reducing the gender pay gap had not been fulfilled.
- 99. The Slovak representative explained the national situation and considered that there had been sufficient progress. He presented the following information:

### "As regards 1st ground (equal pay for work of equal value)

The Slovak Republic considers the right to equal pay for equal work or work of equal value to be one of the fundamental rights in labour-law relations. That is why this form of non-discrimination if anchored in several pieces of legislation. Most notably in the Labour Code, where Article 119a regulates that wage conditions have to be agreed upon without sex discrimination. Par. 2 states that women and men have the right to equal pay for the same work or work of equal value, in line with the requirements of the relevant EU legislation and the Antidiscrimination Act.

The ECSR has found the Slovak Republic to be in violation with this provision of the Charter by stating that the concept of equal pay for work of equal value excludes severance pay and packages, non-mandatory travel reimbursements, and contributions to social security schemes, supplementary health insurance schemes and supplementary pension funds.

Following the observation of the ECSR, it has to be stated that the level of payments such as severance pay, travel reimbursement, contributions to social security schemes, etc. are set up in direct relation to the wage of the person concerned, e. g. the amount of severance pay granted to a person depends entirely on the person's previous wage. As the wage level has to be agreed upon without sex discrimination, in accordance with the Labour Code, this in turn directly means that the amount of severance pay is also based on this principle. Severance pay is not set up differently for

women and men in the Slovak Republic. Its amount is set up on the basis of the person's previous earnings. The same applies to the other concepts mentioned in the ECSR's conclusions. Contributions to social security schemes, health insurance schemes and pension funds are directly influenced by the person's wage – therefore they fully reflect the principle of equal pay for work of equal value.

Payments such as travel reimbursements or subsistence payments have their amount set up directly by the law. Their amount does not take into consideration the sex of the recipient, the amount is the same for all persons undertaking actions that grant them these payments.

Therefore, the Slovak Republic is of the opinion that the payments mentioned by the ECSR fully reflect the concept of equal pay for work of equal value because their amount is determined by the wage of the recipient, which has to be agreed upon by adhering to the principle of equal pay for work of equal value.

If a person is of the opinion that their wage conditions are discriminatory, they are free to take the case to the court. In cases where any form of discrimination is concerned, and I would like to stress ANY, the burden of proof is shifted to the employer. The employer has to prove that the person who brought the case to the court is not discriminated upon. If the court's ruling states that the person was discriminated, they are entitled to compensation and damages up to 36 times their usual wage (depending on the court's ruling).

With this said, the Slovak Republic is of the opinion that its legislation is in line with the Charter's requirements, as the wage level has to reflect the concept of equal pay for work of equal value and the level of the benefits mentioned depends on the person's wage.

## As regards the 2<sup>nd</sup> ground (equal pay for work of equal value)

The Slovak Republic considers the right to equal pay for equal or work of equal value to be one of the fundamental rights in labour-law relations. That is why it would like to take this opportunity to inform the Committee about the latest development in this area.

Only several days ago, on April 28, 2021, the Government has adopted a new Strategy on Equality between Women and Men for 2021 – 2027 as well as a new Action Plan directly related to the strategy. These policy papers are the result of extensive discussions between the Government and the social partners.

Part No. 4 of the action plan named "Equal Opportunities and Access to the Labour Market, Economic Dependence and Poverty of Women" is devoted to the issue of reducing the wage gap between women and men. Specific tasks that should help reduce the pay gap are the following proposals for measures and solutions to the pay gap between men and women:

- legal analysis of the institute of equal pay;
- ensuring regular supervision of equal treatment of employees in employment relations;
- regular monitoring of compliance with the principle of equality in employment, remuneration and promotion of legal awareness and application of labour law, especially the Labour Code in practice;
- addressing discrimination against women in the pension system;
- granting a so-called special personal wage point to mothers, which results in higher oldage pensions for women.

In order to meet the said goals, since May 2021, a specialised working group made up of the representatives of the Ministry of Labour, Social Affairs and Family, the Ministry of Justice, the Ministry of the Interior, social partners and the representatives of several NGOs has been set up. Its task is to draft and submit to the Government specific measures aimed at reducing the pay gap between women and men by analysing the existing legislation and the proposals submitted by the social partners and NGOs.

In relation to the tasks of the working group, the Slovak National Centre for Human Rights, in close cooperation with the Ministry of Labour, Social Affairs and Family, has started to work on extensive legal analysis of the existing wage gap legislation and is tasked with drafting of legislative proposals to increase the effectivity of the current legislative framework.

Another important new measure is that the National Labour Inspectorate has been granted a new competence related to regular monitoring of the equal treatment between women and men in labour-law relations. So far labour inspectorates would perform inspections related to equal wage based on individual submissions and complaints. Since 2021, the National Labour Inspectorate shall perform nation-wide monitoring of adherence to the equal pay legislation and annually publish reports with proposals aimed at improving the situation.

Starting in summer 2021, a new nationwide information campaign related to the equal pay for work of equal value shall be launched. The aim of the campaign is to support the dissemination of legal information on proper implementation of labour law and equal pay law among the society. The campaign shall also include specific topics related to challenges women have to overcome in practice. The campaign is prepared by the Ministry of Labour, Social Affairs and Family, the National Labour Inspectorate, social partners and NGOs.

In cooperation with the Ministry of Finance, the Ministry of Labour, Social Affairs and Family is preparing a new legislative measure aimed at introducing the so-called special personal wage point. Its aim is to increase the level of old age pension of women who did not work for a certain period of time due to giving birth to a child and then staying home with the child during maternity leave and parental leave. Up to now, these years were not counted towards the level of their old age pension or their entitlement to it. This new legislation aims to remedy this.

These are the most substantive measures aimed at reducing the wage gap between women and men introduced by the Slovak Republic. More detailed information shall be presented in the national report once the measures and initiatives are adopted and launched".

100. The Governmental Committee then proceeded to vote on a recommendation, which was not carried (21 votes in favour, 10 against), as it had not reached the required qualified majority (22 of 43 State Parties). Subsequently, a warning was adopted with 22 votes in favour, 10 against and 7 abstentions.

## Slovenia (Article 20 RESC)

- 101. The ECSR concluded that the situation in Slovenia was not in conformity with Article 20(c) of the Charter on the ground that pay transparency was not ensured.
- 102. The Slovenian representative explained that Slovenia was making progress in this field and that wide consultation was to follow on an EU directive on pay transparency. The issue at hand was part of the proposal for such an EU directive and there was also a CM recommendation of March 2021 dealing with this particular topic.
- 103. The Governmental Committee considered that it was not necessary to vote on a recommendation.

## **Türkiye (Article 20 RESC)**

104. The ECSR concluded that the situation in Türkiye was not in conformity with Article 20 (c) of the Charter on the ground that: a. women were not permitted to work in all

professions; and b. sufficient measurable progress in respect of the obligation to promote the right to equal pay had not been achieved.

105. The Turkish representative explained the national situation and provided the following information:

#### "First ground of non-conformity:

- Women are not permitted to work in all professions, which constitutes discrimination based on sex

According to Article 10 of the Turkish Constitution, men and women have equal rights. All kinds of discrimination in employment is prohibited in accordance with the Article 5 of the Labour Law No. 4857 titled "The Principle of Equal Treatment".

Türkiye has ratified several ILO Conventions such as Underground Work (Women) Convention, 1935 (No. 45), Equal Remuneration Convention, 1951 (No. 100), Discrimination (Employment and

Occupation) Convention, 1958 (No. 111), Employment Policy Convention, 1964 (No. 122), Human Resources Development Convention, 1975 (No. 142), Safety and Health in Construction Convention, 1988 (No. 167), Safety and Health in Mines Convention, 1995 (No. 176) also in line with its efforts to ensure gender equality in employment.

The issue of non-gender discrimination in remuneration is also regulated within the framework of Article 5 of the Labour Law No. 4857 within the scope of the principle of equal treatment, and audits related to this issue are carried out by the Directorate of Guidance and Inspection. According to Article 72 of the Labour Law, "Boys under the age of eighteen and women irrespective of their age must not be employed on underground or underwater work like in mines, cable-laying and the construction of sewers and tunnels." The law aims to protect women from labour intensive mining, but they are employed in surface units, offices and laboratories, also in administrative positions. Thus, women can work in these sectors as long as they fulfil mentioned conditions. Women engineers and technicians can work underground in the scope of research, planning and project designing. University students in Mining Engineering Departments can also go underground during their training.

The scope of this article is coherence to Article 2 and 3 of ILO Convention 45 which indicates that "No female, whatever her age, shall be employed on underground work in any mine." Nevertheless, women holding management positions or performing non-manual work in these sectors are exempt from abovementioned prohibition.

With "the Regulation Amending the Regulation on Heavy and Dangerous Occupations" dated 8th February 2013, many occupations were excluded from the category of heavy and dangerous occupation and thus the limitations on the women and youth employment were abolished.

Law on Occupational Health and Safety, no. 6331 was enacted on 20.06.2012 after published in the Official Gazette dated 30.06.2012, no. 28 339. According to Article 10 of the Law with the headline "Risk assessment, control, measurement and research", employers are obliged to make risk assessment regarding OSH or make the assessment made and consider the situation of vulnerable groups such as young, old, disabled, pregnant and nursing women and also the situation of women employees. In Article 30 of the law, it is stated that regulations will be issued for employment of vulnerable groups, night shifts, works for which shorter working hours are necessary, working conditions of pregnant and nursing women, establishment of nursing rooms and childcare centers, service procurement and related issues.

The Prime Ministry Circular No. 2010/14 on "Increasing Women's Employment and Promotion of Equality in Opportunities" was published in the Official Gazette and entered into force on 25<sup>th</sup> May 2010 in order to increase women employment and to implement equal pay for equal work principle

for strengthening the socio-economic positions of women, implementing the equality of women and men in social life, and achieving the sustainable economic growth and social progress. Pursuant to the Prime Ministry Circular No. 2010/14, the National Monitoring and Coordination Committee on Women's Employment was established in order to monitor and evaluate the activities carried out by all stakeholders for identification of existing problems in women's employment and elimination of these problems; and ensure coordination and cooperation.

"No discrimination based on language, race, sex, political opinion, philosophical belief, religion and sex or similar reasons is permissible in the employment relationship", according to Article 5 of the Labour Law. In addition, there is no provision regarding the prohibition of women to work in mines in the Safety and Health in Mines Convention No. 176, which entered into force in Türkiye on 23.03.2015, and a new approach based on risk assessment is introduced.

It is known that countries that have ratified Convention No. 45 are advised by ILO to cancel and revoke Convention No. 45 if they ratify Convention No. 176. Safety and Health in Mines Convention No. 176 has been ratified by Türkiye, but the underground contract No. 45 and related domestic law regulations regarding the prohibition of working in mines and underground works have not been abolished yet. However, in practice, evaluation is made in line with the case-law and the provisions of the ILO Convention No. 176, which is more up-to- date.

The Turkish Civil Code, which entered into force on 1<sup>St</sup> January 2002, is a law which upholds equality between women and men, puts an end to sexual discrimination, renders women equal to men in both family and the society; and values the women's work.

## Second Ground of non-conformity:

 the obligation to make measurable progress in respect of the obligation to promote the right to equal pay has not been fulfilled

Pursuant to Article 5 (Equal Pay Rule) of Regulation on Minimum Wage, published on Official Gazette dated 1.08.2004, no. 25540, discrimination based on language, race, color, gender, disability, political opinion, religion, sect etc. is prohibited in determination of minimum wage. The fact that a lower wage cannot be determined for a job of the same or equal value due to gender is stipulated in Article 5 of the Labor Law No. 4857.

On the base of data calculated by using yearly average gross wage, gender gap is -1,1 % in favor of women. Whereas, the data calculated on the base of educational level shows that wages of men are higher than those of women in all stages.

The situation gets clear when the distribution of educational level of wage earners is examined. The highest number of wage earner women exists in the category of graduates of higher education, as the highest number of wage earner men exist in the category of graduates of primary school and lower. When the pay gap is examined on the base of occupations, pay gap is in the favor of men, except for the group of "managers".

With the Law No. 6111, which came into force in 2011, it was decided to cover the employer's shares of the insurance premiums from the Unemployment Insurance Fund for 24 to 54 months if women over the age of 18 were employed. The law also introduced regulations to improve women's work life. The incentive has been extended with the Decision of the Council of Ministers until 31.12.2020. Active Labour Force Programs and Employment Incentives implemented by ISKUR are policies that have played an important role in increasing women's employment in Türkiye.

In line with the Prime Ministry Circular No. 2010/14, "Women's Employment National Monitoring and Coordination Board" was established in order to strengthen the socio-economic position of women, to increase the employment of women and to provide equal pay for equal work. The main

purpose of the Board is to identify existing problems in the field of women's employment, to monitor and evaluate the works carried out by all relevant parties to resolve these problems, to ensure coordination and cooperation.

Article 5 of the Labour Code (Law No. 4857) prohibits all discrimination between the sexes. It also guarantees the right to equal pay for equal work or work of equal value. In the inspections carried out by the Labour Inspectors in order to prevent discrimination and to apply equal remuneration, it is aimed to prevent the matters contrary to the legislation and not to repeat the violations within the framework of the Law No. 4857 and related legislation. The payments are made through the bank within the framework of the provisions of Article 32 of the Labor Law and the "Regulation on the Payment of Wages, Premiums, Bonuses and All Kinds of Such Benefits Through Banks". During the inspections, the difference between the payments made to female workers who are subjected to different wages due to gender-based discrimination and the payments made to male workers can be revealed through bank records.

Law on Human Rights and Equality Institution, no. 6701 was enacted and published in the Official Gazette dated 20.04.2016, no. 29690. The law aims to protect and improve human rights, ensure the right to equal treatment of persons, preventing discrimination in enjoying rights and freedoms recognized legally. In Article 3 of the Law, discrimination based on gender, race, color, language, religion, sect, philosophical and political opinion, ethnic origin, wealth, birth, marital status, health, disability, and age is prohibited. In addition, natural and private law legal persons who have responsibility regarding prohibition of discrimination have the authority to take necessary measures to identify and eliminate discrimination and ensure equality, in their scope of authority. The Human Rights and Equality Institution has been established by this law and the institution will carry out activities necessary for the fight against discrimination.

By the way, the Law No. 6111 allows positive discrimination for women in terms of providing new employment opportunities for women compared with men. It is intended to create employment by granting social security premium incentives for employing women and youth.

The "Law on Trade Unions and Collective Labour Agreements", No. 6356, dated 7.11.2012 establishes the principles of equal opportunities, equal treatment and nondiscrimination in the activities of workers' and employers' unions and Confederations. Art. 26-(3) of the mentioned

law states: "Organizations shall be obliged to observe the principle of equality and prohibitions of discrimination among its members in their enjoyment of its activities. They shall consider the gender equality in their activities."

## Women's Employment in Statistics

According to TUIK 2017 data on Labour Force Statistics (15+ years of age),

- While female employment rate rose to 28,9% from 20,7% in 2005 by 8,2 points, women's labour force participation rate rose to 33,6% by 10,3 points compared to 2005.
- Although many activities have been carried out to promote women's employment, informal employment continues to be a challenge to be addressed. While the rate of women working without being registered to social security institution for their actual jobs had been 64,9% in 2005; the same rate fell down to 44,6% at the end of 2017.
- In 2017, the rate of informal employment was 94,2% for women in agricultural activities in Türkiye whereas it was 24,9% for women in non-agricultural activities. It points to the facts that informal employment concentrates rather on those in agricultural activities, particularly on unpaid family workers. Men comprised 21,4% of the unpaid family workers engaged in agricultural activities informally while women made up 78,6% of the same group in 2017.

- Considering the distribution of women's employment by sectors, the biggest share belongs to the services sector with 56,1%. In addition, 28,3% are recruited in the agricultural sector and 15,6% in the industrial sector.
- An analysis of the figures of women's employment based on their conditions of work reveals that women are employed the most as paid or casual employees by a rate of 63,4%. Additionally, they are employed as unpaid family workers by 25,9%, self-employed by 9,4% and work as employers by 1.3%.
- Considering women's labour force participation rates by educational backgrounds, women graduates of higher education come to the forefront by 72,7%. They are followed by the graduates of vocational and technical high schools (by 42,6%) and the graduates of high school (34,3%).
- As the foremost of the reasons why women are excluded from the labour force, being engaged in household chores had had a share of 67% in 2005 and it shrank to the level of 55,4% by 2017. This rate could be interpreted as a substantial increase in women's labour force participation as of 2005. Moreover, the rate of women not participating in labour force as they are seasonal workers decreased by 1,3 points down to 0,3% by 2017, compared to 2005. It points to the fact that the number women recruited either as casual or seasonal workers diminished and the number of women recruited as permanent or full-time employees went up".
- 106. Discussions followed this presentation. The ETUC representative, in particular, strongly regretted the withdrawal of Türkiye from the <u>Council of Europe Convention on Preventing and Combating Violence against Women and Domestic Violence</u> (Istanbul Convention). The Turkish representative provided some clarifications in this respect.
- 107. The Governmental Committee voted on the following draft recommendation, which was adopted by 25 votes in favour, 7 against, 7 abstentions:

# Draft Recommendation RecChS(2022)... on the application of the European Social Charter by Türkiye (period 1 January 2015 to 31 December 2018) (Conclusions 2020)

(Adopted by the Committee of Ministers on ... 2022 at the ... meeting of the Ministers' Deputies)

The Committee of Ministers,

Having regard to the European Social Charter, in particular Part IV thereof;

Whereas the Revised European Social Charter came into force on 1 August 2008 with respect to Türkiye;

Whereas the Government of Türkiye submitted in 2020 its 13th report on the application of the Charter, and whereas this report has been examined in accordance with Articles 24 to 27 of the Charter;

Having examined the Conclusions 2020 of the European Committee of Social Rights (ECSR), adopted in January 2021 and made public in March 2021 and available to all the

parties, and the report of the Governmental Committee appointed under Article 27 of the Charter;

In the light of the fact that the ECSR concluded that the situation in Türkiye was not in conformity with Article 20 (c) of the Charter on the grounds that:

- a. women are not permitted to work in all professions, which constitutes discrimination based on sex. The ECSR noted that some jobs were excluded, for example in the mining sector.
- b. sufficient measurable progress in respect of the obligation to promote the right to equal pay was not achieved. The ECSR noted that it is estimated that, on average, the pay gap was 7.7% in 2018. However, according to the report, the gender pay gap was 14.3% for persons with a secondary school leaving certificate and 28.8% for those who had successfully completed a vocational secondary school education. Moreover, the employment rate of women was particularly low.

In the light of the information submitted by Türkiye in the 142nd session of the Governmental Committee, held from 10 to 12 May 2021, according to Article 10 of the Turkish Constitution, men and women have equal rights. All kinds of discrimination in employment is prohibited. According to Article 72 of the Labour Law, "Boys under the age of eighteen and women irrespective of their age must not be employed on underground or underwater work like in mines, cable-laying and the construction of sewers and tunnels." The law aims to protect women from labour intensive mining, but they are employed in surface units, offices and laboratories, also in administrative positions. Thus, women can work in these sectors as long as they fulfil mentioned conditions. Women engineers and technicians can work underground in the scope of research, planning and project designing. University students in Mining Engineering Departments can also go underground during their training. In line with the Prime Ministry Circular No. 2010/14, "Women's Employment National Monitoring and Coordination Board" was established in order to strengthen the socio-economic position of women, to increase the employment of women and to provide equal pay for equal work. The main purpose of the Board is to identify existing problems in the field of women's employment, to monitor and evaluate the works carried out by all relevant parties to resolve these problems, to ensure coordination and co-operation. Labour Inspectors supervise equal remuneration. Female employment rate rose to 28,9% in 2017 from 20,7% in 2005, so by 8,1 points compared to 2005.

Following a proposal by the Governmental Committee,

Referring to the Declaration on equal pay and opportunities for women and men addressed to all the Council of Europe member States by the Committee of Ministers adopted on 17 March 2021 (CM/Del/Dec(2021)1399/4.2b)

# Recommends that Türkiye:

- eliminate the prohibition for women to work in certain professions;
- collect data and statistics to measure gender pay gap in private and public sectors;
- reinforce existing measures aimed at reducing and eliminating the gender pay gap and consider adopting any new measures that may bring about measurable progress within reasonable time in this respect;
- reduce vertical segregation in the labour market;
- indicate the decisions and actions taken to comply with this Recommendation in the next report on the Charter provisions concerned.

## **Ukraine (Article 20 RESC)**

- 108. The ECSR concluded that the situation in Ukraine was not in conformity with Article 20(c) of the Charter on the ground that: a. there was no shift in the burden of proof in gender discrimination cases; b. the right to equal pay was not guaranteed in practice; and c. sufficient measurable progress in respect of the obligation to promote the right to equal pay had not been achieved.
- 109. While Ukraine provided no information, the Ukrainian representative accepted the text of the draft recommendation.
- 110. The Governmental Committee adopted by consensus the following draft recommendation:

Draft Recommendation RecChS(2022)... on the application of the European Social Charter by Ukraine (period 1 January 2015 to 31 December 2018) (Conclusions 2020)

(Adopted by the Committee of Ministers on ... 2022 at the ... meeting of the Ministers' Deputies)

The Committee of Ministers,

Having regard to the European Social Charter, in particular Part IV thereof;

Whereas the Revised European Social Charter came into force on 1 February 2007 with respect to Ukraine;

Whereas the Government of Ukraine submitted in 2020 its 13th report on the application of the Charter, and whereas this report has been examined in accordance with Articles 24 to 27 of the Charter;

Having examined the Conclusions 2020 of the European Committee of Social Rights (ECSR), adopted in January 2021 and made public in March 2021 and available to all the parties, and the report of the Governmental Committee appointed under Article 27 of the Charter:

In the light of the fact that the ECSR concluded that the situation in Ukraine was not in conformity with Article 20 (c) of the Charter on the grounds that:

- a. there was no shift in the burden of proof in gender discrimination cases. The ECSR noted that Article 81 of the Code of Civil Procedure establishes special procedure for proof in discrimination cases. According to part two of this Article the plaintiff is required to provide factual evidence that the discrimination took place. If such evidence is brought, the burden of proof regarding the absence of discrimination lies with the defendant.
- b. the right to equal pay was not guaranteed in practice. The ECSR noted that the absence of cases of gender discrimination in employment was likely to indicate a lack of awareness of rights, lack of confidence in or absence of practical access to procedures or fear of reprisals. No information was provided on existing national case law relating to breaches of the right to equal pay, as well as on sanctions imposed, so it was not established

that the right to equal treatment in employment without discrimination on grounds of sex was guaranteed in practice.

c. sufficient measurable progress in respect of the obligation to promote the right to equal pay was not achieved. The ECSR noted that, in average, pay for the entire labour market in 2018, women had 77,7% of men's pay, i.e. a pay gap of 22,3%. In 2018, the pay gap decreased 0,6% compared to 2017. In the period 2005-2018, the pay gap decreased 2,8%.

No information was submitted by Ukraine in the 142nd session of the Governmental Committee, held from 10 to 12 May 2021.

Following a proposal by the Governmental Committee,

Referring to the Declaration on equal pay and opportunities for women and men addressed to all the Council of Europe member States by the Committee of Ministers adopted on 17 March 2021 (CM/Del/Dec(2021)1399/4.2b

#### Recommends that Ukraine:

- amend its legislation and provide for a shift in the burden of proof in equal pay discrimination cases;
- pursue and adopt measures to ensure that equal pay is guaranteed in practice and provide information about their implementation;
- reinforce existing measures aimed at reducing and eliminating the gender pay gap and consider adopting any new measures that may bring about measurable progress within reasonable time in this respect;
- reduce vertical segregation in the labour market;
- indicate the decisions and actions taken to comply with this Recommendation in the next report on the Charter provisions concerned.

## Article 1 – Right to work

Article 1§1 – to accept as one of their primary aims and responsibilities the achievement and maintenance of as high and stable a level of employment as possible, with a view to the attainment of full employment.

- 111. The Secretariat recalled that under this provision, the ECSR first assesses the employment situation. For all states, it examines the GDP growth rate and whether it has an impact on employment and unemployment rates. While trends are important for the assessment, the overall level is what is usually decisive. The ECSR looks at all states in the same way. The average EU level is taken as an objective reference point and the ESCR has expressed concerns when the national figure was much below it (by several % points).
- 112. Further, the ECSR assesses employment policies and their effectiveness. It does so for all state parties on the basis of specific indicators, such as number of participants in the various active measures, the activation rate (i.e. the average number of participants in active measures as a percentage of the total number of unemployed persons) or public expenditure on active and passive labour market measures (as a percentage of GDP). The labour market measures should be targeted, effective and regularly monitored.

## **RESC 1§1 ALBANIA**

113. The ECSR concluded that the situation in Albania was not in conformity with Article 1§1 of the Charter on the ground that employment policy efforts had not been adequate in combatting unemployment and promoting job creation. It was the second non-conformity conclusion on this ground, the previous one dating back to 2012.

#### 114. The representative of Albania presented the following information:

"Labor market data suggest that Albania's economic growth over the last four years (2014 -2018) has translated into significant improvements in the labor market. Job creation recovered from a sharp decline in 2013 and economic growth and employment began to move in parallel. Although the employment rate for people aged 15-64 in Albania increased from about 50 per cent at the end of 2013 to 59.5 per cent in 2018, marking one of the highest ratios among the Western Balkan countries. The employment rate has improved significantly, especially for women (from 40 percent in 2013 to 52.4 percent in 2018). However, gender inequality remains problematic, with men's employment rate being about 14 percent higher than that of women, potentially a reflection of cultural norms regarding family structure and limited alternatives to child and elderly care.

Growth in employment, in parallel, has been accompanied by an increase in labor force participation, which reached 68.3 percent in 2018. Women's participation increased by nearly 10 percent over four years, from 50 percent in 2013 to 59.7 percent in 2018.

The youth participation rate (15-29) is lower than for the rest of the population (50.1 percent, with gender gap above 16 percent). The youth unemployment rate in 2018 has fallen to 23.1 percent, the lowest level since 2012. Registered unemployment has also experienced a very significant decline, from 149,148 in 2015 to 74,686 in 2018.

Labor market performance reflects in part the structure of the Albanian economy - where agriculture continues to dominate with 37.4 percent of total employment, while production and services remain below potential. Albania's agricultural sector serves to absorb the labor force, especially in low-productivity and low-wage jobs. It is precisely this element that explains the relatively high employment rate in Albania (especially in low-skilled jobs), coupled with low wages and the prevalence of informal, part-time and self-employment agreements. The development of higher productivity economic activity along the value chain (be it in the agro-processing sector, or even wider, in the manufacturing and services sectors) would create opportunities to provide better quality employment.

Recent labor market dynamics are closely linked to continued economic recovery - yet the growth of higher and better paid value-added subsectors is still limited. Employment growth has been driven mainly by the growth of sectors such as textiles, tourism and commerce, health and administrative services.

While unemployment has fallen sharply, reaching 12.3 percent in 2018 (and further down to 11.5 percent in the first half of 2019), it remains high, especially compared to EU countries.

Albania has made significant progress, with 22% of adults aged 30-34 having completed a tertiary education (ie university) in 2015, an increase of over 10 pp since 2010. However, for due to specific economic and employment structures in the country and low job demand, many higher education graduates cannot find jobs that match their qualifications. This results in relatively higher levels of unemployment among higher education graduates, especially women. This suggests serious skill disparities (ie underutilization). Some people with better skills try to find work abroad.

Enrollments in VET programs in secondary positions increased from 17% in 2014 to 20.6% in 2018. The number of VET students is small compared to other countries. VET has been the least attractive option at upper secondary level compared to academic education, but this image has changed in

recent years. Reforms are ongoing, but further system-wide efforts are needed to supplement improvements in donor-supported pilot institutions. The number of young people aged 15-24 who are not even in employment, education and training (NEET) remains high (28.6% in 2018, compared to the EU average of 10.6%).

## Labour market situation, referring to the Labour Force Survey, in percent (INSTAT)

	2015	2016	2017	2018	Q.2/2019
Labour force participation	64,2	66.2	66.8	68,3	69,8
Women	55,1	58,3	57,7	59,7	61,9
Men	73,4	74,1	75,8	76,9	77,8
Total working age population (aged 15-64)	52,9	55,9	57,4	59,3	61,4
The employment rate for women	45,5	49,7	50,3	52,4	54,6
The employment rate of men	60,5	61,9	64,3	66,7	68,4
The youth employment rate (age 15-29)	29,8	32.4	33,8	38,5	41,9
Total Unemployment rate	17,5	15.6	14,1	12,8	11,5
Unemployment rate form women	17,4	14,6	12,8	12,3	11,4
Unemployment rate form men	17,5	16,4	15.1	13,2	11,6
Youth unemployment rate (age 15-29)	33,2	28.9	25.9	23.1	20,9
Women	34,7	27,8	24,0	23,1	20,8
Men	32,3	29,7	27,0	23,1	21,0

# Administrative data from the National Employment Service until July 2019

	2015	2016	2017	2018	August/2019
The total of unemployed job seekers	145,147	93,889	83,497	64,781	69,573
Women Unemployed job seekers		49,735	44,220	34,172	36,548
Unemployed job seekers, beneficiaries of economic aid and unemployment benefits	65,458	45,738	41,251	22345	24,401
Unemployed job seekers from economic aid	60,078	42,029	41,751	19,944	21,818
Unemployed job seekers from Unemployment benefit scheme	5,380	3,709	1,959	2.401	2,583
Long term unemployed job seekers	68,885 (47,5%)	54,323 (58%)	42,594 (51%)	32.473(50%)	33,210 (48%)
Female Male	33,721 (49%) 35,164 (51%)	28,007 (52%) 26,316 (48%)	21,622 (51%) 20,972(49%)	17,850 (55%) 14,623(45%)	17,920 (54%) 15,290 (46%)
Unemployed job seekers from special groups	13470	7,600	7,162	6.557	7,108
Youth unemployment job seekers, age 15-29	41,515	19,174	15,767	12.258 (19%)	14,784
No. of job seekers employed through intermediation services	1,222	25,170	23,136	32,846	21,080
Unemployed job seekers involved in employment promotion programs	5,805	5,211	5,264	4,808	-

Job vacancies advertised in employment offices	2,373	38,511	40,013	61,391	36,450
Unemployed job seekers, who attend free professional courses at	13,887	12,710	9,461	8,470	14,846
public centers					

The National Strategy on Employment and Skills 2019-2022 is inspired by the overall objective of 'Europe 2020' to achieve rapid, sustainable and inclusive growth. The vision of the National Strategy for Employment and Skills was to have a competitive economy and an inclusive society by 2022: "Higher skills and better jobs for all women and men"

The overall goal of the Strategy is to promote quality jobs and skills opportunities for all Albanian women and men throughout the life cycle. This goal will be achieved through coherent and coordinated political activities that respond simultaneously to the demand and supply of work, as well as to the elimination of gaps in social inclusion. The National Employment and Skills Strategy focuses on the following four strategic priorities:

- A. Promoting decent job opportunities through productive labor market policies;
- B. Providing quality vocational education and training for young people and adults;
- C. Promoting social inclusion and territorial cohesion;
- D. Strengthening labor market governance and qualification systems.

Increasing participation of women in the labor market and reducing the gender gap is one of the objectives<sup>5</sup> of the National Strategy on Gender Equality 2016-2020, the successful fulfillment of which requires mainstreaming of gender perspective in the implementation of measures envisaged as part of the National Employment and Skills Strategy 2019-2022. The National Employment and Skills Strategy 2019-2022<sup>6</sup>, has as its general goal, to encourage quality jobs and opportunities for acquiring skills to all Albanian women and men throughout their life cycle. Attention is paid to taking concrete measures for the inclusion of certain groups such as persons with disabilities, Roma women, youth, etc. National Employment Service (NES), Regional / Local Employment Offices, Public Vocational Training Centers and the Inspectorate of Labour and Social Services, comprise the chain of executive institutions<sup>7</sup> of active labor market policies, which include employment services, programs for new jobs openings, mediation for employment, orientation and counseling for work and occupation, as well as vocational training programs.

#### Legal framework aproved

2015- revised labour Code law no.136/2015 2017-new VET Law no. 15/2017 2018-Revised Albanian Qualification Framework Law no .23/2018 2019- New employment promotion law no.15/2019

#### Active Labour Market programs in place

In Albania, the creation of various programs as part of active labor market policies has begun with the aim of reducing unemployment, mentioning in particular the unemployment of young people and groups in need. Moreover, various programs have consistently aimed at reducing informality as well as reducing social and economic costs, including individuals benefiting from other current social support schemes. Active labour market policies constitute a set of interventions aiming at the well-functioning of labour market, increasing the employability of the labour force and the social and professional inclusion of the most disadvantaged groups. Active labour market policies include job

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Objective 1.1, National Strategy on Gender Equality 2016-2020

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>Approved by DCM No. 818, dated 26.11.2014

<sup>-</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup>Under the subordination of the former Ministry of Social Welfare and Youth, passed in September 2017, under the subordination of the Ministry of Finance and Economy.

placement services, employment promotion programmes, and vocational education and training programmes.

#### Vocational education and training

Professional training serves both jobseekers and employers, and is realized through theoretical-practical teaching courses. Courses are offered by 10 Vocational training Centers and provides:

- a) free courses for unemployed jobseekers;
- b) paid for the persons who so request;
- c) facilities and logistical means, versus leases, for subjects that provide vocational training.

Unemployed jobseekers from special groups who participate in vocational training programs offered by the KPA may benefit from a fee for participation in the course, except for those who benefit during this period from the economic aid or payment scheme unemployment.

Principles, modes of action and methods of vocational training, generally applied to vocational training programs for persons with disabilities, apply in the case of persons with disabilities. For this group apply the elements of reasonable adaptation, with regard to special training programs, curricula adapted to the degree and type of disability, trainers / teachers prepared to provide special training for persons with disabilities.

### Unemployment benefit program

Unemployment benefit programs are part of state employment policies that provide income support to the unemployed at the time of their exit, aiming at creating conditions for their return to the labor market. Unemployment Allowance Programs aim to financially support all unemployed jobseekers in case of unemployment due to job cuts, termination of employment contracts, bankruptcy of the enterprise, etc., by slightly easing their efforts towards employment.

## Inclusion of specific groups in active labor market programs

The government program has focused on the employment and quality development of the workforce, in line with the vision of the European Employment Strategy 2020, as well as the requirements for Albania's European integration. Vulnerable groups are among the priorities of the Ministry of Finance and Economy to be included in active employment programs, such as employment promotion programs and vocational training programs that are implemented and have different forms of support for target groups: such as youth entering for the first time in the labour market and the newly graduated youth, women and girls head of households, persons with disabilities, unemployed jobseekers from the Roma and Egyptian community, long-term unemployed, and those from income support schemes.

This is also demonstrated by the level of funding available for employment and education and vocational training multiplied in the last five years. With the help of donors and state budget funds raised over 350% in just the last four years, many VET schools have been refurbished and completed with modern equipment, where practicing theoretical knowledge becomes concrete and attractive.

Under the employment promotion law "vulnerable groups" are considered jobseekers, such as: mothers with children, persons over 50, youth under 18, long-term unemployed, persons below the poverty line, victims of trafficking, persons benefiting from the income support programs, unemployed mothers, divorced women with social problems, persons returning from emigration with economic problems, newly graduated, disoriented persons in the labor market, persons serving prison sentences, persons with disabilities; from Roma and Egyptian community, orphans, etc.

From 32,846, which is the total number of employments made by the Employment Offices for 2018, nationwide, broken down by categories, the results are as follows:

- 41% of total employed youth employment aged 15-29;

- 138 are employments of persons with disabilities:
- 1,236 are employed by the Roma and Egyptian communities;
- 3,958 are employments from the economic aid scheme and those who have left the scheme.

The young people entering the labor market for the first time and the newly graduated youth are among the priorities of the Ministry. Specifically, 3 out of the 8 employment promotion programs implemented since now have different forms of support specifically for young people. Youth employment promotion programs are such that combine job training with employment, vocational practices, etc. The young people under these programs are those under the age of 30 and the programs support both those with higher education and those without a profession.

One of the priorities of the National Strategy on Employment and Skills is, "Promoting social inclusion and territorial cohesion", as well as the objective of this priority: "Training and employment of marginalized and disadvantaged women and men, including among others, persons from the Roma and Egyptian communities.

From the analysis of the labor market situation, the situation of Roma and Egyptian minorities at risk of social exclusion is as follows:

The data show that only 1.3% of Roma and 4.8% of Egyptians aged up to 20 have secondary education, while 0.3% and 0.2% from the same group receive higher education. Roma live in very difficult conditions and are not sufficiently present in the labor market.

In employment promotion policies, Roma constitute the target group that receives free vocational training and has priority in employment promotion programs. Reducing the unemployment rate of Roma and especially Roma women remains a priority, as well as increasing the educational attainment of Roma children, which affects the prevention of social exclusion. From the administrative data the situation of participation of this category in the state employment policies shows that:

- Roma and Egyptians occupy 8% of the unemployed jobseekers nationwide for 2018 or 5505 persons, from the Roma and Egyptian community.
- This category is characterized by low qualification level, with 95% of them having up to 9 years of education.
- Women occupy about 50% of the unemployed jobseekers of Roma and Egyptians registered as unemployed jobseekers in employment offices.

Active employment policies, prioritizing the Roma and Egyptian groups, have significantly increased the employability of this category. Employment offices, through job mediation, managed to employ from this category 470 people in 2016, 880 people in 2017 and 1,105 in 2018.

Employment of people with disabilities is one of the priorities of the Ministry of Finance and Economy (PWD). The increase in the number of unemployed jobseekers in employment office registries brought about the need to design a special program that directly employs people with disabilities. This program (DCM 248/2014), which was originally implemented in 2014 in Tirana and Elbasan, as a pilot program and involved 17 PwDs and from 2015 the program was implemented nationwide. During 2017 the number of PwD involved was 94, and in 2018 108 PWD were included in employment promotion programs. The purpose of the PWD program is to make it easier for employers with disabilities to employ people with disabilities by applying various forms of support.

This will help employers, who:

- (i) first receive these persons free of charge in the premises of the undertakings / institutions for a fixed period and thereafter, after being adapted, to maintain such employment;
- (ii) subsidies for equipment or adaptation of the workplace. This support is provided where the enterprise / institution is able to employ people with disabilities but needs to adapt or properly equip the workplace:
- (iii) the payment of job placement fees will help PWDs to learn a suitable profession and then be employed in that profession.

This program facilitates the integration of this category into the labour market, social and economic life of the country. It is worth pointing out that the persons with disabilities included in the program do not lose their allowances that they receive due to their disability.

PwD receive free training in the public training centers. In 2016, 60 PwD, in 2017, 55 PwD and in 2018, 99 PwD were trained in various courses such as tailoring, secretarial, plumbing, cooking etc."

## Administrative data from the National Employment Service

	2015	2016	2017	2018
The total of unemployed job seekers	145,147	93,889	83,497	64,781
Women Unemployed job seekers		49,735	44,220	34,172
Unemployed job seekers, beneficiaries of economic aid and unemployment benefits	65,458	45,738	41,251	22345
Unemployed job seekers from economic aid	60,078	42,029	41,751	19,944
Unemployed job seekers from Unemployment benefit scheme	5,380	3,709	1,959	2.401
Long term unemployed job seekers		54,323	42,594	32.473
Unemployed job seekers from special groups		7,600	7,162	6.557
Youth unemployment job seekers, age 15-29		19,174	15,767	12.258 (19%)
No. of job seekers employed through intermediation services	1,222	25,170	23,136	32,846
Unemployed job seekers involved in employment promotion programs	5,805	5,211	5,264	4,808
Unemployed job seekers, who attend free professional courses at public centers	13,887	12,710	9,461	8,470

115. The Governmental Committee took note of the information provided and decided to await the next assessment of the ECSR.

# **RESC 1§1 ARMENIA**

- 116. The ECSR concluded that the situation in Armenia was not in conformity with Article 1§1 of the Charter on the ground that employment policy efforts had not been adequate in combatting unemployment and promoting job creation.
- 117. The representative of Armenia presented the following information:

"According to Eurostat, GDP growth rates fluctuated during the reporting period, from 3.2% in 2015 to 0.2% in 2016. increasing by 7.5%, and in 2018, falling again by 5.2%, in 2019 increasing by 7.6%. Economic growth rate in 2020 was -7.4% due to the coronavirus pandemic on the one hand and the war situation on the other. In 2018 total employment rate (persons aged 15 to 64) decreased from 52.7% in 2015 to 49.7%. In 2018 employment rate of men decreased from 61.2% in 2015 to 60.8%, and that of women decreased from 45.7% in 2015 to 39.8%. In 2018 the total unemployment rate (among 15 to 74 years old) increased from 18.5% in 2015 to 19.0%. In 2018 unemployment among men increased from 17.6% in 2015 to 17.9%, and among women from 19.5% to 20.4%. Unemployment among young people (15 to 24 years old) increased from 32.5% in 2015 to 33.5%. Long-term unemployment (12 months or more) decreased from 60.7% in 2015 to 51.9% in 2018.

According to the data of the International Labour Organization (ILOSTAT), the proportion of 15 to 24 year old persons "out of the system" (those who are not in education, employment or training (NEET)) in 2018 was 25.7% instead of 27.5% in 2015.

According to the RA Law on Employment, young people, as uncompetitive in the labour market, are given the opportunity to be involved in all state employment programs, in particular, the program "Support to the unemployed to gain professional work experience in the acquired profession" can be singled out. The aim of the program is to provide stable employment in the acquired profession through support provided to the unemployed person entering the labour market for the first time, in order to gain professional work experience in accordance with his/her professional qualification, to become more competitive in the labour market, and is implemented especially for young persons. Within the framework of the program, the beneficiary is paid the minimum wage, the employer is reimbursed for the beneficiary's income tax, stamp duty, targeted social payment, as well as for final settlement with the employee in case of termination of the employment contract.

According to the data of the end of 2020, 18.96% or 11,627 people registered as unemployed in the territorial centers of the Unified Social Service were young people aged 16-29, which is a decrease of 7.4% compared to the previous year. There are no specific programs implemented to support young or the long-term unemployed persons belonging to NEET group (not in education, employment or training). However, according to the legislative regulations, 16-30 year old persons who have been unemployed for more than three months are considered uncompetitive in the labour market and have the priority right to be included in the above mentioned program, as well as in all other employment programs.

A vocational training program is implemented for the unemployed, those at risk of dismissal, as well as those who have up to six months left to serve their sentences. The aim of the program is to support the beneficiaries in acquiring new skills and abilities in accordance with the requirements of the labor market, finding a suitable job, reducing the risk of dismissal, as well as in doing business.

As of the end of 2020, the number of job seekers registered at the territorial centres of the Unified Social Service was 87,999, which, compared with the indicator of the same period of 2019, increased by 3.6%, compared with 2018 - by 7.7%. Since the beginning of the reporting year 10,109 people have been provided with job, which compared with 2019 decreased by 25.2%, compared with 2018 - by 15.5%. Number of unemployed in 2020 As of the end of the year, it was 61,320 people, which in 2019 compared with the index of the same period, decreased by 0.7% in 2018. compared to 5.1%. 2020 As of the end of December, 64.7% of the unemployed were women, in 2019 - 66.3%, in 2018 - 66.7%. According to the data of 2019, 8.4% of the unemployed have been seeking a job for up to 3 months, 6.9% for 4-11 months, 25% for 1-3 years, 48.7% for up to 3 years.

The state employment policy of the Republic of Armenia is implemented through the annual state program on employment regulation, within the framework of which 12 programs are implemented. In order to increase the targeting and effectiveness of employment programs, the Ministry of Labour and Social Affairs of the Republic of Armenia, in accordance with the procedure established by the Government of the Republic of Armenia, implements monitoring and evaluation of these programs. As a result of monitoring and evaluation, in accordance with the law, the processes of return of nontargeted used funds for state employment programs are ensured".

- 118. Since the information provided contained no reference to the activation rate and investment to promote job creation, the Chair asked for details in this respect. The representative of Armenia replied that there had been difficulties in allocating adequate financial resources in the last two years as a result of the Covid 19 pandemic. The Chair noted that the reference period predated the pandemic, and that the situation could only have worsened during the health crisis, which the Armenian representative confirmed.
- 119. The Armenian representative was also asked about financial resources to be invested in the future. One example was that at the end of 2020, almost 19% of the unemployed were

people under 29 years old. In 2020, up to 65% of the unemployed were women. The Armenian representative reiterated that the situation had worsened.

- 120. Some delegations considered that Armenia was in difficult situation and that the economic, political circumstances were to be taken into consideration when examining the case.
- 121. The Governmental Committee concluded that it was deeply concerned about the employment situation in Armenia, in particular about the drastic drop in funding to improve the situation. It called upon the Government of Armenia to pursue all possible efforts to remedy the situation as soon as possible.

## **RESC 1§1 BOSNIA AND HERZEGOVINA**

- 122. The ECSR concluded that the situation in Bosnia and Herzegovina was not in conformity with Article 1§1 of the Charter on the ground that employment policy efforts had not been adequate in combatting unemployment and promoting job creation.
- 123. The representative of Bosnia and Herzegovina presented the following information:

"In our previous National Report we informed the Committee on the Reform Agenda 2015-2018 with its broad range of measures regarding improvement of employment policies. Given that the Covid-19 pandemic is still ongoing, we have not yet been able to gather the full information on the positive impact of the Agenda on active employment policies. Hopefully we will have those information by the time of the next National Report on this matter.

When it comes to changes in existing legislation, we inform you of the following:

In Federation of Bosnia and Herzegovina there were no amendments to the Law on Mediation in Employment and Social Security of Unemployed Persons, but the amendments to the Rulebook on Employment Records were adopted in 2020. The aim of the amendments to this Rulebook was to adjust the direct work of public employment services with the unemployed persons due to the epidemiological situation caused by the COVID-19 pandemic.

In Republika Srpska, the amendments to the Law on Mediation in Employment and Rights during Unemployment were brought after the previous reporting period, with the aim to strengthen mediating role of the Employment Service of the Republika Srpska and to increase the rights based on monetary compensation, its amount and the duration.

Currently, the Strategy of Employment of the Republika Srpska for the period of 2021-2027 is in the process of adoption, and is expected to be adopted by the end of this year.

In the Brčko District of Bosnia and Herzegovina there were no amendments to the Law on Employment and Rights during Unemployment after the previous reporting period, but the Developing Strategy of the Brčko District for the period of 2021-2027 was adopted in May 2021. It is the key strategic-planning document that encourages the development of the District according to its economic priorities and with detailed planned financial resources. Its main strategic goal is to strengthen the economy and improve the public sector and its services in compliance with the EU standards, as well as to improve the employment policies.

Considering the situation caused by the ongoing pandemic by the COVID-19 virus, the Employment Services of both entities (Federation of Bosnia and Herzegovina and Republika Srpska), as well as the Employment Service of the District recorded a significant decrease in the number of employees. All three Services continued to support the most vulnerable groups of unemployed persons, as follows: national minorities, persons bellow 30 and over 45 years of age, persons with disabilities

including war veterans, children of fallen soldiers and other targeted groups through numerous employment programs.

The information on the monitoring of the employment policies and the evaluation on their effectiveness will be submitted in the next National Report regarding this matter".

124. The Governmental Committee concluded that it was deeply concerned about the employment situation and called upon the Government of Bosnia and Herzegovina to pursue all possible efforts to improve it as soon as possible.

## **RESC 1§1 MONTENEGRO**

- 125. The ECSR concluded that the situation in Montenegro was not in conformity with Article 1§1 of the Charter on the ground that employment policy efforts had not been adequate in combatting unemployment and promoting job creation.
- 126. The representative of Montenegro presented the following information:

"The National Strategy for Employment and Human Resources Development for the period 2016-2020 was a strategic framework for the implementation of labour market reforms in the previous five-year period. The strategy was based on a new approach of the employment policy, which implies a broader context of considering and implementing structural reforms, sectoral policies, individual measures, with the aim of removing obstacles and creating conditions for accelerated economic growth, as the main generator of employment growth. Therefore, the general goal of the Strategy is "Creating optimal conditions for employment growth and improvement of human resources in Montenegro" through four priorities.

First priority: Increasing employment. Reducing the unemployment rate included three goals aimed at improving the business environment, increasing competitiveness and strengthening macroeconomic stability, in order to accelerate economic growth as the main generator of employment growth. Also, it referred to the improvement of active employment policy aimed at greater efficiency of the labor market, including strengthening the capacity of the Employment Agency, as follows:

Goal 1: Stimulating job creation and encouraging competitiveness by improving the business environment;

Goal 2: Increasing the efficiency of active employment policy measures with special emphasis on the inclusion of young people, women and the long-term unemployed in the labour market;

Goal 3: Providing higher employment in underdeveloped areas of Montenegro.

Second priority: Efficient functioning of the labour market, included three goals aimed at promoting flexicurity and reducing the rigidity of employment protection legislation, harmonization with European regulations of employment and social policy, as well as encouraging the formalization of informal employment through a well measured balance of incentives, prevention and sanctions, as follows:

Goal1: Alignment with European regulations on employment and social policy;

Goal 2: Promoting flexicurity and reducing the rigidity of employment protection legislation;

Goal 3: Encouraging the formalization of informal employment.

Third priority: Improving qualifications and competencies in line with the needs of the labour market, included two goals aimed at increasing productivity and human resources development through improving knowledge, skills and competencies in order to increase employment opportunities and increase competitiveness through formal education, non-formal learning and training, which ultimately should contribute to reducing the qualification gap between current labour market demand and knowledge and skills on the side of the labour supply.

Goal 1: Promoting adult access and participation in lifelong learning;

Goal 2: Improving the quality of education at all levels and harmonizing with the needs of the labor market.

Fourth priority: Promoting social inclusion and reducing poverty included four goals aimed at improving social benefits and social and child protection services for the purpose of better covering and activation of vulnerable groups, integration in education and employment of persons with disabilities, and encouraging the inclusion of members of vulnerable groups to the labour market, namely:

Goal 1: Improving social inclusion and the system of social and child protection;

Goal 2: Integration in education and employment of persons with disabilities;

Goal 3: Inclusion of socially vulnerable groups in the labour market;

Goal 4: Creating conditions for the development of social entrepreneurship.

The implementation of the National Strategy for Employment and Human Resources Development 2016-2020 took place through annual employment action plans. The Employment Action Plan is the basic instrument for the implementation of employment policy which defines measures and activities to achieve goals, financial framework for the implementation of measures and activities, bearers of the implementation of measures and activities, indicators to success in the realization of measures and activities in order to achieve goals within the priorities defined by the National Strategy for Employment and Human Resources Development 2016–2020. Thus, in the previous period, the Action Plans for Employment and Human Resources Development for 2016, 2017, 2018, 2019 and 2020 were prepared and adopted.

During the period of validity of the Strategy, monitoring and evaluation was performed in such a way that annual Reports on the implementation of measures and activities from the annual Action Plan were prepared. The annual reports included an analysis of the situation from the previous year of implementation of the annual action plan, based on which activities were planned in the next annual action plan, within each goal, to ensure that employment policy defined through four priorities responds, timely and to the extent possible, to the labour market challenges. Thus, the Reports on the implementation of the annual Action Plans for Employment and Human Resources Development for 2016, 2017, 2018, 2019 were prepared and adopted in the previous period. At the end of the implementation period of the Strategy, the Final Report on the implementation of the National Strategy for Employment and Human Resources Development 2016-2020 was prepared.

The implementation of the Strategy has achieved mixed quantitative achievements, as the key indicators of the labour market and human resources have improved and approached the target values, while the indicators related to social inclusion and poverty reduction have not been reached. However, it can be stated that during the period of implementation of the Strategy, there were positive developments in the labour market, which were stopped by the outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic.

High real GDP growth rates of 4.7% in 2017, 5.1% in 2018 and 3.6% in 2019, generated a high employment rate, which according to the data from the Labour Force Survey for 2019 was at the level of 56% for the age group 15+ and the unemployment rate at the historical minimum of 15.4%.

The table shows that with exception of the last year of implementation of the Strategy, in relation to the initial values, there were positive trends in most parameters.

#### Podaci o kretanjima na tržištu rada [Data on trends in the labour market]

Indicator	Initial value (2014)	Target value (2020)	2015	2016	2017	2018	2019	2020	Data source
Employment rate (15-64)	50.4%	56%	51.4%	52.0%	53.1%	54.7%	56%	50.3%	Monstat
Female employment rate (15-64)	45.3%	51%	46.9%	46.8%	46.8%	48.4%	49.7%	44.4%	Monstat

Unemployment rate (15-64)	18.2%	14%	17.8%	18%	16.4%	15.5%	15.4%	18.3%	Monstat
Youth unemployment rate (15-24)	35.8%	29%	37.6%	35.9%	31.7%	29.4%	25.2%	36%	Monstat
Share of long- term unemployed persons in total unemployment	77.5%	60.0%	77.2%	75.6%	77.5%	76.5%	79%	74.7%	Monstat
Participation of university students in the age group 25-34	32.7%	40%	32.0%	34.2%	35.5%	-	-	-	Monstat
Poverty rate	8.6% (2013)	7%	-	-	-	-	-	-	Monstat
At-risk-of- poverty rate	26.2%	20%	24.4%	24%	23.6%	23.8%	24.5%	-	Monstat
Registered unemployment rate	14.95%	13.5%	17.24 %	21.33%	22.09%	17.8%	16.2%	20.4%	ZZZCG

The work on preparation of the new National Employment Strategy for the period 2021-2025 is currently underway, and it should identify priorities and individual goals that should properly address the multiple challenges that the labour market and the citizens of Montenegro are facing in the context of the Covid 19 pandemic and with which they will deal in the coming years and turn these challenges into new opportunities for the socio-economic development of the country and for the individual progress of each individual. This is especially true given the positive trends in the labour market have been stopped by the outbreak of the Covid 19 pandemic.

#### Active employment policy measures

The Law on Mediation for Employment and Rights during Unemployment, which was adopted in 2019, in relation to the previously valid law, specifically defines labour market services in relation to active employment policy measures.

Labour market services provided by the Employment Agency (ZZCG) and employment agencies are: preparation for employment and employment mediation.

Active employment policy measures are defined in accordance with the Eurostat methodology and include: adult education and training, employment incentives, direct job creation and incentives for entrepreneurship. Measures are implemented through programs, but in addition to the above measures, the Employment Agency (ZZCG) can also implement other measures of active employment policy depending on the needs of the labour market and the identification of target groups;

#### Active employment policy measures implemented in 2016

In 2016, active employment policy measures were implemented for 2,020 unemployed persons from the records of the Agency. Adult education and training programs were conducted for 454 participants, public work and the "Keep it Clean" Project for 1,096 people, independent work training for 71, and employer-based work training for 250 people. Through the Pilot Programs "Stop the Gray Economy" and "Youth is our potential", 149 participants were included.

The share of persons included in AEP measures in the total number of unemployed persons in 2016 was 5.05%.

#### Active employment policy measures implemented in 2017

In 2017, active employment policy measures were implemented for 2,062 unemployed persons from the records of the Agency. Adult education and training programs were conducted for 553 participants, public work and the "Keep it Clean" Project for 1,214 persons, independent work training for 50, and employer-based work training for 100 people. Through the Program "Stop the Gray Economy" for 145 participants. The share of persons included in AEP measures in the total number of unemployed persons in 2017 was 4.54%.

#### Active employment policy measures implemented in 2018

In 2018, active employment policy measures were implemented for 3,745 unemployed persons from the records of the Agency. Adult education and training programs were implemented for 1,295 participants, public work and the "Keep it Clean Project" for 1,345 persons. Through the Program "Stop the Gray Economy" 180 participants were included and the Pilot Program "Empower Me and I Will Succeed" included 925 persons. The share of persons included in AEP measures in the total number of unemployed persons in was 7.31%.

### Active employment policy measures implemented in 2019

In 2019, active employment policy measures were implemented for 2,248 unemployed persons from the records of the Agency. Adult education and training programs were conducted for 896 participants. Public work programs were implemented through the projects "Keep it clean", "Personal Assistant" and "Care for the Elderly" for 629 participants. Training programs for independent work were conducted for 238 and employer-based work training for 239 users. The program "Stop the Gray Economy" with the aim of supporting young people in solving the problem of unemployment by raising their work capacity and at the same time work on combating the gray economy, was organized for 190 participants. 42 self-employment loans were awarded, creating 56 new jobs. The implemented measures enabled through the programs the employment of 1,306 unemployed persons with identified barriers to employment, for a period of three to seven months.

In the total number of participants in the program of active employment policy, women participated with 53.6%, young people under the age of 30 with 40.4%, while the participation of long-term unemployed persons was 28.2%. Members of the RE population participated with 3.6%, persons with disabilities with 8.9%, while the participation of persons from the municipalities of the Northern region was 52.9%. The structure of the participants in the implemented programs indicates that the programs were prepared for unemployed persons who belong to the strategic priorities. Also, the programs were implemented with respect to balanced regional development. The share of persons involved in AEP measures in the total number of unemployed persons was 5.30%.

#### Active employment policy measures implemented in 2020

In 2020, active employment policy measures were implemented for 1,402 unemployed persons from the records of the Agency. Public work programs were implemented for 606 people, the "Keep it clean" project for 95 people, trainings for independent work for 228 people, employer-based work trainings for 250 people. Through the Program "Stop the Gray Economy" for 210 participants and 11 self-employment loans, which will create 13 new jobs.

In the total number of participants in the program of active employment policy, women participated with 57.06%, young people under the age of 30 with 49.14%, while the participation of long-term unemployed persons was 1.21%. Members of the RE population participated with 2%, persons with disabilities with 7%, while the participation of persons from the municipalities of the Northern region was 58.06%. The structure of participants in the implemented programs indicates that the programs were prepared for unemployed persons who belong to the strategic priorities. Also, the programs were implemented with respect to balanced regional development. The share of persons involved in AEP measures in the total number of unemployed persons was 3.73%.

#### ✓ Public work programs

Starting from the program tasks determined on the basis of the needs and possibilities of persons with difficult employment and the needs of the users of programs of public interest, public work programs for 606 persons were realized.

The public work "Personal Assistant" was conducted through programs for the creation of temporary non-market activities of public interest in the field of protection of persons with disabilities, and the Public Work "Care for the Elderly" in the field of protection of the elderly. In addition to these public work programs, other socially useful programs have been implemented in the field of environment, education, culture, sports, maintenance and renovation of public infrastructure as well as in other areas of public interest. In the Public Work "Personal Assistant", 208 persons were employed by 46 program providers, for the period lasting up to four months, in jobs providing assistance and support to 961 persons with disabilities. In order to provide support to the elderly in a state of social need, the Public Work "Care for the Elderly" was conducted. In this public work, 75 people were employed by 12 program contractors, as geronto-housewives/geronto-hosts. Employees provided support and assistance to 530 older persons, program beneficiaries, for the duration of up to four months. 323 persons from the records of the Agency were employed in environmental, educational, cultural and other socially useful programs, with 81 contractors, for the duration of up to three months. Females participated in these programs with 64.5% (391).

7 long-term unemployed persons participated in public work programs, ie persons who have been in the unemployment register for more than 12 months, which is 1.2% in relation to the total number of program participants. The participation of persons older than 50 years was 27.2% in relation to the total number of participants, ie 165 persons participated, of which 95 were women. The participation of young people under 30 was 31.7%, ie 192 persons, of which 110 were women. There is 3% of beneficiaries of the family material support. Members of the RE population in the total number of program participants participated with 2.3% or 14 persons, of whom 2 were women. The share of persons with disabilities was 13.2%, ie 80 persons, of which 47 were women.

Observed according to the levels of education, the participation of persons without completed school or with primary school was 23.3%, ie 141 persons participated, of which 70 were women. 57.7% with acquired secondary education, ie 350 persons, of which 234 are women. The participation of persons with higher education was 19%, ie 115 persons participated, of which 87 were women.

Observed by regions, the largest number of included persons was from the municipalities of the Northern region 360 (59.4%), followed by the municipalities of the Central region 204 (33.6%), while the least number of persons were from the municipalities of the Coastal region 42 (7%).

The program was successfully completed by 599 participants, or 99.2% of the total number of participants.

#### ✓ Project "Keep it Clean"

Participants of the Project "Keep it clean" performed the tasks of cleaning the main roads along the entire territory of Montenegro. The implementation of the Project "Keep it Clean" enabled employment, on temporary non-market jobs of public interest, for 95 unemployed persons, for a period of three months. Females participated in the project with 13.68% (13), 5 long-term unemployed persons participated in the Project, i.e. persons who have been registered as unemployed for more than 12 months, which is 5.26% in relation to the total number of project participants. The share of persons older than 50 years was 32.63% in relation to the total number of participants, i.e. 31 persons, of which five were women. The participation of young people under 30 was 29.47%, i.e. 28 persons, five of whom were women. The project employs six people with disabilities, or 6.21%, while the participation of beneficiaries of family material support is 6.21%, or six people. Members of the RE population participated in the total number of project participants with 14.73%, or 14 persons, of which two were female. Observed from the territorial aspect, most of the project participants were from the municipalities of the Northern region - 37 people (38.95%) of which 6 were women, then from the municipalities of the Central region - 33 people (34.73%) of which 4 were women and the least number from municipalities of the Coastal region - 25 persons (26.32%) of which three were women.

### ✓ Program of training for independent work

The program of training for independent work was realized for unemployed persons with acquired secondary education (III and IV level of education), without work experience at the level of education. The program employed 228 participants with 76 employers – program contractors, for a period of six months. Employers conducted program activities adapted to the professional and personal characteristics of the participants and trained them, with provided mentoring, for independent work at the level of education. Females participate, in the total number of participants, in this program with 58.77% (134). Two long-term unemployed persons (two women) participated in the program, ie persons who have been on the unemployment register for more than 12 months, which is 0.9% in relation to the total number of program participants. The share of persons older than 50 years was 2.63% in relation to the total number of participants, ie six persons, of which four were women. The participation of young people up to 30 years of age was 66.22%, ie 151 persons, of which 85 were women. The program employed one female person with a disability, while the share of beneficiaries of family material support is 2.63%, ie six persons. Observed from the territorial aspect, most of the project participants were from the municipalities of the Northern region - 150 people (65.78%) of which 86 were women, then from the municipalities of the Central region - 70 people (30.70%) of which 44 are women and the least number from municipalities of the Coastal region - 8 persons (3.52%) of which four were women. Upon completion of this program, employers issued certificates of acquired work experience at the level of education to successful participants, by means of which they fulfilled the condition to take the professional exam.

## √ Program for employer-based work training

The program is implemented for unemployed persons for whom the lack of practical knowledge and skills has been identified as an obstacle to employment. The goal of the program is to enable participants to acquire the knowledge, skills and competencies needed to perform the jobs and work tasks of certain job positions. The program employed 250 participants at 64 employers – program contractors for a period of three months. Employers conducted program activities and, with the support of mentors, trained participants to perform certain jobs independently. Females participated in these programs with 50.4% (126). Two long-term unemployed persons (two women) participated in the program, ie persons who have been in the unemployment register for more than 12 months, which is 0.8% in relation to the total number of program participants. The participation of persons older than 50 years was 10% in relation to the total number of participants, ie 25, of which 18 were women. The participation of young people up to 30 years of age was 43.2%, ie 108 persons, of which 44 were women. The share of beneficiaries of family material support was 3%. The share of persons with disabilities was 4%, ie 10 persons, of which 5 were women.

Observed according to the levels of education, the participation of persons without completed school or with primary school was 16%, ie 40 persons, of which 24 are women, with acquired secondary education 74%, ie 184 persons, of which 85 are women. The participation of persons with higher education was 10%, ie 25 persons, of which 16 were women. Observed by regions, the most of the included persons are in the municipalities of the Northern region 150 (60%), then in the municipalities of the Central region 88 (35.2%), while the least number of persons are included in the municipalities of the Coastal region 12 (4.8%). 247 participants or 98.8% has successfully completed the program. Upon completion of this program, employers issued certificates of competency to successful participants to perform specific jobs.

### ✓ Project "Stop the Gray Economy"

The Employment Agency, in cooperation with the Tax Administration, Police Administration, Administration for Inspection Affairs, Customs Administration and the Ministry of Transport and Maritime Affairs, implemented the Program "Stop the Gray Economy". The goals of this program are to support young people in solving the problem of unemployment by raising their work capacity, as well as to support the suppression of the gray economy in the labour market.

The program covers 210 unemployed persons with higher education, up to 30 years of age and with work experience of a minimum of nine months. Program participants were employed and trained in a real working environment to provide technical support and assistance to officials of the

Administration for Inspection Affairs - 64 participants, the Police Directorate - 44, the Tax Administration - 84 and the Customs Administration - 14 participants and the Ministry of Transport and Maritime Affairs - 4 in suppression of informal business. The work tasks of the program participants were determined by the operational plan of in-service training and were carried out with continuous mentoring, in the period from 15 June 2020 to 15 January 2021. During the implementation of the program, participants practically applied the acquired knowledge, but also adopted new knowledge through the detection of activities related to the gray economy, and immediately after the implementation of the program they will receive a certificate of competence to perform related tasks. Females participated with 62.38% (131) in the total number of participants in this program. Observed by regions, the most of the included persons were in the municipalities of the Northern region - 110 persons (52.4%), then in the municipalities of the Central region - 77 persons (36.6%), while the least persons were included in the municipalities of the Coastal region 12 persons (11 %). One person with a disability (0.48%) participated in the mentioned program.

# ✓ Innovated program for continuous stimulation of employment and entrepreneurship in Montenegro

21 loan applications were submitted in 2021, the realization of which would create 23 new jobs. Out of this number, 8 applications (or 38.1%) were submitted by unemployed women. Three legal entities applied for loans, the realization of which would create 5 new jobs. In 2020, 11 loans were financed, which are intended for the creation of 13 new jobs. Out of this number, 8 financed loans (72.3%) are for unemployed persons and 3 loans (27.7%) for legal entities.

## Professional/vocational rehabilitation and employment of persons with disabilities

The Law on Professional Rehabilitation and Employment of Persons with Disabilities stipulates that the Employment Agency of Montenegro organizes the Fund for Professional Rehabilitation and Employment of Persons with Disabilities and that the Fund's funds are primarily provided from special contributions paid by employers who have not met the prescribed quota when employing persons with disabilities. These funds are paid into the Budget of Montenegro. According to the Law, the Fund's funds can be used for: measures and activities of professional rehabilitation for unemployed and employed persons with disabilities, co-financing of special employment organizations, active employment policy programs in which persons with disabilities participate, subsidies, financing of grant schemes and financial aid for participants in vocational rehabilitation measures.

In 2016, a total of 210 persons were included in vocational rehabilitation measures, from the records of all regional units. Employers who employed persons with disabilities were granted the right to a wage subsidy for 245 persons with disabilities. Financing of employment projects for persons with disabilities - grant schemes - during 2016, 53 projects of professional rehabilitation, active employment policy and employment of persons with disabilities were implemented.

In 2017, 183 persons were included in professional rehabilitation measures. The right to a wage subsidy was exercised by 218 employers for 336 employed persons with disabilities. Financing of employment projects for persons with disabilities - grant schemes - Article 39 of the Law on Professional Rehabilitation and Employment of Persons with Disabilities prescribes that the Fund's funds can be used, among other things, to finance grant schemes. In accordance with that, the Rulebook on the Procedure and Methodology for Financing Grant Schemes (Official Gazette of Montenegro, No. 28/14 and 16/16) was adopted, which stipulates that the Agency publishes, at least once a year, a public call for financing employment projects for persons with disabilities - grant scheme.

During 2017, two public calls were announced for the financing of projects for employment of persons with disabilities - grant schemes and the financing of 56 projects was approved. Through these projects, it was planned to include 422 persons with disabilities, of which 265 persons will be employed during the project, and 74 persons will be employed after the completion of the project for a minimum of six months. During 2017, 30 projects were implemented according to the public call

that was announced in 2016, which included 223 persons with disabilities, and for the period of the duration of the projects, 183 persons were employed.

In 2018, 313 persons with disabilities were included in the measures and activities of professional rehabilitation. Wage subsidies for employed persons with disabilities - In 2018, 789 requests for recognition of the right to a wage subsidy for the employment of persons with disabilities were submitted to the Fund for Professional Rehabilitation and Employment of Persons with Disabilities. Grants for adjustment of workplace and working conditions - The right to grants for adjustment of workplace and working conditions was exercised by 22 employers for 24 employees with disabilities. Participation in the financing of personal expenses of assistants (work assistants) - The right to this subsidy was exercised by 17 employers for 19 employees with disabilities (men - 11; women - 8). Financing of employment projects for persons with disabilities - grant schemes - during 2018, two public calls were announced for financing employment projects for persons with disabilities - grant schemes. During 2018, 54 projects were implemented according to public calls, which included 428 persons with disabilities, during the projects 268 persons were employed, and after the completion of the project, 71 persons were employed.

During 2019, 504 persons with disabilities were included in the measures and activities of professional rehabilitation. Wage subsidies for employed persons with disabilities - In 2019, 1,404 applications for recognition of the right to a wage subsidy for the employment of persons with disabilities were submitted to the Fund for Professional Rehabilitation and Employment of Persons with Disabilities. Out of the total number of submitted applications, 649 referred to employed men with disabilities, while 755 referred to employed women with disabilities. Out of the 1,404 applications, 882 related to persons with disabilities who were employed on a temporary basis, and 522 applications related to persons with disabilities who were employed for an indefinite period of time. Most applications for the right to a wage subsidy came from the northern region (814), followed by the central region (398) and the coastal region (192).

**Grants for adjustment of workplace and working conditions -** During 2019, the right to grants for adjustment of workplace and working conditions was exercised by 29 employers for 36 employed persons with disabilities.

**Participation in the financing of personal expenses of assistants (work assistants) -** The right to this subsidy in 2019 was exercised by 43 employers for 60 employed persons with disabilities (men - 32; women - 28).

Financing of employment projects for persons with disabilities - grant schemes - The Employment Agency issued a public call for financing projects for employment of persons with disabilities, after which, in accordance with the prescribed procedure, the financing of 57 projects was approved. Through these projects, 383 persons with disabilities are included, of which 287 persons will be employed during the project, and 134 people will be employed after the completion of the project for a minimum of nine months.

During 2020, 443 persons with disabilities were included in vocational rehabilitation measures and activities, with three contractors: ZOPT - 242 persons, Pamark - 173 persons, and the Center for Vocational Rehabilitation - 28 persons. Out of the total number of included persons, 65.46% are females (290 women).

Wage subsidies for employed persons with disabilities - In 2020, 1,718 requests for recognition of the right to a wage subsidy for the employment of persons with disabilities were submitted to the Fund for Professional Rehabilitation and Employment of Persons with Disabilities, of which 575 requests referred to the extension of this right. Out of the total number of applications submitted, 806 referred to employed men with disabilities, while 912 referred to employed women with disabilities. Out of 1,718 requests, 1,099 referred to persons with disabilities who were employed for a definite period of time, and 619 requests referred to persons with disabilities who were employed for an indefinite period of time.

As of 31 December 2020, 1,141 employers are entitled to a wage subsidy for 2,040 persons with disabilities (men - 918; women - 1,122). 920 persons with disabilities are employed for a definite period of time, while 1,120 persons are employed for an indefinite period of time.

**Grants for adjustment of workplace and working conditions** - During 2020, 32 employers submitted to the Fund for Professional Rehabilitation and Employment of Persons with Disabilities 40 applications for the right to grants for the adjustment of the workplace and working conditions.

Two applications for the right to a grant for the adjustment of the workplace and working conditions were rejected on the grounds that the reports of the professional rehabilitation provider/contractor stated that no adjustment of the workplace was necessary.

Participation in the financing of personal expenses of an assistant (work assistant) - In 2020, 27 employers submitted 52 applications for a subsidy - participation in the financing of personal expenses of an assistant (work assistant) to an employed person with a disability. To exercise this right, employers submitted a request for 25 persons with disabilities who established employment for a definite period of time, while 27 persons established employment for an indefinite period of time. One request to exercise this right was rejected. As of 31 December 2020, 67 employers are entitled to a subsidy - participation in financing the personal expenses of an assistant (work assistant) for 97 employed persons with disabilities (men - 57; women - 40).

Financing of projects for employment of persons with disabilities - grant schemes - In accordance with the Rulebook on the procedure and methodology for financing grant schemes (Official Gazette of Montenegro, No. 28/14, 16/16 and 21/19) which stipulates that the Agency publishes at least once a year a public call for financing projects for employment of persons with disability - grant scheme, a public call has been announced for financing projects for employment of persons with disabilities. Based on the mentioned public call, the financing of 52 projects was approved. Through these projects, 420 people with disabilities are included, of which 293 people are employed during the project, and 140 people will be employed after the completion of the project for a minimum of nine months. The implementation of these projects continued in 2021.

#### Financial compensation

Unemployment financial compensation is one of the rights that an unemployed person can exercise, in accordance with the Law on Mediation for Employment and Rights during Unemployment, which entered into force on 30 April 2019.

The right to financial compensation, in accordance with this law, is acquired by an insured person whose employment has been terminated without his consent or guilt, and who at the time of termination of employment has an insurance period of at least nine months continuously or intermittently in the last 18 months.

Financial compensation belongs to an unemployed person from the first day after termination of employment, i.e. cessation of entrepreneurial, professional or other activity as the main occupation, if he/she registers with the Agency within 30 days from the day of termination of insurance and submits a request for financial compensation within this deadline.

The right to financial compensation cannot be exercised by an insured person whose employment has been terminated due to:

- 1) consensual termination of employment;
- 2) dismissal by an employee:
- 3) dismissal by the employer, in cases determined by a special law, except in case of termination of employment after the expiration of the fixed-term employment contract, i.e. termination of employment due to termination of the employee's need for work, due to economic, technological and restructuring changes at the employer, when the employee is paid severance pay;
- 4) fulfilling the conditions for termination of employment by force of law, except in the case of termination of employment due to bankruptcy or liquidation, or in all other cases of termination of work of the employer, in accordance with a special law.

The financial compensation belongs to an unemployed person for a period that depends on the previous length of service insurance, as follows:

- 1) three months if he/she has a service insurance period from nine months to five years;
- 2) six months if he/she has service insurance from five to 15 years;
- 3) nine months if he/she has service insurance from 15 to 25 years;
- 4) 12 months if he/she has service insurance from 25 to 35 years;
- 5) if he/she has more than 35 years of service insurance until re-employment, i.e. until the fulfilment of conditions regarding the age limit or length of service insurance for exercising the right to an old-age pension, in accordance with a special law.

The financial compensation amounts to 120% of the calculated value of the coefficient determined by law and other regulations. Contributions for pension and disability insurance and health insurance are calculated on the amount of financial compensation, in accordance with a special law. In accordance with this, the financial compensation is EUR 108.00 (with contributions for pension and disability insurance and health insurance EUR 134.78).

The number of beneficiaries of financial compensation at the end of 2020 was 12,337. On average, 12,627 unemployed persons exercised this right on a monthly basis.

#### Financial aspect

Share of funds for active employment policy measures implemented by the Employment Agency of Montenegro (ZZCG) in GDP by years:

- *-* 2016 0.06%;
- 2017 0.05%
- 2018 0.08%
- 2019 0.06%
- 2020 0.08%

If we take into account also the funds allocated for professional rehabilitation and employment of persons with disabilities (funds paid on the basis of a special contribution for employment of persons with disabilities in accordance with the Law on Professional Rehabilitation and Employment of Persons with Disabilities), the total share of funds in GDP, for measures of active employment policy and measures of professional rehabilitation and employment of persons with disabilities by years is as follows:

- *-* 2016 0.14%;
- 2017 0.18%
- 2018 0.20%
- *-* 2019 0.24%
- 2020 0.38%

Share of funds for financial compensation in GDP by years:

- *-* 2016 0.23%;
- 2017 0.25%
- 2018 0.26%
- 2019 0.33%
- *-* 2020 0.42%"
- 127. The Governmental Committee took note of the information provided and decided to await the next assessment by the ECSR.

### **RESC 1§1 NORTH MACEDONIA**

- 128. The ECSR concluded that the situation in North Macedonia was not in conformity with Article 1§1 of the Charter on the ground that employment policy efforts had not been adequate in combatting unemployment and promoting job creation.
- 129. The Secretariat recalled that non-conformity on the same ground had persisted since 2008.
- 130. The representative of North Macedonia presented the following information:

"The last Report by the Republic of North Macedonia covering this specific provision from the revised European Social Charter (Article 1 – Paragraph 1), that was submitted in the beginning of April 2020 (our VIIth Report on the implementation of the rESC), provides detailed information on the labour market trends, employment policies, implementation of active labour market measures, strategic and

operational documents and initiatives and all important developments in this respect for the period between 2015 and the end of 2018.

And this is, we believe well noted and understood by the committee of experts and clearly mentioned in the Conclusions of 2020.

However, despite the clear evidence of continuous positive trends and continuous improvements in the labour market situation, the same conclusion still remains in respect to this particular provision from the Charter, stating that "the employment policy efforts have not been adequate in combatting unemployment and promoting job creation".

With this intervention, I would like to complement the previously submitted and provided data and information, by concentrating on the most recent period not covered by our last report, i.e. the period of 2019, 2020 and 2021.

As already pointed out, over the past decade and longer than that, the trends in the labour market in the Republic of North Macedonia have generally been positive, mainly as a result of various implemented policies, strategies, interventions and activities aimed at improving the situation in the labour market, at advancing the business and investment climate in the country, strengthening the human capital, developing labour force skills and competencies, better matching the labour market supply and demand, improving the legislative framework, strengthening the social dialogue practices etc.

Only in 2019, the number of employments in the economy increased by 40,000 new jobs, bringing the total employment rate for the working population (aged 20 to 64 years) to 59.2%. This was also quite significant change compared to the previous decade (2009 –2018), when the number of jobs increased by an average of 14,500 new jobs per year.

Nevertheless, the employment rate and the activity rate are still quite low and unsatisfactory, especially compared to these indicators in countries of the European Union. The low labour force participation rates can be attributed mainly to the lower activity rates of women, young people aged 15-24, as well as people over the age of 50.

Few words about the impact of the Covid-19 crisis...

According to the official data published by the State Statistical Office, in the second quarter of 2020, for the first time, we noted the stagnation of the previously very positive trends in relation to the basic statistical labour market indicators in the country. There was a slight worsening in all indicators, primarily as a result of the global (health and economic) crisis caused by the COVID-19 pandemic. In the activity rate, there was a decrease of almost one percentage point compared to the value from the first quarter of 2020. The employment rate decreased (after a lengthy period of growth) also by one percentage point. And the situation with the unemployment rate also worsened (increased) by 0.5 percentage points. Then, in the third quarter of 2020, we have again a slight improvement in the situation in terms of statistical indicators of activity, employment and unemployment rates, while in the last (fourth) quarter these indicators generally retain the levels of the previous quarter. As a result of these turbulent conditions (caused by the global pandemic), the basic labour market indicators for the whole of 2020, in terms of activity and employment rates, were lower compared to 2019.

Although it was obvious that the pandemic interrupted the positive trends in the labour market in the Republic of North Macedonia, it can also be concluded, that the effects of the pandemic were not significantly affecting the unemployment rate. This is also due to the fact that a significant number of jobs were preserved through the several anti-crisis packages of measures, designed and implemented by the Government during the crisis, with some estimations pointing out that the measures adopted to retain employment prevented the loss of about 60-80,000 jobs.

In addition to the several specific anti-crisis packages specifically designed to provide much needed assistance and support to various sectors of the economy, businesses, workers and other vulnerable and at-risk categories of the population included in the labour market and affected by the current economic and health crisis, the Government also continued its work on preparing the new annual Operational Plan for Active Employment Programmes and Measures and Labour Market Services

for the year - 2021. This OP (adopted also by the national tri-partite Economic and Social Council) was designed and budgeted to cover around 10,300 individuals, with the allocated budget of approx. 25 million €. This represents further increase of the funds allocated to active labour market measures compared to the previous year (2020), by more than 15%. The Youth Guarantee Scheme also continued to be implemented throughout the country, targeting and covering young persons (NEETs) aged 15 to 29.

The beginning of this year (2021) is again characterized with mainly positive developments and outcomes in relation to the basic labour market statistical indicators. There is again a modest increase in the activity and employment rates and further decrease of the unemployment rate.

In this respect, I believe it is very important to emphasise that the latest available data, published by the State Statistical Office (3.12.2021) and based on the Labour Force Survey – for the third quarter (Q3) of 2021 have revealed that the unemployment rate has reached the historically lowest level of 15.7%."

Labour Market trends in the Republic of North Macedonia (LFS):

		2014	2017	2018	2019	2020	Q2 2021	Q3 2021
Activity rate	Total	57.3	56.8	56.9	57.2	56.4	56.2	56.2
	Men	69.3	69.3	69.2	67.8	67.1	67.2	67.3
	Women	45.3	44.3	44.6	46.6	45.7	45.2	45.1
Employment rate (15+)	Total	41.2	44.1	45.1	47.3	47.2	47.3	47.4
	Men	50.1	53.6	54.4	56.6	55.9	55.8	56.3
	Women	32.4	34.6	35.8	38.1	38.4	38.7	38.5
Employment rate (20-64)	Total	51.3	54.8	56.1	59.2	59.1	59.4	59.8
	Men	61.6	65.6	66.6	69.7	68.9	68.9	69.9
	Women	40.8	43.7	45.2	48.4	49.0	49.7	49.4
Unemployment rate	Total	28.0	22.4	20.7	17.3	16.4	15.9	15.7
	Men	27.6	22.7	21.3	16.5	16.7	17.0	16.4
	Women	28.6	21.8	19.9	18.4	15.9	14.3	14.6
Youth Employment rate (15-29)		27.1	30.2	30.9	34.4	33.5	32.6	33.7
Youth Unemployment rate (15-29)		45.1	39.2	37.0	30.5	29.6	28.3	25.0

131. The Governmental Committee took note of the information provided, requested that the next report include in particular information on minority groups and other groups with a higher prevalence of unemployment, and decided to await the next assessment by the ECSR.

### **RESC 1§1 Ukraine**

- 132. The ECSR concluded that the situation in Ukraine was not in conformity with Article 1§1 of the Charter on the ground that employment policy efforts had not been adequate in combatting unemployment and promoting job creation.
- 133. No information was provided ahead of the meeting by the representative of Ukraine.
- 134. The Governmental Committee invited the authorities to provide the relevant information in the next report and decided to await the next assessment by the ECSR.

# Article 1§2 RESC – to protect effectively the right of the worker to earn his living in an occupation freely entered upon.

- 135. The Secretariat presented the main criteria used by the ECSR to assess compliance with Article 1§2 of the Charter. It recalled that Article 1§2 covers three different issues:
  - 1) the prohibition of all forms of discrimination in employment,
  - 2) the prohibition of forced or compulsory labour,
  - 3) the prohibition of any practice that might interfere with workers' right to earn their living in an occupation freely entered upon.
- 136. As regards the prohibition of discrimination in employment, the prohibited grounds of discrimination are sex, race, ethnic origin, religion, disability, age, sexual orientation and political opinion, including on grounds of conscientious objection or non-objection.
- 137. There must be adequate legal safeguards against discrimination in respect of parttime work. In particular, there must be rules to prevent non-declared work through overtime, and equal pay, in all its aspects, between part-time and full-time employee.
- 138. Discrimination is defined as a difference in treatment between persons in comparable situations where it does not pursue a legitimate aim, is not based on objective and reasonable grounds or is not proportionate to the aim pursued. Indirect discrimination arises when a measure or practice applied in an identical manner for everyone, persons having a particular religion or belief, disability, age, sexual orientation, political opinion, ethnic origin, etc. Discrimination may also result from failing to take positive account of all relevant differences or by failing to take adequate steps to ensure that the rights and collective advantages that are open to all are genuinely accessible by and to all.
- 139. Legislation should prohibit both direct and indirect discrimination. In order to make the prohibition of discrimination effective, domestic law must at least provide for the power to set aside, rescind, abrogate or amend any provision contrary to the principle of equal treatment which appears in collective labour agreements, in employment contracts or in firms' own regulations.
- 140. Domestic law must provide appropriate and effective remedies in the event of an allegation of discrimination. Firstly, there must be a right to appeal to a court in case of alleged discrimination. Recognising the right of trade unions to take action in cases of employment discrimination, including action on behalf of individuals and granting groups with an interest in obtaining a ruling that the prohibition of discrimination has been violated the right to take collective action, also contribute to combating discrimination in accordance with Article 1§2 of the Charter. Secondly, there must be a protection against dismissal or other retaliatory action by the employer against an employee who has lodged a complaint or taken legal action. Thirdly, domestic law should provide for a shift in the burden of proof in favour of the plaintiff in discrimination cases. Fourthly, remedies available to victims of discrimination must be adequate, proportionate and dissuasive. Therefore, compensation for all acts of discrimination including discriminatory dismissal, must be both proportionate to the loss suffered by the victim and sufficiently dissuasive for employers. A ceiling on

compensation that may preclude damages from making good the loss suffered and from being sufficiently dissuasive is proscribed.

- 141. States Parties may make foreign nationals' access to employment on their territory subject to possession of a work permit but they cannot ban nationals of States Parties, in general, from occupying jobs for reasons other than those set out in Article G of the Charter. The only jobs from which foreigners may be banned are therefore those that are inherently connected with the protection of the public interest or national security and involve the exercise of public authority.
- 142. Forced or compulsory labour in all its forms must be prohibited. The definition of forced or compulsory labour is based on Article 4 of the European Convention on Human Rights and on Article 2§1 of the ILO Forced Labour Convention (No. 29) which reads: "all work or service which is exacted from any person under the menace of any penalty and for which the said person has not offered himself voluntarily". The non-application in practice of legislation which is contrary to the Charter is not sufficient to bring a situation into conformity with the Charter.
- 143. Prisoners' working conditions must be properly regulated, particularly if they are working, directly or indirectly, for employers other than the prison service. In accordance with the principle of non-discrimination, this regulation, which may be carried out by means of laws, regulations or agreements (particularly where companies act as subcontractors in prison workshops), must concern pay, hours and other working conditions and social protection (in the sphere of employment injury, unemployment, health care and old age pensions).
- 144. Domestic work and work in family enterprises may give rise to forced labour and exploitation, State Parties should adopt legal provisions to combat forced labour in domestic environment and protect domestic workers as well as take measures to implement them.
- 145. Several other practices may be in breach of Article 1§2:
  - iii) Length of service to replace military service (conscientious objection): the length of such replacement must be proportionate to the length of military service and not excessive overall.
  - ii) Minimum periods of service in the Armed Forces (it must be of a reasonable duration and in cases of longer minimum periods due to education or training that an individual has benefitted from, the length must be proportionate to the duration of the education and training. Likewise any fees/costs to be repaid on early termination of service must be proportionate).
  - iii) Workers' right to privacy (under Article 1§2 individuals must be protected from interference in their private or personal lives associated with or arising from their employment situation, in particular through modern electronic communication and data collection techniques).

## **RESC 1§2 Armenia**

- 146. The ECSR concluded that the situation in Armenia was not in conformity with Article 1§2 of the Charter on the ground that:
  - indirect discrimination was not defined and prohibited by the legislation;
  - discrimination was not prohibited in connection with recruitment in employment;
  - there was no protection against discrimination in employment on grounds of sexual orientation:
  - the upper limit on the amount of compensation awarded in discrimination cases could preclude damages from fully compensating the loss suffered and from being a sufficient deterrent:
  - it had not been established that legislation provides for a shift in the burden of proof in discrimination cases;
  - all posts in the civil service were reserved to Armenian citizens;
  - the duration of alternative civil service amounted to an excessive restriction of the right to earn one's living in an occupation freely entered upon.
- 147. The representative of Armenia informed the Committee as regards the first three grounds of non-conformity that according to the new amendments to the Labour Code adopted in September last year, a new article had been incorporated in the code, which defined the notion of discrimination in labour relations and clearly stipulated that discrimination in labour relations was prohibited. The above-mentioned amendment came into force on 19 October 2019. This new article specified in particular that discrimination was a direct or indirect differentiation, exclusion or restriction on the ground of sex, race, skin colour, ethnic or social origin, genetic characteristics, language, religion, worldview, political or other views, ethnicity, property status, birth, disability, age or other personal or social circumstances, the purpose or effect of which is the manifestation of a less favourable treatment in cases of origination and/or revision and/or termination of a collective and/or individual employment relationship; prohibition or denial of the recognition and/or exercise of any right under labour law on an equal basis with others, unless such differentiation, exclusion or restriction is objectively justified for the legitimate aim pursued, and the means used to achieve that objective were proportionate and necessary. In employment announcements and in the process of exercising employment relationships, except practical features, professional experience and qualification, setting of any conditions that could be a ground for discrimination is prohibited, unless it stems from the inherent requirements of the job. In addition to a number of conditions directly mentioned in the said provision, discrimination was considered to be also any direct or indirect differentiation, exclusion or restriction on the grounds of other personal or social circumstances (which may also include sexual orientation).
- 148. The representative of ETUC stated that the information provided did not cover all cases pertaining to direct and indirect discrimination and it did not cover all aspects of employment. Accordingly, it did not appear that this remedied the situation. In particular, there had been no progress with respect to the prohibition of discrimination on the ground of sexual orientation, as there was no explicit guarantee under the amended law.
- 149. The representative of the Russian Federation however contested this assessment.

- 150. In this respect, the Chair concluded that it was preferable to wait for the ECSR's assessment of the new provision. However, the fourth, fifth and seventh grounds on non-conformity remained, and a vote had therefore to be conducted.
- 151. Accordingly, the Governmental Committee proceeded to vote on a recommendation, which was not carried (4 in favour, 8 against and 18 abstentions). Subsequently, a vote on a warning was successfully carried (18 in favour, 2 against and 13 abstentions).

# **RESC 1§2 Azerbaijan**

- 152. The ECSR concluded that the situation in Azerbaijan was not in conformity with Article 1§2 of the Charter on six grounds, two of which had already been examined by the Governmental Committee:
  - it had not been established that protection against discrimination in employment on grounds of sexual orientation was ensured;
  - legislation did not provide for a shift in the burden of proof in discrimination cases;
- 153. Azerbaijan presented the following information:

## "2nd ground:

According to Article 16 of the Labor Code in labor relations no discrimination among employees is permitted based on citizenship, gender, race, religion, nationality, language, place of residence, economic standing, social origin, age, family circumstances, religion, political views, affiliation with trade unions or other public associations, professional standing or other factors unrelated to the professional qualifications, job performance, or professional skills of the employees, nor shall it be permitted to establish privileges and benefits or directly or indirectly limit rights based on these factors. We should note that the "gender" factor specified in Article 16 of the Labor Code also covers the "sexual orientation" factor. Thus, the person's sexual orientation is not asked when filling out the application form during recruitment or hiring, therefore, the person is not subjected to discrimination in employment. As there have been no cases of discrimination on the basis of "sexual orientation" in practice there has not been need to make amendments to the legislation.

Azerbaijan follows the principle that reforms should not be implemented just for the sake of reform. The goal of reforms is to ensure progressive improvement in people's lives. Every nation has its own outlook, values, traditions and peculiarities, which also need to be taken into account.

#### 3rd ground:

According to Article 35 of the Constitution of the Republic of Azerbaijan everyone has the right to work in safe and healthy conditions, to receive remuneration for his/her work without any discrimination not less than the minimum salary established by the state. According to paragraph VI of Article 25 of the Constitution, titled "Right to Equality", persons with disabilities are entitled to all rights and carry all duties enshrined in this Constitution, except in cases when enjoyment of rights and performance of duties is impeded by their limited capabilities.

On May 31, 2018, a new Law of the Republic of Azerbaijan "On the Rights of Persons with Disabilities" was adopted. As specified in Article 5 sub-clause 5.0.5 of this Law non-discrimination on the basis of disability, identifying and upholding the rights of persons with disabilities to equal protection under the law and providing equal enjoyment of legal rights, eliminating any segregation, exclusion or restriction are among the main principles of the state policy with regard to persons with disabilities. As mentioned above, Article 16 of the Labor Code prohibits all forms of discrimination. At the same time, according to the second part of this Article concessions, privileges and additional protection for women, persons with disabilities, persons under the age of eighteen (18), and others

in need of social protection shall not be considered discrimination. Otherwise in accordance with Part 3 of this Article employers or other individuals that permit discrimination among employees in the labor relations process shall assume the corresponding responsibility in the manner established in the legislation. A person subject to discrimination during his/her employment may seek recourse in a court of law.

According to the second part of Article 50 of the Labor Code, there shall be no announcement of the competition only for members of the same gender, except as provided by law. According to Article 154 of the Labour Code employee wages may not be reduced in any way, nor may employees be paid less than the minimum wage set by the State in violation of Article 16 of this law banning discrimination.

According to Article 77 of the Civil Procedural Code of the Republic of Azerbaijan each party shall prove circumstances used as grounds for its claims and objections.

Therefore, no changes have been made to the legislation regarding the burden of proof".

- 154. The representative of France asked whether discrimination on the ground of sexual orientation was explicitly prohibited. The representative of Azerbaijan replied that there was a prohibition on discrimination which included sexual orientation and that no cases or complaints had been lodged with the courts in this respect.
- 155. The representative of ETUC stated that the lack of cases did not prove that there was no problem but rather a lack of clarity that the general criteria of gender discrimination covered sexual orientation.
- 156. The representative of the Russian Federation contested this assessment and stated that the Charter did not mention explicitly sexual orientation as a ground of discrimination but that it only transpired from the ECSR's case-law. According to him, the ECSR was not a judicial body and had no conventional prerogative to interpret the Charter.
- 157. Several representatives expressed their disagreement with this position. The Chair recalled that the ECSR was the only body with the competence to interpret to Charter and that the State Parties were bound by it. He added that the role of the Governmental Committee was to prepare the decisions of the Committee of Ministers and not to interpret the decisions of the ECSR. It could only take decisions on the basis of political and economic aspects but not on legal grounds.
- 158. The Governmental Committee proceeded to vote on a recommendation, which was not carried (0 votes in favour, 11 against and 23 abstentions). Subsequently, it adopted a warning with 22 votes in favour, 6 against and 7 abstentions.

## **RESC 1§2 Cyprus**

- 159. The ECSR concluded that the situation in Cyprus was not in conformity with Article 1§2 of the Charter on the ground that the duration of alternative military service amounting to almost three years was excessive and constituted a disproportionate restriction on the right to earn a living freely entered upon.
- 160. The Secretariat explained that the ECSR had repeatedly concluded since 2002 (Conclusions 2002, Conclusions 2004, Conclusions 2006, Conclusions 2008, Conclusions 2012, Conclusions 2016) that the situation was not in conformity on this ground. The

Governmental Committee had examined the situation in 2009 and noted that the legislation governing alternative service for conscientious objectors had been amended in 2007 and that the duration of alternative service had been reduced. Military service currently lasted 24 months, while alternative service had been reduced from 42 to 34 months and special military service from 34 to 30 months. The Governmental Committee had taken note of the information provided and decided to await the next assessment of the ECSR, which was then negative. It also examined the situation in 2004, when it had taken note of the information provided and had similarly decided to await the next assessment of the ECSR.

161. Owing to insufficient information, the ECSR reserved its position on the prohibition of discrimination in employment, in particular on the ground of sexual orientation, race and ethnic origin, and nationality, as well as in relation to the employment of refugees. It also requested information to establish that there was appropriate and effective remedies in the event of an allegation of discrimination, a shift of the burden of proof from the complainant to the respondent in judicial/extra-judicial proceedings and the existence and functioning of remedies in cases of alleged discrimination in employment. The representative of Cyprus presented the following information:

"Regarding the Committee's request for information on legislation targeted at combating discrimination on grounds of race and ethnic origin, the Equal Treatment in Employment and Occupation Law of 2004 (L58(I)/2004), fully harmonized with the Equality Framework Directive 2000/78/EC and the Race Equality Directive2000/43/EC providing for a solid framework for combating discrimination on the grounds of disability, sexual orientation, religion or belief and age in access to work, conditions of employment and/or dismissals and pay and access to vocational training, as well as implementing the principle of equal treatment between persons irrespective of racial or ethnic group, as regards employment and occupation. As per the provisions of the mentioned legislations, discrimination on grounds of race and ethnic origin is specifically addressed (Section 3), the burden of proof is on the employer if a prima facie case exists (Section 11), positive action is endorsed (Section 9) and any form of direct or indirect discrimination or other form of harassment is a penal offense (article 15). Again, the legislation is fully harmonized with the Equality Framework Directive 2000/78/EC and the Race Equality Directive 2000/43/EC providing for a solid framework for combating discrimination on grounds of race and ethnic origin. The legislation is implemented through the appointment of inspectors (Section 19). Concrete actions and additional measures for the improvement of the implementation of the legislation are being taken continually. such as the creation of the new Inspectorate Service in June 2017, the new legislation that provides for enhanced powers for the inspectors and additional administrative fines, passed into law on 22/07/2020 (Law 88(I)/2020) and the new IT system "ERGANI" that facilitates and enhances labour inspection, which was developed from 2018 until 2021 and is fully operational and being launched on 13/09/2021.

Regarding the Committee's comment on discrimination on the grounds of sexual orientation, in addition to Section 6 as mentioned in the conclusions, Section 9 of the Law provides for positive actions, stating that a favorable treatment on the grounds of, inter alia, sexual orientation, is not considered as discrimination when the aim is to prevent or compensate for disadvantages linked to, inter alia, sexual orientation. As for specific actions taken, see par. 1.1. above for the creation of the new Inspectorate Service in June 2017, the new legislation that provides for enhanced powers for the inspectors and additional administrative fines, passed into law on 22/07/2020 (Law 88(I)/2020) and the new IT system "ERGANI" that facilitates and enhances labour inspection, which was developed from 2018 until 2021 and is fully operational and being launched on 13/09/2021, as these actions are also towards combating all forms of discrimination.

More favorable provisions to the minimum requirements of Directive 2000/78 are offered as regards equal treatment (Section 13). The Commissioner for Administration and Protection of Human Rights (Ombudsman) is the competent Authority dealing with issues of equal treatment in employment and occupation and combating racism with powers both in the public and private sectors and tasked to

enforce the above legislation as well as Law No. 42(I) of 2004 implementing Directive 2000/43/EC of 2000-06-29 to combat racial and other kinds of discrimination (Commissioner for Administration).

In addition to the general comments in par. 1.1. above, it is important to stress that citizens of the Republic of Cyprus who are members of the Turkish Cypriot community have equal access to employment, utterly regardless of which community they belong to constitutionally. The Public Employment Services (PES) offer placement (in the Government controlled areas) and vocational quidance services to Turkish-Cypriot and Roma jobseekers, irrespective of whether they live in the Government controlled areas or in the Turkish occupied areas. They are offered support in finding an appropriate job position and information about the subsidized employment programmes implemented by the Department of Labour and the training programmes organized by the Human Resource Development Authority. Not only can they apply and participate in these programmes, but they are also encouraged and supported in every possible way in doing so. The employees of the regional (PES) Offices, include Turkish, as well as English speaking Employment Counsellors, The website of the Department of Labour has information in Greek, English and Turkish. Online information in the Turkish language explains the procedure and the required documents for registering as unemployed including contact information of all Labour Offices. To ensure the best possible guidance of Turkish Cypriots on employment issues, the Department of Labour operates a telephone line service in the Turkish language. Information material, in the Turkish language, is also available at all Labour Offices.

For the Roma specifically, the overall government policy approach is to promote integration through horizontal policy measures targeting vulnerable groups within existing broader social inclusion policies and structures (e.g., general social inclusion policies and the National Reform Programme). The targets for increasing employment and reducing poverty and social exclusion are particularly relevant. The Roma can benefit from inclusion measures for vulnerable groups and nondiscrimination actions, co-financed by the European Social Fund as well as from Urban Development actions, co-financed by the European Regional Development Fund. Dialogues with local authorities take place in Cyprus, in order to better understand and address the problems each local authority faces. Roma issues are an integral part of those dialogues where such populations exist. In 2016, the Social Welfare Services undertook an EU-funded project, the Cyprus National Roma Platform with the objective to create a forum for disseminating information and enhancing knowledge to facilitate consultation on Roma issues, promote dialogue, mutual respect and exchange of information and good practices, building on a climate of cooperation and transparency. Discrimination and equality issues were also addressed and the provisions of the European framework for the integration of Roma and of the European Council recommendations were discussed. The greatest advantage of the meetings was the participation of the Roma population and their contribution. The number of Roma participants was not consistent but fluctuated based on the theme of the meetings. When they did participate, the exchange and the dialogue that took place was very productive. This was the first forum to be created where all stakeholders, including the Roma themselves, could meet and actively seek solutions to challenges facing the Roma population.

Regarding the burden of proof in cases of alleged discrimination in employment, according to Section 11(1) of the Equal Treatment in Employment and Occupation Law, the burden of proof in cases of alleged discrimination in employment, the above legislation requires according to section 11(1) a shift of the burden of proof is indeed shifted from the complainant to the respondent in civil judicial proceedings and particularly at the Industrial Disputes Tribunals because the conflict which arises under this law is considered as a labour dispute. The same evidence rule is followed according to section 11(2) by the Ombudsman.

Regarding sanctions, in Section 15, the above-mentioned Law provides for criminal sanctions for persons (natural and legal), in the event of conviction, with penalties such as imprisonment, fine or both. Additionally, the new Inspectorate Service Law (L.88(I)/2020) provides for additional immediate administrative fines (Section 10) of up to €5.000 or €10.000 for repeat offenders as well as additional sanctions as detailed in the legislation.

Remedies available to victims of discrimination, include administrative procedures whereby a complaint can be placed with the Department of Labour Relations and in this case a formal procedure

is launched, calling for the employer to submit all relevant material, as the burden of prove is on the employer to prove compliance. In case of a successful administrative or judicial procedure regarding discrimination in employment, including for discriminatory termination of employment, remedies include fair and reasonable compensation covering at least all the positive damage incurred according to section 12(3) of Law 58(I)/2004 as well as additional compensation for unlawful termination of employment as per section 3 of Termination of Employment Law (L. 24/1967), with the burden of proof again on the employer who has to prove that the termination of employment had been lawful. There is currently a pending case at the Industrial Disputes Tribunals regarding discrimination on the grounds of age under Law 58(I)/2004. All citizens of the Republic of Cyprus, including Roma and Turkish Cypriots, residing in Cyprus have free access to the labour market. The Public Employment Services (PES) offer all jobseekers, without any discrimination, assistance in finding employment, through registration, job search and placement services, which include vocational guidance, personalized counseling and referrals to training programmes and job Furthermore, all citizens of the Republic of Cyprus, regardless of the community or religious group they belong to, can participate in the Employment Subsidization Schemes operated by the Department of Labour.

EU citizens have equal and unrestricted access to employment. Recognized refugees and persons with the status of Subsidiary Protection, as well as all victims of trafficking and/or sexual exploitation, also have equal and unrestricted access to employment and all services provided by the PES. Asylum seekers have access to specific sectors of employment, regulated by a ministerial decree. The range of these sectors was significantly expanded in 2019. Other non-EU citizens legally residing in Cyprus and holding a valid work permit have access to employment on the same footing as Cypriot citizens.

Regarding the procedure for the employment of non-EU nationals, in order to safeguard the smooth operation of the labour market, based on the developing conditions in the economy and in an effort to better utilize the local labour force, the Department of Labour examines applications and grants permits to employers for the employment of non-EU nationals, for pressing, short term needs in the labour market, in certain economic fields and occupations which cannot be filled by any a Cypriot or EU national or other person legally residing in the country with unrestricted access to the labour market. A Ministerial Committee examines at regular intervals possible issues that may arise with regards to the employment of non-EU nationals and to ensure that migrant workers are treated on equal terms with nationals as regards terms and conditions of employment. The Committee examines suggestions, takes into account the developments in the labour market and the needs of the economy and institutes administrative adjustments in relevant procedures. Furthermore, the creation of the new Inspectorate Service in June 2017, the new legislation that provides for enhanced powers for the inspectors and additional administrative fines, passed into law on 22/07/2020 (Law 88(I)/2020) and the new IT system "ERGANI" that facilitates and enhances labour inspection, which was developed from 2018 until 2021 and is fully operational and being launched on 13/09/2021, are all policies towards safeguarding workers' rights, including those of a migrant background.

# Forced Labour and labour exploitation Criminalization and effective prosecution

In relation to the ILO Convention No. 189 concerning decent work for domestic workers, Cyprus is in the final stages of introducing new legislation ratifying Convention No. 189, for the effective protection, inspection, and prosecution of domestic work infringements. We expect it to be in effect by the end of 2021 or early 2022, depending on the House of Parliament proceedings. Both the ratifying law and the enforcement law, have received approval by the Council of Ministers, underwent public consultation, and are currently being legally vetted before being submitted to the House of Representatives to be enacted into law.

#### Prevention

When there is reasonable ground to suspect violation of human rights and fundamental freedoms during an investigation, the complaint is forwarded to the Commissioner for Administration and the Protection of Human Rights (Ombudsman) for further investigation.

In May 2017, an Inspectorate Service was set up at the Ministry of Labour, Welfare and Social Insurance with the purpose of combatting illegal and undeclared work, as well as monitoring the implementation of all legislation protecting the rights of workers. In July 2020 a Law providing for enhanced powers of the Inspectorate Service was enacted, strengthening the legislative framework of tackling undeclared work and contributing to the enhancement of inspections for all forms of labour exploitation. The inspectorate is given extended powers and works under the ministry of labour to carry out targeted inspections based on a risk analysis. The Ministry of Labour, Welfare and Social Insurance is constantly working on increasing the capacity of the Inspectorate Service and is currently planning various actions which will be co-funded through ESF+ with a budget of 8.5 million, which include the development of district inspection units of the Inspectorate Service. Modern software currently being developed, such as the comprehensive "ERGANI" system for labour inspections that is being launched on 13/09/2021, will make the monitoring of the workplace more efficient and effective.

#### Protection of victims and access to remedies, including compensation

In 2019-2020 the Department of Labour Relations (DLR) examined three cases regarding human trafficking. In one case, the complaint was forwarded to the Office of Combating Trafficking in Human Beings (Police) and the Social Welfare Services for further investigation. In another case, upon the request of the Office of Combating Trafficking in Human Beings (Police), the DLR investigated the complaint of a recognized trafficking victim regarding owed salary, and the investigation led to the full payment of the owed amount. The third case was the result of a joint inspection with the Police, where two migrant workers and possible trafficking victims were found. The DLR, ensured for the payment of appropriate fines by the employer, amounting to the salary and annual leave owed to the workers.

## "Gig economy" or "Platform economy" workers

Employment law applies to all employees and does not exclude platform workers. There is no specific legislation for this particular category of employees who are entitled to all rights and benefits in terms of employment and working conditions. The new Inspectorate Service and relevant legislation / IT systems mentioned in par. 2.3. above has a broad mandate, as well as all the relevant means, to protect the rights of platform and gig economy workers. Especially with the utilization of the "ERGANI" system from 13/09/2021, which provides for risk analysis, these kinds of employees and employers are to be prioritized further.

In case an employee feels that their rights are being violated they have the right to file a complaint with the Department of Labour Relations in order to be investigated. Specifically regarding cases of "false self-employed workers" in the gig economy or platform economy, the affected persons have the right to file a complaint with the Director of the Social Insurance Services, who has enhanced capacities and powers to investigate whether they were employees or self-employed and apply the relevant remedies. However, the Government, having recognized the need to be able to adapt to an ever-changing socioeconomic environment where new forms of employment are gaining traction, such as gig or platform work, intends to overhaul the Social insurance legislation in order to enhance social protection for all regardless of the type and duration of employment by extending and improving coverage in particular for the self-employed or new forms of employment. These reforms of the Social Insurance legislation are part of the overall "Reform of the Social Insurance System and Restructuring of the Social Insurance Services" which is included in the Recovery and Resilience Plan of Cyprus and its implementation has already begun according to a specific timeline.

# Work of prisoners and other aspects of the right to earn one's living in an occupation freely entered upon

According to a 2016 Decision of the Council of Ministers, the duration of full military service was reduced from 24 to 14 months. Consequently, the duration of the alternative social service for those recognized as conscientious objectors was reduced accordingly from 33 to 19 months. The alternative social service is equal to a full or reduced service, plus:

- a. Five (5) months, if they were due to fulfil a full military service of fourteen (14) months.
- b. Four (4) months, if they were due to fulfil a military service between six (6) months and less than a full service.
- c. Three (3) months, if they were due to fulfil a military service shorter than six (6) months.

Legislation regarding the National Guard, has been harmonized according to the EU Legal framework. Any reforms required i.e duration of full military service or alternative social service are undertaken by the Ministry of Defense. One should not ignore though the special conditions due to the continued illegal occupation of 36.2% of the territory of the Republic of Cyprus by Türkiye since 1974 especially when promoting implementation of the indicated guidelines set occasionally by the European Community".

162. The Governmental Committee noted the information provided and decided to await the next assessment by the ECSR.

# **RESC 1§2 Russian Federation**

- 163. The ECSR concluded that the situation in the Russian Federation was not in conformity with Article 1§2 of the Charter on four grounds, three of which had been previously examined by the Governmental Committee:
  - indirect discrimination was not expressly prohibited by law;
  - discrimination on grounds of sexual orientation in employment was not expressly prohibited by law;
  - foreign nationals could not be employed in the municipal and state service, which constitutes a discrimination on grounds of nationality;
  - the legislation did not provide for a shift in the burden of proof in discrimination cases.
- 164. The Secretariat explained that the situation of non-conformity persisted since 2016 owing to serious shortcomings in law and practice. In 2020 the ECSR concluded to non-conformity on four grounds, three of them to be discussed by the Governmental Committee: (i) legislation did not provide for a shift in the burden of proof; (ii) indirect discrimination did not defined and prohibited, (iii) discrimination on grounds of sexual orientation in employment was not expressly prohibited by law. The Governmental Committee examined the situation and decided to address a strong message to the Russian Federation regarding the grounds of non-conformity relating to non-discrimination. It emphasised that discrimination on the ground of sexual orientation should be enshrined in domestic legislation. It urged the Russian Federation to take measures to bring the situation into conformity with the Charter. As to the fourth ground, the Governmental Committee took note of the information provided and invited the Russian authorities to provide detailed information regarding the international agreements and statistics on the employment of foreign nationals to civil service posts. Meanwhile, it decided to await the next assessment of the ECSR.

- 165. The representative of ETUC asked why all grounds of non-conformity were not included, and the Secretariat explained that only the most urgent cases and severe cases were selected for discussion.
- 166. The representative of the Russian Federation stated that there was a long list of grounds under which discrimination was prohibited already in the legislation, namely Article 3 of the Labour Code (ender race, family, social status, age, religion, beliefs, belonging to social groups and other circumstances). The Russian representative indicated that his authorities were of the view that such wording specifically covered sexual orientation. He added that there were also court decisions which showed that there had been protection against discrimination. As regards the shift of burden of proof, the Supreme Court's decision of March 2004 on application by courts of labour law showed that it had been provided in some cases.
- 167. The representatives of ETUC and Ireland asked whether there had been a legislative change since the ECSR conclusion. The Russian Representative responded that Article 3 of Labour Code complied with Article 1 of the ILO Convention on Discrimination (Employment and Occupation) (No. 111).
- 168. The UK representative asked how the burden of proof can be applied consistently if the ground of sexual orientation is not enshrined in legislation. The representative of the Russian Federation repeated that sexual orientation was included under "other circumstances" and that no explicit recognition was necessary.
- 169. The Governmental Committee reiterated its message to the Russian Federation to remedy the situation and to explain in its next report how it had been changed, in particular, as regards the jurisprudence of courts. It decided to await the next assessment by the ECSR.

## **RESC 1§2 Serbia**

- 170. The ECSR concluded that the situation in Serbia was not in conformity with Article 1§2 of the Charter on three grounds, one of which had been examined previously by the Governmental Committee: it had not been established that legislation provided for a shift in the burden of proof in discrimination cases.
- 171. The representative of Serbia presented the following information:

"The new Law on Prohibition of Discrimination, adopted in May 2021 (Official Gazette, No. 21/09 and 52/21), prescribes the following: Anyone who has been harmed by discriminatory treatment has the right to file a lawsuit. The lawsuit may request:

- 1. prohibition of the act that poses a threat of discrimination, prohibition of further committing the act of discrimination, and prohibition of repeating the act of discrimination;
- 2. determination that the defendant acted in a discriminatory manner towards the plaintiff or another person:
- 3. execution of an action for the purpose of eliminating the consequences of discriminatory conduct:
- 4. compensation for material and non-material damage;
- 5. publication of the judgment rendered in connection with some of the lawsuits in the cases mentioned above.

The plaintiff may, with the lawsuit, during the procedure, as well as after the end of the procedure, until the execution is carried out, request that the court temporarily prevent discriminatory treatment

in order to eliminate the danger of violence or greater irreparable damage. The court is obliged to make a decision on the proposal for the issuance of an interim measure without delay, and no later than within three days from the day of receipt of the proposal.

# Rules on the burden of proof

If the court finds that an act of direct discrimination has been committed or if it is undisputed between the parties, the defendant cannot be released from liability by proving that he is not guilty. If the plaintiff shows that it is probable that the defendant committed an act of discrimination, the burden of proving that the act did not violate the principle of equality, i.e. the principle of equal rights and obligations, shall be borne by the defendant.

It is clear from the above that the legislation in Serbia stipulates that the burden of proof in cases of discrimination is on the defendant and not on the plaintiff".

172. The Governmental Committee noted the information provided and decided to await the next assessment by the ECSR.

# **RESC 1§2 Türkiye**

- 173. The ECSR concluded that the situation in Türkiye was not in conformity with Article 1§2 of the Charter on five grounds, three of which had been examined previously by the Governmental Committee:
  - there was no specific legislation on the prohibition of discrimination on grounds of sexual orientation;
  - the upper limits on the amount of compensation that may be awarded in discrimination cases could preclude damages from fully compensating the loss suffered and from being sufficiently dissuasive;
  - it had not been established that civil servants were sufficiently protected against arbitrary suspensions or transfers.
- 174. The representative of Türkiye presented the following information:

# "First ground of non-conformity:

there is no specific legislation on the prohibition of discrimination on grounds of sexual orientation;

The legislations regarding the work life in the Turkish Legal System are based on the core principle of equality. Legal arrangements that can prevent all kinds of discrimination are available in our legislation at every stage, beginning from the Constitution.

All forms of discrimination are prohibited in Türkiye according to the ratified ILO Convention No: 111, the Article 10 of the Turkish Constitution, Article 122 of the Turkish Penal code, Article 417 of the Turkish Code of Obligations, Article 5 of the Labour Code and several articles of the Law on Human Rights and Equality Institution. All these mentioned legal arrangements contribute to ensure protection against all kinds of discrimination. According to Article 10 of the Constitution, everyone is equal before the law regardless of language, race, color, sex, political thought, philosophical belief, religion and similar reasons. The phrase of "similar reasons" in the first paragraph of Article 10 provides that this Article can be widely interpreted and serve as a shield against discrimination of all kinds. In the same Article, the responsibility of the administration is stated as "state organs and administrative authorities are obliged to act in compliance with the principle of equality before the law in all their proceedings."

Article 5 of the Labour Code provides that "it is forbidden in the work environment to discriminate on grounds of language, race, sex, political opinion, philosophical belief, the religion, confession and other ground". Although discrimination based on age and on sexual orientation does not appear among the expressly mentioned grounds, the Turkish Authorities and courts consider that the expression of other similar ground includes these kinds of discriminations and then it could be possible to say that discrimination based on sexual orientation in the employment are prohibited by the national legislation. Indeed, the court decisions confirm that the above-mentioned Article of the Labour Code prohibits discrimination based on age and/or on sexual orientation. In addition, a "Department for disadvantaged groups" has been established in the Ministry of Labour and Social Security. This department has the role of ensuring social inclusion and of increasing the participation of disadvantaged groups in the labour market and preventing discrimination against them in employment.

According to the article 417 of the Turkish Code of Obligations, "the employer has to protect and respect the personality of worker during service relation, maintains order in line with principles of honesty, and is responsible for taking necessary measures to prevent psychological and sexual abuse against workers and to minimize the effects of such abuse if any."

According to Penal Code Article 122; any person who makes discrimination between individuals because of their racial, language, religious, sexual, political, philosophical belief or opinion is sentenced to imprisonment from six months to one year or imposed punitive fine. By the way, pursuant to Penal Code Article 105; if a person is subject to sexual harassment by another person, the person performing such behavior is sentenced to punishment from three years to two years upon complaint of the victim. In case of commission of these offenses by undue influence based on hierarchy or public office or by using the advantage of working in the same place with the victim, the punishment to be imposed is increased. If the victim is obliged to leave the business place for this reason, the punishment to be imposed may not be less than one year.

On the other hand, as it is known that the Ombudsman Institution has been established in 2012 by Law No 6328. The purpose of the Institution is to establish an independent and efficient complaint mechanism. The Ombudsman Institution shall comply with the principles of good administration and monitor whether the acts and actions of the administration are fulfilled with an understanding of human rights based justice and in conformity with the principles of good administration such as compliance with laws, prevention of discrimination, and so on. A person subject to a discrimination based on sexual orientation can also apply to the Ombudsman Institution in order to search his/her rights.

Furthermore, the Law on Human Rights and Equality Institution, No. 6701 was enacted on the date of 20 of April, 2016. Türkiye had its Human Rights Institution established by Law no. 6332 in June 2012. The Human Rights Institution has now been restructured and replaced by the Human Rights and Equality Institution. The Human Rights and Equality Board is the decision-making body of the Institution.

Article 3 of the Law on Human Rights and Equality prohibits discrimination based on gender, race, colour, language, religion, belief, denomination, philosophical and political opinion, ethnic origin, wealth, birth, marital status, health, disability and age. The list of prohibited grounds is exhaustive. In the news report of European Network of Legal Experts in Gender Equality and Non-discrimination, it is evaluated that "this is an exhaustive list that cannot be extended by the judiciary but only through legislation. This does not mean that courts have no role. Sex is protected but not sexual orientation, gender reassignment or transsexuality under this Law. These groups are only marginally outside the delineated boundaries and the courts can easily re-characterize sex in order to bring these groups within the scope of protection like the leading decisions of the Court of Justice applying prohibition of sex discrimination arising from the gender reassignment of a person or transsexuality." In the light of this assessment, it could be said that this Equality Law No: 6701 has grand protection against discrimination in employment, also on the grounds of sexual orientation.

The field of employment and self-employment is regulated in a separate Article. Pursuant to Article 6, discrimination is prohibited in all stages of employment, including getting information, application,

section criteria, hiring criteria and working and termination of the employment. This Article 6 also covers all kinds of contracts of work and performance not falling into the scope of the Labour Law.

The law adopts the principle of leaving the burden of proof to the opposite party. It means that the law provides for a shift in the burden of proof in favour of the plaintiff in discrimination cases in accordance with the Charter, EU acquis and other related international legislations. Accordingly, in the individual applications to be made regarding the prohibition of discrimination, in case the applicant establishes the existence of strong indications and presumptive facts about the reality of his/her claim, the opposite party must prove that he/she has not violated the principle of discrimination and the principle of equal treatment. According to Article 25 of the Law on the Human Rights and Equality, if any discrimination has been done by the administrations, organizations and / or private legal entities and individuals, the Human Rights and Equality Institution may impose administrative sanctions and fine on institutions, organizations and / or private legal entities and individuals. Under the light of all these explanations, we believe that there is sufficient protection against discrimination, including the grounds of sexual orientation and Türkiye is in conformity with the Charter in this manner.

### Fourth ground of non-conformity:

the upper limits on the amount of compensation that may be awarded in discrimination cases may preclude damages from fully compensating the loss suffered and from being sufficiently dissuasive;

Legal framework in discrimination is summarized in the first ground of non-conformity. In addition to the above explanation, in cases of discrimination, the employee may request the compensation not only on the basis of Article 5, 17 and 21 of the Labour Code but also on the basis of the Code of Obligations and Civil Code and also the Law on Human Rights and Equality Institution.

The provisions in Civil Code and Code of Obligations should be taken into account also in the employment relations. It is considered possible for the employee to demand financial and moral compensation due to the attacks arising from the employment relationship to his/her personal rights within the framework of general provisions of the Civil Code and Code of Obligations. If it is the case, the ceiling calculations for compensation between four and eight months' wages stipulated in Articles 17 and 21 of the Labour Law are not valid for the compensation of financial and moral damages. It means that there is no upper limit for the compensation for financial and moral damages under the framework of the Civil Code and Code of Obligations.

The Human Rights and Equality Institution will investigate discrimination upon complaint and exofficio and to fine people and public/private legal entities in cases of discrimination. It will also offer guidance to victims about administrative and legal procedures. In order to provide for effective, proportionate and dissuasive penalties in cases of the breaches of the discrimination prohibition, administrative fines can be imposed by the Board. In determining a fine, the gravity of the violation, the perpetrator's economic status, and multiple discrimination, if any, shall be considered as an aggravating factor.

In the light of all these explanations, we believe that the upper limits on the amount of compensation that may be awarded in discrimination cases may compensate the loss suffered and Türkiye is in conformity with the Charter in this manner.

#### Fifth ground of non-conformity:

It has not been established that civil servants are sufficiently protected against arbitrary suspensions or transfers.

A constitutional referendum was held throughout Türkiye on 16 of April 2017. As a result of this referendum, some amendments of the Turkish constitution accepted. By these amendments, some articles under the Part III - Extraordinary administration procedures of the Constitution were deleted in 2019. One of the deleted Articles was the Article 122 which was related with the Martial law, mobilization and state of war. Then the government focused on structural changes that complement

this constitutional reform. In accordance with this development, Martial Law Number 1402 could not have a base coming from the Constitution and as a result of this amendment, martial law 1402 was removed by the Law Amending Some Laws and Decree Laws Number 7145, dated 25 July, 2018.

Firstly, we would like to give brief information about the legal framework for the matters necessitated by the state of emergency.

Following the failed coup attempt by the Fetullah Gülen Terrorist Organization (FETÖ) on 15 July 2016 to overthrow the legitimate government and the president of the Republic of Türkiye, which claimed the lives of 246 people and wounded more than 2000, the Council of Ministers took a decision on 20 July 2016 to declare a state of emergency for 90 days as of 21 July 2016 in accordance with Article 120 (Declaration of state of emergency because of widespread acts of violence and serious deterioration of public order) of the Turkish Constitution and Paragraph 1(b) of Article 3 of the State of Emergency Act No.2935. This decision of the Council of Ministers was approved by the Turkish Grand National Assembly (TGNA) in its plenary session on 21 July 2016. State of emergency has been extended for a period of 90 days by a decision of the Council of Ministers on 5 October 2016, which was approved by the TGNA on 11 October 2016.

Article 120 of the Constitution with its title reads as follows:

"2. Declaration of state of emergency because of widespread acts of violence and serious deterioration of public order

ARTICLE 120- In the event of serious indications of widespread acts of violence aimed at the destruction of the free democratic order established by the Constitution or of fundamental rights and freedoms, or serious deterioration of public order because of acts of violence, the Council of Ministers, meeting under the chairpersonship of the President of the Republic, after consultation with the National Security Council, may declare a state of emergency in one or more regions or throughout the country for a period not exceeding six months."

On the other hand, Article 121 of the Constitution stipulates that during the state of emergency, the Council of Ministers, meeting under the chairpersonship of the President of the Republic, may issue decrees having the force of law on matters necessitated by the state of emergency. In accordance with this Article, rules regarding the states of emergency are to be stipulated by an Act on State of Emergency and any restriction or suspension of fundamental rights and freedoms must be in line with the principles laid down by Article 15 of the Constitution.

Article 15 of the Constitution with its title is as follows:

"IV. Suspension of the exercise of fundamental rights and freedoms

ARTICLE 15- In times of war, mobilization, martial law, or a state of emergency, the exercise of fundamental rights and freedoms may be partially or entirely suspended, or measures derogating the guarantees embodied in the Constitution may be taken to the extent required by the exigencies of the situation, as long as obligations under international law are not violated.

(As amended on May 7, 2004; Act No. 5170) Even under the circumstances indicated in the first paragraph, the individual's right to life, the integrity of his/her corporeal and spiritual existence shall be inviolable except where death occurs through acts in conformity with law of war; no one shall be compelled to reveal his/her religion, conscience, thought or opinion, nor be accused on account of them; offences and penalties shall not be made retroactive; nor shall anyone be held guilty until so proven by a court ruling."

Turkish Constitution stipulates in its Article 14 that the rights and freedoms enshrined in the Constitution cannot be exercised as activities aiming to violate the indivisible integrity of the State with its territory and nation, and to endanger the existence of the democratic and secular order of the Republic based on human rights. In accordance with the second paragraph of this Article no provision of this Constitution shall be interpreted in a manner that enables the State or individuals to destroy the fundamental rights and freedoms or to stage an activity with the aim of restricting them more extensively than stated in the Constitution.

In accordance with the provisions of Article 129 of the Constitution the civil servants are obliged to carry out their duties with loyalty to the Constitution and the laws. The status of the civil servants and their rights, duties and responsibilities are regulated by the Civil Servants Act No.657 of 14.07.1965. The loyalty of the civil servants to the Constitution and the laws and implementation of their provisions in objectivity and equity is an obligation that is also stipulated by Article 6 of this Act, and they are required, under Article 7, not to become members of political parties, and not to act for the benefit of political parties or groups or individuals or with a view to harm them, and not to discriminate on the grounds of language, race, gender, political thought, philosophical believe, religion or sect, and not to act or give statements with political or ideological purposes in any way.

Article 7 further stipulates that civil servants must protect the interests of the State and are obliged not to carry out any activity that is contrary to the provisions of the Constitution and the laws or harm the independence and the integrity of the country or endanger the security of the Republic, and they cannot join or assist any movement, group, organization or association that carry out the same kind of activities.

Article 125 of the Act No.657 prescribes the actions and situations that call for the disciplinary punishment. Subparagraph E(I) of Article 125 stipulates that acting in cohort with the terrorist organizations or helping them or using or making available public means and resources to assist these organizations or making propaganda for these organizations is an act that shall be punished with the dismissal from the public service. Article 137 of the Act No.657 regulates the suspension from work whereby a civil servant is suspended during an investigation as an administrative precaution. Those civil servants who are suspended or arrested or detained for any criminal offence continue to receive 2/3 of their salaries.

Within the framework outlined above, on the matters necessitated by the state of emergency and with the aim of establishing public order and assuring fundamental rights and freedoms, several decrees with the force of law have been issued. Dismissal or suspension procedures of the civil servants who are deemed to be member or affiliate of or in liaison or cohort with the terrorist organizations or the structures, entities or groups that are considered by the National Security Council as operating against the national security of the State are conducted in pursuance of the provisions of the State of Emergency Act No.2935 and the Civil Servants Act No.657 and the Decrees with the Force of Law issued in the aftermath of the above-mentioned coup attempt. There have been also many cases that dismissal decisions were revoked or suspension orders were lifted as a result of ongoing investigations. Furthermore, under Article 125 of the Constitution, recourse to judicial review is available against all actions and acts of administration. It should be underlined that the fight against the perpetrators of the coup attempt which aimed to abolish fundamental rights and freedoms and free democratic order established by the Constitution is carried out in conformity with the international and national law and the measures taken with respect to the civil servants who are deemed to be member or affiliate of or in liaison or cohort with the terrorist organizations or the structures, entities or groups that are considered by the National Security Council as operating against the national security of the State are also in conformity with the international and national law.

Türkiye is in a reforming process in recent years in every field of life. But on the other hand, Türkiye is also fighting with terrorism. All amendments in our legislation have to take into attention our countries specific conditions and on the other hand the related International documents. As being a democratic country, Türkiye tries to tackle all terrorist attacks in accordance with our Government's commitment to respect human rights under the several international instruments that Türkiye ratified. It is very well known that almost every country has emergency legislation. Most of the emergency legislation may include similar provisions. Türkiye maintains a transparent approach with regard to the measures taken after the terrorist coup attempt, as well as the measures taken within the context of fight against terrorism which per se constitutes a grave human rights violation.

As Türkiye has faced serious and multi-dimensional security threats since 15th of July, 2016, the state of emergency was declared on the date of 20th of July 2016 and removed on the date of 18th of July, 2018. The state of emergency had been declared with an aim to be able to take swift and effective steps required eliminating this threat against our democracy, rule of law and the rights and

freedoms of our citizens. The state of emergency was not affecting daily lives of citizens or visitors travelling to Türkiye and it did not include restrictions to fundamental rights and freedoms. Unfortunately, more than 10 thousand public employees participated in the coup attempt. This is the greatest reason for the need of dismissals of some public employees. Objections to dismissal from public service are examined by public bodies. Individuals who believe they have been wrongfully dismissed can apply to crises centers which exist in every province. Among those people, who had applied to crises centers and claimed that they had been wrongfully dismissed, some were reappointed to their original posts after investigations exonerated them.

The State of Emergency Procedures Investigation Commission was established with a decree law number 685 on Jan. 23, 2017 in order to receive applications regarding state of emergency rulings. The tenure of the Commission is extended by the end on January 2022. The applications are expected to focus especially on removals or dismissals from public service and educational institutions, as well as the closure of organizations. Objections will no longer be appealed to only one institution, but to this center which will act as a court. With this new regulation, those whose appeal was considered justified will receive their rights back. Those whose appeal was not considered justified will also have the right to appeal to domestic legal institutions and then also international legal institutions.

The Inquiry Commission on the State of Emergency measures reviews and concludes the applications concerning the measures adopted under the state of emergency decree-laws, such as the dismissal of public officials, cancellation of scholarship, annulment of the ranks of retired personnel and the closure of some institutions. The Commission employs a total of 240 personnel, 75 of whom are rapporteurs (judges, experts, inspectors). The Commission started its decision-making process on 22 December 2017 and as of 28 May 2021, the Commission has delivered 115,130 (14,072 accepted, 101,058 rejected) decisions. 61 of the acceptance decisions are related to the opening of organizations that were shut down (associations, foundations, television channels). The number of applications submitted to the Commission is 126,674 as of 28 May 2021. Regarding the number of the decisions delivered by the Commission (115,130), the number of pending applications is 11,544. Accordingly, 91 percent of the total applications have been decided since the date of the beginning of the Commission's decision-making process.

The decisions of the Commission are circulated to the institutions where the persons lastly took office for the purpose of being notified. The procedure of appointment of those whose applications were accepted is carried out by the institution where they lastly took office and the Council of Higher Education where relevant. An annulment action may be brought before the Ankara Administrative Courts determined by the Council of Judges and Prosecutors against the decisions of the Commission and the institution or organization where the relevant person lastly took office, within a period of sixty days as from the date of notification of the decision.

The applicants are able to acquire information on the stage of the applications filed with the Commission and the outcome of the decision ("acceptance" or "rejection") through the app of "The Inquiry Commission on State of Emergency Measures- Application Follow-up System" on the Commission's website. The activity report of the Commission was published on the Commission's website and can be accessed at <a href="https://soe.tccb.gov.tr/">https://soe.tccb.gov.tr/</a>

As an effective remedy, the Commission delivers individualized and reasoned decisions as a result of speedy and extensive examination. The Commission conducts the examination in terms of membership, affiliation, connection or contact with terrorist organizations or structures/entities or groups established by the National Security Council as engaging in activities against the national security of the State. In addition, decisions taken by the judicial authorities are monitored through the UYAP system.

According to paragraph 1 of Article 11 titled "Judicial Review" of "the Act No7075 on the adoption as amended of the Decree with the Force of Law on the establishment of the Inquiry Commission on the State of Emergency Measures" in effect as from its publication in the Official Gazette of March 8, 2018, an annulment action may be brought before the Ankara Administrative Courts determined

by the Council of Judges and Prosecutors against the decisions of the Commission and the institution or organization where the relevant person lastly took office, within a period of sixty days as from the date of notification of the decision.

In accordance with the relevant Act, the 19th and 20th Administrative Courts were designated by the High Council of Judges and Prosecutors in the Ankara Administrative Court for the annulment cases to be filed against the decisions of the Inquiry Commission. However, later 21st, 22nd, 24th and 25th Administrative Courts were also established due to increase in the number of decisions taken by the Inquiry Commission and the work overload in the first two courts. So decisions by the Inquiry Commission continue to be examined in six courts in total. Various statistics including transactions have been rendered on the Inquiry Commission decisions have been published by the Ankara Regional Administrative Court in its 2019 annual report.

Accordingly, the transactions have been rendered on the Inquiry Commission decisions and the average completion times of six administrative courts to complete the Inquiry Commission proceedings are presented in the table below:

Court	Number of Files Received During the Year (2019)	Number of Files Transferred from the Previous Year	Number of Decisions	Clearing Rate* (%)	Average Completion Time (Day)
Ankara 19th Adm. Court	6361	6287	4276	67	347
Ankara 20th Adm. Court	6313	6589	5763	91	304
Ankara 21st Adm. Court	6718	5927	3350	50	251
Ankara 22nd Adm. Court	6393	5947	4731	74	272
Ankara 24th Adm. Court*	11358	0	3134	28	191
Ankara 25th Adm. Court**	9163	0	589	6	_***
Total	25 785	24 750	18 120	70 %	

In Türkiye, fundamental rights and freedoms are under the protection of the Constitution. Apart from the right for everyone to seek judicial review against all actions and acts of the administration, every person may apply to the Constitutional Court alleging that the public power has violated any of his fundamental rights and freedoms secured under the Constitution, which falls into to scope of the European Convention on Human Rights.

The Constitutional Court's website can be accessed at https://www.anayasa.gov.tr/en/individual-application/.

We would like to indicate one more time, Türkiye as a democratic state of law will follow its commitment to respect human rights under the several international instruments that Türkiye ratified".

175. The representative of the Russian Federation pointed to the fact that sexual orientation was not part of legislation, but that legislation may cover it. He stressed that Russia opposed to the requirement of the explicit recognition of sexual orientation.

- 176. Discussions followed after which the Chair proposed that the Bureau of the Governmental Committee examine the issue of the sexual orientation requirement. He stressed that the situation under the second and third grounds remained serious, and working methods had to be applied.
- 177. The Governmental Committee proceeded to vote on a recommendation with respect to the second ground of non-conformity, which was not carried (7 votes in favour, 10 against and 15 abstentions). Subsequently, it carried a warning with 21 votes in favour, 4 against and 11 abstentions. As regards the third ground of non-conformity, following a vote on a recommendation which was not carried (10 votes in favour, 5 against and 20 abstentions), the Governmental Committee adopted a warning with 20 votes in favour, 4 against and 9 abstentions.

# **RESC 1§2 Ukraine**

- 178. The ECSR concluded that the situation in Ukraine was not in conformity with Article 1§2 of the Charter on three grounds, one of which had already been examined by the Governmental Committee: it had not been established that legislation provided for a shift in the burden of proof in discrimination cases.
- 179. The representative of the UK asked whether the Ukrainian authorities intended to amend the law concerning the shift in the burden of proof in discrimination cases and whether the defendant has to disprove the evidence. The representative of Ukraine stated that it was a topic for discussion in Ukraine. Discrimination in the labour context fell within the remit of the Ministry of Economy, and the representative had no new information to share regarding this issue.
- 180. The Governmental Committee requested that the relevant information be provided in the next report and decided to await the assessment by the ECSR.
- Article 15§1 RESC to take the necessary measures to provide persons with disabilities with guidance, education and vocational training in the framework of general schemes wherever possible or, where this is not possible, through specialised bodies, public or private.
- 181. The Secretariat presented the main criteria used by the ECSR to assess compliance with Article 15§2 of the Charter. It recalled that under Article 15 all persons with disabilities, irrespective of age and the nature and origin of their disabilities, are entitled to guidance, education and vocational training in the framework of general schemes wherever possible or, where this is not possible, through specialised bodies, public or private.
- 182. The questions raised in this cycle of supervision focused exclusively on the education of children with disabilities.
- 183. In order to assess the effective equal access of children with disabilities to education, the ECSR needed states parties to provide information, covering the reference period, on:
  - the number of children with disabilities, including as compared to the total number of children of school age;

- the number and proportion of children with disabilities educated respectively in:
  - mainstream classes.
  - special units within mainstream schools (or with complementary activities in mainstream settings)
  - in special schools
- the number and proportion of children with disabilities out of education;
- the number of children with disabilities who do not complete compulsory school, as compared to the total number of children who do not complete compulsory school;
- the number and proportion of children with disabilities under other types of educational settings, including:
  - home-schooled children
  - attending school on a part time basis
  - in residential care institutions, whether on a temporary or longterm basis
- the drop-out rates of children with disabilities compared to the entire school population.

# **RESC 15§1 Romania**

- 184. The ECSR concluded that the situation in Romania was not in conformity with Article 15§1 of the Charter on the ground that the right of children with disabilities to mainstream education and training was not effectively guaranteed.
- 185. The Secretariat recalled that it was a longstanding ground of non-conformity, predating 2003, except a deferral in 2012 (Conclusions 2003, Conclusions 2007, Conclusions 2008, Conclusions 2016), resulting from a complex and multi-facetted problem connected with the lack of or insufficient access for children with disabilities to mainstream education. The Governmental Committee examined the situation in 2009, 2010 and 2017. In 2009 (with respect to Conclusions 2007) the Governmental Committee urged the Government of Romania to bring the situation into conformity with Article 15§1 in respect of the children left out of education as soon as possible. In 2010 (with respect to Conclusions 2008) it issued a warning, and in 2017, it took note of the information and explanations provided and decided to await the ECSR's next assessment.
- 186. The representative of Romania presented the following information:

"In Romania, the education of persons with disabilities is part of the national education system, coordinated by the Ministry of National Education and is achieved, depending on the type and degree of disability, through:

- a) mainstream education;
- b) special integrated education, organized in mainstream education;
- c) special education;
- d) education at home or at the health care units;
- e) other alternative educational variants, adapted to the individual educational requirements.

Children and young persons with disabilities and / or special educational needs, integrated in mainstream education, benefit from educational mentoring by support and itinerant teachers and they also have the right to study and be instructed in their native language. Within the educational process, regardless of its level, persons with disabilities have the right to educational support services, technical equipment adapted to the educational requirements of the disabled person,

including computer applications or devices for transformation written or spoken text in alternative forms of visual, auditory, augmentative communication, as the case may be.

In accordance with the provisions of the Methodology for evaluation and integrated intervention for the inclusion of children with disabilities in a degree of disability, for the school and professional guidance of children with special educational needs, as well as for the empowerment and rehabilitation of children with disabilities and / or special educational needs, the complex assessment of the child with disabilities and / or special educational needs (SEN) is carried out by the Complex Child Assessment Service (CAS). This involves establishing the level of knowledge and the degree of assimilation and their correlation with the child's possibilities and intellectual level, the level of adaptation to the school and social environment, as well as the identification of barriers and special educational needs.

It is also stipulated that the school and professional orientation should be achieved with priority towards inclusive education, respectively in mainstream education units, in accordance with the international treaties to which Romania is a party. The support measures aim at both preventing and combating attitude barriers, as well as environmental barriers by reasonably adapting the educational unit in which the child learns and are included in the individualized services plan. The National Education Law, no. 1/2011 provides that for special education there must be curricula, school programmes, psycho-pedagogical assistance programmes, textbooks and alternative teaching methodologies, adapted to the type and degree of disability, approved by the Ministry of Education.

In order to promote inclusive education, a strategic collaboration has been initiated between the Ministry of Labour and Social Solidarity / National Authority for the Rights of Persons with Disabilities, Children and Adoptions and the Ministry of Education, from the perspective of the education of children with disabilities and special educational needs. The objective is the collaboration between the parties in order to ensure respect for the right of the child/young person to receive a quality education, enabling their intellectual and psycho-emotional development in an inclusive school environment.

In the school year 2019 - 2020, at national level, a number of 1429 support teachers, 2196 school counsellors and 601 speech teachers were employed, for a total of 4410 students with special needs and/or disabilities integrated in mainstream education. Also, in 221 special education units, in the school year 2019 - 2020, 24922 preschoolers and pupils with various types of disabilities were included. Starting with the 2018-2019 school year, students with visual impairment / hearing impairment / autistic spectrum disorder / specific learning disability have access to assistive technology for the national exams, based on an Equal Opportunities Procedure developed by the Ministry of Education.

Also, starting from the 2020-2021 school year, separate places have been allocated for pupils with special educational needs (SEN) in mainstream and special education in mainstream secondary and vocational education units, over and above the number of places allocated to the respective education units, within the limit of 1-2 additional places per class, in compliance with the legal provisions on the constitution of pupil groups. Information on the separate places allocated in mainstream education units for candidates with special educational needs: enrolment conditions, enrolment deadline, secondary schools to which the places are allocated, etc. is published by each school inspectorate in the admission brochure.

According to the data provided by the school inspectorates, for the school year 2020-2021, a number of 1934 places have been allocated in mainstream secondary education, separately for candidates with special educational needs, of which 506 places have been filled, and for the school year 2021-2022, a number of 4525 places have been allocated in mainstream secondary and vocational education".

187. In the light of the lack of substantial change to the situation, the Governmental Committee proceeded to vote on a recommendation, which was not carried (4 votes in favour, 4 against and 20 abstentions). Subsequently, it carried a warning with 25 votes in favour, 5 against and 3 abstentions.

Article 15§2 RESC - to promote their access to employment through all measures tending to encourage employers to hire and keep in employment persons with disabilities in the ordinary working environmentand to adjust the working conditions to the needs of the disabled or, where this is not possible by reason of the disability, by arranging for or creating sheltered employment according to the level of disability. In certain cases, such measures may require recourse to specialised placement and support services;

188. The Secretariat recalled that Article 15§2 of the revised Charter requires the state parties to promote the access of persons with disabilities to employment through all measures tending to encourage employers to hire and keep in employment persons with disabilities in the ordinary working environment and to adjust the working conditions to the needs of persons with disabilities or, where this is not possible by reason of the disability, by arranging for or creating sheltered employment according to the level of disability. In certain cases, such measures may require recourse to specialised placement and support services.

# **RESC 15§2 Romania**

- 189. The ECSR concluded that the situation in Romania was not in conformity with Article 15\\$2 of the Charter on the ground that persons with disabilities were not guaranteed effective access to employment.
- 190. The representative of Romania presented the following information:

"According to law no. 448/2006 regarding the Protection and Promotion of the Rights of Disabled Persons, any disabled person wanting to integrate or reintegrate in labor has a free access to professional evaluation and orientation, irrespective of his/her age, disability type and degree. The disabled person who is educated and has the appropriate age in view of professional integration, the person without a job, the person without professional experience, or the person who, although employed, wants a professional reconversion will benefit from professional orientation.

The disabled persons are entitled to the creation of all the conditions for choosing and exercising their profession, trade or occupation, to acquire and maintain a job and to be promoted from a professional point of view, public authorities having the obligation to initiate and develop forms of stimulating employers, in view of employing and maintaining disabled persons, including by encouraging them to adapt working hours and norms. For the integration of people with disabilities into employment, employers shall ensure their access to suitable employment, where appropriate, in accordance with their functional potential and adaptability.

A person with a disability shall be guaranteed equal opportunities in the workplace and shall be provided with accessibility of the workplace and adaptation of tasks in accordance with his/her functional potential. In order to stimulate the employment of people with disabilities, public authorities and institutions, public legal entities, are obliged to organize employment competitions exclusively for people with disabilities, in compliance with the legal provisions in force. This measure does not exclude the possibility for persons with disabilities to participate in all other employment competitions

organised by the public institution. 7607 people with disabilities were employed in public institutions at the end of March 2021.

People with disabilities can be employed on the free labor market, at home and in protected forms such as protected workplace or authorized protected units. The total number of authorized protected units in Romania is 262 in which 1052 persons with disabilities are employed.

The disabled persons looking for a job or employed have the following rights:

- vocational training courses;
- reasonable adaptation at the workplace;
- counseling during the pre-employment period, during the employment, and during the trial period, by a counselor specialized in labor mediation;
- a paid trial period upon employment, of at least 45 working days;
- paid prior notice, of minimum 30 working days, granted upon the termination of the individual labor contract from the initiative of the employer for reasons not imputable to him/her;
- the possibility to work less than 8 hours per day, as provided by law, in case he/she benefits from the recommendation of the evaluation commission in this regard;

To support people with disabilities, non-reimbursable external funds have been accessed to provide assistive and access technologies and devices. Thus, the project "Facilitating the labour market integration of people with disabilities" is being implemented, within the framework of projects cofinanced by the Human Capital Operational Programme (POCU) - Priority Axis 3 - Jobs for all. The implementation period of the project is between 2019 and 2023. The project provides activities to increase the employability of people with disabilities in the labour market, thus continuing the sustained approach to ensure social inclusion. Within the project, the beneficiaries, persons with disabilities looking for a job, receive vouchers that can be used exclusively for the purchase of technologies and assistive devices and access technologies, other than those financed by the Single National Health Insurance Fund under social health insurance system. Vouchers have a maximum value of 23,000 lei (4650 euro).

The general objective of the project is to ensure the access of persons with disabilities, on an equal footing with others, to the physical, informational and communication environment in order to increase the employment opportunities and the share of people with disabilities employed in the free labor market. By default, in order to be eligible for this project, the person with a disability must be able to work and not have completely lost their ability to work (the right to work). The target group of the project includes 7000 persons with disabilities unemployed, inactive people, people looking for a job that will be informed, advised and mediated. The project also grants subsidies to employers for the employment of 200 persons with disabilities, as well as providing financial support to employers for the accessibility of 200 jobs.

Project results recorded between May 2019 - September 2021:

- 1111 persons included in the target group who received support (information and professional counseling services, employment mediation or vocational training);
- 436 employed persons;
- 419 vouchers issued.

Regarding resonable accommodation, during 2015 - 2021, the National Agency for Benefits and Social Inspection carried out yearly inspection campaigns to ensure that disabled persons enjoy proper access to buildings used for different purposes. Out of 9409 public and private entities checked, 23.489 measures to remedy the deficiencies were ordered and 244 fines in a total amount of 1.321.000 lei (267.000 euro) have been granted".

191. The Governmental Committee noted the information provided, requested that Romania submit a full report with figures so that the ECSR can take an informed position, and decided to await the next assessment by the ECSR.

Article 15§3 RESC - to promote their full social integration and participation in the life of the community in particular through measures, including technical aids, aiming to overcome barriers to communication and mobility and enabling access to transport, housing, cultural activities and leisure.

188. The Secretariat recalled that Article 15§3 of the Charter requires the state parties to promote the full social integration and participation of persons with disabilities in the life of the community in particular through technical aids, measures aiming to overcome barriers to communication and mobility and enabling access to transport, housing, cultural activities and leisure. The ECSR considers that Article 15 reflects and advances the change in disability policy that has occurred over the last two decades, away from welfare and segregation and towards inclusion, participation and agency. In light of this, the ECSR emphasises the importance of the non-discrimination norm in the disability context and finds that this forms an integral part of Article 15§3. The ECSR also refers in this respect to Article E on non-discrimination.

# **RESC 15§3 Hungary**

- 192. The ECSR concluded that the situation in Hungary was not in conformity with Article 15§3 of the Charter on the ground that it had not been established that persons with disabilities had effective access to housing.
- 193. The representative of Hungary presented the following information:

"Over the last decade, there has been a paradigm shift in the Hungarian disability policy, which meant a focal transition from medical issues to human rights as an approach. In general, the medical approach focused on the physical injuries and missing abilities of the persons concerned, and emphasised finding a cure for them as the main task. In contrary, the human rights approach focuses on the active and autonomous and sovereign social participation of persons with disabilities.

There are currently 12,000 people with disabilities and 8,000 people with psychosocial disabilities in Hungary living in homes providing nursing and care. Even with the best professional management, large institutions are not able to provide personalized services due to their location and infrastructure.

In 2011, the Hungarian Government adopted a strategy on rearranging the capacities of residential social institutions providing nursing and care, and supporting the independent lifestyle of people in these institutions. The process is still ongoing. With the replacement of more than 10,000 people, many of whom have spent their lives in institutional environment, we consider it essential that the transition is realized as part of a process, with appropriate training for those currently living in the institution and the personnel.

The deinstitutionalisation process is not only a housing and infrastructure development, i. e., the emphasis is not on moving from a larger institution to a smaller housing unit, but on genuine and effective social integration.

The result of the process, which began nine years ago, is the introduction of supported housing in the Social Act in 2013, the revision of deinstitutionalisation strategy to harmonize it with the Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities (CRPD), and the fact that almost 1,700 people now live independently in supported housing in Hungary.

Supported housing in Hungary is a flexible combination of various forms of housing and supportive services, where housing and supportive services are separated from each other. Supported housing

services provide appropriate conditions for housing and social services for people with disabilities, people with psychosocial disabilities, and persons with addictions in accordance with their age, health condition and self-care skills. The provided service is based on a complex needs assessment (taking into account the necessary intensity of support, the existing abilities and the users' will) and it is modified in parallel with possibly changing circumstances when necessary.

The service element system for supported housing was introduced on 1 January 2017, and is provided in addition to housing services, case management and other social inclusion services. The service elements provided to service users are selected on the basis of a complex needs assessment. Nine service elements (supervision, nutrition, care, skills development, counselling, pedagogical assistance, special education assistance, transportation and household or household support) are listed, which cover a broad range of possible activities.

The Government's commitment to fight the issue is reflected in the level of state support for housing, and by the fact that it differentiates financing from other social services in a unique way, on the basis of actual support intensity.

As of 1 January 2020, in case of supported housing for people with disabilities, additional support is provided for maintainers who care for persons with increased or high caring needs, based on actual care intensity and on a complex needs assessment. As a result of this positive change, financing meets the actual amount of care needed, and it motivates service providers to support persons with higher needs.

It is important to emphasize that support for independent living is increasing in the field of services in Hungary, and not only in the context of deinstitutionalisation. Apart from the aforementioned process, more and more service providers are developing supported housing, and promote the effective participation of persons with disabilities and psychosocial disabilities in community life. Approximately half of the places were created through the renovation of a couple of apartments scattered throughout the country. The territorial distribution of supported housing illustrates it well, since despite the limited EU funding available in the Central Hungarian region, only 7% of the total capacity is operated in Budapest.

Strengthening basic social services, community-based services and capacity building are essential for successful deinstitutionalization. Our goal is clear: to continue the deinstitutionalization process and develop supported housing as well as related services as necessary.

In the planning for EU funds 2021-27, our priority is to strengthen access to basic services, not only by increasing the number of services, but also by improving access to services, for example by extending opening hours, and taking into account the needs of people with disabilities.

On the last day of December 2020, 11,323 people with disabilities and 7,404 psychiatric patients were in long-term care. On the same day, 34,994 people with disabilities or psychiatric patients received support under a basic social service, while 1,624 people were in supported housing.

# "Call for proposals for the "Development of an info communication-based teleservice to support the everyday life of people with disabilities"

In order to improve the access of people with disabilities to public services and to strengthen the process of social inclusion, the EFOP 1.1.5-17, a call for proposals has been launched for the "Development of an infocommunication-based teleservice to support the everyday life of people with disabilities" in April 2017. The aim of the project is to support people with disabilities to achieve as much independence and autonomy as possible, through the provision of infocommunication services implemented within the framework of the project.

The Hungarian Government considers the results achieved in the project important, and therefore, by its Government Decision 1287/2021 (20. V.), it supports civil organizations (NGOs) implementing the project with additional resources on top of their annual grant.

• ECSR declared that the situation in Hungary has not been in conformity with Article 15(3) of the Revised European Social Charter, as the Government did not provide sufficient information on whether Hungary's anti-discrimination procedures provide adequate protection for persons with disabilities. In this context, information is requested on cases on discrimination against people with disabilities since the beginning of the reference period of the 16th Report (1 January 2015), including, in addition to court proceedings, the Equal Treatment Authority (hereinafter: ETA) and the Commissioner for Fundamental Rights.

The Fundamental Law, the CRPD and the domestic legislation create the legal basis and framework for equal access, the enforcement of which requires further effective measures and the formation of social attitudes and legal awareness activities. This is confirmed by the numerous complaints received by the Ombudsman on the subject, according to inquiry reports drawn up in recent years.

To summarize public interest notifications received in the protected electronic system operated by the Commissioner for Fundamental Rights (hereinafter: Ombudsman), pursuant to Section 4 (1) of the Act CLXV of 2013 on complaints and public interest notifications, since 2015, 18 cases were handled during the reference period, of which 6 were about discrimination issues, mainly with regard to protection certificates.

The integration of the ETA and the Office of the Ombudsman for Fundamental Rights (hereinafter: the Office) was merged. Employees of the predecessor organization were fully transferred to the successor organization from 1 January 2021.

## Case reports of Ombudsman for Fundamental Rights

#### Case No. AJB-343/2015:

Due to lack of experts and other material means, children with special educational needs who could be educated in an integrated system were not getting the development recommended by the educational consultant or the board of experts. Recommendations made by the Ombudsman were accepted by the addressees, who adopted the measures encouraged by the Ombudsman.

## Case No. AJB-2709/2016:

The excessively high workload of professional guardians, their low, sometimes uneven remuneration, and as a consequence, the low number of professional guardians, the high turnover rate in the profession, as well as the extraordinarily high number of dependents per one professional guardian did not guarantee that the fundamental rights of the wards would be fully represented.

As regards to the training and further training of professional guardians, the Ombudsman highlighted that the fees of such training programs showed considerable differences between counties. Furthermore, the then relevant practice and structure, as well as the outdated syllabus of the training of professional guardians, and the lack of further training materials resulted in such detrimental consequences for the wards that the system of guardians in its respective state did not guarantee that the fundamental rights of the dependents were fully enforced and supported.

The Ombudsman raised attention to the fact that the legal technical solution, as part of which professional guardians had been retrained to become professional supporters in merely six months, and the legal institution of supported decision-making had been incorporated into the system of public guardianship offices, carried the risk of the occurrence of fundamental rights improprieties.

#### Case No. AJB - 257/2017:

At a certain institution, typical problems of residential care homes with a high number of patients were observed: for example, an extraordinarily high number of patients (218), deficient objective conditions (bathrooms, toilets, beds and mattresses), as well as deficient personal conditions (lack of care provider staff), or the lack of barrier-free accessibility (equal access). All these problems compelled the staff to regularly apply contingency arrangements (group bathing of the patients, use

of cage beds, barred doors) and they also brought about a strong decline in the professional standards of care. These circumstances caused improprieties related to the rights of disabled persons living in the Institution. The Ombudsman turned to the Minister of Human Capacities, the head of the institution, as well as the supervising authority thereof, with his measures.

#### Case No. AJB-3751/2021:

The Ombudsman repeatedly visited the Institution; a change of ownership took place, an institutional replacement program has started.

#### Case No. AJB-258/2017:

Legislative and enforcement practices were not uniform regarding either the definition of the concept of a common household or the requirements for proof during the administration process of supporting people with disabilities to have access to cars. The relevant Government Decree did not prescribe which documents would be accepted as proof of cohabitation in a common household for more than one year, nor did it provide a definition for the concept of a common household.

#### Case No. AJB-336/2017:

During a call for applications regarding a certain program, the call for proposals excluded persons who were partially or completely restricted in their capacity to act from the list of applicants. The Ombudsman asked the competent minister to arrange for legal guardians to apply for any subsequent tenders,, and for persons with limited legal capacity who are not restricted in this regard to apply for themselves. The report was adopted with the consent of the Minister of National Development.

#### Case No. AJB-494/2017:

The Ombudsman drew attention to the need for integrative and tailor-made kindergarten education of special needs children.

#### Case No. AJB-1672/2017:

The Ombudsman reviewed the enforcement of the right to education of students with grave and multiple disabilities, finding a number of violations of fundamental rights (e.g. lack of personal and material conditions).

#### Case No. AJB-1837/2017:

The Ombudsman disclosed instances of negligence and practices that violated the law in the access to education of children with special needs, i. e., a lack of experts and the impossibility for such children to get to school.

#### Case No. AJB-172/2017:

Taxation, as a contribution to common needs, is an obligation of everyone under the Fundamental Law of Hungary. In the Ombudsman's view, it was essential that one of its tools, the use of a cash register, be made accessible to blind and partially-sighted workers on an equal basis.

# Case No. AJB-437/2017:

It infringed a number of fundamental rights that according to the relevant legislation, only a lightweight, folding wheelchair could be transported with the patient in an ambulance, while an electric wheelchair could not. The addressees of the Ombudsman's recommendations agreed on the need to review the legislation.

# Case No. AJB-470/2017:

Retaliation was caused by the administrative practice and decision challenged in a complaint, when it did not allow the complainant, who was severely impaired in his communication, to have access to the only advanced assistive technology device which could be used effectively (a semi-mouse).

#### Case No. AJB-1881/2017:

The regulation which, when delivering registered items, required in general the presence of an adult witness for blind and visually impaired persons, and ignored the writing skills and personal circumstances of individuals, infringed fundamental rights.

#### Case No. AJB-767/2016:

The measures of Wizz Air Hungary Ltd. (hereinafter: Company) which – due to the complainant's assistance dog having been recorded at an inappropriate register before his/her travel, caused an interruption in the complainant's journey – were against the law. As the Company took actions in its own competence to avoid possible consequences of the case, the Ombudsman did not initiate any measures.

## Case No. AJB-5442/2016:

The Ombudsman's investigation stated that it was a harmful practice of a certain Company not to allow the online purchase of discounted tickets for people with disabilities. The information on ticket prices and discounts was incomplete; and their definition of guide dogs did not include the concept of assistance dogs, only guide dogs for people with impaired vision. The Ombudsman addressed the CEO of the Company with his recommendations.

### Case No. AJB-135/2017:

The lack of free and direct access to an authentic register which would allow to determine whether a person is under guardianship, who his/her guardian is and how the guardian can be reached, was liable to create systemic unpredictability and thus an abuse of the requirement of legal certainty. The Ombudsman asked the Minister of Justice to consider the creation of such a public register, taking into account data protection considerations.

# Case No. AJB-1359/2016:

According to Hungarian regulations, the withdrawal of a certain amount of money in Hungary is free of charge from an ATM two times a month, whereas a fee is charged when the process is done in person at a bank. However, persons under guardianship are not entitled to have a debit card and to withdraw money from an ATM, therefore, they cannot benefit from cost-free withdrawal. The Ombudsman asked the legislator to ensure the gratuity of cash withdrawal for persons who do not have a debit card. The legislation has been amended accordingly.

#### Case No. AJB-1414/2019:

During an enforcement proceeding, the car of a debtor of impaired physical mobility had been seized, in spite legislation explicitly forbidding the seizure of vehicles in such cases. This could have happened as the bailiff was unaware of the plaintiff's disability. In order to prevent such cases, the Ombudsman initiated the amendment of legislation which would introduce an obligation during enforcement proceedings to cross-check whether a parking card for persons with disabilities had been issued. The legislation has not yet been amended.

#### Case No. AJB-1499/2019:

At the complaint of an NGO, the Ombudsman raised his concerns about relevant legal regulations not allowing therapy dogs in healthcare facilities. The relevant legislation has been consequentially modified.

#### Case No. AJB-1096/2018:

Legislation concerning the registration of real-estate prescribed that legally relevant statements be made exclusively in the form of written documentation with no exceptions. The Ombudsman stated that this requirement would constitute an infringement of the equal dignity of persons with visual and other forms of impairment rendering them unable to read and/or write and asked for the amendment of the legislation. The legislation has been amended accordingly.

\*\*\*

Case law of the ETA regarding the discrimination of persons with disabilities in 2015 - 2018

The ETA conducted inquiries (official proceedings) into discrimination against persons or groups with disabilities in 75 cases in 2015, in 85 cases in 2016, in 74 cases in 2017, and in 78 cases in 2018. These cases typically concerned the distribution and provision of goods (public services), education and employment. The cases related to barrier-free accessibility constituted a special type of cases in all these areas.

According to the ETA's online archive, formal decisions have been declared in 71 cases. From these cases, 34 were settled by an agreement, while 30 cases were closed by decisions finding full or partial infringement (24 full, 6 partial). There were only 5 cases which were rejected by the ETA.

The majority of these cases (25) were initiated because a person could not use a service due to his/her sensorial impairment. From these cases, 14 were settled by agreement, 10 cases were closed by ETA declaring the infringement of the rights of persons with disability, and one of the cases was dismissed as no evidence was found to suggest discrimination.

From the aforementioned 25 cases, 6 were initiated because a person with vision loss could not use an electronic service (e.g. banking service, newspaper), either because the screen reading software could not read the webpage, or the CAPTCHA was not accessible for the visually impaired. 3 of these cases were settled by an agreement and 3 were closed with the declaration of infringement of rights. There were 6 cases where the complainants were banned to enter a premise with a guide dog. 2 of them were settled by an agreement and 4 were closed with the declaration of infringement of rights. None of these cases were dismissed. Furthermore, 3 of the cases concerned discrimination at a workplace based on the complainants' sensorial disabilities. These cases were settled by an agreement. In the remaining 9 cases, concerned persons could not use a service due to their disabilities or the conditions necessary for the equal use of the services not being provided (e. g. the lack of audio guides in public transport or disproportionately long waiting time for necessary health care). From this last group of cases, in 7 of them the ETA declared the infringement of rights, one of them was settled, and one was dismissed.

23 of the cases concerned persons with reduced mobility who could not use a commercial or public service, as they could not get into a building or properly use an equipment (e. g. lack of chairs in test booth). None of these cases were dismissed. 11 of them were settled with an agreement, and 12 cases were closed with the declaration of an infringement of rights.

23 other cases were initiated because a child with disability – in most cases, a learning disorder or sensory disturbance; speech disorder or reduced mobility in a few cases – could not receive adequate education. The most common problem was that the school or kindergarten was unfit to provide developmental education for children with special educational needs. In most cases, institutions referred to the lack of special education teachers in the labor market. Nevertheless, in most cases (13), an agreement was reached between the complainant and the institution, where the institutions undertook the responsibility of providing developmental education. There were 6 cases where the ETA declared the infringement of rights of persons with disabilities.4 cases were dismissed by the ETA as no evidence was found to suggest discrimination.

The most commonly applied sanction was a ban on the infringing practice. In several occasions, the ETA ordered the publication of the convicting decision. In addition, the ETA imposed fines in 6 occasions as follows: HUF 500.000 in three cases, as well as 200.000 HUF, 100.000 HUF and 50.000 HUF in three individual cases.

Parties requested judicial review of the ETA decision in only 5 cases. In 4 cases, the courts rejected the request and upheld the decision. No information is available on the outcome of the fifth case.

#### The brief summary of some specific cases:

Case No. EBH/50/2015: A visually impaired petitioner complained that certain services available on the internet page of a telecommunications carrier were not accessible to them, as the page was fully graphic, i.e., it could not be read with a screen reading software. In its decision, the authority

established that the service provider had violated the requirement of equal treatment with regard to the disability of the petitioner and it obliged the provider to make the platforms in question equally accessible to visually impaired persons by the specified deadline.

Case No. EBH/233/2015: Based on a notification, the authority launched ex officio proceedings against an organization that exercised official authority, since the customer service unit of the latter in one of the cities was not barrier-free, so the persons with reduced mobility could not access the customer area with their wheelchairs. In its decision, the authority established that the organization had violated the requirement of equal treatment with regard to persons with reduced mobility, and it obliged them to make the area barrier-free by a specified deadline.

Case No. EBH/362/2015: The visually impaired petitioner who used a guide dog was not allowed to enter a catering unit with his dog, despite the fact that the dog was wearing the necessary identification sign. The case was concluded with an agreement between the parties, in which the operator of the catering unit promised to train his employees on the laws related to guide dogs and to provide financial support of a predefined amount to a guide dog training school.

Case No. EBH/129/2016: The petitioner complained that his/her two children with autistic spectrum disorder who attended the nursery school funded by the municipality could not use the services and the development classes provided by the nursery school because their daily transportation to the kindergarten was not resolved. The case was concluded with an agreement between the parties, in which the municipality undertook to ensure the transportation of the children to the nursery school through its own support service.

Case No. EBH/25/2017: An advocacy organization of visually impaired persons filed a complaint to the authority because, as a result of the implementation of the so-called selective door opening mechanism, the doors did not open automatically at the stations on two underground lines as had been the case earlier; instead, they could only be opened by using a push button, which involved extraordinary difficulties, or was impossible for visually impaired persons. In its decision, the authority established that the transportation company had violated the requirement of equal treatment with regard to visually impaired persons by applying the door opening solution that the applicant had complained of. However, as the transportation company had already remedied the problem before the decision was made (the system of automatic door opening was reinstalled), the decision imposed no obligations or other sanctions.

Case No. EBH/176/2017: The hearing-impaired petitioner, who was using a hearing aid, served his/her sentence on 21 March 2016 in the penitentiary institution he/she complained against. The complainant stated that his/her hearing aid became defective during his sentence and was replaced more than three months later. During this time, the complainant had not heard the statements of either the guards or his/her fellow prisoners and was often the target of ridicule by his/her fellow prisoners. The penitentiary institution argued that the change of the petitioner's hearing aid was only possible in a commercial facility (hearing center), and the long waiting time resulted from the lack of funding necessary to escort the convicted person to the premise. The ETA declared that the time until the petitioner's hearing aid had been changed was unreasonably long, thus the penitentiary institute infringed the complainant's right to equal treatment. The ETA imposed a 500.000 HUF fine against the penitentiary institute.

Case No. EBH/439/2017: The petitioner with reduced mobility using a wheelchair complained, with regard to the transport development project of a tram network, that the structural designs of the tram stops that he/she specifically indicated were not appropriate, as the petitioner was only able to get off the vehicle with the help of other persons from the otherwise low-floor and barrier-free tram. In its decision, the authority established that the transport company had violated the requirement of equal treatment by the delayed provision of the barrier-free use of vehicles, and it obliged the company to remedy this problem by a specified deadline.

Case No. EBH/75/2018: The petitioner with severely impaired mobility complained that despite him/her having indicated his travel intentions at the e-mail address designated for this purpose in

due time, he/she was not able to independently board a train at a train station in the countryside, as the special lift did not work and the train did not arrive at the barrier-free platform. The authority established that the law had been violated because the applicant was unable to use the travel service with equal opportunities for a reason that was under the responsibility of the service provider, and thus, the provider discriminated against him/her. The railway company was obliged by the authority to terminate the violation of the law, to repair the special lifts by a specified deadline, and to pay a 100.000 HUF fine.

Case No. EBH/115/2018: An infringement of rights was also established by the authority because a visually impaired applicant had not been allowed to enter a museum with his assistance dog. The museum was obliged by the authority to terminate the violation of the law, and to modify the content of the information sign prohibiting museum visits with a dog, in a way compliant with the rules on assistance dogs.

Case No. EBH/151/2018: The legal guardian of a child with autistic spectrum disorder (formerly known as Asperger's Syndrome) filed a complaint against an insurance company which denied the conclusion of a contract for accident insurance. The company admitted that its decision was based on the child's disability. They argued that the company denied the offer to conclude a contract in all cases of mental illness because there was a high risk that the insured would have an accident or need hospital care. The ETA acknowledged that the insurance company is entitled to assess the acceptable risk and consider providing the service based on it, but it has no right to disqualify all persons with mental illness without an individual assessment of their condition. The ETA declared that the company's practice discriminated a social group, and imposed a fine of 500.000 HUF on the company.

Case No. EBH/168/2018: A petitioner filed a complaint against health care institutions because they denied the radioiodine treatment which was necessary after the patient's thyroid tumor surgery. The institutions argued that, due to the patient's lack of mobility, the provision of the treatment was practically impossible. The treatment involved exposure to radiation, so assisting staff could not be with the patient for long periods of time. In this case, the ETA declared that the difficulties derived from the patient's disability (inability to get up from the bed or use the toilet independently) could be handled by automatic devices available in the market. The authority obliged the health care provider to procure and install the appropriate equipment.

Case No. EBH/286/2018: The applicant using a wheelchair purchased a voucher to a hotel but at the time of the booking, the hotel informed him that only one of the higher standards (and thus, more expensive) suites of theirs was barrier-free. It was established by the authority that the applicant had suffered a disadvantage due to his disability, since, as compared to others, he did not have a chance to choose from the cheaper options, as only the more expensive service was available to him because of his condition.

Case No. EBH/355/2018: The authority also established a case of infringement when a hotel, saying that no pets can stay in its building according to its house rules, did not allow the petitioner with severe visual impairment to use the services together with his guide dog. The authority obliged the hotel to terminate the violation of the law, to modify its policy, and to inform its employees about the rules on assistance dogs".

194. The Governmental Committee noted the information provided, encouraged the authorities to continue taking necessary measures and decided to await the next assessment by the ECSR.

#### RESC 15§3 Serbia

195. The ECSR concluded that the situation in Serbia was not in conformity with Article 15§3 of the Charter on the ground that it had not been established that:

- anti-discrimination legislation covered telecommunications;
- persons with disabilities had effective access to transport;
- persons with disabilities had effective access to housing.

# 196. The representative of Serbia presented the following information:

#### "ANSWER FOR THE SECOND GROUND ON NON - CONFORMITY

The new Law on Prohibition of Discrimination, adopted in May 2021 (Official Gazette, No. 21/09 and 52/21), prescribes the following:

Anyone who has been harmed by discriminatory treatment has the right to file a lawsuit. The lawsuit may request:

- 1. prohibition of the act that poses a threat of discrimination, prohibition of further committing the act of discrimination, and prohibition of repeating the act of discrimination;
- 2. determination that the defendant acted in a discriminatory manner towards the plaintiff or another person;
- 3. execution of an action for the purpose of eliminating the consequences of discriminatory conduct;
- 4. compensation for material and non-material damage;
- 5. publication of the judgment rendered in connection with some of the lawsuits in the cases mentioned above.

The plaintiff may, with the lawsuit, during the procedure, as well as after the end of the procedure, until the execution is carried out, request that the court temporarily prevent discriminatory treatment in order to eliminate the danger of violence or greater irreparable damage. The court is obliged to make a decision on the proposal for the issuance of an interim measure without delay, and no later than within three days from the day of receipt of the proposal.

#### Rules on the burden of proof

If the court finds that an act of direct discrimination has been committed or if it is undisputed between the parties, the defendant cannot be released from liability by proving that he is not guilty. If the plaintiff shows that it is probable that the defendant committed an act of discrimination, the burden of proving that the act did not violate the principle of equality, i.e. the principle of equal rights and obligations, shall be borne by the defendant.

It is clear from the above that the legislation in Serbia stipulates that the burden of proof in cases of discrimination is on the defendant and not on the plaintiff".

197. The Governmental Committee noted the information provided and decided to await the next assessment by the ECSR.

## **RESC 15§3 Türkiye**

- 198. The ECSR concluded that the situation in Türkiye was not in conformity with Article 15§3 of the Charter on the ground that it had not been established that anti-discrimination legislation covered the fields of housing, transport, communications and culture and leisure activities.
- 199. The representative of Türkiye presented the following information:

"Türkiye adopted a rights-based approach to disabilities and regarded the measures taken for persons with disabilities not as a privilege or blessing, but as a human rights requirement. Since 2013, the paradigm shift to the rights-based approach to disability has been total; the internal legislation has been revised and amended to avoid any references to a medicalized approach to

disability and the rights-based approach is now a must in all the laws. Equal rights of persons with disabilities are guaranteed in the law and discriminatory language has been taken out of the legislation.

A range of education, information and awareness-raising activities on the rights of persons with disabilities has been implemented, targeting public institutions and civil servants, and all stakeholders are involved in the efforts to overcome prejudices and stigma. Türkiye has invested significant efforts into amending its legal framework to protect persons with disabilities from all forms of discrimination.

The objective of Turkish legislation related with the persons with disabilities is to prevent disability, to enable the disabled people to join the society by taking measures which will provide the solution of their problems regarding health, education, rehabilitation, employment, care and social security and the removal of the obstacles they face and to make the necessary arrangements for the coordination of these services.

According to the Article 61 of the Constitution, the State shall take measures to protect the disabled and secure their integration into social life. State doesn't discriminate against the disabled people; fighting against discrimination is the basic principle of the policies towards the disabled people.

Turkish Disability Act (TDA) No. 5378 (01/07/2005) provides legal base with regard to ensuring independent living, preventing discrimination and inclusion of disabled to society. The objectives of TDA includes enabling PwDs join the society by taking measures which will provide the solution of their problems and the removal of the obstacles they face and taking measures necessary for the coordination of services. The Act covers the principles of fighting against disability based discrimination, ensuring participation of PwDs, their families and volunteer organizations to disability related decision making processes and protecting the unity of family in provision of all services. The Act also brought along the principle that it is essential to have PwDs maintain their lives in health, peace and safety particularly in the environment they live in.(Art.2) For this purpose, care services can be rendered as home care or institution care. It is essential that the service is provided without separating the person from his/her social and physical environment (Art. 9). While rendering care services; biological, physical and social needs of the person are taken into consideration (Art. 8). Additionally, the law also provides that all services to persons in need of social protection, care or support shall be provided in compliance with human dignity.

The general principle of Law No. 2828 on Social Services were also defined as: ensuring that PwDs, persons in need of support and the elderly lead a healthy, peaceful and safe life; providing care and rehabilitation services to PwDs in a way that can enable them live independently and productively and taking necessary measures for rendering constant care to PwDs who cannot be treated. In accordance with the By-Law on Invalidity Assessment (Official Gazette No. 28727 of 3 August 2013), the scope of invalidity was extended, the conditions for determining invalidity that include different groups of illnesses were made clear, and a number of arrangements were made by taking into account human body as a whole system.

Regulation on the Rights of Passengers traveling by Railway, prepared by taking into account the European Parliament and Council Regulation on the Rights and Obligations of Railway Passengers, dated 23/10/2017 and numbered 1371/2007 was published in the Official Gazette numbered 30708 on 8 March 2019 and entered into force. In the Seventh Chapter of this regulation titled "Passengers with Disabilities", mobility restricted and/or special conditions, the right to travel for disabled people, information, accessibility, assistance services to be provided at the stations, compensation for special equipment for persons with disabilities and/or mobility impairments are regulated.

The Accessibility Monitoring and Supervision Regulation prepared under the Law on Disabled Act No. 5378 was revised on September 21, 2016. In this revision, Accessibility Monitoring and Supervision Forms are also determined by a Circular to be published by the Ministry. Within this framework, the "Accessibility Monitoring and Supervision Forms Circular" numbered 2018/2 published. The Accessibility Monitoring and Supervision Plan and the Application of Administrative Fines Circulars also published.

Another significant regulation which determines and influences the use of physical space of the disabled is the Zoning and Development Law No. 3194. In this Law, in the context of the provisions related to the Law No. 2960 on the Bosphorus, in the annex section (amendment: 30/05/1997, Decree Law No. 572), it is stated that "in order to make the physical environment accessible and liveable for disabled, it is obligatory to comply with the relevant standards of the Turkish Standards Institute in the development plans, urban, social and technical infrastructure areas and structures". The By-Law on Private Care Centres for Persons with Disabilities in Need of Care published in the Official Gazette No. 28737 of 16 August 2013 introduced radical arrangements regarding especially the application and opening permission process of the private care centres as well as the characteristics of personnel, physical structures of the centres, inspection and penalties. With Articles 35/A and 35/B which are added to the Social Services Law No. 2828 through Law No. 6495 of 12 July 2013, arrangements regarding the opening of private care centers for persons with disabilities in need of care as well as working conditions and management of these centres and effective service delivery were made.

The Circular on Initial Admission and Intervention in case of Emergency No. 62664-2013/11 (Official Gazette No. 28680 of 17 June 2013) specified the procedures and principles regarding the opening and working conditions of the initial admission and intervention centres where care services for disabled persons in need of care will be given for a specific period before these persons are transferred to care centres, with the aim of determining care requirements and appropriate service model. The Circular on the Provision of Other Services for Disabled Persons Who Benefit From Home-Based Care Services No. 44615-2013/8 (Official Gazette No. 28635 of 2 May 2013) provided for that disabled persons receiving home-based care services would also benefit from care and rehabilitation services of the day care family consultation and rehabilitation centres within the body of the Ministry of Family and Social Policies in such manner that does not exceed 16 hours in a week.

The principles of the services for PwDs are defined by the Law on Social Services as follows; raising awareness of individuals, family members and society on their rights and responsibilities regarding participation of person with disabilities to society as equal individuals; ensuring medical treatment and rehabilitation of these individuals; increasing their independent living capacity; taking measures for ensuring accessibility of information services, physical environments and technological devices and instruments; and including PwDs to all decision making processes that would affect their economic and social status.

Steps have been taken to improve the accessibility to transports, services, and public building, including the polling stations; and the policy of open, inclusive and accessible labour market has been adopted. General Directorate for Disabled and Elderly Services under the Ministry of Family, and Social Policies approaches the concept of barrier-free space that is classified under three functions: urban spaces (e.g. streets, squares, parks, open and green areas etc.), buildings and transitional areas which connect these spaces.

Türkiye had become a party to the Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities in 2009 and to the Optional Protocol in 2015 and had made significant progress in promoting the rights of persons with disabilities in recent years.

The focal point is the Ministry of Family and Social Policies, which works in cooperation with national and international stakeholders, and especially the organizations of persons with disabilities. Türkiye firmly believes that persons with disabilities must have a seat at the table whenever a decision is taken that concerned them, thus with the enactment of the Law on Persons with Disabilities in 2005, they became actors in policy making, implementation, and monitoring. Türkiye has furthermore invested significant efforts to strengthen the dialogue with non-governmental organizations and to increase the rights-based advocacy capacity of representative organizations of persons with disabilities. Türkiye has taken steps to improve the accessibility of voting stations, persons with disabilities had a priority during the voting, and the practice of mobile ballot for house-bound voters has been introduced. Persons with disabilities are represented in the Accessible Transportation Services Board, while the 2023 Education Vision provided for inclusive education and for the setting

up of inter-agency monitoring and implementation mechanism to ensure effective coordination of special education throughout the country.

Türkiye also attaches great importance to the employment of persons with disabilities; the main policy is an open, inclusive and accessible labour market. Over the past 15 years, the number of employed persons with disabilities has increased tenfold in the public sector and about threefold in the private one, while the pensions for persons with disabilities who were unable to work has been increased up to 300%. In addition, care allowances are provided to persons with severe disabilities to enable them to live at home with their families. A guide for the personnel working on the guardianship issue and a guide on legislative regulations on the issue has been developed. Türkiye hosts over 4,6 million refugees and asylum seekers, and all those with disabilities enjoyed the services and benefits for persons with disabilities on an equal basis with citizens and without any discrimination.

Article 122 of the Penal Code has been amended to increase prison sentences for disability-based discrimination from six months to three years; the amendment has also added the qualifiers of intent and hate in order to strengthen the prohibition of discrimination against persons with disabilities. Committing a crime against a person with disabilities is an aggravating factor.

It is known that a national human rights institution, the Human Rights and Equality Institution of Türkiye (TIHEK), has been set up in 2016. The Office of the Ombudsman is a constitutional institution in charge of monitoring public institutions; all its decisions are public and can be accessed through the Ombudsman's website https://www.ombudsman.gov.tr/English/index.html. It has the competence to receive complaints of discrimination, including on the grounds of disability, and to issue recommendations to the parties concerned. Every citizen has a constitutional right to address the Office, in person or in writing and in languages other than Turkish, and it works with representative organizations of persons with disabilities to enable children with disabilities to directly address the Ombudsman.

In terms of access to justice for persons with disabilities, both victims and perpetrators are entitled to interpreters and free legal aid. If they are victims, that added more aggravation to the crime committed. Sign language interpretation is the key priority, therefore, different departments in the Ministry of Justice are provided with related training to enable them to assess the quality of sign interpretation and pre-empt defense on the ground of inadequate sign interpretation. Türkiye is making a significant investment in improving technical infrastructure to allow people to provide testimonies via video conferences. Accessibility is one of the most important conditions in tenders for the construction of new court buildings.

According to the priorities set out in the national e-Government strategy, Türkiye would revise its e-government services and make them accessible to all the citizens. Additionally, there are communication centres that employed officials with sign language skills who assisted deaf and hard of hearing individuals. Sign language interpretation is provided in the civil service. Accessibility to all public spaces and mass transportation is obligatory and a commission has been set up in 2012 to monitor accessibility of the Government offices. Accessibility standards have been adopted and non-compliance is sanctioned, while international standards are being applied in all modes of transportation. There are measures to enable prisoners with disabilities to access legal aid and medical services. About half of the schools in the country, have entrance ramps, while all special needs educational institutions have ramps, elevators and special needs toilets.

All new constructions, including schools, have to comply with all accessibility standards. Children's policies are based on the best interest of the child. in this context: Children's Rights Committees are active in all provinces. The membership is open to all children, including children with disabilities. Child right monitoring mechanisms are in place as well and were supervised by the Office of the Ombudsman and the Human Rights and Equality Institution of Türkiye (TIHEK). "The Information Guide for Disabled" is prepared by the General Directorate of the Disabled and Elderly under the Ministry Family and Social **Policies** and accessible via website (https://ailevecalisma.gov.tr/media/35694/engelli-bilgilendirme.pdf).

The 2016 Autism Plan is put in place. Institutions are responsible for the care of persons with mental disabilities and inclusion activities are being organized. Special schools are provided for children with disabilities who could not attend public schools and special classes for those who had to stay in the hospital.

A commission composed of a range of stakeholders was mandated with the monitoring of the implementation of accessibility standards. It assessed the accessibility of public institutions and gave periods of adjustment to those who failed to meet standards, and issued fines for noncompliance. The commission also organized training and awareness-raising activities for the existing institutions and provided accessibility advice.

Measures are being taken to increase accessibility to university buildings and to ensure that public transportation is fully accessible. Numerous awareness raising activities advertised the improvements to the accessibility of the courts.

There are programmes to support airports to obtain accessibility certificates, and the majority of airports in the country have been certified. There are accessible telephone lines, ramps, counselling desks for persons with disabilities, signs adapted to Braille alphabet, as well as vision and auditory signs, among others.

The statistics department in the Ministry of Family and Social Policies (MoFSP) has been set up to collect disaggregated data and statistics on which disability-related policies would be based. Institutional care services coordinated by provincial directorates are rendered by Residential Care and Rehabilitation Centres for PwDs; Rehabilitation and Family Consulting Day Centres that provide only day service and Private Care Centres that provide services on a residential and/or daily basis. Services for PwDs are carried out by the General Directorate of Disabled and Elderly (EYHGM) of MoFSP.

Children in rural areas, including children with disabilities, are provided with free transportation to the nearest school. Teachers of refugee students with disabilities receive continuous education on the matter. Braille books are distributed free of charge to all students that needed them. Schooling rates of children with disabilities are improving annually.

The 11th National Development Plan 2019-2023 espoused a more inclusive approach to persons with disabilities, in light of an overreaching aim of attaining the Sustainable Development Goals. Social services offered to the disabled have been diversified and expanded, and policies regarding the participation of the disabled in education, social life and the labour market have been maintained. Participation of disabled citizens in sports activities is encouraged. Coach - teacher qualifications are developed for the participation of disabled in sports. For this purpose, enriched educational materials, visual and written documents are prepared and put into practice. Protection of open and green spaces and public spaces in cities are provided and also accessibility and security of these spaces are increased.

It is legally mandatory to organize urban life in accordance with the accessibility of the disabled people. In the environment that is structured in accordance with the provisions of the Turkish Disability Act (TDA) No. 5378, accessibility standards should be pursued in planning, design, construction, manufacturing, licensing and inspection processes to ensure the accessibility of the disabled people.

Within the scope of this Law; the existing official buildings belonging to public institutions and organizations, all existing roads, sidewalks, pedestrian crossings, open-green areas, sports fields and similar social & cultural infrastructure areas, and all kinds of buildings that are built by real and legal persons open to public services, and private & public transportation systems as well as private and public transportation vehicles with nine or more seats, excluding the driver's seat, and the existing information services and information & communication technology must be suitable for the accessibility of individuals with disabilities. An Accessibility Certificate is issued by the governorship to those determined by Commissions for Monitoring and Auditing Accessibility for compliance with the accessibility legislation. Complaints can be filed through the Provincial Directorate of Family and Social Policies for auditing all types of buildings and open areas as well as public transport vehicles that serve to public use. There are arrangements in the Domiciles for the Persons with Disabilities.

Disabled can request modifications in their apartments and building estates in accordance with their disabilities which is subject to the Property Ownership Law. For the accessibility in Newly Constructed Buildings, pursuant to the Construction Legislation and the Law on Disability, it is necessary to act in accordance with the accessibility provisions when preparing the project of the newly built houses and during the construction phase and all kinds of inspection and approval stages.

For the accessibility in Service Vehicles and Intercity Buses, real and legal persons who carry out tourism transportation by road or provide intercity public transportation services, are obliged to meet the demand of individuals with disabilities for providing accessible public transportation services and the real and legal persons who provide service transportation are obliged to meet the demand of students or personnel who have disabilities. Persons with disabilities have advantages in the electronic communication industry costs. In addition, PwDs who were entitled through a medical report to use an adapted motor vehicle are exempt from special consumption tax provided that they buy motor vehicles from domestic market. This exemption is also valid for the relatives of persons who have a disability at a degree of 90% and over that hinders him/her drive a motor vehicle. These motor vehicles are also exempt from motor vehicles tax. All kind of equipment and software designed with the purpose of facilitating daily lives (including education and employment) of PwDs are exempted from VAT in accordance with Value Added Tax Law No. 3065.

On the other hand, adapted motor vehicles to be imported by PwDs are exempt from customs. Furthermore, as per Customs Law No. 4458, all items produced abroad and imported with the purpose of enhancing education, employment or personal development of PwDs are exempted from customs. Adapted motor vehicles to be imported by PwDs are also exempted from customs. In accordance with Private Consumption Tax Law No. 4760, sale of private cars with an engine capacity less than 1.600 cubic centimetre; vehicles used for carrying goods with an engine capacity less than 2.800 cubic centimetre and all motorcycles, in case they are bought by a person with a disability degree equal to or above 90%, are exempted from special consumption tax once in 5 years. This exemption is also valid for persons who have a disability degree below 90%, in case they buy one of the vehicles mentioned hereinabove only for personal use and adapt it in line with their disability and personal needs. The motor vehicles to be exempted from private consumption tax are also exempted from motor vehicles tax as per the relevant provisions of Motor Vehicles Tax Law No. 197. Persons with disabilities have the right 20% discount on all domestic and international flights. Persons with disabilities have also housing tax exemption.

The recruitments of all kinds of equipment and special computer programs specially designed for the education, profession, and daily life of the persons with disabilities is exempt from VAT. Local governments and private entities make certain rates of reductions in fees of services provided to PwDs. Within this scope, especially Turkish State Railways, Turkish Maritime Organization, Turkish Airlines and intercity transportation companies make various rates of reductions for passengers with disabilities. On the other hand, as per the amendment made in Law No. 4736 on Rates of Services and Goods of Public Institutions in 2013, persons who have a degree of disability over 40%, persons with severe disabilities and a person accompanying them can benefit from intercity and inner city rail and sea travel, and all mass transportation facilities provided by municipalities, transportation companies set up by the municipalities or private companies authorized by the municipalities to carry passengers in provinces.

Besides, PwDs can benefit free of charge from national parks, state theatres, opera and ballet performances, historical ruins and museums of Ministry of Culture and Tourism. Some municipalities make certain rates of reductions in water bills of PwDs in line with municipal council resolutions. GSM operators also provide reductions in service fees. Parking Zones are allocated for persons with disabilities. In the Parking Regulation; it is compulsory to allocate parking area for persons with disabilities with a rate of 1/20 in the parking areas provided that Turkish Standards Institute (TSE) standards are complied with, and in the nearest places to the entrance-exit and elevators in public buildings, regional car parks and public car parks. According to Article 61 of the Highway Traffic Law No. 2918, vehicles parked against the prohibitions will be double fined.

Furthermore, with an amendment envisaged in Article 30 of the Law No. 4857, the whole employer-share-insurance premium for PwDs is met from the Unemployment Insurance Fund.By this, it is aimed to encourage employers who employ disabled persons despite having exceeded the quota or not being obliged to, and with the amendment envisaged in the Civil Servants Law No. 657, it is aimed at making privileged arrangements regarding relocation requests of the civil servants, who are disabled or have disabled family members to take care of, including disabled spouse or any relatives with first degree relationship by blood, due to their condition of disability. In addition, for the individuals with disabilities,

- » Entrance to the Museum and Ruins is free of charge,
- » Access to national parks, nature reserves and nature parks is free of charge,
- » Entrance to State Theatres are free of charge,
- » GSM operators avails them of special tariffs,
- » Housing Development Administration of Türkiye (TOKI) allocates 5% of the planned number of residences to our disabled citizens within the scope of its projects.

Applications are made with ID copy and disability health report, and the right owners are determined by drawing lots.

Within the scope of the Law No. 2022, people with disabilities older than 18 or the relatives of persons with disabilities under the age of 18, who are not subject to any of the social security schemes (SSI, SSI for Artisans and Self-employed or Retirement Fund) are put on a salary provided that they got an indigence document from the relevant Social Assistance and Solidarity Foundation. The cost of materials such as equipment, medical supplies, consumables, and orthopaedicprosthesis required for the disabled people are paid by the SSI in accordance with the provisions of the Law No. 5510 and the General Health Insurance Procedures Regulation. Persons with disabilities or family members who want to receive home medical services can apply by calling the number 444 38 33 of the national call centre within the Ministry of Health. The home healthcare team carries out the procedures to be performed in the home environment and directs disabled people to the hospital for the operations that cannot be undertaken in the home environment. In order to connect hearing-impaired citizens to life in emergency cases, the Disability-Free Health Communication Centre (ESIM) established by the Ministry of Health.

International Day of PwDs (3 December) and nationally celebrated Week of PwDs (10-16 May) contribute a lot to awareness raising activities in Türkiye. In these dates of the year, various activities are carried out by the Directorate General of the Services for the Disabled and the Elderly (EYHGM), disability organizations, professional organizations, universities and some media organizations broadcasts programmes on disability and the rights of PwDs. EYHGM organizes several events and supports or contributes to other events organized by other relevant parties. The Government is studying the development of community-based services for persons with mental and psychosocial disabilities; steps have been taken to improve the accessibility to transports, services, and public building, including the polling stations; and the policy of open, inclusive and accessible labour market had been adopted.

Rehabilitation services are provided in order to meet the individual and social needs of the disabled people on the basis of participation in the social life and equality. The active and effective participation of the disabled person and his/her family is essential in all stages of the rehabilitation including the decision making, planning, executing and terminating.

Training programmes are developed in order to the train the personnel needed in all areas of the rehabilitation and necessary measures are taken for the employment of these personnel.

Within the Context of Law No. 6112 on the Establishment of Radio and Television Enterprises and their media Services, it was provided that Media service providers shall render their media services in accordance with the principles with an understanding of the responsibility towards public and they shall not broadcast in a way to encourage the abuse of or violation against PwDs (Art. 8). The law also provides that the violators of these principles shall be imposed to a penalty. In addition, Directive on Public Service Announcements that was put into effect on 08 August 2012 by The Radio and Television Supreme Council (RTUK) provides for giving priority to disability focused spot films. National media frequently give place to various broadcasts that aim for raising awareness and

consciousness on disability. Besides, public broadcasting Turkish Radio and Television Association (TRT) broadcast programmes targeted for various groups of audience (children, youth, and adults) on its different channels.

Alo 183 (Hotline) Social Support Line from the Call Centres of the Ministry of Family, Labour and Social Services has evaluated calls from the disabled and gives guidance and counselling services. It provides service on a 7/24 basis.

Turkish sign language is created by the Turkish Language Institution in order to provide the education and communication of the hearing impaired people. The methods and principles of the works for creating and implementing this system are determined by the regulation to be issued jointly by the Ministry of National Education, and the Ministry of Family and Social Policies under the coordination of the Turkish Language Institution. The required procedures in order to provide the production of relief, audio and electronic books, subtitled film and similar material to meet all kinds of educational and cultural needs of the disabled people are carried out jointly by the Ministry of National Education and the Ministry of Culture and Tourism.

According to the sub-paragraph (ç) of the first paragraph of Article 189 of the Presidential Decree (Abolished Decree Law No. 638) on the Presidential Organization No. 1, published in the Official Gazette No. 30474 dated 10/07/2018, which regulates the duties and powers of the Ministry of Youth and Sports, the Ministry has duties:

- to enable individuals with disabilities to do sports
- to ensure that sports facilities are suitable for the use of disabled people,
- to develop sports training programs, provide the necessary material and support related Technologies
- to make publications with information and awareness raising activities for disabled people,
- to train disabled sportspeople,
- to cooperate with other relevant organizations in order to enable individuals with disabilities to play sports.

In order to enable the disabled individuals to exercise sports and to make it widespread, to enable the sport facilities to be suitable for the usage of the disabled people and to develop sports training programmes and supporting technologies, to provide the necessary material, to carry out information and awareness increasing works and issue publications, to train sportsmen, to cooperate with the other concerned institutions on enabling the disabled individual to exercise sports. "Disabled City Sports Centres" were opened. Wheeled sports chairs were distributed to the disabled through the Provincial Directorates of the Ministry of Youth and Sport. With the "We Remove Barriers in Sports" project, sports education services are provided to individuals with disabilities throughout the country. In line with the Regulation on Awarding Persons Who Achieve Outstanding Success in Sports Activities or Events issued in 2010; sporters, sports clubs, coaches and trainers who achieve successes in the relevant branches of Olympic, Paralympics or Deaflympics games under the categories of adults, U21, youth or stars, and the sporters who contribute to country promotion in international sports activities or organizations are awarded.

Through "Disabled Sportspeople Buses", disabled sportspeople in Türkiye are provided with access to sports activities. In cooperation with the Ministry of Education, Ministry of Youth and Sports and the Ministry of Family and Social Policies, youth camps are organized for disabled youth.

Disabled people service units are established in the Metropolitan Municipalities of major cities in order to provide information, awareness, steering, consultancy, social and vocational rehabilitation services to the disabled people. These units maintain their activities in cooperation with the foundation, association established to serve the disabled people and their subordinate organizations.

Pursuant to article 35 of the Library Service Principles numbered 2012/7 titled "Services for the Disabled", our libraries are made suitable for disabled access within the scope of new building construction and configuration. Within the scope of the Talking Library service offered at the National Library, books voiced by volunteer readers for the visually impaired users are offered to the service

via the web site and there are more than 5 thousand books in the web-collection. Besides, another regulation was put into effect in 2011 to ensure the necessary measures taken for facilitating the ship to shore and shore to ship passage of PwDs. "Barrier Free Airports Project" was initiated by Directorate General of Civil Aviation for ensuring accessibility of all airports in Türkiye.

Economically deprived PwDs can apply to Social Assistance and Solidarity Foundations in provinces or districts and demand assistive devices/equipment or aid in cash or in kind. These foundations also pay the cost of orthopedically or other assistive equipment that is not covered by social security institutions.

The elections are organized and audited by Supreme Committee of Elections (YSK). Pursuant to legal arrangements and practices of YSK, PwDs can cast their votes in equal terms with others. Law on Basic Provisions on Elections and Voter Registers includes some provisions about accessibility of voting centers and the procedures of vote casting.

Turkish employees and employers have the right to form unions and higher organizations, without prior permission, and they also possess the right to become a member of a union and to freely withdraw from membership (Constitution, Art. 51). Furthermore, everyone has the right to form associations, or become a member of an association, or withdraw from membership without prior permission (Art. 33). Within this scope, there are currently no practical barriers to hinder PwDs from establishing and operating CSOs. There are approximately 1.000 associations carrying out activities in the field of disability. Besides, there are 10 disability federations and 2 confederations functioning as umbrella organizations. Disability organizations take an active role especially in policy making and legislation preparation processes.

Building projects of Housing Development Administration (TOKI) are planned in line with related accessibility legislation, especially with Turkish Standards Institution Standard TS-9111 - Minimum Requirements in Buildings to Ensure Accessibility for Persons with Mobility Restrictions and/or Disabilities. Special projects are also planned on demand of PwDs. The Constitution guarantees the right of PwDs to participate in political and public life based on equality principle. Housing Development Administration of Republic of Türkiye (TOKI) develops its projects in line with the Government Programs in accordance with the legislation in question, and makes implementations in 81 provinces throughout Türkiye. With the Article 1 of the Decree Having Force of Law dated 6 June 1997 and numbered 572, an article was added to the Zoning and Development Law No. 3194. bringing the provision "For making physical environment accessible and habitable for the handicapped, relevant standards of the Turkish Standards Institute has to be followed in zoning plans, urban, social, technical infrastructure areas and in buildings" to effect. TOKI acts in accordance with that article in construction of all buildings in its mass housing projects. In this context, the Zoning and Development Law No. 3194 and all of its regulations, 'Requirements of Accessibility in Buildings for the Handicapped and People with Limitations on Movement Ability' as well as "Rules of Structural Measures on Avenues, Streets, Squares and Roads and Design Markings for the Handicapped and the Aged" are followed. Disabled persons are TOKI's priority in social housing production. In this context, a quota of 5% of the number of houses in the projects put to sale by the Administration for the disabled has been allocated. Not only a quota is allocated for disabled, but also special sales are made in some project sales for disabled only.

Matters such as building entry ramps, necessary arrangements within the building (easy accessibility to the ground level elevation, all doors being 90 cm, all corridors being 115 cm, elevators being suitable for wheelchair use, rails and balustrades on both sides of the stairs) are taken into consideration for easy access of disabled to the houses in all of housing implementations.

Besides, measures are taken to meet the needs of the disabled in landscaping of the project sites. In addition to standard practices (handicapped ramp, etc.) in accordance with the concerned regulation, TOKI also realizes necessary arrangements (arrangement of flat door dimensions, etc.) in ground floor houses allocated as quota of 5% of the house number for disabled in case of demand. TOKI furthermore, realizes barrier-free life centres and rehabilitation centres accessible with wheelchairs to meet the special needs of physically disable children in line with needs and demands through cooperation with government agencies. In its implementations, ramps are absolutely built for the disabled in the project site with an inclination of 6-8%.

The most up-to-date work on the subject is improvements in the zoning legislation. The work is coordinated by the Ministry of Environment and Urbanization in cooperation with the concerned Ministries, NGOs and the municipalities. In order to make the physical environment accessible and liveable for disabled, it is obligatory to comply with the relevant standards of the Turkish Standards Institute in the development plans, urban, social and technical infrastructure areas and structures according to the new Zoning Regulation for Planned Areas ("Regulation"), published in the Official Gazette of 3 July 2017.

This regulation has been made to comply with TSI standards in order to ensure accessibility of disabled people. Another legislation is the Regulation for the Unplanned Areas (02/11/1985). In this regulation there are seven articles indicating the rights of disabled. Articles 5 and 8 emphasize the obligation to comply with the TSI standards, article 25 deals with the issues regarding the functions and corridors that must be within the houses. Article 29 explains the measures and standards of the stairs for the disabled. Article 31 deals with the issues for the disabled in the covered markets and arcades, article 32 highlights the measures and standards of the toilets and sanitary facilities for the disabled in public buildings. The Regulation for Preparation of Spatial Plans (14/06/2014) is another legal document dealing with determining the principles of making and preparation of spatial plans. In this regulation, under the section of "Implementation Zoning Plan", in Article 24, it is said that "Not to reduce the number of lanes allocated to vehicle traffic and to comply with the relevant TSI standards; the widths of the segments of the roads that are reserved for pedestrian, disabled and bicycle use can be increased in the implementation zoning plan without any change in the master plan".

"The Istanbul Development Regulation (20/05/2018) issued in metropolitan city İstanbul" generally deals with gardening issues and arrangements in basements. Article 23 arranges courtyard and backyard distances for activities and accessibilities and Article 26 deals with providing safe and secure living spaces for disabled. While Article 31 deals with the functional areas and their measures to be included in the buildings, Articles 32, 33 and 34 deal with entry and ramps, stairs, doors and windows in the buildings, and Article 52 arranges the regulations regarding the capacities and uses of the toilets in public buildings. Article 70 emphasizes that the decisions of the architectural aesthetic commissions cannot be contradictory to the accessibility standards of the disabled. In the Implementing Provisions of the Slum Law (17/10/1966), it is highlighted that the standards developed by the TSI standards must be considered in the buildings for the disabled.

In the light of the above mentioned national legislation; from the Constitution to International Instruments signed by Türkiye, and from TDA and TIHEK Law and to related regulations; anti-discrimination legislation in Türkiye covers the fields of housing, transport, communications and culture and leisure activities".

200. The Governmental Committee noted the information provided and decided to await the next assessment by the ECSR.

# Article 18§4 RESC – to recognise the right of their nationals to leave the country to engage in a gainful occupation in the territories of the other Contracting Parties

188. The Secretariat recalled that under Article 18§4, States undertake not to restrict the right of their nationals to leave the country to engage in gainful employment in other Parties to the Charter. The only permitted restrictions are those which are prescribed by law and are necessary in a democratic society for the protection of the rights and freedoms of others or for the protection of public interest, national security, public health, or morals.

# **RESC 18§4 Russian Federation**

- 201. The ECSR concluded that the situation in the Russian Federation was not in conformity with Article 18§4 of the Charter on the ground that there were still restrictions on the right of Russian citizens to leave the country.
- 202. The representative of the Russian Federation stated that the restrictions to leave the country concerned persons who had clearance granting them access to state secrets. He added that his authorities considered that such restrictions were valid, permitted by law and by the Charter, and necessary for the protection of public interest and national security.
- 203. The representative of Luxembourg and the representative of ETUC asked how many persons were affected by these restrictions. The Russian representative replied that this information could not be provided as it was a state secret.
- 204. The representative of ETUC pointed to the fact that there had been no new information and that the conclusion of the ECSR only confirmed previously known elements. The representative of the Russian Federation reiterated that no further data could be provided and that such restrictions came within what was permissible under the Charter.
- 205. The representative of ETUC recalled that Article 17 of the rules of procedure refers to possibility of requesting how many persons are affected by restrictions in order to evaluate the situation.
- 206. The Governmental Committee invited the Russian Federation to contact the ECSR as regards the specific provision of figures and decided to await its next assessment.

# Article 24 RESC - Right to protection in case of dismissal

- 207. The Secretariat recalled that, under this provision, with a view to ensuring the effective exercise of the right of workers to protection in cases of termination of employment, the parties undertake to recognise:
- a the right of all workers not to have their employment terminated without valid reasons for such termination connected with their capacity or conduct or based on the operational requirements of the undertaking, establishment or service;
- b the right of workers whose employment is terminated without a valid reason to adequate compensation or other appropriate relief.
- 208. To this end the parties undertake to ensure that a worker who considers that his/her employment has been terminated without a valid reason shall have the right to appeal to an impartial body. It is understood that compensation or other appropriate relief in case of termination of employment without valid reasons shall be determined by national laws or regulations, collective agreements or other means appropriate to national conditions. National legislation or case-law must contain express safeguards against retaliatory dismissal. Safeguarding persons who resort to the courts or other competent authorities to enforce their rights against reprisals is essential in any situation in which a worker alleges a violation of the law. In the absence of any explicit statutory ban, states parties must be able to show how national legislation conforms to the requirement of the Charter.

- 209. Under Article 24, the following are regarded as valid reasons for termination of an employment contract: reasons connected with the capacity or conduct of the employee and certain economic reasons.
- 210. The appendix to Article 24 lists reasons for which it is prohibited to terminate employment. Two reasons are examined only under Article 24, namely:
  - i. the filing of a complaint or the participation in proceedings against an employer involving alleged violation of laws or regulations or recourse to competent administrative authorities;
  - ii. temporary absence from work due to illness or injury.
- 211. A time limit can be placed on protection against dismissal in such cases. Absence can constitute a valid reason for dismissal if it severely disrupts the smooth running of the undertaking and a genuine, permanent replacement must be provided for the absent employee.
- 212. As regards dismissal without notice in the event of permanent invalidity, the following factors are taken into consideration for the assessment:
  - is dismissal without notice for reasons of permanent invalidity permitted regardless of the origin of the invalidity? In particular, may this occur in cases of employment injuries or occupational diseases?
  - are employers required to pay compensation for termination in such cases?
  - if, despite the permanent invalidity, the worker can still carry out light work, is the employer required to offer a different placement? If the employer is unable to meet this requirement, what alternatives are available?
- 213. The dismissal of an employee at the initiative of the employer on the ground that the former has reached the normal pensionable age will be contrary to the Charter, unless the termination is properly justified with reference to one of the valid grounds expressly established by this provision of the Charter. The legislation which enables dismissal directly on grounds of age and does not, therefore, effectively guarantee the right to protection in cases of termination of employment, is contrary to the Charter.
- 214. As regards the right of appeal, any employee who considers him- or herself to have been dismissed without valid reason must have the right to appeal to an impartial body. The burden of proof should not rest entirely on the complainant, but should be the subject of an appropriate adjustment between employee and employer. Employees dismissed without a valid reason must be granted adequate compensation or other appropriate relief. Compensation systems are considered appropriate if they include the following provisions:
  - reimbursement of financial losses incurred between the date of dismissal and the decision of the appeal body;
  - the possibility of reinstatement; and/or
  - compensation of a high enough level to dissuade the employer and make good the damage suffered by the employee
- 214. Any ceiling on compensation that may preclude damages from being commensurate with the loss suffered and sufficiently dissuasive are proscribed. If there is such a ceiling on compensation for pecuniary damage, the victim must be able to seek compensation for non-

pecuniary damage through other legal avenues (e.g. anti-discrimination legislation), and the courts competent for awarding compensation for pecuniary and non-pecuniary damage must decide within a reasonable time.

#### **RESC 24 CYPRUS**

215. The ECSR concluded that the situation in Cyprus was not in conformity with Article 24 of the Charter on the ground that employees who had not been employed with their employer for a continuous period of 26 weeks (probationary period) were not entitled to protection against dismissal and that the categories of persons excluded from protection against unlawful dismissal went beyond what was allowed under the Appendix to the Charter.

The Secretariat presented historic elements, stating that in Conclusions 2005, 2007, 2008 and 2012, the ESCR had held that the situation was not in conformity with the Charter on the same ground: the law excluded from protection against dismissal employees who had not completed a continuous period of 26 weeks with their employer regardless of their qualifications. The Governmental Committee had examined the situation three times. In 2013, it had taken note of the information that the Cyprus Government had not been in a position to propose to social partners specific amendments of the legislation as to this date no partner had raised any issue regarding the duration of probationary period. The Governmental Committee had then held a vote on a recommendation which had not been carried (0 votes in favour, 33 against). It had then held a vote on a warning which had also not been carried (8 votes in favour 24 against). It had requested the Cypriot authorities to bring the situation into conformity with the Charter and decided to await the next assessment of the ECSR. In 2009, the same information and reasoning had been provided by the authorities. The representative of Cyprus had then said that the ECSR had never specified what a "reasonable" probation period was within the meaning of the Appendix to Article 24, which made it more difficult to identify any possible changes to bring the situation into conformity. The Governmental Committee had then taken note of the information provided, had urged the government to take all necessary steps to bring the situation into conformity and had decided to await the ECSR's next assessment. At the examination of the situation in 2008, the representative of Cyprus had informed the Governmental Committee that a technical committee had been working on the modernisation of the termination of employment legislation, bearing in mind the comments of the ECSR. The Secretariat had explained that the ECSR had determined in its case-law that the exclusion from protection against termination of employment of workers on a probationary period of up to six months was not acceptable. The Committee had then taken note of the information provided and had decided to await the ECSR's next assessment.

#### 217. The representative of Cyprus presented the following information:

"The Cyprus Government acknowledges that the current status regarding the exclusion of employees who had not completed a continuous period of 26 weeks with their employer regardless of their qualifications, from protection against dismissal has not changed since the previous report.

The Cyprus Government has already indicated its willingness to discuss with the Social Partners the possibility of amending the legislation in order to bring the national legislation in line with the ECSR conclusions. However, since a definition of what constitutes a reasonable duration of a probation period in relation to item 2 of Appendix to Article 24 has not been specified yet by neither the European Social Charter nor the ECSR, we would need more concrete suggestions for specific amendments to the legislation regarding a reasonable duration of a probation period, to propose to the social partners.

In view of the above, as already proposed, we would seek guidance from the ECSR in establishing what the ECSR would accept as reasonable probation period in respect of item 2 of Appendix to Article 24 for the Revised Social Charter. In this respect, a mapping exercise by the secretariat of the respective legislations of all contracting parties of the European Social Charter would be very useful.

As regards the categories of persons excluded from protection against unlawful dismissal goes beyond what is allowed under the Appendix to the Charter, under the Termination of Employment Law (Law 24 of 1967-2016), termination of an employee who has reached statutory pensionable age does not constitute an invalid reason of dismissal and therefore an employee may not seek compensation for unlawful dismissal.

As already mentioned, the Social Insurance legislation allows for a person who receives a pension to continue working beyond the pensionable age of 65 without a reduction to their pension and also the termination of employment does not constitute any loss of career prospects at this age.

Moreover, most collective agreements which include a retirement age set it at 65, while in cases where the collective agreement does not include such a clause or when there is no collective agreement, the practice is to retire when the worker reaches the pensionable age. To this extent, most employees over the age of 65 in practice are employed on a casual basis".

- 218. Some representatives pointed to the fact that the problem was longstanding and that a vote on a recommendation should be conducted.
- 219. Accordingly, the Governmental Committee proceeded to vote on a recommendation in this regard, which was not carried (4 votes in favour, 7 against and 22 abstentions). Subsequently, a vote on a warning was successfully carried.

# ADDENDUM - Remaining situations under Articles 24 and 25 of the Charter

- 220. The Governmental Committee postponed to its 144th meeting in May 2022 the examination of the remaining cases under Article 24 and Article 25 due to time constraints (Malta, the Netherlands and Türkiye concerning Article 24, and Albania and Türkiye concerning Article 25).
- 221. At its 144th meeting in May 2022, the Governmental Committee examined the remaining cases under Articles 24 and 25 and decided as follows:

# **RESC 24 MALTA**

- 222. The ECSR concluded that the situation in Malta was not in conformity with Article 24 of the Charter on the grounds that:
- employees undergoing a probation period of six months were not protected against dismissal:
- termination of employment at the initiative of the employer on the sole ground that the person has reached the pensionable age, which was permitted by law, was not reasonably justified.

- 223. The ECSR noted that during the probationary period, the employment could be terminated at will by either party without assigning any reason. It had been previously found not to be in conformity with the Charter and had not changed. Although the employee had a right to contest dismissal claiming that it had been discriminatory, the employer was not obliged to provide a valid reason for dismissal. Therefore, the ECSR concluded that situation remained not in conformity with the Charter.
- 224. The ECSR further noted that during the probationary period, the employment could be terminated at will by either party without assigning any reason. It had been previously found not to be in conformity with the Charter and had not changed. Although the employee had a right to contest dismissal claiming that it had been discriminatory, the employer was not obliged to provide a valid reason for dismissal. Therefore, the ECSR concluded that situation remained not in conformity with the Charter.
- As regards the termination of employment on the sole ground that the person has reached the pensionable age, which was permitted by law, the ECSR noted from the report of the Governmental Committee that this issue was on the agenda of the Pensions Strategy Group that included various stakeholders, and that met regularly to discuss reforms to the Maltese pension system and other related issues such as termination of employment due to pension age. Although there was agreement that changes should be carried out to Maltese Labour Law, the ECSR pointed to the fact that the discussions were still being carried out in order to find an outcome that was acceptable to all stakeholders. According to the Governmental Committee report, statistical data gathered indicated that more persons of pension age were opting to remain in employment, with the number of such persons increasing on a yearly basis. However, the ECSR noted from the report that according to the Government, Maltese law was in conformity with EU law and the case law of the CJEU in that this did not constitute discrimination on the basis of age, since this was an objective and justified reason related to the dynamics of the labour market and considered "on the basis of legitimate aims". The report underlined that persons recruited after reaching the pensionable age still enjoyed the full protection of the law, including in so far as dismissal is concerned.
- 226. The ECSR considered that there had been no changes to the situation which it had previously considered not to be in conformity with the Charter. Even if the Employment and Industrial Relations Act (EIRA) did not in any way preclude recruitment of a person of a pensionable age, it gave an employer the right to terminate an employment relationship upon the employee's reaching of the national retirement age. Therefore, the ECSR reiterated its previous finding of non-conformity on this ground.
- 227. The Secretariat recalled that the Governmental Committee had examined the situation twice with respect to conclusions 2016 and 2012 on this matter. At the assessment of the situation in 2017, the Governmental Committee had taken note of the information provided and invited the Maltese authorities to take all necessary measures to be in conformity with Article 24 of the Charter. In 2013, the Governmental Committee had noted the information that no legal amendments had been carried out or envisaged with regard to the issue of dismissal during probation. In accordance with its Rules of Procedure, it had held a vote on a recommendation, which had not been carried and had then voted on a warning, which had not been carried either. It had then taken note of the information provided and requested the authorities to bring the situation into conformity.
- 228. The representative of Malta stated that the situation had not changed and that the Maltese authorities considered the situation to be in compliance with the Charter. The

dismissal during probationary periods remained at the will of the employer, with a one-week notice. Discussions were ongoing in this respect within the government.

- 229. As regards dismissals on the ground of reaching the pensionable age, giving the dynamics of the Maltese labour market, this topic had never been raised for discussion by trade unions and it had allegedly never been a problem. There were employees who were allowed to be employed above the pensionable age.
- 230. The Secretariat explained that the issue at stake was not dismissals as such, but the fact that dismissals in both situations probationary pension and reaching pensionable age did not need to be justified.
- 231. In response to a question raised by the Chair, the Maltese representative further explained that there was a pensionable age (65 years as of 2020) but that the retirement age was not set (a person may retirement earlier, between 60 and 65). He admitted that after the pensionable age, the employer did not need to justify dismissal.
- 232. The Secretariat pointed out that it could possibly be an example of repeated cases of non-conformity which resulted from a misunderstanding concerning grounds of non-conformity. A key point raised in the reform process discussed by the Committee of Ministers' Working Group (GT-CHARTE) was the enhanced dialogue between Charter organs and parties involved, in particular based on the recommendations proposed by the Governmental Committee. The case at hand could be a good opportunity to follow this new working method.
- 233. The representative of ETUC noted that the information presented by the Maltese representative was not new. He considered that for both grounds of non-conformity the employer could at will dismiss an employee without providing a reason, simply in the light of the fact that the person is too young or too old. He further noted that the vote of a recommendation would be taking place without knowing its detailed content. The Secretariat admitted that the best scenario would be to have the analysis and the proposed text ready at the time of the discussion and the adoption of the decision on cases. While this should be the ultimate goal, it had not been practicable until then also due to the fact that submissions from state parties has been either missing or submitted shortly before the meeting.
- 234. The Governmental Committee accepted that a compromise solution would be adopted for the five cases remaining from 2021 and that it would vote on a recommendation, the text being then finalised in cooperation with the Maltese authorities, accepted by the Bureau and presented to the Governmental Committee for information at its plenary session in November.
- 235. It voted on a recommendation, which was not carried with respect to either the first ground of non-conformity with 6 votes in favour, 15 votes against and 11 abstentions (the quorum being 22) or the second ground (3 favour, 15 votes against and 13 abstentions). It then proceeded to vote on a warning on two grounds, respectively, which was carried with 19 votes in favour, 4 votes against and 11 abstentions (first ground) and with 12 votes in favour, 3 votes against and 17 abstentions (second ground).

# **RESC 24 THE NETHERLANDS**

236. The ECSR concluded that the situation in the Netherlands was not in conformity with Article 24 of the Charter on the ground that the termination of employment on the sole ground that the person had reached the pensionable age, which was permitted by law, was not reasonably justified.

# 237. The ECSR noted the following explanations from the report:

"The age at which an individual is entitled to receive statutory old age pension is specified in the General Old Age Pension Act (AOW). Many collective labour agreements and individual employment contracts contain provisions stipulating that the contract ends automatically when the employee reaches the pensionable age. If no employment termination at retirement age clause is included in the employee's employment contract and the employee reaches the statutory retirement age or continues to work thereafter, the employer may terminate the employment contract without preventive dismissal assessment, with due observance of the prevailing statutory period of notice. This is possible if the employment contract was entered into prior to reaching the statutory retirement age and no other agreement has been reached in writing. The objective justification for this age distinction, is that employees who have reached the statutory retirement age are not comparable in all respects with employees who have not reached that age. For employees who have reached the statutory retirement age, the need to provide for their own subsistence by means of employment no longer applies. They are entitled to claim a General Old Age Pension as a basic income, often supplemented by a pension benefit. This justifies that a less strict regime relating to labour law is maintained for pensioners. This facilitates working after the statutory retirement age and is a legitimate purpose. Eliminating obstacles for the employer for that purpose, is dignified and necessary."

238. The ECSR considered the termination of employment on the sole ground that the person had reached the pensionable age could not be justified by these explanations. It concluded that there had been no changes to the situation which it had previously considered not to be in conformity with the Charter and reiterated its previous conclusion of non-conformity. The Secretariat drew attention to the previous conclusion where the ECSR had clarified that under Article 24 dismissal of the employee at the initiative of the employer on the ground that the former had reached the normal pensionable age (age when an individual becomes entitled to a pension) would be contrary to the Charter, unless the termination is properly justified with reference to one of the valid grounds expressly established by Article 24: (i) those connected with the capacity or conduct of the employee and (ii) those based on the operational requirements of the enterprise (economic reasons).

# 239. The Representative of the Netherlands provided the following information:

"In the Netherlands the termination of an employment contract (automatically, by operation of law at retirement age clause, or by the employer without preventive dismissal assessment) when the employee reaches the pensionable age, is a objectively justified distinction on the grounds of age. According to article 7 paragraph 1 sub b of the Equal treatment in Employment Act (Wet Gelijke behandeling op grond van leeftijd bij de arbeid) the unjustified distinction doesn't apply if the distinction relates to reaching the pensionable age.

The Equal Treatment in Employment Act is an implementation of the European Council Directive establishing a general framework for equal treatment in employment and occupation (OJ L303/16). One of the most important considerations in the drafting of the law (article 7 par 1 Equal treatment in Employment Act) was that dismissal on reaching a certain age ensures that, without regard to the person, an objective criterion can be maintained on which the employee leaves the labour market without it being necessary to determine whether the person concerned still qualifies. This is preferable to a system in which it would have to be assessed on a case-by-case basis whether the aging employee still qualifies.

This argument, and the other arguments used in the drafting of the Equal Treatment in Employment Act in the context of efficiency and proportionality, are, in the opinion of the Netherlands, also relevant to the question of whether dismissal due to reaching the pensionable age is in accordance with article 24 of the Charter. Article 24 states that it is the right of all workers not to have their employment terminated without valid reasons for such termination connected with their capacity or conduct or based on the operational requirements of the undertaking, establishment or service. Precisely to avoid having to assess on a case-by-case basis whether the aging employee still qualifies, the Netherlands has chosen to apply an objective dismissal criterion for the pensionable employee. The chosen age limit is widely supported in society. Many collective labour agreements and individual employment contracts contain provisions stipulating that the contract ends automatically when the employee reaches the pensionable age. This is permitted under the Equal treatment in Employment Act (age discrimination). The objective justification of this distinction is given in the explanatory note to the Equal Treatment in Employment Act. Dismissal on reaching a certain age is intended to ensure that, without regard to the person, an objective criterion can be maintained on which the employee leaves the labour market without it being necessary to determine whether the person concerned still qualifies. A second argument relates to the labour market. The labour market also benefits from dismissal on reaching the pensionable age. Employees who have reached the statutory retirement age 'make way' for recent graduates and younger employees.

On grounds of age, the Equal Treatment in Employment Act allows for distinction if there is an objective justification for the distinction. The objective justification for this age distinction, is that employees who have reached the statutory retirement age are not comparable in all respects with employees who have not reached that age. For employees who have reached the statutory retirement age, the need to provide for their own subsistence by means of employment no longer applies. They are entitled to claim a General Old Age Pension (AOW) as a basic income, often supplemented by a pension benefit. This justifies that a less strict regime relating to labour law is maintained for pensioners.

The Dutch legislation with regard to dismissal on reaching the pensionable age does not stand alone. As indicated above the Equal Treatment in Employment Act is an implementation of a European directive. On December 2 2000 the European Council Directive establishing a general framework for equal treatment in employment and occupation (OJ L303/16) came into force. The purpose of this Directive is to lay down a general framework for combating discrimination on the grounds of religion or belief, disability, age or sexual orientation as regards employment and occupation, with a view to putting into effect in the Member States the principle of equal treatment. Article 6 of the Directive relates specifically to equal treatment on grounds of age. This article highlights the justification of differences of treatment on grounds of age. The first paragraph of article 6 states that differences of treatment on grounds of age shall not constitute discrimination, if, within the context of national law, they are objectively and reasonably justified by a legitimate aim, including legitimate employment policy, labour market and vocational training objectives, and if the means of achieving that aim are appropriate and necessary.

In conclusion: Having regard to the foregoing it is the opinion of The Netherlands that the termination of employment on reaching the pensionable age is justifiable within the context of article 24 ESC by equal treatment legislation and labour market objectives.

In view of the foregoing the Netherlands has no measures adopted or envisaged to change the situation since 2019".

- 240. Several representatives and the Chair considered that further clarifications concerning the situation were still needed and, in particular, when a dismissal needs to be justified and when the sole justification would be the age of an employee.
- 241. The Governmental Committee invited the authorities to assess the situation together with the Secretariat and provide comprehensive and more precise information to the ECSR for the next assessment.

# **RESC 24 TÜRKIYE**

- 242. The ECSR concluded that the situation in Türkiye was not in conformity with Article 24 of the Charter on the ground that the amount of compensation that a worker could receive in case of unlawful dismissal was not adequate.
- 243. The ESCR observed that, according to the Labour Law, when it is ruled by a court or a special judge that the termination of employment is invalid, the employer is obliged to reinstate the worker within one month. In case it fails to do so, the employer shall be obliged to pay compensation that is equal to a minimum of four-months' and a maximum of eightmonths' salary of the worker. In both cases, the worker receives compensation amounting to four months of wages for the financial losses incurred. In addition, in case the worker is not reinstated, he/she also receives compensation (between four and eight months of wages).
- 244. The ECSR recalled that, under the Charter, workers dismissed without a valid reason must be granted adequate compensation or other appropriate relief. The Statement of interpretation on Article 8§2 and 27§3 (Conclusions 2011) clarifies that compensation for unlawful dismissal must be both proportionate to the loss suffered by the victim and sufficiently dissuasive for employers. Any ceiling on compensation may preclude damages from fulfilling this role. If there is such a ceiling on compensation for pecuniary damage, the victim must be able to seek compensation for non-pecuniary damage through other legal avenues, and the courts competent for awarding compensation for pecuniary and non-pecuniary damage must decide within a reasonable time. The ECSR noted in respect of the situation in Türkiye that the legislation set a ceiling to the maximum compensation that a worker may receive in case he/she is not reinstated. There was no information about non-pecuniary damage that can be sought through other legal avenues. Therefore, the ECSR concluded that the amount of compensation was not adequate nor dissuasive.

# 245. The Turkish representative submitted the following information:

"According to Article 21 of Labour Law No: 4857, titled "Consequences of termination made for invalid reasons", if the court or the arbitrator concludes that the termination is unjustified because no valid reason has been given or the alleged reason is invalid, the employer must re-engage the employee in work within one month. If, upon the application of the employee, the employer does not re-engage him in work, compensation to be not less than the employee's four months' wages and not more than his eight months' wages shall be paid to him by the employer. In its verdict ruling the termination invalid, the court shall also designate the amount of compensation to be paid to the employee in case he is not re-engaged in work. The employee shall be paid up to four months' total of his wages and other entitlements for the time he is not re-engaged in work until the finalization of the court's verdict. If advance notice pay or severance pay has already been paid to the reinstated employee, it shall be deducted from the compensation computed in accordance with the abovestated subsections. If term of notice has not been given nor advance notice pay paid, the wages corresponding to term of notice shall also be paid to the employee not re-engaged in work. For reengagement in work, the employee must make an application to the employer within ten working days of the date on which the finalized court verdict was communicated to him. If the employee does not apply within the said period of time, termination shall be deemed valid, in which case the employer shall be held liable only for the legal consequences of that termination.

The provisions of subsections 1,2 and 3 of this Article shall not be altered by any agreement whatsoever; any agreement provisions to the contrary shall be deemed null and void. Article 20 titled "Object to termination notice and procedure" of the Labour Law No. 4857 was regulated as follows

after the amendment made on 12/10/2017: "The worker whose employment contract is terminated, is required to apply to the mediator pursuant to the provisions of Labour Courts Law with the claim of reinstatement within one month following the date of notification of the termination asserting that no reason was shown in the notice of termination or that the reason shown was not a valid reason. In case that no agreement is reached as a result of mediation activity, lawsuit could be opened before labour court within two weeks following the date of issuance of the final minutes. If the parties agree, the dispute could be referred to a special adjudicator rather than the labour court. If the case is rejected procedurally due to opening the case directly without first applying to the mediator, the decision of rejection is communicated ex officio to the parties. Parties could apply to the mediator within two weeks following the ex officio notification of the decision of rejection which has become final. The burden to evidence that the termination is based on a valid reason is to be borne by the Employer. If the worker claims that the termination is based on another reason, he/she is obliged to evidence this claim. The case shall be finalized immediately. If the decision given by the Court is appealed, the regional court of justice shall rule immediately and finally. Furthermore, the following paragraphs have been added on 12/10/2017 to Article 21 of Labour Law No. 4857 titled "Consequences of termination for invalid reasons": "The court or special arbitrator shall determine the compensation regulated under the second paragraph and the fees and other entitlements regulated under third paragraph monetarily based on the fee on the date of the case."

"In case that, as a result of mediation activities, the parties agree on the reinstatement of the worker, they are required to determine the following:

- a) Date of starting the work;
- b) Monetary amount of the fee and other rights regulated under the third paragraph;
- c) Monetary amount of the compensation regulated under the second paragraph if the worker is not reinstated to work.

Otherwise, it shall be deemed that no agreement is reached and the final minutes is prepared accordingly. In case that the worker is not reinstated on the agreed date, the termination shall become valid and the employer shall only be responsible from the legal consequences thereof." The amendments in question aim at regulating the case suing method that provides protection against conditions when the employment contract is terminated, as well as accelerating the process by imposing an obligatory mediation system. By the way, the employee may request the compensation not only on the basis of Article 21 of the Labour Code but also on the basis of the Code of Obligations and Civil Code and also the Law on Human Rights and Equality Institution. The provisions in Civil Code and Code of Obligations should be taken into account also in the employment relations. It is considered possible for the employee to demand financial and moral compensation due to the attacks arising from the employment relationship to his/her personal rights within the framework of general provisions of the Civil Code and Code of Obligations. If it is the case, the ceiling calculations for compensation between four and eight months' wages stipulated in Articles 17 and 21 of the Labour Law are not valid for the compensation of financial and moral damages. It means that there is no upper limit for the compensation for financial and moral damages under the framework of the Civil Code and Code of Obligations.

In the light of the above mentioned explanations, a worker can claim adequate compensation and the amount of compensation that a worker can receive in case of unlawful dismissal is guaranteed and it could be considered as adequate".

246. The Chair requested clarification on the notion of compensation for "attacks" by the employer, since the compensation should not have any ceiling, irrespectively of any mistreatment by the employer. The representative of Türkiye stated that it was additional protection under the Civil Code. The Chair noted that the ceiling persists, apart from some specific situations. A delegation, supported by the representative of ETUC, suggested the application of the working methods with a vote on a possible recommendation.

247. Accordingly, the Governmental Committee proceeded to vote on a recommendation, which was not carried (1 vote in favour, 8 against and 24 abstentions). Subsequently, a vote on a warning was successfully carried with 8 votes in favour, 0 against and 22 abstentions.

# Article 25 RESC – Right of workers to the protection of their claims in the event of the insolvency of their employer

- 248. The Secretariat recalled that under Article 25 all workers have the right to protection of their claims in the event of the insolvency of their employer. The parties undertake to provide that workers' claims arising from contracts of employment or employment relationships be guaranteed by a guarantee institution or by any other effective form of protection. Certain categories of workers, due to the special nature of their employment relationship, may be excluded from the protection by competent national authority and after consulting organisations of employers and workers.
- 249. The workers' claims covered by this provision shall include at least:
- a the workers' claims for wages relating to a prescribed period, which shall not be less than three months under a privilege system and eight weeks under a guarantee system, prior to the insolvency or to the termination of employment;
- b the workers' claims for holiday pay due as a result of work performed during the year in which the insolvency or the termination of employment occurred;
- the workers' claims for amounts due in respect of other types of paid absence relating to a prescribed period, which shall not be less than three months under a privilege system and eight weeks under a guarantee system, prior to the insolvency or the termination of the employment.
- 250. National laws or regulations may limit the protection of workers' claims to a prescribed amount, which shall be of a socially acceptable level. The protection afforded, whatever its form, must be adequate and effective, also in situations where the assets of an enterprise are insufficient to cover salaries owed to workers. Guarantees must exist for workers that their claims will be satisfied in such cases.
- 251. A privilege system, on its own cannot be regarded as an effective form of protection in situations where there is no alternative to it and alone it cannot provide effective guarantee of protection, due to the fact that the employer has no assets.
- 252. In order to demonstrate the adequacy in practice of the protection, States Parties must provide information, *inter alia*, on the average duration of the period until the worker is paid and on the overall proportion of workers' claims which are satisfied by the guarantee institution and/or the privilege system.

#### **RESC 25 ALBANIA**

253. The ECSR concluded that the situation in Albania was not in conformity with Article 25 of the Charter on the ground that workers claims were not effectively protected in case of insolvency of their employer under the privilege system.

- 254. Already in its previous conclusion (Conclusions 2012), the ECSR had noted that there was no alternative mechanism to the privilege system, which in it itself did not provide effective guarantee of protection of workers' claims in situations where the employer no longer had any assets. Therefore, it had concluded that the situation was not in conformity with Article 25 of the Charter. In 2020, given that the amendments on the Labour Code confirmed the establishment only of a privilege system, not complemented by an alternative mechanism to effectively guarantee workers claims in cases where there were no assets, the ECSR reiterated its previous finding of non-conformity on the ground that workers claims were not effectively protected in case of insolvency of their employer under the privilege system alone.
- 255. No information was provided by Albania ahead of the meeting. The representative of Albania explained that the Labour Code did not regulate such situations but a specific Law provided for debtor's obligations in cases when bankruptcy procedure has started. A law was being drafted on the specific issue of guaranteeing the workers claims in cases in which there were no assets by the employer, with a view to its adoption in September.
- 256. The Chair noted that the situation had not changed so far. Also the representative of ETUC pointed to the fact that the law referred to dated back to 2016 and had been assessed by the ILO and by the ECSR which both referred to the assessments by other relevant bodies. Accordingly, there had been no change and it was unclear what direction the new amendments would go.
- 257. Some delegations suggested that Albania should submit the necessary information to the ECSR, in particular on the new law. The representative of France indicated that it should be under a warning for the persistent lack of information.
- 258. The representative of ETUC pointed that it was unclear, given the possible change of reporting, if and when Albania was going to report next on this aspect. Hence, it would be necessary to act there and then and to adopt the working methods.
- 259. The Governmental Committee proceeded to vote on a recommendation, which was not carried with no votes in favour, 9 against and 20 abstentions and then voted on a warning (14 in favour, 2 against and 13 abstentions), which was adopted.

# **RESC 25 TÜRKIYE**

- 260. The ECSR concluded that the situation in Türkiye was not in conformity with Article 25 of the Charter on the grounds that:
  - holiday pay due as a result of work performed during the year in which the insolvency or the termination of employment occurred was not covered by the Turkish legislation;
  - the amounts due in respect of other types of paid absence relating to a prescribed period which shall not be less than three months under a privilege system and eight weeks under a guarantee system were not covered by the Turkish legislation.
- 261. The ECSR already concluded in its previous conclusions (Conclusions 2016) that the situation was not in conformity with Article 25. In 2020, the ECSR noted from the report that under Article 1 of Law on Unemployment Insurance, when the wages for paid leave were

not paid and the insurance premiums for the wages were not declared, no payments would be made. In the light of the above, the ECSR considered that in the case of non-payment of the employer's contributions, such a situation could unduly penalise employees during insolvency proceedings. Therefore, it concluded that the situation was still not in conformity with Article 25.

- 262. The Secretariat recalled that the situation had already been examined by the Governmental Committee in 2017, when it had taken note of the information provided and had decided to await the next assessment by the ECSR.
- 263. The representative of Türkiye submitted the following information:

"First ground of non-conformity with Article 25 of the Charter

In the 1st paragraph of Article 53 of the Labor Law No. 4857, entitled "Annual paid leave and leave periods", workers who have worked for at least one year are given annual paid leave. In addition, in the first paragraph of Article 59 of the same law, titled "Leave Fee at the Termination of the Contract"; it is stated that if the employment contract is terminated for

any reason, the wages for the annual leave periods that the worker entitled to but not used, shall be paid to him or the beneficiaries over his/her wages on the date of termination of the contract. The statute of limitations for this wage starts from the date of termination of the employment contract. According to Article 91 of the Labor Law No. 4857; upon the applications of the workers regarding their individual receivables arising from the law, employment and collective bargaining agreements, action may be taken in accordance with the provisions of the first paragraph, provided that the employment contract continues. According to Article 3 of the Labor Courts Law No. 7036; In lawsuits filed with the demand of employee or employer receivables and compensation based on individual or collective labor agreements and reemployment, the application to a mediator is a condition of action. Therefore, disputes regarding the individual receivables of workers whose employment contract has been terminated are primarily resolved by the mediator, and in case of no agreement, through the judiciary.

In the Additional Article 1 of the Unemployment Insurance Law No. 4447; in cases where the employer has difficulty in paying due to the employer's declaration of concordat, obtaining a certificate of insolvency for the employer, bankruptcy or postponing the bankruptcy, an Unemployment Insurance Fund was organized in order to cover the quarterly unpaid wages of the workers arising from the employment relationship. In the Additional Article 1 of the Unemployment Insurance Law No. 4447, titled "The Employer's Insolvency", "In cases where the employer has difficulty in paying due to the employer's declaration of concordat, obtaining a certificate of insolvency for the employer, bankruptcy or postponing the bankruptcy A separate Wage Guarantee Fund is established within the scope of the Unemployment Insurance Fund in order to cover the quarterly unpaid wages of the workers arising from the employment relationship. In the payments to be made within the scope of this article, the payment is made on the basis of the basic wage, on the condition that the worker has worked at the same workplace in the last year before the employer's insolvency.

In determining the amount of payments made within the scope of the wage guarantee fund, the premium notifications made to the Social Security Institution for the relevant month are taken as basis. The amount of wages for national holidays, public holidays, weekends and paid leave and overtime wages for which premium notification has been made to the Social Security Institution, is evaluated within the scope of the Wage Guarantee Fund. In case the employers do not make the required premium notifications to the Social Security Institution on behalf of the worker, some sanctions are imposed on the employers in terms of social security legislation, and the records are updated ex officio as a result of the examinations made. In this respect, the Social Security Institution has been notified of premiums and the receivables for national holidays, general holidays, weekends and paid vacations, which are earned without working, are also paid within the scope of the Wage Guarantee Fund.

In the subparagraph (b) of the first paragraph of Article 4, titled "Definitions", of the Wage Guarantee Fund Regulation, it is defined as "worker receivables document refers to the document showing that the worker will receive wages by months". Within the scope of the application, the determination of the amount of wage receivable from the workplace where the workers have difficulty in paying is declared by the worker through the said worker's receivable document. The amount of wage receivable included in the relevant document is compared with the premium notifications made to the Social Security Institution for the month in which the wage receivable on behalf of the worker is concerned. Based on the lower amount, payment can be made within the scope of the Unemployment Insurance Fund. In the determination of the amount of wages of the workers, it is a necessity for the healthy implementation of the application to be based on the premium notifications made to the Social Security Institution for the relevant month. Because, in this context, the amount of wages for national holidays, general holidays, weekends and paid leave and overtime wages for which a premium notification has been made to the Social Security Institution and earned without working is covered from the Wage Guarantee Fund. In line with the Passive Labor Force Circular regarding the implementation of the relevant provision, the condition of working uninterruptedly at the same workplace within the last one year is not required, and even one day of work in the workplace within the last year is considered sufficient for payment within the scope of the Wage Guarantee Fund. In sum, employees who have worked at the workplace for at least 1 day in the year preceding the date of insolvency can benefit from the Fund if they meet the other conditions in the legislation.

In the light of the above mentioned explanations, we believe that holiday pay due as a result of work performed during the year in which the insolvency or the termination of employment occurred is covered by Turkish legislation.

Second ground of non-conformity with Article 25 of the Charter

- the amounts due in respect of other types of paid absence relating to a prescribed period which shall not be less than three months under a privilege system and eight weeks under a guarantee system are not covered by Turkish legislation.

Within the scope of the Wage Guarantee Fund, in order for the workers to benefit from the wage guarantee fund in case of insolvency at the workplace;

- Working within the scope of Law No. 4447, subject to a service contract during the period of remuneration.
- The employer has insolvency due to bankruptcy, announcing a bankruptcy, a decision to suspend the bankruptcy or obtaining a certificate of insolvency,
- The employee must have worked at the same workplace for at least one day in the last year before the employer's insolvency,
- The remuneration must not have expired (5 years).

The workers who meet the eligibility conditions mentioned above are paid by the Wage Guarantee Fund, which they will receive for a maximum of 3 months before the employer's inability to pay. Workers who have worked at the same workplace for at least one day in the last year before the employer's insolvency can receive a maximum 3-month wage from the employer within the scope of the Fund, provided that they meet the eligibility conditions in the previous paragraph.

#### Payment Amount

Within the scope of the Wage Guarantee Fund, workers are paid as much as they will receive from the employer, not exceeding 3 months. In any case, the payments made within the scope of the Wage Guarantee Fund cannot exceed the daily earning upper limit determined in accordance with Article 82 of the Law No. 5510. For the year 2021; the highest one-month Wage Guarantee Fund payment amount is 19.450.24TL. Within the scope of the Wage Guarantee Fund, 48,665,282 TL was paid to

10,436 people in 2020. Detail information about the Wage Guarantee Fund could be reachable by this link:

https://www.iskur.gov.tr/is-arayan/issizlik-sigortasi/ucret-garanti-fonu/

By the way, the employee may request the compensation not only on the basis of Article 21 of the Labour Code but also on the basis of the Code of Obligations and Civil Code and also the Law on Human Rights and Equality Institution. The provisions in Civil Code and Code of Obligations should be taken into account also in the employment relations. It is considered possible for the employee to demand financial and moral compensation due to the attacks arising from the employment relationship to his/her personal rights within the framework of general provisions of the Civil Code and Code of Obligations.

In the light of the above mentioned explanations, the amounts of payments due in respect of other types of paid absence relating to a prescribed period which shall not be less than three months under a privilege system and eight weeks under a guarantee system are any way covered by Turkish legislation".

264. The Governmental Committee requested the authorities to provide the information in its next report and to await the next assessment by the ECSR.

#### **APPENDIX I**

# List of participants

- (1) 142<sup>nd</sup> meeting, hybrid, 10-12 May 2021
- (2) 143<sup>rd</sup> meeting, hybrid, 13-17 December 2021

# **List (1)**

# List of participants

# 142<sup>nd</sup> meeting of the Governmental Committee 10-12 May 2021 Hybrid

#### **MEMBERS / MEMBRES**

**ALBANIA** Ms Genta PRODANI ALBANIE

Ε

Does not participate

Head of Employment Policy Sector, Employment and Skills Policy Department, Ministry of Finance and Economy

genta.prodani@financa.gov.al

**ANDORRA ANDORRE**  / M. Joan Carles VILLAVERDE

Head of the Care Service to Individuals and Families, Social Affairs Department, Ministry of Social Affairs, Justice and Interior, Av. Príncep Benlloch, 30, 4t Edif. Clara Rabassa, AD500 Andorra la Vella, Principat d'Andorra Tel. + 376 874800 - Fax + 376 829347

JoanCarles Villaverde@govern.ad

Ms Aida LLorens

Juriste attachée au Ministère des Affaires sociales, du Logement et de la Jeunesse, Av. Princep Benlloch, 30, 4t Edif. Clara Rabassa, AD500 Andorra la Vella, Principat d'Andorra

Tel. +376 874800 Fax. +376 829347

Aida Llorens@govern.ad

**ARMENIA** ARMENIE M HAMBARDZUM Minasyan

Ε

Deputy Head of Foreign Relations Department Ministry of Labour and Social Affairs of the Republic of Armenia

3. Government building 0010 Yerevan, Armenia

Tel.: (374) 10 58 16 80, mob. (374) 91 91 81 83

hambardzum.minasyan@mlsa.am

**AUSTRIA AUTRICHE**  Ms Valerie DORI

Ε

Federal Ministry of Labour

Unit II/B/10 - European and International Social Policy in the Labour Law

Federal Ministry of Labour

Postal address: Taborstrasse 1-3, 1020 Vienna, Austria

Office: Favoritenstrasse 7, 1040 Vienna, Austria Tel: +43 1 71100 630714; Mob:+43 664 289 69 44

valerie.dori@bma.qv.at

bma.gv.at

#### **Ms Christine HOLZER**

Deputy Head of Division II/8

Federal Ministry of Social Affairs, Health, Care and Consumer Protection

Sektion II - Social Security

Gruppe B /8 - Fundamental Issues concerning National and InternationI Social

Security

Stubenring 1, 1010 Wien
Tel: +43 (1) 711 00-86 6495
christine.holzer@sozialministerium.at

AZERBAIDJAN /

## **Ms Nurana BAYRAMOVA**

Ε

AZERBAÏJAN

Head of Division of Relations with Foreign States

International Relations Department

Ministry of Labour and Social Protection of Population

of the Republic of Azerbaijan

tel: +99412 541 98 01

nurana.bayramova@yahoo.com

BELGIUM

#### M. Ylber ZEJNULLAHU

F

BELGIUM

Attaché Juriste -SPF Sécurité sociale Belge, Centre Administratif Botanique - Finance

Tower,

Boulevard du Jardin Botanique 50 boîte 135, 1000 Bruxelles Tél. : +32 (0) 252 86 744 Gsm : 0032 470 13 09 62

Ylber.Zejnullahu@minsoc.fed.be

**Ms Yana GIOVANIS** 

FOD Werkgelegenheid - SPF Emploi Yana.GIOVANIS@werk.belgie.be

BOSNIA AND HERZEGOVINA

Ms. Hana ĆERANIĆ KEROVIĆ

Ε

/ BOSNIE-HERZÉGOVINE Expert advisor Ministry of Human Rights and Refugees of Bosnia and Herzegovina

Address: Trg BiH 1, 71 000 Sarajevo, Bosnia and Herzegovina Phone number: 00387 61 233 010

hana.ceranic@mhrr.gov.ba

BULGARIA

#### / Mr Alexander EVTIMOV

Ε

BULGARIE Does not participate

National Representative CoE Governmental Committee of the European Social

Charter

Unit for International and Bilateral Cooperation , Directorate for European Affairs and International Cooperation, Ministry of Labour and Social Policy, 2, Triaditza

Str., BG – 1051 Sofia phone: +3592 981 53 76

alexander.evtimov@mlsp.government.bg

CROATIA

# Ms Iva MUSIĆ ORESKOVIC

Ε

CROATIE

Directorate General for Labour; Sector for collective labour relations and international cooperation in the field of labour

Department for international cooperation in the field of labour

Ulica grada Vukovara 78, HR- 10 000 Zagreb, Croatia

Phone: +385 1 6109840, mobile: +385 99 8288111

iva.music@mrosp.hr

CYPRUS CHYPRE

#### Ms Natalia ANDREOU PANAYIOTOU

Ε

Coordinator

European and International Affairs Unit Administratio

Ministry of Labour, Welfare and Social Insurance – 1096 Lefkosia, **CYPRUS** 

Tel: +357 22401820; Fax:+357 / 22670993

nandreou@mlsi.gov.cy

#### Ms Yiota KAMBOURIDOU

Ε

Labour Relations Officer A' Department of Labour Relations

Ministry of Labour, Welfare and Social Insurance

ykambouridou@dlr.mlsi.gov.cy

## CZECH **REPUBLIC** RÉPUBLIQUE TCHÈQUE

# Ms Brigita VERNEROVÁ

Ε

Senior Ministerial Counsellor,

EU and International Cooperation Department, Ministry of Labour and Social

Na Poříčním právu 1, 128 01 Prague, Czech Republic

Tel.: +420 221 923 390 brigita.vernerova@mpsv.cz

### Ms Zuzana ZAJAROSOVA

Director of the EU and International Affairs Department Ministry of Labour and Social Affairs of the Czech Republic zuzana.zajarosova@mpsv.cz

#### DENMARK DANEMARK

#### Mr. Anders TREBBIEN DAUGAARD

E

Head of Section

Division for International Affairs, Ministry of Employment, Ved Stranden 8, DK-

1061, Copenhagen K. Tel. +45 22 71 77 61

atd@bm.dk

#### **ESTONIA ESTONIE**

#### Ms Agni AAV

Ε

European Union Affairs and International Co-operation department, Ministry of Social Affairs,

Suur-Ameerika 1, 10129, Tallinn, Estonia

Agni.Aav@sm.ee

#### Ms Helen BIIN

Adviser in the Equality Policies Department

Helen.Biin@sm.ee

#### **FINLAND** *FINLANDE*

# Ms Riitta-Maija JOUTTMÄKI

Ε

Senior Ministerial Adviser

Ministry of Social Affairs and Health of Finland

Tel +358295163383

riitta-maiia.iouttimaki@stm.fi

Postal address: PO Box 33, FI-00023 Government, Finland

#### Ms Elli NIEMINEN

Ε

Senior Specialist

Ministry of Economic Affairs and Employment of Finland

Tel +358295048247 elli.nieminen@tem.fi

Postal address: PO Box 32, FI-00023 Government, Finland

		Ms Johanna YLITEPSA Senior Specialist Ministry of Economic Affairs and Employment of Finland Tel +358295064207 johanna.ylitepsa@tem.fi Postal address: PO Box 32, FI-00023 Government, Finland	E
FRANCE FRANCE	/	Ms Julie GOMIS  Bureau international Travail, Emploi, Affaires sociales, Droits de l'homme (I Ministère des Solidarités et de la Santé, Ministère du Travail 10, place des cinq martyrs du lycée Buffon 75015 PARIS – Pièce 1102  Phone: +33 (0) 1 40 56 81 13  julie.gomis@sg.social.gouv.fr	F DAEI3)
<b>GEORGIA</b> GEORGIE	/	Ms Lika KLIMIASHVILI Head of Labour and Employment Policy and Collective Labour Dis Division, Policy Department Ministry of Internally Displaced Persons from the Occupied Territories, La Health and Social Affairs of Georgia Cell: +995 (595) 97 77 44 <a href="mailto:lklimiashvili@moh.gov.ge">lklimiashvili@moh.gov.ge</a>	
<b>GERMANY</b> <i>ALLEMAGNE</i>	1	Mrs. Martina WICHMANN-BRUCHE Head of Division OECD, OSCE, Council of Europe, ESF- and EHAP-Certifying Authority Federal Ministry of Labour and Social Affairs Französische Straße 9 10117 Berlin + 49-3018527-6657 + 49-15143279148 martina.wichmann-bruche@bmas.bund.de  Mrs. Ulrike THIEL	E
		Counsellor OECD, OSCE, Council of Europe, ESF- and EHAP-Certifying Authority Federal Ministry of Labour and Social Affairs Französische Straße 9 10117 Berlin ulrike.thiel@bmas.bund.de	
<b>GREECE</b> <i>GRÉCE</i>	/	Ms Paraskevi KAKARA Ministry of Labour and Social Affairs International Relations Directorate Official Tel. 0030 210 3256035 pkakara@ypakp.gr interorg@ypakp.gr	E
		Ms Souzana LASKARIDOU Ministry of Labour and Social Affairs International Relations Directorate Head of Section Tel. 0030 210 3256149 slaskaridou@ypakp.gr;interorg@ypakp.gr	E

## **Panagiota MARGARONI**

pmargaroni@ypakp.gr

HUNGARY HUNGARY / Dr.Ildikó PAKOZDI

Ε

GARY Head of Department

Department for Multilateral Relations, Ministry of Human Capacities

1054 Budapest, Széchenyi tér 7-8.

Tel: (+36) 1 795 4339 ildiko.pakozdi@emmi.gov.hu

ICELAND

Ms Lísa Margrét SIGURDARDOTTIR

Ε

ISLANDE Legal Advisor

Félagsmálaráðuneyti / Ministry of Welfare

Hafnarhusinu vio Tryggvagotu, 105 Reykjavík, Iceland

Tel: (+354) 545 8100

<u>lisa.margret.sigurdardottir@frn.is</u>

IRELANDE IRLANDE Mr Aongus HORGAN

E E

Department of Employment Affairs & Social Protection, Gandon House, Amir

Street, , Dublin 1 Tel: +353 877991906 aongus.horgan@welfare.ie

Ms Dympna BOYLE

Ε

Assistant Principal, EPSCO, ILO International Unit

Department of Enterprise, Trade and Employment, 1 Earlsfort Centre, Lower

Hatch Street, Dublin 2, D02 PW01

M +353 (0) 868390579

dympna.boyle@enterprise.gov.ie | www.enterprise.gov.ie | www.gov.ie

**Ms Fiona WARD** 

Ε

Division Director

Department of Enterprise, Trade and Employment, 1 Earlsfort Centre, Lower

Hatch Street, Dublin 2, D02 PW01 Fiona.Ward@enterprise.gov.ie

**M Seamus McCarthy** 

Е

Seamus.McCarthy@enterprise.gov.ie.

**Ms Olivia CLARK** 

Ε

Olivia.Clarke@welfare.ie

M WILSON Joe

Ε

joe.wilson@enterprise.gov.ie

ITALY / ITALY

Ms Stefania GUERRERA

Ε

Ministry of labour and social policies - Directorate General of working conditions

Officer Via Fornovo 8, 00192 Roma

Tel. (+39) 0646834027 sguerrera@lavoro.gov.it

#### Massimiliano LAMBIASE

Excuse

Ministry of labour and social policies - Directorate General of social security

Head of office

MLambiase@lavoro.gov.it

**LATVIA** LETTONIE / Ms Velga LAZDINA-ZAKA

Ε

Ministry of Welfare, Social Insurance Department

28 Skolas Street, Riga, LV-1331, Latvia

Tel.: (+371) 67021554

velga.lazdina-zaka@lm.gov.lv

**LITHUANIA** LITUANIE

Ms Neringa DULKINAITÈ

Ε

Senior Advisor of the Strategic Decisions Support and

International Cooperation Group Mobile phone +370 684 41153 Neringa.Dulkinaite@socmin.lt

**LUXEMBOURG** 

M.Joseph FABER

Conseiller de direction première classe, Ministère du Travail, de l'Emploi et de

l'Economie sociale et solidaire, 26 rue Zithe

L - 2939 LUXEMBOURG

Tel: +352 247 86113 Fax: +352 247 86191

joseph.faber@mt.etat.lu

M Michèle TOUSSAINT

F

Conseiller

LE GOUVERNEMENT DU GRAND-DUCHÉ DE LUXEMBOURG Ministère du Travail, de l'Emploi et de l'Économie sociale et solidaire

26, rue Sainte-Zithe . L-2763 Luxembourg Adresse postale: L-2939 Luxembourg

Tél. (+352) 247-86244 michele.toussaint@mt.etat.lu

www.mte.public.lu . www.gouvernement.lu . www.luxembourg.lu

**Carine PIGEON** 

F

Employée de l'Etat A1

Direction du service relations internationales

LE GOUVERNEMENT DU GRAND-DUCHÉ DE Luxemboura

Ministère de la Sécurité sociale

Inspection générale de la sécurité sociale

26, rue Zithe . L-2763 Luxembourg B.P. 1308 . L-1013 Luxembourg

Tél. (+352) 247-86207 . Fax (+352) 247-86225

carine.pigeon@igss.etat.lu

igss.gouvernement.lu . www.gouvernement.lu . www.luxembourg.lu

MALTA / MALTE Mr Edward BUTTIGIEG

Ε

Director, Contributory Benefits, Department of Social Security

38 Ordnance Street, Valletta VLT2000, Malta

Tel: 00356 2590 3224 edward.buttigieg@gov.mt

REPULIC OF **MOLDOVA** RÉPUBLIQUE DE MOLDAVIE

Ms Anna GHERGANOVA

Ε

Head of employment policy and regulation of migration department Ministry of Health, Labour and Social Protection of Republic of Moldova

Tel: + 373 22 262126

anna.gherganova@msmps.gov.md

**MONTENEGRO** 

#### Ms Jevrosima PEJOVIC

**MONTENEGRO** 

Acting as Director-General, Directorate for Labour and Employment jevrosima.pejovic@mek.gov.me

#### Ms Larisa ZORONJIC

Senior adviser

Department for Labour relations, public officer responsible for activities related to reporting on the implementation of the European Social Charter Revised. larisa.zoronjic@mek.gov.me

Ministry of Economic Development

# **NETHERLANDS**

/ PAYS-BAS

### J.M. (Hanneke) Palm

Deputy to the Permanent Representative / Legal advisor Permanent Representation of the Netherlands to the Council of Europe 3 place Sébastien Brant 67000 STRASBOURG T +33 (0) 3 88 24 75 49 M +33 (0) 6 30 94 27 62 hanneke.palm@minbuza.nl

#### Ms KALDEN Yvette

Ministry of Social Affairs and Employment, Directorate of International Affairs, Parnassusplein 5 | 2511 VX The Hague = the Netherlands Tel 0031 646818759

#### YKalden@minszw.nl

## NORTH MACEDONIA **MACEDOINE** DU NORD

# Mr Darko DOCHINSKI

Deputy Head of the Labour Law & Employment Policy Department, Ministry of

Labour and Social Policy Dame Gruev, 14, 1000 Skopje

Tel.: + 389 75 359 893 DDocinski@mtsp.gov.mk

#### **NORWAY** NORVÈGE

#### / Mr Trond RAKKESTAD

Does not participate

Senior adviser,

Norwegian Ministry of Labour and Social Affairs,

P.O Box 8019, NO-0030, Oslo

Tel: +47 22 24 84 34 / +47 402 20 488

Trond.Rakkestad@asd.dep.no

# Ms Kajsa Louise Normannseth

Adviser, Norwegian Ministry of Labour and Social Affairs, P.O Box 8019, NO-0030, Oslo

Tel: +47 22 24 87 32 / +47 979 58 826 Kajsa-Louise.Normannseth@asd.dep.no

# Mr Erik DÆHLI

Deputy Director, Pension Department Norwegian Ministry of Labour and Social Affairs Erik.dahli@asd.dep.no

132

Ε

E

Ε

kabinetmer@mek.gov.me

POLAND

Ms Joanna MACIEJEWSKA

F

**POLOGNE** 

Département de la Coopération Internationale Ministère de la Famille et de la Politique Sociale, ul. Nowogrodzka 1/3, 00-513 VARSOVIE, Pologne

Tel. +48 22 661 15 93Joanna.Maciejewska@mrpips.gov.pl

PORTUGAL/

Ms Rute GUERRA

Ε

PORTUGAL Sous Directrice Générale

GEP – Gabinete de Estratégia e Planeamento Praça de Londres, 2 - 5º - 1049-056 - Lisboa

rute.guerra@gep.mtsss.pt

Ms Maria da Conceição G. SOUSA

Maria.C.Sousa@seg-social.pt

Mr Rui FONSECA

Rui.P.Fonseca@seg-social.pt

Ε

**ROMANIA** *ROUMANIE* 

Ms. Andrada Mihaela TRUŞCĂ

Ε

UMANIE Senior Counselor

General Directorate for European Affairs and International Relations

Ministry of Labor and Social Protection

Dem I. Dobrescu Street, no. 2-4, Bucharest, Romania, 010026

Tel: +4 021 312 13 17 (782) andrada.trusca@mmuncii.gov.ro

RUSSIAN FEDERATION /

Ms Antonina GLADKOVA

Ε

FEDERATION DE LA RUSSIE Referent

Department of Legal and International Affairs

Ministry of Labour and Social Protection of the Russian Federation 127994

Moscow, Il'vnka street, 21.

Tel: +7(495)587-88-89 ext. 1951; +7(495)870-67-21

GladkovaAG@rosmintrud.ru

Mr Yaroslav KONOVALOV KonovalovYA@mintrud.gov.ru

**SERBIA** SERBIE Ms Dragana SAVIĆ

Ε

Head of Group for International Cooperation and European Integration, Department for International Cooperation, European Integration and Project Management, Ministry of Labour,

Employment, Veterans and Social Affairs, - Nemanjina St. 22-26, Belgrade

Tel.: + 381 11 36 16 261; Mob.: + 381 64 22 12 485

dragana.savic@minrzs.gov.rs

SLOVAK REPUBLIC REPUBLIQUE

SLOVAQUE

Mr Lukas BERINEC

Ε

Department of International Relations and European Affairs Ministry of Labour, Social Affairs and Family - Spitálska 4-8, 816 43, Bratislava

Tel.: +421 2 2046 1638

Lukas.Berinec@employment.gov.sk

**SLOVENIE** 

Ms Janja KAKER KAVAR

Ε

Secretary

Ministry of Labour, Family, Social Affairs and Equal Opportunities Štukljeva cesta 44, SI-1000 Ljubljana tel: +386 1 369 7651 iania.kaker-kavar@gov.si

#### SPAIN **ESPAGNE**

#### Mr Francisco Javier MARCO CUEVAS

Ε

**Technical Adviser** 

Vice Directorate of Social International Relations Ministry of Labour and the Social Economy Calle María de Guzmán, 52. 28003 Madrid

Tel: +34913633711

javier.marco@mites.gob.es

# Mr Miguel Ángel AZNAR NIETO

Ε

maaznarn@mites.gob.es

#### Ms Matilde VIVANCOS PELEGRIN

Ε

Counselor of the International Area

Cabinet of the Secretary of State of Social Security Ministry of Inclusion, Social Security and Migration matilde.vivancos@seq-social.es

#### **SWEDEN** SUÈDE

#### **Ms Lina FELTWALL**

Ε

Deputy Head of Departement, Senior Advisor

Ministry of Employment, Division for EU and International Affairs

103 33 Stockholm

Mob. +46 (0) 70 212 91 92

lina.feltwall@gov.se www.regeringen.se

#### **Mr Marcus GRY**

Ε

Senior Adviser- Head of Unit

Ministry of Health and Social Affairs

Division for Coordination and Support - Policy Analysis Unit

103 33 Stockholm, Sweden

Tel. 08 405 87 61 Mob. 070 295 21 38

marcus.gry@regeringskansliet.se

www.government.se

## TÜRKIYE **TURQUIE**

### / Ms Levia ALP

Ε

Expert, Ministry of Family, Labour and Social Services, Directorate General of External Relations,

Emek Mahallesi 17. Cadde No:13 Pk: 06520 Emek / Ankara - Türkiye

Tel: +90 312 296 77 28, Fax: +90 312 215 23 12

lalp@ailevecalisma.gov.tr

# M Selmin SENEL

Ε

Representative of Türkiye to the Governmental Committee of the European Social Charter and European Code of social security selmin.senel@ailevecalisma.gov.tr

selmin.senel@ailevecalisma.gov.tr

#### **UKRAINE Ms Natalia POPOVA**

Ε

Head of the International Relations and Protocol Division, Ministry of Social Policy - 8/10, Esplanadna St, 01601 Kiev, Ukraine

Tel.: +38 044 289 84 51; Fax: +38 044 289 71 85

pnn@mlsp.gov.ua

UNITED KINGDOM ROYAUME-UNI

#### Mr Brendan DONEGAN- left DWP

Ε

F

EU and International Affairs Division, Department for Work and Pensions, International Institutions and

Engagement, Ground Floor, Caxton House, 6-12 Tothill St, London SW1H 9NA

Brendan.donegan@dwp.gsi.gov.uk

#### Mr Kevin CODA

Policy Adviser | International Engagement | International Strategy Division | Department for Work and Pensions | Level 1-E, Caxton House, Tothill Street, London SW1H 9NA, United Kingdom

kevin.coda@dwp.gov.uk

#### **PARTICIPANTS / PARTICIPANTS**

#### **SWITZERLAND / SUISSE**

Participation with the right to vote on European Code of Social Security matters only / Participation avec droit de vote uniquement sur les points concernant le Code européen de Sécurité sociale

#### **Mme Claudina MASCETTA**

Chef de secteur, Département fédéral de l'intérieur DFI, Office fédéral des assurances sociales OFAS, Affaires internationales, Secteur Organisations internationales, Effingerstrasse 20, CH-3003 Berne Tél. +41 58 462 91 98, Fax +41 58 462 37 35

claudina.mascetta@bsv.admin.ch

#### **Mme Valérie RUFFIEUX**

Juriste, Suppléante de la chef de secteur Département fédéral de l'intérieur DFI Office fédéral des assurances sociales OFAS Affaires internationales INT - Organisations internationales OI Effingerstrasse 20 - CH - 3003 Berne

tél. +41 (0) 58 463 39 40 valerie.ruffieux@bsv.admin.ch www.ofas.admin.ch

## **OBSERVERS / OBSERVATEURS**

ETUC / Mr Stefan CLAUWAERT

ETUC Senior Legal and Human Rights Advisor

European Trade Union Confederation

Bd du Roi Albert II, 5 1210 Brussels Belgium

Tel:+32/2/224.05.04 sclauwaert@etuc.org

INTERNATIONAL LABOUR ORGANISATION

(ILO) / BUREAU INTERNATIONAL DU

TRAVAIL (BIT)

#### M Rishikesh

Head of Unit (Forced Labour, Child Labour, Social Security and Indigenous Peoples)

International Labour Standards Department of the ILO

rishikesh@ilo.org

Mr Guilbault

St-pierre@ilo.org

# M Mandzhieva mandzhieva@ilo.org

#### INTERPRETERS / INTERPRETES

Clarissa WORSDALE (10- clarissaworsdale@hotmail.com

11/05)

Katia DI STEFANO katia.di-stefano@wanadoo.fr

Elisabetta BASSU (12/05) e.bassu@gmail.com

#### **SECRETARIAT** / SECRETARIAT

DEPARTMENT OF THE EUROPEAN SOCIAL CHARTER AND THE EUROPEAN CODE OF SOCIAL SECURITY / SERVICE DE LA CHARTE SOCIALE EUROPÉENNE ET DU CODE EUROPÉEN DE SÉCURITÉ SOCIALE

M. Jan MALINOWSKI, Head of Department / Chef de Service +33 (0)3 88 41 28 92 jan.malinowski@coe.int

Mr Henrik KRISTENSEN, +33 (0)3 88 41 39 47
Deputy Head of Department / henrik.kristensen@coe.int
Chef de Service adjoint

Administrator/Administrateur

Ms Lucja MIARA, +33 (0)3 88 41 52 70
Administrator/Administrateur +33 (0)3 88 41 52 70
Lucja.miara@coe.int

Ms Niamh CASEY, +33 (0)3 88 41 39 35
Administrator/Administrateur +33 (0)3 88 41 39 35
niamh.casey@coe.int
+33 (0)3 88 41 36 54

Administrator/Administrateur Sheila.HIRSCHINGER@coe.int

Ms Caroline LAVOUE +33 (0)3 88 41 32 14
Administrative Assistant/ caroline.lavoue@coe.int

Assistant Administrative

E-mail DGI-ESC-ECSS-Governmental-Committee@coe.int

# Adresse postale: Postal address:

Service de la Charte sociale européenne Department of the European Social Charter

Direction Générale I Directorate General I

Droits de l'Homme et Etat de Droit Human Rights and Rule of Law

Conseil de l'Europe Council of Europe

F-67075 Strasbourg Cedex F-67075 Strasbourg Cedex

# List of participants

# 143<sup>rd</sup> meeting of the Governmental Committee 13-17 December 2021 hybrid

#### **MEMBERS / MEMBRES**

ALBANIA / Ms. Ada Bega,
ALBANIE Physically

Specialist in Labor Relations and Social Dialogue in the Ministry of Finance and

Economy.(herein cc) Tel: +355 696184292

E-Mail ada.bega@financa.gov.al

ANDORRA ANDORRE

# Mr Joan Carles VILLAVERDE Online

F

Head of the Care Service to Individuals and Families, Social Affairs Department, Ministry of Social Affairs, Justice and Interior, Av. Príncep Benlloch, 30, 4t Edif. Clara Rabassa, AD500 Andorra la Vella, Principat d'Andorra Tel. + 376

874800 - Fax + 376 829347 JoanCarles Villaverde@govern.ad

Ms Aida LLorens F

Online

Juriste attachée au Ministère des Affaires sociales, du Logement et de la Jeunesse, Av. Princep Benlloch, 30, 4t Edif. Clara Rabassa, AD500 Andorra la Vella, Principat d'Andorra

Tel. +376 874800 Fax. +376 829347

Aida\_Llorens@govern.ad

**ARMENIA** *ARMENIE* 

# Mr HAMBARDZUM Minasyan

Ε

**Online** 

Deputy Head of Foreign Relations Department

Ministry of Labour and Social Affairs of the Republic of Armenia

3, Government building 0010 Yerevan, Armenia

Tel.: (374) 10 58 16 80, mob. (374) 91 91 81 83

hambardzum.minasyan@mlsa.am

AUSTRIA AUTRICHE

# Ms Valerie DORI

Ε

Online

Federal Ministry of Labour

Unit II/B/10 – European and International Social Policy in the Labour Law

Federal Ministry of Labour

Postal address: Taborstrasse 1-3, 1020 Vienna, Austria

Office: Favoritenstrasse 7, 1040 Vienna, Austria Tel: +43 1 71100 630714: Mob:+43 664 289 69 44

valerie.dori@bma.gv.at

bma.gv.at

**AZERBAIDJAN** / AZERBAÏJAN

### **Ms Nurana BAYRAMOVA**

Ε

Online

Head of Division of Relations with Foreign States

International Relations Department

Ministry of Labour and Social Protection of Population

of the Republic of Azerbaijan

tel: +99412 541 98 01

nurana.bayramova@yahoo.com

**BELGIUM** / Ms Yana GIOVANIS

**BELGIUM** Online

Attaché

Federal Public Service Employment, Labour and Social Dialogue

Division of international relations - EU coordination Rue Ernest Blerot 1 - 1070 Brussels (Belgium)

+32 (0) 2 233 41 59

vana.giovanis@werk.belgie.be

M. Ylber ZEJNULLAHU

Online Attaché Juriste -SPF Sécurité sociale Belge, Centre Administratif Botanique - Finance

Tower.

Boulevard du Jardin Botanique 50 boîte 135, 1000 Bruxelles

Tél.: +32 (0) 252 86 744 Gsm: 0032 470 13 09 62

Ylber.Zejnullahu@minsoc.fed.be

**BOSNIA** AND Ms Ajla Nanić HERZEGOVINA / **Physically** 

**BOSNIE-**

Ministarstvo za ljudska prava i izbjeglice Bosne i Hercegovine

HERZÉGOVINE Trg Bosne i Hercegovine 1

71000 Sarajevo

Tel +387 (0)33 703 965 fax: +387 (0)33 206 655 E-mail: ajla.nanic@mhrr.gov.ba

web: www.mhrr.gov.ba

**BULGARIA** / Mr Aleksandar EVTIMOV **BULGARIE** Online

State expert, Directorate for European Affairs and International Cooperation,

Ministry of Labour and Social Policy, 2, Triaditsa Str., BG-1051 Sofia

phone/fax: +359/2/981 53 76

E-mail: alexander.evtimov@mlsp.government.bg

Ms Iva MUSIĆ ORESKOVIC **CROATIA** 

**CROATIE** 

Online

Directorate General for Labour: Sector for collective labour relations and

international cooperation in the field of labour

Department for international cooperation in the field of labour

Ulica grada Vukovara 78, HR- 10 000 Zagreb, Croatia Phone: +385 1 6109840, mobile: +385 99 8288111

iva.music@mrosp.hr

**CYPRUS** Ms Natalia ANDREOU PANAYIOTOU

Online

Coordinator

European and International Affairs Unit Administratio

Ministry of Labour, Welfare and Social Insurance – 1096 Lefkosia,

**CYPRUS** 

Tel: +357 22401820; Fax:+357 / 22670993

nandreou@mlsi.gov.cy

CZECH **REPUBLIC** RÉPUBLIQUE TCHÈQUE

**CHYPRE** 

Mr Robert Kopecký

**Physically** 

EU and International Cooperation, Ministry of Labour and Social Affairs

138

Ε

Ε

Ε

Ε

Na Poříčním právu 1, 128 01 Prague, Czech Republic

Mr Pavel Janeček

Online

Head of the International Cooperation Unit, Ministry of Labour and Social Affairs Ph. +420 221 922 389.

pavel.janecek@mpsv.cz

**DENMARK /**DANEMARK

Mr Jakob Kudsk Skoffer

Ε

**Physically** 

Head of Section

Division for International Affairs T +45 23 11 71 34 | jaks@bm.dk

**ESTONIA** ESTONIE / Ms Elise OLT

Ε

Online

European Union Affairs and International Co-operation department, Ministry of

Social Affairs, Suur-Ameerika 1, 10129, Tallinn, Estonia

E-mail: elise.olt@sm.ee

FINLANDE

Ms Johanna YLITEPSA

Ε

Online

Senior Specialist

Ministry of Economic Affairs and Employment of Finland Postal address: PO Box 32, FI-00023 Government, Finland

Tel +358295064207 johanna.ylitepsa@tem.fi

Ms Riitta-Maija JOUTTMÄKI

Ε

Online

Senior Ministerial Adviser

Ministry of Social Affairs and Health of Finland

Tel +358295163383

riitta-maija.jouttimaki@stm.fi

Postal address: PO Box 33, FI-00023 Government, Finland

Ms Elli NIEMINEN

Ε

**Online** 

Senior Specialist

Ministry of Economic Affairs and Employment of Finland

Tel +358295048247 elli.nieminen@tem.fi

Postal address: PO Box 32, FI-00023 Government, Finland

**FRANCE** 

/ Ms Julie GOMIS

F

FRANCE Online

Bureau international Travail, Emploi, Affaires sociales, Droits de l'homme (DAEI3)

Ministère des Solidarités et de la Santé, Ministère du Travail

10, place des cinq martyrs du lycée Buffon

75015 PARIS – Pièce 1102 Phone: +33 (0) 1 40 56 81 13 julie.gomis@sg.social.gouv.fr

**GEORGIA** GEORGIE Ms Lika KLIMIASHVILI

Ε

**Physically** 

Head of Labour and Employment Policy and Collective Labour Disputes Division, Policy Department

Ministry of Internally Displaced Persons from the Occupied Territories, Labour,

Health and Social Affairs of Georgia

Cell: +995 (595) 97 77 44 Iklimiashvili@moh.gov.ge

**GERMANY** ALLEMAGNE Ms. Martina WICHMANN-BRUCHE **Online** 

Head of Division

OECD, OSCE, Council of Europe, ESF- and EHAP-Certifying Authority

Federal Ministry of Labour and Social Affairs

Französische Straße 9

10117 Berlin

+ 49-3018527-6657

+ 49-15143279148

martina.wichmann-bruche@bmas.bund.de

Ms. Ulrike THIEL Ε

**Online** 

Counsellor

OECD, OSCE, Council of Europe, ESF- and EHAP-Certifying Authority

Federal Ministry of Labour and Social Affairs

Französische Straße 9

10117 Berlin

ulrike.thiel@bmas.bund.de

**GREECE** GRECE

# / Ms Souzana Laskaridou Online

Ε

Ε

Head of Section

Ministry of Labour and Social Affairs, International Relations Directorate, Section

I – Relations with International Organizations

E-mail: slaskaridou@ypakp.gr

Paraskevi Kakara

Online

Ministry of Labour and Social Affairs, International Relations Directorate, Section

I – Relations with International Organizations, Official E-mail: pkakara@ypakp.gr interorg@ypakp.gr

Tel. 0030 2103256035

**HUNGARY** HUNGARY Dr.Ildikó PÁKOZDI

**Physically** 

F

Head of Department

Department for Multilateral Relations, Ministry of Human Capacities

1054 Budapest, Széchenyi tér 7-8.

Tel: (+36) 1 795 4339

ildiko.pakozdi@emmi.gov.hu

**ICELAND ISLANDE** 

Ms Lísa Margrét SIGURDARDOTTIR Online

Ε

Legal Advisor

Félagsmálaráðuneyti / Ministry of Welfare

Hafnarhusinu vio Tryggvagotu, 105 Reykjavík, Iceland

Tel: (+354) 545 8100

lisa.margret.sigurdardottir@frn.is

**IRELAND** *IRLANDE* 

# **Mr Aongus HORGAN Physically**

Ε

Department of Employment Affairs & Social Protection, Gandon House, Amir Street, , Dublin 1

Tel: +353 877991906 aongus.horgan@welfare.ie

# Ms Dympna BOYLE

Ε

Online

Assistant Principal, EPSCO, ILO International Unit

Department of Enterprise, Trade and Employment, 1 Earlsfort Centre, Lower

Hatch Street, Dublin 2, D02 PW01

M +353 (0) 868390579

dympna.boyle@enterprise.gov.ie | www.enterprise.gov.ie | www.gov.ie

ITALY / ITALY

## Ms Maria Concetta CORINTO

Online

Ministry of labour and social policies - Directorate General of working conditions

Head of unit

Working language: English MCCorinto@lavoro.gov.it

#### Mr Ivano MEROLLI

Online

Ministry of labour and social policies - Directorate General of working conditions

Officer

Working language: English IMerolli@lavoro.gov.it

#### Mr Massimiliano LAMBIASE

Ministry of labour and social policies - Directorate General of social security

Head of office

MLambiase@lavoro.gov.it

**LATVIA** *LETTONIE* 

# Ms Velga LAZDINA-ZAKA **Physically**

Ε

Ministry of Welfare, Social Insurance Department

28 Skolas Street, Riga, LV-1331, Latvia

Tel.: (+371) 67021554

velga.lazdina-zaka@lm.gov.lv

**LITHUANIA** LITUANIE

# Ms Jūratė Baublienė

Ε

Online

Adviser Strategic Decisions Support and International Cooperation Group

Ministry of Social Security and Labour

A. Vivulskio st. 11

03610 Vilnius, Lithuania

socmin.lrv.lt

M +370 659 24812

E-mail: jurate.baubliene@socmin.lt

# Ms Neringa DULKINAITÈ

Ε

Online

Senior Advisor of the Strategic Decisions Support and

International Cooperation Group

Mobile phone +370 684 41153 Neringa.Dulkinaite@socmin.lt

LUXEMBOURG

Mr Joseph FABER

F

**Physically** 

Conseiller de direction de première classe

LE GOUVERNEMENT DU GRAND-DUCHÉ DE LUXEMBOURG Ministère du Travail, de l'Emploi et de l'Économie sociale et solidaire

26, rue Sainte-Zithe . L-2763 Luxembourg Adresse postale: L-2939 Luxembourg

Tél. (+352) 247-86244 joseph.faber@mt.etat.lu

www.mte.public.lu . www.gouvernement.lu . www.luxembourg.lu

Ms. Michèle TOUSSAINT

F

Online

Conseiller Ministère du Travail, de l'Emploi et de l'Economie sociale et solidaire, 26 rue

Zithe, L - 2939 LUXEMBOURG

Tel: (+352) 247-86244 Fax: +352 247 86191

E-mail: michele.toussaint@mt.etat.lu

MALTA / MALTE

**Mr Edward BUTTIGIEG** 

Ε

Online

Director, Contributory Benefits, Department of Social Security

38 Ordnance Street, Valletta VLT2000, Malta

Tel: 00356 2590 3224 edward.buttigieg@gov.mt

**REPUBLIC** OF **MOLDOVA** REPUBLIQUE DE

*MOLDOVA* 

Ms Anna GHERGANOVA

Ε

Head of employment policy and regulation of migration department Ministry of Health, Labour and Social Protection of Republic of Moldova

Tel: + 373 22 262126

anna.gherganova@msmps.gov.md

**MONTENEGRO***M* **ONTENEGRO** 

Ms Larisa ZORONJIC

Ε

**Physically** 

Senior adviser

Department for Labour relations, public officer responsible for activities related to

reporting on the implementation of the European Social Charter Revised.

larisa.zoroniic@mek.gov.me

NETHERLANDS /

**Ms KALDEN Yvette** 

Ε

PAYS-BAS **Physically** 

Ministry of Social Affairs and Employment, Directorate of International Affairs,

Postbus 90801, 2509 LV The Hague, the Netherlands

Tel 0031 646818759 YKalden@minszw.nl

str@minbuza.nl Sint Maarten

**NORTH** 

NORD

Mr Darko DOCHINSKI

Ε

**MACEDONIA** MACEDOINE DU

**Physically** 

Deputy Head of the Labour Law & Employment Policy Department, Ministry of

Labour and Social Policy Dame Gruev, 14, 1000 Skopje

Tel.: + 389 75 359 893 ddocinski@mtsp.gov.mk **NORWAY** NORVÈGE / Ms Kajsa Louise Normannseth

Ε

Online

Adviser, Norwegian Ministry of Labour and Social Affairs, P.O Box 8019, NO-

0030, Oslo

Tel: +47 22 24 87 32 / +47 979 58 826 Kajsa-Louise.Normannseth@asd.dep.no

POLAND

/ Ms Joanna MACIEJEWSKA

F

POLOGNE Online

Département de la Coopération Internationale Ministère de la Famille et de la Politique Sociale, ul. Nowogrodzka 1/3, 00-513 VARSOVIE, Pologne

Tel. +48 22 661 15 93Joanna.Maciejewska@mrpips.gov.pl

PORTUGAL/

Ms Rute GUERRA

Ε

PORTUGAL Online

Sous Directrice Générale

GEP – Gabinete de Estratégia e Planeamento Praça de Londres, 2 - 5º - 1049-056 - Lisboa

rute.guerra@gep.mtsss.pt

Mr Rui FONSECA

Е

Online

Rui.P.Fonseca@seg-social.pt

ROMANIA

Ms. Andrada Mihaela TRUŞCĂ

Ε

ROUMANIE Online

Senior Counselor

General Directorate for European Affairs and International Relations

Ministry of Labor and Social Protection

Dem I. Dobrescu Street, no. 2-4. Bucharest, Romania, 010026

Tel: +4 021 312 13 17 (782) andrada.trusca@mmuncii.gov.ro

RUSSIAN

Mr Konovalov Yaroslav

Ε

FEDERATION / FEDERATION DE LA RUSSIE

Physically Leading Adviser

Department of Legal and International Affairs

Ministry of Labour and Social Protection of the Russian Federation

127994 Moscow, Il'ynka street, 21. Tel: +7(495)587-88-89 ext. 1955; E-mail:KonovalovYA@mintrud.gov.ru

REPUBLIC OFSERBIA Ms Dragana SAVIĆ

Ε

REPUBLIC D SERBIE **Physically** 

Head of Group for International Cooperation and European Integration, Department for International Cooperation, European Integration and Project

Management, Ministry of Labour,

Employment, Veterans and Social Affairs, - Nemanjina St. 22-26, Belgrade

Tel.: + 381 11 36 16 261; Mob.: + 381 64 22 12 485

dragana.savic@minrzs.gov.rs

SLOVAK

**Mr Lukas BERINEC** 

Ε

REPUBLIC / Online

REPUBLIQUE SLOVAQUE Department of International Relations and European Affairs Ministry of Labour,

Social Affairs and Family - Spitálska 4-8, 816 43, Bratislava

Tel.: +421 2 2046 1638

Lukas.Berinec@employment.gov.sk

**SLOVENIE** 

# / Ms Klavdija Mihelj Korenika Online

Labour Relation and Labour Rights Directorate

Ministry of Labour, Family, Social Affairs and Equal Opportunities Štukljeva cesta

44, SI-1000 Ljubljana Tel: +386 1 369 7651 klavdija.mkorenika@gmail.com

**SPAIN** *ESPAGNE* 

# / Mr Francisco Javier MARCO CUEVAS

Ε

Online
Technical Adviser

Vice Directorate of Social International Relations Ministry of Labour and the Social Economy Calle María de Guzmán, 52. 28003 Madrid

Tel: +34913633711

javier.marco@mites.gob.es

# Mr Miguel Ángel AZNAR NIETO

Ε

maaznarn@mites.gob.es

#### Ms Matilde VIVANCOS PELEGRIN

Ε

Counselor of the International Area

Cabinet of the Secretary of State of Social Security Ministry of Inclusion, Social Security and Migration

matilde.vivancos@seg-social.es

**SWEDEN** SUÈDE

# / Ms Anna ENVALL Online

Ε

**Deputy Director Ministry of Employment** 

103 33 Stockholm

Enheten för EU och internationella frågor/Division for EU and International Affairs

103 33 Stockholm

anna.envall@regeringskansliet.se

TÜRKIYE TURQUIE

# Ms Leyla ALP Online

Ε

Expert, Ministry of Family, Labour and Social Services, Directorate General of External Relations.

Emek Mahallesi 17. Cadde No:13 Pk: 06520 Emek / Ankara - Türkiye

Tel: +90 312 296 77 28, Fax: +90 312 215 23 12

lalp@ailevecalisma.gov.tr

# Ms Selmin ŞENEL

Ε

**Online** 

Representative of Türkiye to the Governmental Committee of the European Social Charter and European Code of social security

selmin.senel@ailevecalisma.gov.tr selmin.senel@ailevecalisma.gov.tr UKRAINE / Ms Alina Orlova

UKRAINE Online

Department of international cooperation of the Ministry of Social Policy of Ukraine

01601 Kiev, Ukraine Tel.: +38097 692 40 37

E-mail: a.a.orlova@mlsp.gov.ua

UNITED KINGDOM ROYAUME-UNI Ms Kristina Dockray

Ε

Ε

/ Online

Team Leader | International Engagement | International Strategy Division | Department for Work and Pensions | Pronouns she/her | Level 1-E, Caxton

House, Tothill Street, London SW1H 9NA, United Kingdom |

Tel: +44 (0)207 340 4208 (DWP Ext. 3208) Mob +44 (0)7741 835922

E-mail: Kristina.Dockray@dwp.gov.uk

Mr Kevin CODA E

Policy Adviser | International Engagement | International Strategy Division | Department for Work and Pensions | Level 1-E, Caxton House, Tothill Street,

London SW1H 9NA, United Kingdom

kevin.coda@dwp.gov.uk

#### **PARTICIPANTS / PARTICIPANTS**

SWITZERLAND /

#### Ms Claudina MASCETTA

SUISSE

Chef de secteur, Département fédéral de l'intérieur DFI, Office fédéral des assurances sociales OFAS, Affaires internationales, Secteur Organisations internationales, Effingerstrasse 20, CH-3003 Berne

Tél. +41 58 462 91 98, Fax +41 58 462 37 35 E-mail: <u>claudina.mascetta@bsv.admin.ch</u>

**Mme Valérie RUFFIEUX** 

F

Juriste, Suppléante de la chef de secteur Département fédéral de l'intérieur DFI Office fédéral des assurances sociales OFAS

Affaires internationales INT - Organisations internationales OI

Effingerstrasse 20 - CH - 3003 Berne

tél. +41 (0) 58 463 39 40 valerie.ruffieux@bsv.admin.ch

www.ofas.admin.ch

#### **OBSERVERS** / OBSERVATEURS

ETUC / Mr Stefan CLAUWAERT

**Physically** 

ETUC Senior Legal and Human Rights Advisor

**European Trade Union Confederation** 

Bd du Roi Albert II, 5

1210 Brussels

Belgium

Tel:+32/2/224.05.04 sclauwaert@etuc.org

INTERNATIONAL
LABOUR ORGANISATION
(ILO) / BUREAU

Ms Emmanuelle St-Pierre Guilbault

Legal Standards Specialist

BUREAU International Labour Standards Department

INTERNATIONAL TRAVAIL (BIT) DU 4, route des Morillons CH-1211 Geneva 22

Switzerland

Tel: +41 22 799 6313 E-mail: st-pierre@ilo.org

Mr Mandzhieva mandzhieva@ilo.org

#### **INTERPRETERS** / INTERPRETES

Bettina LUDEWIG -

b.ludewigquaine@gmail.com

Clarissa WORSDALE

djungling@hotmail.com

Didier JUNGLING – clarissaworsdale@hotmail.com

## **SECRETARIAT** / SECRETARIAT

DEPARTMENT OF THE EUROPEAN SOCIAL CHARTER AND THE EUROPEAN CODE OF SOCIAL SECURITY / SERVICE DE LA CHARTE SOCIALE EUROPÉENNE ET DU CODE EUROPÉEN DE SÉCURITÉ SOCIALE

Mr Jan MALINOWSKI, +33 (0)3 88 41 28 92 Head of Department / Chef de jan.malinowski@coe.int

Service

Mr Henrik KRISTENSEN, Deputy +33 (0)3 88 41 39 47 Head of Department / Chef de henrik.kristensen@coe.int

Service adjoint

Ms Amaya UBEDA DE TORRES +33 (0)3 88 41 55 90
Administrator/Administrateur +33 (0)3 88 41 55 90
Amaya.UBEDA@coe.int

Ms Lucja MIARA +33 (0)3 88 41 52 70
Administrator/Administrateur

Ms Niamh CASEY +33 (0)3 88 41 39 35
Administrator/Administrateur

Ms Marie-Claude FRECHOSO +33 (0)3 88 41 54 19

Ms Marie-Claude FRECHOSO +33 (0)3 88 41 54 19
Administrative Assistant/ Assistante marie-claude@coe.int

Administrative

Finances, prepaid tickets

E-mail DGI-ESC-ECSS-Governmental-Committee@coe.int

# Adresse postale:

Service de la Charte sociale européenne

Direction Générale I

Droits de l'Homme et Etat de Droit

Conseil de l'Europe

F-67075 Strasbourg Cedex

# Postal address:

Department of the European Social Charter

Directorate General I

Human Rights and Rule of Law

**Council of Europe** 

F-67075 Strasbourg Cedex

146

# **APPENDIX II**

# Table of signatures and ratifications

MEMBER STATES	SIGNATURES	RATIFICATIONS	Acceptance of the collective complaints' procedure
Albania	21/09/98	14/11/02	-
Andorra	04/11/00	12/11/04	
Armenia	18/10/01	21/01/04	
Austria	07/05/99	20/05/11	
Azerbaijan	18/10/01	02/09/04	
Belgium	03/05/96	02/03/04	23/06/03
Bosnia and Herzegovina	11/05/04	07/10/08	
Bulgaria	21/09/98	07/06/00	07/06/00
Croatia	06/11/09	26/02/03	26/02/03
Cyprus	03/05/96	27/09/00	06/08/96
Czech Republic	04/11/00	03/11/99	04/04/12
Denmark	03/05/96	03/03/65	
Estonia	04/05/98	11/09/00	
Finland	03/05/96	21/06/02	17/07/98 X
France	03/05/96	07/05/99	07/05/99
Georgia	30/06/00	22/08/05	
Germany	03/05/96	29/03/2021	
Greece	03/05/96	18/03/16	18/06/98
Hungary	07/10/2004	20/04/2009	
Iceland Ireland	04/11/1998 04/11/2000	15/01/1976 04/11/2000	04/11/2000
Italy	03/05/1996	05/07/1999	03/11/1997
Latvia	29/05/2007	26/03/2013	03/11/1991
Liechtenstein	09/10/1991	20/00/2010	
Lithuania	08/09/1997	29/06/2001	
Luxembourg	11/02/1998	10/10/1991	
Malta	27/07/2005	27/07/2005	
Republic of Moldova	03/11/1998		
Monaco	05/10/2004		
Montenegro	22/03/2005	03/03/2010	
Netherlands	23/01/2004	03/05/2006	03/05/2006
North Macedonia	27/05/2009	06/01/2012	
Norway	07/05/2001	07/05/2001	20/03/1997
Poland	25/10/2005	25/06/1997	
Portugal	03/05/96	30/05/02	20/03/98
Romania	14/05/97	07/05/99	
Russian Federation	14/09/2000	16/10/2009	
San Marino	18/10/2001		
Serbia	22/03/2005	14/09/2009	
Slovak Republic	18/11/1999	23/04/2009	
Slovenia	11/10/1997	07/05/1999	07/05/1999
Spain	23/10/2000	17/05/2021	17/05/2021
Sweden	03/05/1996	29/05/1998	
Switzerland	06/05/1976		
Türkiye	06/10/2004	27/6/2007	
Ukraine	07/05/1999	21/12/2006	
United Kingdom	07/11/1997	11/07/62	

The dates in bold on a grey background correspond to the dates of signature or ratification of the 1961 Charter; the other dates correspond to the signature or ratification of the 1996 revised Charter.

- \* States whose ratification is necessary for the entry into force of the 1991 Amending Protocol. In practice, in accordance with a decision taken by the Committee of Ministers, this Protocol is already applied.
- X State having recognised the right of national NGOs to lodge collective complaints against it.

#### APPENDIX III

# List of Conclusions of non-conformity examined orally following the proposal of the European Committee of Social Rights (RESC + ESC)

# Article 1§1

- 1. RESC 1§1 ALBANIA
- 2. RESC 1§1 ARMENIA
- 3. RESC 1§1 BOSNIA AND HERZEGOVINA
- 4. RESC 1§1 MONTENEGRO
- 5. RESC 1§1 NORTH MACEDONIA
- 6. 1961 ESC 1§1 SPAIN
- 7. RESC 1§1 UKRAINE

# Article 1§2

- 8. RESC 1§2 ARMENIA
- 9. RESC 1§2 AZERBAIJAN
- 10. RESC 1§2 CYPRUS
- 11. RESC 1§2 RUSSIA
- 12. RESC 1§2 SERBIA
- 13. RESC 1§2 TÜRKIYE
- 14. RESC 1§2 UKRAINE

# Article 15§1

- 15. 1961 ESC 15§1 POLAND
- 16. RESC 15§1 ROMANIA
- 17. RESC 15§1 UKRAINE

# Article 15§2

18. RESC 15§2 ROMANIA

#### Article 15§3

- 19. RESC 15§3 HUNGARY
- 20. RESC 15§3 SERBIA
- 21. RESC 15§3 TÜRKIYE

# Article 18§2

- 22. 1961 ESC 18§2 ICELAND
- 23. RESC 18§2 UKRAINE

# Article 18§3

24. RESC 18§3 UKRAINE

Article 18§4

25. RESC 18§4 RUSSIA

26. RESC 18§4 UKRAINE

Article 24 – Right to protection in case of dismissal

27. RESC 24 CYPRUS

28. RESC 24 MALTA

29. RESC 24 THE NETHERLANDS

30. RESC 24 TÜRKIYE

Article 25 – Right of workers to protection of their claims in the event of the insolvency of their employer

31. RESC 25 ALBANIA

32. RESC 25 TÜRKIYE

Article 20 - Right of men and women to equal opportunities (Article 20)/Article 1 of the additional

Protocol of 1988

**RESC 20 Albania** 

RESC 20 Andorra

RESC 20 Armenia

**RESC 20 Austria** 

RESC 20 Azerbaijan

RESC 20 Bosnia and Herzegovina

RESC 20 Cyprus

RESC 20 Estonia

RESC 20 Georgia

**RESC 20 Hungary** 

**RESC 20 Latvia** 

RESC 20 Lithuania

**RESC 20 Malta** 

**RESC 20 Montenegro** 

RESC 20 the Netherlands

RESC 20 North Macedonia

**RESC 20 Russian Federation** 

RESC 20 Serbia

**RESC 20 Slovak Republic** 

RESC 20 Slovenia

RESC 20 Türkiye

**RESC 20 Ukraine** 

ESC 1 of the 1988 Add Prot Croatia

ESC 1 of the 1988 Add Prot Czech Republic

ESC 1 of the 1988 Add Prot Denmark

ESC 1 of the 1988 Add Prot The Netherlands in respect of Sint Marteen

ESC 1 of the 1988 Add Prot The Netherlands in respect of CURAÇAO

# **APPENDIX IV**

# **List of deferred Conclusions (RESC + ESC)**

Albania RESC Article 1.3

Andorra RESC Articles 1.2, 15.3 Armenia RESC Articles 15.2, 24 Austria RESC Articles 1.2, 15.3

Azerbaijan RESC Article 1.1

Cyprus RESC Articles 1.1, 1.4, 10.3, 10.4, 15.1

Czech Republic ESC Articles 1.2, 15.2

Deutschland ESC Articles 1.2, 1.4, 9, 18.3

Denmark ESC Article 1.4

Spain ESC Articles 1.2, 15.1, 15.2

Estonia RESC Articles 1.2, 10.1, 10.4, 15.1

Georgia RESC Article 1.1, 1.2 Hungary RESC Article 1.2, 1.3, 15.1 Iceland ESC Articles 1.2, 1.4, 15.1

Lithuania RESC Articles 1.2, 10.1, 10.3, 15.1, 15.2, 15.3

Luxembourg ESC Articles 1.1, 1.4, 10.1, 10.3

Latvia RESC Articles 1.4, 10.3, 10.5, 15.1, 15.2, 15.3

"The former Yugoslav RESC Article 1.3, 1.4, 15.1

Republic of

Macedonia"

Malta RESC Article 1.2

Montenegro RESC Articles 10.2, 15.3

Netherlands RESC Articles 1.2, 1.4, 10.1, 15.1, 15.2

Netherlands-Curacao ESC Article 1.2 Poland ESC Articles 1.2, 1.3

Russian Federation RESC Articles 1.1, 10.1, 10.3

Serbia RESC Articles 1.1, 10.1, 10.4, 18.2, 18.4, 24

Slovak Republic RESC Articles 1.2, 1.4, 9, 10.1, 10.3, 15.1, 15.2, 18.2, 24

Slovenia RESC Articles 1.2, 15.1, 15.3

Sweden RESC Article 1.2

Türkiye RESC Articles 1.1, 1.4, 10.3 Ukraine RESC Articles 10.5, 15.3

UK ESC Articles 1.2, 10.1, 10.3, 10.4, 15.1, 18.3

## **APPENDIX V**

Conclusions 2020: examples of progress in the application of the European Social Charter relating to Employment, training and equal opportunities":

In its Conclusions 2020/XXII-2, the European Committee of Social Rights noted a number of positive developments in the application of the Charter, either through the adoption of new legislation or changes to practice in the States Parties or in some cases on the basis of new information clarifying the situation as regards issues raised in previous examinations (thereby reducing the number of conclusions deferred for lack of information). Below follows a selection of examples:

# Article 1§1

# Germany

Thanks to a programme designed to help young people between 12 and 26 years of age with special needs for assistance in integrating into school, training and work (*Jugend stärken im Quartier*, Supporting Youth in the Neighbourhood), 175 projects were implemented nationwide between 2015 and 2018 reaching nearly 57,000 young participants, of whom around 59% subsequently started (or restarted) school or vocational training.

#### Lithuania

The project entitled "Support for the long-term unemployed" enabled 67.7% of the 15,000 participants to find a job (2014-2018), and the project entitled "Support for older unemployed people" enabled more than half (53.5%) of the 14,400 participants to return to the job market (2015-2018).

# Slovak Republic

Law No. 336/2015 on Support for the Least Developed Districts was adopted in 2015 with a view to mitigating regional disparities. On the basis of this law, in 2017, the funds allocated to active labour market measures in the 12 least developed districts accounted for 113% of the funds allocated to the other districts (on average), and approximately 49,300 jobs were created there.

#### Sweden

During the 2015-2018 period, nearly 397,200 long-term unemployed persons (of whom approximately 45.6% were women) participated in the "Job and Development Guarantee" programme created for their benefit.

# Article 1§2

## **Andorra**

With regard to legislation prohibiting discrimination in general, the report states that at the beginning of 2019, the *Consell General* approved Law No. 13/2019 of 15 February 2019 on equal treatment and non-discrimination (*Llei per a la igualtat de tracte i la no discriminació*). This Law came into force on 21 March 2019 (outside the reference period). The Committee takes note of this major development in anti-discrimination legislation. Given that Law No. 13/2019 came into force outside the reference period, the Committee asks for the next report on this thematic group to provide detailed information on the contents of this law, particularly in response to the aforementioned questions regarding the legislation prohibiting all forms of discrimination in employment, particularly those on grounds of race, ethnic background, sexual orientation, religion, age, political opinions and information on available remedies.

#### Latvia

As regards the burden of proof in cases of alleged discrimination in employment, the Committee notes in the 2019 Country Report on Non-discrimination of the European Equality Law Network that the provision on the shift in the burden of proof included in the Labour Law. The same source indicates that in 2018, the Labour Law was amended to include a provision on the shift in the burden of proof in alleged discrimination cases on grounds of language.

# Article 10§1

# Slovak Republic

The ECSR noted in its conclusion that a substantial reform of the system of vocational education and training (Law No. 61/2015) was implemented as of the 2016/2017 school year. It notes that this dual education system allows pupils to acquire theoretical knowledge at school which is put into practice during workplace training in companies. According to the information provided, the new system put in place by the authorities demonstrated positive results and the situation has been brought into conformity in this respect, although information is still awaited on measures taken to integrate migrants and refugees in vocational education and training.

#### Slovenia

The reform of vocational and technical education paved the way for the introduction of modular education programmes offering a wider range of options, with an increase in practical training taking account of local employers' needs in terms of vocational skills. In 2017, at the end of a consultation process carried out with employers' organisations and trade unions, the authorities reintroduced apprenticeships in the education system. The chosen mechanism enables apprentices, who have student status, to spend at least 50% of their time in practical training (on average, an apprentice spends two days a week at school and three days with his/her employer). They are also protected by labour legislation and have the right to be paid.

## Article 15§1

**In Austria** the Committee noted an increase in the number of children with disabilities in inclusive education and noted the adoption and implementation of a programme on Inclusive Model regions to enable children with disabilities to attend mainstream schools.

**In Denmark** a general law prohibiting discrimination in employment was adopted which prohibits discrimination on grounds of disability in education.

## Article 15§2

**In Iceland** legislation prohibiting discrimination on grounds of disability in employment and providing for reasonable accommodation entered into force - Equal treatment on the Labour Market Act 86/2018

# Article 20

#### Albania

Law No. 136/2015 of 5 December 2015 (which came into force in June 2016) made amendments to the Labour Code. As a result, where there has been a breach of Article 9, the burden of proof has now been shifted to the employer where the plaintiff is able to provide evidence enabling the court to presume that the employer has engaged in discriminatory conduct. The report also states that a new Code of Administrative Procedure (Law No. 44/2015 approved by the Assembly of the Republic

of Albania on 30 April 2015), which came into force on 28 May 2016, contains a provision which reverses the burden of proof in cases of discrimination (Article 82(2)).

#### **Andorra**

The Equal Treatment and Non-Discrimination Act, No. 13/2019 of 15 February 2019 entered into force on 21 March 2019. It defines the principle of equal pay between men and women. Under Article 13(1), the principle entails an obligation to provide the same remuneration, whatever the nature of this remuneration, for work of equal value, without any form of discrimination against women regarding the elements or conditions of the work in question. This Act applies to both private and public sectors.

Moreover, the Industrial Relations Act, No. 31/2018 of 6 December 2018 (which was amended by the Equal Treatment and Non-Discrimination Act, No. 13/2019, and which came into force on 1 February 2019) states explicitly that women must not be subject to any discrimination concerning the elements or conditions of their remuneration.

# Montenegro

The new Labour Code (No. 74/19) published in the Official Gazette on 30 December 2019 and which came into force on 8 January 2020 (*outside the reference period*) has replaced the 2008 Labour Code. The new Labour Code provides that every worker is entitled to equal pay for equal work or work of equal value.

#### Romania

The Agency for Equal Opportunities between Women and Men was re-established in 2015 (by Law No. 229/2015 amending and supplementing Law No. 202/2002). As a legal entity, it is a specialised body of the central public administration under the Ministry of Labour and Social Protection, and its purpose is to promote the principle of equal opportunities and treatment for women and men so as to eliminate all types of gender discrimination from all national policies and programmes.

## **APPENDIX VI**

# Recommendations proposed and warnings adopted

## **Recommendations**

- 1. RESC 20 Albania
- 2. RESC 20 Andorra
- 3. RESC 20 Armenia
- 4. RESC 20 Austria
- 5. RESC 20 Azerbaijan
- 6. RESC 20 Bosnia and Herzegovina
- 7. ESC 20 Denmark
- 8. RESC 20 Estonia
- 9. RESC 20 Georgia
- 10. RESC 20 Hungary
- 11. RESC 20 Latvia
- 12. RESC 20 Lithuania
- 13. RESC 20 Malta
- 14. ESC 20 Netherlands with respect to Curação
- 15. ESC 20 Netherlands with respect to Sint Maarten
- 16. RESC 20 North Macedonia
- 17. RESC 20 Russian Federation
- 18. RESC 20 Ukraine
- 19. RESC 20 Türkiye

# Renewed Recommendation(s)

\_

## Warnings<sup>8</sup>

#### Article 1.2

#### **ARMENIA**

- the upper limit on the amount of compensation awarded in discrimination cases might preclude damages from fully compensating the loss suffered and from being a sufficient deterrent;
- it has not been established that legislation provides for a shift in the burden of proof in discrimination cases:
- the duration of alternative civil service amounts to an excessive restriction of the right to earn one's living in an occupation freely entered upon.

## AZERBAIJAN

- it has not been established that protection against discrimination in employment on grounds of sexual orientation is ensured;
- legislation does not provide for a shift in the burden of proof in discrimination cases.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> If a warning follows a notification of non-conformity, it serves as an indication to the state that, unless it takes measures to comply with its obligations under the Charter, a recommendation will be proposed in the next part of a cycle where this provision is under examination.

#### TÜRKIYE

- the upper limits on the amount of compensation that may be awarded in discrimination cases may preclude damages from fully compensating the loss suffered and from being sufficiently dissuasive;
- it has not been established that civil servants are sufficiently protected against arbitrary suspensions
  or transfers.

#### Article 15.1

#### **ROMANIA**

 the right of children with disabilities to mainstream education and training is not effectively guaranteed

#### Article 20

## SLOVAK REPUBLIC

- the legislation explicitly includes only certain elements of pay under the principle of equal pay;
- the obligation to make measurable progress in reducing the gender pay gap has not been fulfilled

#### Article 24

## **CYPRUS**

- the employees who have not been employed with their employer for a continuous period of 26 weeks (probationary period) are not entitled to protection against dismissal;
- the categories of persons excluded from protection against unlawful dismissal go beyond what is allowed under the Appendix to the Charter.

#### **MALTA**

- employees undergoing a probation period of six months are not protected against dismissal;
- termination of employment at the initiative of the employer on the sole ground that the person has reached the pensionable age, which was permitted by law, is not reasonably justified.

# TÜRKIYE

• the amount of compensation that a worker could receive in case of unlawful dismissal is not adequate.

#### Article 25

#### **ALBANIA**

 workers claims are not effectively protected in case of insolvency of their employer under the privilege system.

#### TÜRKIYE

 holiday pay due as a result of work performed during the year in which the insolvency or the termination of employment occurred was not covered by the Turkish legislation;

## **APPENDIX VII**

# Statement included upon the request of the Russian Federation as regards the procedure for adoption of recommendations

"The Russian Federation expresses concern with the unprecedented and radical departure from the traditional working methods of the Governmental Committee and the repeated violations of its Rules of Procedure with regard to Item V of the agenda - "Discussion on the draft recommendations prepared on Conclusions discussed re. Article 20 of the Revised Charter/Article 1.2 of the Additional Protocol to the 1961 Charter".

Under this item, on the very first day of the 143rd meeting, 22 draft recommendations of the Committee of Ministers concerning purported violations of the European Social Charter by 22 of its States Parties were put up before the Governmental Committee for immediate decision. In violation of Article 4, paragraph 1 of the GC Rules of Procedure and the corresponding paragraph 27 of Resolution CM/Res(2011)24 on intergovernmental committees and subordinate bodies, their terms of reference and working methods, these draft recommendations were not distributed sufficiently in advance of the meeting to allow their thorough consideration by States Parties. In fact, they were distributed at the end of the working day preceding the first working day of the 143rd session.

A request by the Russian Federation to postpone the examination of the drafts, supported by several other delegations, was rejected out of hand (despite many instances of postponing other decisions both before this meeting and during this meeting). The request to put this motion to a vote was denied. Instead, there was a vote on whether to proceed on the basis of the draft recommendations, or to adopt recommendations without any drafts whatsoever.

Electronic voting on this decision, in violation of Article 13 of the GC Rules of Procedure, did not allow for abstention. In response to a direct question on this matter, the Secretariat stated that the option to abstain was not available. However, in all other instances of electronic voting carried out during the meeting the option to abstain was available and was frequently used by delegations. Thus, delegations were once again denied the opportunity to express their true position on the matter. Nevertheless, a significant number of delegations (13) voting against using the draft recommendations as basis for discussion; however, this fact was likewise disregarded.

As a result, 22 draft recommendations have been considered in the span of 1 working day, without proper preparation, and 20 have been declared as adopted. No in-depth examination or substantive discussion on the arguments provided by States Parties was conducted, the proceedings consisted of proceeding to a vote as quickly as possible, or – in many occasions – taking the decision without a vote.

When voting on a recommendation against the Russian Federation (and only then), the initial results of the electronic vote, which were insufficient to adopt the recommendation, were declared erroneous and a second electronic vote was carried out on the same question, so as to declare the recommendation adopted.

In violation of Article 16, paragraph 4 of the GC Rules of Procedure, a decision on a warning against a Member State was declared to have been adopted by simple majority. It required the intervention of the Russian delegation to revert this decision.

The Russian Federation's consistent calls for proper following of the Rules of Procedure were not heeded. As grounds for this rejection, reference has been made to a decision taken at the 142nd meeting of the GC. However, the request to see the report of that meeting containing the decision, was denied. In fact, in violation of Article 11 of the Rules of Procedure, that meeting report was not drafted at the end of the 142nd meeting and was not adopted at the beginning of the 143rd meeting. By the beginning of the 143rd meeting, even a draft meeting report was not yet available to the delegations (despite the fact that over seven months have passed since the 142nd meeting took place). The draft report of the 142nd meeting was only made available to delegations after this item of the agenda of the 143rd meeting was concluded. This draft contained numerous inconsistencies and controversies, including with regard to the decision in question, that had to be addressed during the 143rd meeting.

In particular, the draft propagated the idea that not adopting recommendations whenever the ECSR considered was somehow "dysfunctional", that the Charter "contains an implicit assumption that recommendations shall be adopted", and that the practice of the ECSR developed within the collective complaints procedure should be applied to all States Parties, including those not Parties to the Additional Protocol on the collective complaints procedure.

While fully supporting the need to improve the functioning of the Charter system, the Russian Federation stresses that the collective complaints procedure is entirely separate from the Charter's reporting mechanism, and no "precedent" or "case-law" may stem from that procedure in relation to States not participating in that procedure. Such decisions can only be adopted on a case-by-case basis, after individual consideration of all circumstances. If the consideration does not lead to a recommendation, that does not imply "dysfunction", but is simply how the mechanism functions. Possible improvements of this mechanism, including with regard to the follow-up by the GC and the Committee of Ministers to the conclusions prepared by the ECSR on the basis of the reports submitted by States Parties, fall under the competence of the Ad hoc working party on improving the European Social Charter system (GT CHARTE) established by the Committee of Ministers Resolution on the follow-up to the decisions of the 131st Ministerial session of the Committee of Ministers in Hamburg, May 2021, on the improvement of the Charter system. The outcome of the work of GT-CHARTE, and eventual decisions of the Committee of Ministers on the matter, should not be pre-empted by the bodies of the Charter.

Taking into account the above-mentioned considerations, the Russian Federation cannot support both the form and the substance of the consideration of Item V of the agenda of the 143rd meeting and is forced to disassociate itself from any perceived outcome of this consideration. It expects this issue to be reviewed at the level of the Committee of Ministers".

# **APPENDIX VIII**

# Reply by the Bureau of the Governmental Committee to the statement made by the Russian Federation

"The Bureau of the Governmental Committee takes due note of the statement distributed by the Russian delegation for the GR-SOC concerning the 143rd meeting of the Governmental Committee (GC) held on 13-17 December 2021. However, the Bureau considers that the statement contains a number of inaccuracies and is based on an apparent lack of familiarity with the GC's procedures and practices. Consequently, the Bureau would like to clarify certain aspects of the role and working methods of the GC and the conduct of its 143rd meeting.

At the outset, the Bureau wishes to recall that the GC is a treaty body set up pursuant to Article 27 of the 1961 European Social Charter and is not an inter-governmental committee set up by the Committee of Ministers and operating on the basis of specific terms of reference. Since the adoption of the 1991 Amending Protocol and the subsequent unanimous decision of the Committee of Ministers inviting the States Parties and the treaty bodies to envisage the application of certain provisions of said Protocol before its entry into force, the role and functioning of the GC has de facto been governed notably by Article 4 (amending Article 27 of the 1961 Charter) of the 1991 Amending Protocol, which provides inter alia, that the GC "shall prepare the decisions of the Committee of Ministers [...]" and in the light of the conclusions of the ECSR "it shall select, giving reasons for its choice, on the basis of social, economic and other policy considerations the situations which should, in its view, be the subject of recommendations to each Contracting Party [...]".

This role of the GC is expressly reflected in Article 14 of the GC's own Rules of Procedure which refers to the application of the 1991 Amending Protocol before its entry into force and provides that the GC "shall not make legal interpretations of the provisions of the Charter and shall undertake the responsibilities provided for in Article 4 of the Amending Protocol."

The GC's more specific working methods when examining the follow-up to ECSR's conclusions of non-conformity are laid down in the Rules of Procedure, notably in Article 16. According to the established procedural practice consistently applied by the GC over more than 30 years and accepted in good faith by all States Parties, including the Russian Federation, the GC has always considered proposals for a recommendation on the basis of the ECSR's conclusions, the GC's own working document (setting out, inter alia, the details of the situation of non-conformity, its prior history and any prior follow-up) as well as the oral and/or written response of the State concerned. In other words, proposals for recommendations have been voted (or adopted by consensus) without prior examination of a draft recommendation text (admittedly, extremely few such proposals have been adopted over the past two decades). The actual text of the draft recommendation has then been drafted afterwards in consultation with the State Party concerned before transmitting it via GR-SOC to the Committee of Ministers together with the GC's abridged report.

At its 142nd meeting in May 2021, the GC proceeded to a detailed examination inter alia of ECSR conclusions of non-conformity in respect of 22 States on the issue of equal pay for women and men on the basis of the documents mentioned above and including a thorough discussion of the responses of the States concerned. On this occasion, several representatives expressed the view that these situations merited a recommendation having regard to the recommendations adopted previously by the Committee of Ministers to 14

other States in the framework of the collective complaint's procedure on the exact same issue (equal pay for women and men) as well as to the Committee of Ministers declaration addressed to all 47 member States, also on the issue of equal pay. However, instead of immediately proceeding to voting on whether to propose a recommendation in the 22 cases, the GC decided to postpone the voting to the 143rd meeting, while instructing the Secretariat to prepare and distribute 22 draft recommendation texts in advance of that meeting. This slight innovation compared to past practice (while remaining firmly within the stipulations of the Rules of Procedure) was accepted by all representatives participating at the 142nd meeting, including the representative of the Russian Federation.

At its 143rd meeting the GC then resumed consideration of the 22 cases with a view to voting. Unfortunately, the draft recommendation texts had been distributed very late, namely on 10 December 2021, but the Chair nevertheless considered that it was possible to proceed to voting, especially since the cases had been discussed in detail at the 142nd meeting and as, in any event, the GC in its past practice had always voted on proposals for recommendations without draft texts being prepared in advance.

However, following insistent objections by the Russian representative (supported by certain other representatives) to taking into account the distributed draft texts and to proceeding to voting on any proposals for recommendations, the Chair proposed to follow Article 13§2 of the Rules of Procedure regarding procedural questions and to vote accordingly. 21 representatives then voted in favour of having regard to the distributed draft texts and proceeding to voting on the proposals for recommendations. 13 representatives voted against. Since procedural questions are decided by a simple majority of votes cast (only votes "for" or "against" are regarded as "cast", see Article 13§3 of the Rules of Procedure), the GC therefore proceeded to vote on the proposals for recommendations.

Proposals for recommendations were adopted in respect of 19 States, either by consensus or by achieving the required qualified two-thirds majority of votes cast. In respect of three States, the proposal for recommendation was not adopted, for two States because the required qualified two-thirds majority of votes cast was not achieved and for one State it was decided not to vote.

The Bureau states emphatically that all votes during the 143rd were conducted in scrupulous observance of the Rules of Procedure and with access to voting for all representatives, including electronic voting for representatives who were not physically present at the meeting (which was held as a hybrid meeting). The "incidents" referred to by the Russian delegation, such as the technical problems with the KUDO system when voting on the proposal for a recommendation in respect of the Russian Federation itself and the erroneous reading out of a warning as having been adopted despite not having obtained the requisite majority, were immediately rectified in good faith.

The Bureau fully acknowledges that it would have been preferable that the draft recommendation texts had been distributed earlier than was the case. The GC and its Secretariat are taking all necessary steps to avoid such late distribution in the future. The same applies to the errors made in respect of the submission of the draft report of the 142nd meeting. Incidentally, this report has subsequently been adopted by written procedure with the support of all GC representatives, except the Russian Federation representative.

Finally, the Bureau firmly rejects the notion that the GC in any way applied to all States Parties the "practice of the ECSR developed within the collective complaints procedure". This is not the role of the GC, it has no competence to do so (cf. Article 14 of the Rules of

Procedure). Instead, in strict accordance with its mandate, the GC on the basis of social, economic and other policy considerations took the view that problems of conformity with the Charter related to equal pay for women and men are of the utmost concern in today's Europe and merit strong and principled follow-up. In doing so, the GC was keenly aware of the political guidance on equal pay principles provided by the Committee of Ministers through its adoption of recommendations and a declaration on this issue in March 2021. In fact, the Bureau considers that the now adopted proposals for recommendations add themselves logically and consistently to the approach to equal pay mapped out by the Committee of Ministers.

The Bureau therefore looks forward with full confidence to the Committee of Ministers' examination and adoption of the proposals for recommendations in the near future".